THE LAW of REJECTION



Michael Lappenbusch www.perplex.click

Table of contents

1. The universe pulls the ripcord (accidentally double-knotted)	3
2. The establishment of the Rejection Department	14
3. Form A-1: Request for non-fulfillment of a wish	29
4. The first wish that contradicts itself	43
5th Motivational Seminar for Cosmic Skeptics	55
6. The Secret – now available as an official brochure	66
7. Positive thinking: A dangerous virus	79
8. The self-help group for the disappointed (with coffee and cookies)	90
9. Bartholomäus Klemm and the Intern of Pessimism	101
10. When thoughts become reality – and are immediately rejected	114
11. The Handbook of Half-Heartedness (chapter missing)	126
12. The auditor of negativity examines progress (and rejects it).	139
13. The energy of fear – now tax deductible	153
14. Wishes in quarantine	168
15. The multiverse answers: "No."	180
16. How to Fail Successfully (certified by Kosmos)	193
17. The Manifesto of Misunderstanding	205
18. The Doughnut Planet in Burnout	216
19. The application for a claim for misfortune – granted retroactively	228
20. Bartholomew's Course in Applied Refusal	240
21. When "no" develops a life of its own	250
22. The self-rejection algorithm (beta testing phase)	261
23. The Hotline of Hope – permanently staffed	275
24. The Bureaucracy of Blockages	287
25. Meditation against manifestation	299
26. Instructions for Cosmic Disinterest	309
27. The great backlog of wishes (please keep the drain clear)	321
28. Parallel Universe P-42 requests optimism – request denied	333
29. The Process of Passivity (with optional seat cushion)	345
30. The day the universe rejected itself	356
31. Bartholomäus Klemm and the Rebellion of Wishes	367
32. The Metaphysical Stamp War	378
33. Form 0-R: Application for unconditional indifference	390
34. The law of rejection will be officially enacted	400
imprint	410

1. The universe pulls the ripcord (accidentally double-knotted)

It was a Monday, and the universe hated Mondays. Not because it understood them—it rarely did—but because most disasters began on Mondays. Creation, for example. That, too, had been a Monday experiment. The idea had started with a protocol error: "Create order from chaos" was originally planned as "Create coffee from chaos," but someone in the early stages had misinterpreted a divine coffee-stain signature. And so it all came into being—only unfortunately, without caffeine.

Since then, the universe had been an administrative process with a tendency toward escalation. And on this Monday—a particularly irritable Monday that had decided to be nasty the moment it woke up—it had had enough. It was overworked, underpaid (in attention), and constantly misunderstood. People used it as if it were a wish-granting machine. They muttered things like, "I manifest abundance" or "The universe delivers," and no one ever questioned whether the universe even worked shifts.

It had already submitted overtime requests. About an eons ago.

In the Central Department for Causality and Contingency (abbreviated: ZAKK – pronounced like the sound reality makes when it tears), the universe hung in its office, which consisted of an infinite number of floating desks, all simultaneously grappling with the question "Why?" It sighed, which turned approximately three galaxies into shooting stars, and opened form $R-\infty/42$, titled: "Application for Temporary Cosmic Reorganization (Emergency Measure: Pull Cord)."

The form was old, dusty, and no one had ever read it completely because page 7 had been replaced by a singularity. Nevertheless, the universe signed it. With a flash. After all, it was used to simply setting things in motion and then playing dead until someone else did the paperwork.

The ripcord, like so many metaphysical constructs, wasn't a real cord, but an idea—an emergency brake in the conceptual field of probability. Pulling it was supposed to bring the entire process of creation to a brief halt, a deep breath, and a check to see if everything was still "properly" functioning. It never did. But at least it gave you the feeling of having done something.

Unfortunately – and this was typical – the universe hadn't noticed that it had double-knotted the rope when signing it. Nobody knew why there could even be a knot in something that didn't exist, but that was the problem with existence: it made things possible that should remain impossible.

And so it came to pass that on that Monday the universe not only pulled the ripcord, but pulled it so hard that space, time, and cause suffered a collective herniated disc.

In the Department for Temporary Stability (a sub-department of ZAKK, responsible for anything that was wobbly but hadn't yet collapsed), a luminous being named Chief Clerk Ms. Chief Clerk watched with suspicion as reality began to crackle. Her desk vibrated. The coffee cup hummed in a major key. The files began to sort themselves alphabetically according to emotional weight.

"That's not good," she murmured. "What's not good?" asked Bartholomäus Klemm, who was in the process of punching holes in a file entitled "Report on the Metaphysical Misuse of Affirmations".

"The sky is flickering. It only does that when someone pulls a ripcord." "Ah," said Klemm, nodding as if it were a perfectly normal sentence. "Then it's Monday again."

A crack opened in the ceiling. Not a dramatic rift with thunder and fire, but more the kind of crack you get from thinking in the same place too often. Something dripped from it that looked like light but behaved like coffee. It dripped onto Klemm's desk and formed the words:

"SYSTEM OVERLOAD - PLEASE WAIT FOR RESTART."

Klemm put the hole punch aside. "I think," he said, "the universe has swallowed itself."

Meanwhile, at the Central Office for Business Continuity, the emergency protocol was activated. A red lever (purely symbolic) was flipped. A siren (folded from concept paper) sounded simultaneously in all realities. Those who listened heard nothing – but everyone felt the impulse to reconsider their tax return.

In a distant galaxy, a planet stopped mid-orbit because it felt it had forgotten whether it was clockwise or counterclockwise. A black hole volunteered for a "temporary loss of gravity," causing widespread confusion. And on the Doughnut Planet, where the cosmic administration had its headquarters, the coffee froze mid-flight—a catastrophe of biblical proportions.

Bartholomäus Klemm, by now more experienced in dealing with the unimaginable than with people, reached for the emergency manual. It was called "Handbook for Incidents Beyond Common Sense," was 843 pages long, and contained exactly three instructions:

- 1. Stay calm.
- 2. Make yourself a cup of tea.
- 3. Ignore point 2 if tea is no longer available.

"I think the time has come," Klemm murmured, as outside the laws of physics clung to the cosmic windshield like wet leaves.

Meanwhile, on the top floor of the Office for Reality Maintenance, the Crisis Committee of Creation was meeting. Those represented were:

- The auditor of causality (who always spoke backwards to sort cause and effect),
- The Minister of Probabilities (whose voice modulated in decimal places),
- And an empty chair, which, according to the minutes, was reserved for "that which should not exist, but is here nonetheless".

"The emergency brake was pulled," someone explained. "Again?" "No, seriously this time." A collective silence fell. In cosmic committees, that meant: Nobody knows who is responsible.

The auditor leafed through his reports. "We have too many desires in the system. The quantum karma is clogged. Ever since people discovered this 'law of attraction,' everything has gone wrong. They attract things that don't want to be attracted."

The minister nodded. "Last week I lost seven universes that self-fulfilled before they were approved."

A soft sigh rippled through the group. It was the sound of fate hating its own paperwork.

"All right," the minister finally said. "We'll pull the plug. Temporarily." "And if that doesn't work?" "Then we'll create a new agency. That always works."

Bartholomäus Klemm, who had accidentally ended up on the meeting mailing list via a copy of the file, read the note and stared at the word "New Authority". He knew that sound – it was the quiet crackling of an impending catastrophe that still required some forms.

Out in the galactic distance, creation grouned. Time began to cough. Space writhed in offense. And the universe pulled the ripcord – this time with such force that the knot was finally tied tight.

Then it became quiet. Calm. Eerily quiet. So quiet that even the silence cleared its throat.

And somewhere, deep in the center of the donut planet, a small, inconspicuous light blinked: "NEW DEPARTMENT IS BEING INITIALIZED..."

Reality didn't simply return. It crept back. Slowly. Like an accountant after a Christmas party, searching for his receipts and realizing he's accidentally married the tax office. The ripcord had done its job thoroughly. Or, more precisely, it had done a double job, because the knot in the fabric of space-time tightened so much that even eternity momentarily took a breath.

For about seven seconds (measured against the standard existence time, which the Agency for Temporary Stability has never properly defined), everything stood still: stars, thoughts, coffee machines, and even the paperclips of creation. Then reality began to stir again. First a quiet hum, then the rustling of files complaining about having been left on "Unprocessed" for too long.

Bartholomäus Klemm was the first to move—not out of heroism, but out of routine. He was a civil servant. Civil servants have a built-in reflex to react to sounds like "recovery" or "reinitialization." He blinked, adjusted his glasses, and saw that his desk was emitting a light smoky glow. This wasn't a bad sign; smoke meant there was still something left to burn.

He gently tapped his finger on the form that had last been on his desk. It was the famous Form 17-C, "Application for Temporary Sensibility." The form glowed slightly, then letters formed from steam:

"Application rejected – Reason: Sinn has been globally deactivated."

Klemm sighed. This was his third loss of meaning this century.

Upstairs, in the department for livelihood protection measures, Ms. Oberschreiber had meanwhile activated an emergency plan. It consisted of three points:

- 1. Coffee.
- 2. Reassuring bureaucracy.
- 3. Postpone panic until after work.

She stared at the display above her desk, which usually showed the state of creation in stable color codes. Green meant: "Everything is running fairly smoothly." Yellow: "Someone has submitted another paradox." Red: "We have a new religion." Now, however, a new color was flashing, one that hadn't been there before: gray-blue – the official color code for "Existence uncertain, but continued out of habit."

"Clamp!" she called. "Here, Ms. Chief Clerk!" "Status report!" "We're still alive, I think. At least I am. And the coffee's steaming again. That's a good sign." "Not necessarily," she said gloomily. "Last time the coffee came back, we had to erase half of humanity's consciousness from the record." "Ah yes. The year 2020."

She nodded. Then she slid a file across the table. "This just came from the Central Office for Causal Disorders. They say the universe has officially completed the emergency stop process." "Completed?" "Successfully." "But... the universe has stopped." "Exactly. That's precisely what's written here under 'success'."

While the two tried to document the absurdity, the donut office began to reorganize itself. Walls shifted, desks flowed through doors, and where the Archive of Improbable Events once stood, a new room grew—or at least something that pretended to be one. Above the door, golden letters suddenly shone:

"Department for Rejection, Avoidance and Metaphysical Non-fulfillment"

Klemm took a step back. "I've never heard of that." "Nobody has," whispered Mrs. Oberschreiber. "That's new. That's fresh from the tabloids."

She read the subtitle: "Responsible for all wishes, hopes, and positive expectations. Goal: Reduction of cosmic burden through non-fulfillment."

Klemm rubbed his chin. "So... a kind of cosmic 'no' position?" "Exactly." "That sounds like they've promoted me."

"Or demoted." "That depends on whether the coffee is free there."

Meanwhile, beyond the agency's control, the universe itself was in a state that the academic literature termed "post-metaphysical exhaustion." The energy of wishing had overwhelmed it. Humans, aliens, and gods had emitted too many positive vibrations without first obtaining approval from the Department of Probability. The system had simply collapsed.

In this silence, something new stirred: the counterforce. Not out of malice, but out of weariness. If everyone constantly said "yes," someone had to say "no"—and the universe, dutiful as it was, decided to create a corresponding department.

The process was automatic. In the files of the donut office, a field was suddenly filled in that had not existed before:

"New administrative unit required – Reason: excessive optimism of the applicants." Below this appeared a handwritten note that looked as if it had been written by the universe itself: "From now on: Rejection as a service."

Klemm turned pale when he read this. "That's insane! We can't just start rejecting requests!" Mrs. Oberschreiber raised an eyebrow. "Can't we? We do it all the time – just not officially."

He considered this. That was true. Even now, the fulfillment rate of all submitted requests was around 0.03%, and these were mostly granted accidentally—for example, when two incompatible requests canceled each other out. "But this is different," he said. "The universe itself created this department. That means...it decided to say no." "Finally, some consistency," murmured Ms. Oberschreiber, pouring herself more coffee.

At that moment, the floor vibrated. A drawer opened by itself. Inside lay a single form, fresh, bright, and stamped with a stamp that was still warm:

Form A-Zero: Request for non-fulfillment of a wish

Below it was written in small print:

"Use only in cases of chronic positive thinking."

Klemm picked up the sheet of paper. It felt alive – like something that knew it was needed.

"Mrs. Oberschreiber," he said quietly, "I think the universe is serious." She nodded slowly. "Then we should start saying no before someone else does."

Outside above the donut planet, the stars twinkled again, but their light was different – subdued, almost cautious.

As if they were first making sure they were allowed to shine. A wind of pure probability swept across the celestial stacks of files and whispered:

"Everything you want will be checked... and rejected."

Bartholomäus Klemm looked out the window. A feeling of order spread through him – the kind of order you get when you've lost everything but at least have a form to go with it. He took a deep breath and muttered, "Well, Universe. If you want to say no... then you need someone to keep track of the stamps."

That was the moment when fate briefly cleared its throat, pulled out a file, and wrote down for the first time since the Big Bang:

"New responsibility: Bartholomäus Klemm – case worker for cosmic rejections."

And somewhere deep in the foundation of creation, there was a soft crackling sound. That was the sound that gave hope - and at the same time rejected itself.

Bartholomäus Klemm entered his new office with the same mixture of resignation and curiosity one might have visiting a restaurant called "The Last Supper." The door didn't creak, it sighed—a deep, bureaucratically weary sound that suggested even doors eventually reach their limit.

The sign on the wall was newly mounted, but the paint was already slightly chipped. "Department of Rejection, Avoidance, and Metaphysical Non-fulfillment," it read in gold lettering, and below it in smaller print: "Please, no requests for fulfillment of requests."

The office was surprisingly large, or perhaps just surprisingly empty. A single desk stood in the center, flanked by filing cabinets that looked as if they had survived the war between cause and effect. On the desk lay a stamp, glowing a soft red. Not light, but attitude. Engraved in the finest detail on the handle was: REJECTED.

Klemm stepped closer and noticed that the stamp was breathing softly. "Great," he muttered. "A living stamp. Now we can get started."

A file slid off the shelf and landed on the floor. Without a draft. Without any movement. It had apparently done so of its own accord. Klemm picked it up, leafed through it – it was empty, except for a note in the middle:

"Welcome, Mr. Klemm. Your first rejection is already waiting."

He turned around. A form had suddenly appeared on the desk, one that hadn't been there before. Its heading: "Application for Fulfillment of the Universe (Resumption of Normal Operations)." Applicant: The Universe itself.

Klemm blinked. "Wait a minute... you want to turn yourself back on?"

The request glowed faintly, as if it wanted to say: "Yes, please, it was just a misunderstanding."

Klemm sat down, picked up the stamp, and carefully examined the form. Field 1: "Reason for application?" – "I'm tired of doing nothing." Field 2: "Who bears the responsibility?" – "No one, but please act as if someone does." Field 3: "What happens if the application is rejected?" – "Nothing. And that very thoroughly."

Klemm scratched his head. He felt a familiar pull between a sense of duty and common sense - a state known only to officials and gods.

"If I reject it, everything will remain silent," he muttered. "If I approve it, everything will go wrong again."

The stamp vibrated slightly in his hand, as if to say: "I know what to do."

Klemm hesitated. The stamp began to hum softly, then a little louder, then in a tone that sounded almost like a defiant "Come on!" He took a deep breath, positioned the stamp, and pressed it onto the form with a dull click.

The letters burned themselves in, red and final: REJECTED.

At that moment, something changed in the air. It became denser, clearer, more determined – as if reality had briefly understood what was at stake, and then immediately turned away again.

"Well, wonderful," Klemm muttered. "I've just rejected the universe. This is going to cause trouble."

A voice answered from the shelf: "Not necessarily."

Klemm froze. His voice was deep, stilted, and slightly offended. "Who...?"

"The files," the voice said. "We've been watching you. Since Form 0."

Klemm blinked. "Can forms talk?"

"Only if they are left untreated. Then they develop personality. It is the punishment for inaction."

"That explains a lot about my colleagues," Klemm muttered.

A second voice chimed in, slightly more nasal. "We've placed bets on whether you'll reject the proposal."

"And?"

"I won. I had relied on a sense of duty."

Klemm looked around. There was a rustling sound all over the room, as if dozens of files were laughing softly.

"You know that's absurd, right?"

"We are files," replied a particularly old folder. "Absurdity is our business model."

Klemm leaned back. "All right. Since you're already here – what happens now?"

A whisper rippled through the shelves. Then the oldest file, its corners filled with pure cynicism, replied: "You have rejected the universe. It will not simply accept this."

"And what does it do?"

"What every system that is rejected does: It forms a committee."

Klemm groaned. "That means..."

"Yes," said the file. "Someone will be coming soon. With new forms. And you will have to fill them all out."

"I knew I should have stayed on at the tax audit," Klemm muttered.

The stamp on the table vibrated contentedly. Tiny runes, resembling the beginning of a legal text, formed on its handle. Klemm picked it up and noticed it was warm.

"What are you, actually?" he asked.

The stamp hummed softly. Then, in a voice reminiscent of a particularly exasperated official, it replied: "I am the instrument of rejection. I do what needs to be done. Without mercy. Without pause. Without coffee."

"Sounds like my last boss."

The stamp glowed briefly, as if it had smiled. "I'm working with you now, Bartholomäus Klemm. We have a lot to do. The world demands too much."

"And us?" Klemm asked.

"We don't want anything," said the stamp. "And that's exactly what we'll deliver."

A muffled rumble sounded in the distance. Perhaps it was a planet complaining. Perhaps just a god checking his inbox.

The rest of the day passed—insofar as one could speak of "passing" in a newly established Rejection Department—surprisingly quietly. This was only because no one yet knew the department existed. Hardly anyone expected that somewhere in the infinite bureaucracy of the cosmos, a new room had been added, in which sat a man who had rejected the universe and was now waiting for something to happen.

Something happened.

At first, there was only a faint crackling in the air, like the rustling of paper that already senses it will soon be written on. Then a dull thud. A thick folder materialized on Klemm's desk. It was the color of bad weather and smelled of too much responsibility. The cover read: "Collective Application 001 – Wishes, General."

Klemm opened it carefully. Inside were tens of thousands of applications, all filled out in the same handwriting – handwriting that no human had written, but something that had no patience for pens.

"This is not good," he muttered.

The stamp answered itself: "Of course not. It's a test."

"A test by whom?"

"From the universe. It wants to know if you're serious."

Klemm picked out the first request. "I wish for a better life." A classic case. No sender, no date, no attachments. Just the wish.

He sighed, took a deep breath, and reached for the stamp. It vibrated contentedly, like a cat that knows food is coming soon.

Click.REJECTED.

The application vanished. Just like that. No smoke, no flash of light, only the unmistakable calm of something accomplished.

Then the next request: "I wish for success."

Click.REJECTED.

"I wish for peace."

Klemm paused. "Hm."

The stamp vibrated impatiently.

"Well," said Klemm, "peace isn't actually a bad thing."

"Caution," the stamp warned. "Pacifism destabilizes the system. Unsuccessful wars keep realities in motion."

Klemm hesitated, then nodded and pressed the stamp.

Click.REJECTED.

Silence fell.

Then, without warning, the room filled with paper. It snowed forms. Entire rain clouds of desires fell from the sky of logic. "I want to be rich!" – "I want to be loved!" – "I want my neighbor to stop playing the drums!"

The office groaned. Filing shelves began to defend themselves. One particularly thick file threw itself onto a wish cloud, as if trying to smother it.

"I think they can tell that we're working," Klemm said.

The stamp buzzed in agreement. "Yes. And they're sending reinforcements."

He looked out the window. Outside, above the cosmic doughnut rings, the light intensified. Wish energy. Millions of requests, hopes, affirmations, all at once, like a flood of positive thinking pouring down upon the office.

Klemm pressed the alarm button. Naturally, it didn't work.

Mrs. Oberschreiber appeared in the doorway. Her expression revealed that she had already survived two disasters before she had drunk her coffee this morning.

"Report, Klemm!"

"We have... uh... visitors. In paper form."

She entered, dodging a flying proposal, and grabbed a form that whizzed past her shoulder. She read it aloud: "I wish that all wishes are granted."

She looked up. "That's circular."

"And dangerous."

The stamp twitched. "Finish it."

Click.REJECTED.

At that moment, the snow stopped. The air cleared, as if someone had sucked the positive aspects out of the atmosphere.

"That was... impressive," said Mrs. Oberschreiber.

"I simply said no," Klemm said.

"You should keep doing that. It has potential."

She was about to leave, then stopped. "Stuck?"

"Yes?"

"Something is forming out there. Reality is... reorganizing."

He stepped to the window. Above the horizon, the room began to tremble, as if someone had opened a vast, invisible table. Lines of light stretched across the dimensions, forming geometric structures. Letters appeared within them, as if creation itself were writing a new chapter in the air:

REFUSION LAW – DRAFT

Klemm stared at it. "It writes itself?"

"Apparently."

"And what happens when it's finished?"

"Then," said Mrs. Oberschreiber calmly, "the no will become official."

The thought hung in the room like a threatening mountain of paperwork.

Klemm slowly turned back to his desk. The stamp now glowed brighter, as if he had found his calling.

"I guess that was the trial period."

"Yes," said the stamp. "From now on, things get serious. And you should get used to the fact that everything that comes in will find a reason to reject it."

Klemm leaned back. A file fell from the shelf, opened by itself, and sighed.

"All right," he said. "Then let's start sorting the world. From A to Z. And Z stands for future."

The stamp vibrated with satisfaction. "Future? I already know what's going on it."

Klemm nodded. "Me too."

Outside, above the donut planet, a wind of rejected possibilities blew. Stars flickered, hopes shattered quietly, and somewhere in the depths of the universe a voice whispered:

"Your request has been reviewed... and rejected."

In the higher planes of the Doughnut Planet—where gravity is polite and reality operates on a flexible schedule—the universe began to murmur again. It sounded like wind among the stars, or like the noise a filing cabinet makes when it reflects on its life. The ripcord had done more than simply halt operations. It had triggered a thought process.

The universe wasn't sure if this was a good idea. Thinking led to self-doubt, and self-doubt led to change, and change meant work. Nevertheless, it thought. It thought about itself, about desires, about people who believed they could solve everything with thirty seconds of positive thinking in the morning. It thought about Bartholomäus Klemm, who had simply said no without having the application countersigned three times.

"No," thought the universe, and was startled. It had thought the word with a clarity that sent ripples through the dimensions. No. Two letters, short and unambiguous, but with more weight than all of humanity's affirmation calendars combined. The word spread. First across the Doughnut Planet, then into the filing rooms, then out into the cosmic bureaucracy.

Displays flickered in the ZAKK headquarters. A new line appeared on one screen, large, red, and uncomfortably final:

STATUS CHANGE: UNIVERSE - REJECTION MODE ACTIVE.

Ms. Oberschreiber was just pouring herself a second cup of coffee when the light around her dimmed. Not really dimmed—more like reluctantly. Even the lamps seemed to be wondering whether they really needed to be on anymore. She put her cup down, knowing that was never a good sign.

"Clamp!" she shouted.

"I'm already on it!", he replied from his office.

"What's happening out there?"

"I believe... the universe has decided to take us seriously."

He stepped to the window. In the sky above the planet, a vast circle of light formed, in the center of which a word pulsed. No human being wrote it, no god dictated it. It wrote itself, in letters of pure meaning: LAW OF REJECTION.

Below, the first paragraphs appeared, slowly, solemnly, as if a new era of bureaucracy were being born:

- § 1Everything that is requested is subject to review.
- § 2Everything that is examined is rejected.
- § 3Exceptions prove nothing.

Bartholomäus Klemm read it aloud, and every word echoed back as if the universe itself had received an echo.

"That's absurd," he finally said.

"That's administration," corrected Ms. Oberschreiber.

And the universe nodded – or at least did something that felt like a cosmic nod.

A blinding flash of lightning streaked across the sky, and suddenly all the files in the donut office seemed to move at once. Shelves rearranged themselves, folders fluttered open, forms wrote themselves. Every wish,

every request, every prayer ever made appeared in the room for a brief moment. Millions of voices of hope and despair, all stacked on top of each other, all at once.

Then -a blow.

A single, enormous, red stamp impression appeared above everything.

REJECTED.

The voices fell silent.

A silence descended upon creation, briefly unsettling even eternity. Bartholomew felt the stamp on his desk vibrate, more intensely than before, until he finally spoke – in a tone that was both soothing and terrifying:

"That was the fundamental decision."

"Excuse me?" asked Klemm.

"The universe has found its new equilibrium. You triggered the first act of rejection. Now it will be... systematic."

Ms. Oberschreiber slowly approached him. Her expression was serious. "Does that mean all wishes, all hopes, every 'I want' – they all now run over us?"

The stamp was glowing. "Correction: over him."

Bartholomew sank into his chair. He felt as if gravity had increased. Not physically, but morally. The air tasted of responsibility.

"I just wanted to process an application," he muttered.

"But you do," said Ms. Oberschreiber. "Only on a large scale."

A distant rumble made the building tremble. Outside, the stars moved more slowly, as if considering whether to shine that day. Somewhere, a galaxy was behind schedule because its letter of motivation had been rejected.

A point of light appeared in the distance. Not a star – something else. It came closer, took shape, assumed contours: a floating, golden envelope bearing the seal of the universe.

It floated through the window, landed on Klemm's table, and opened itself. Inside lay a single page, handwritten in ink that looked like liquid darkness.

TO: Bartholomäus Klemm, Clerk for Cosmic Rejections

REFERENCE:Official confirmation of jurisdiction

Effective immediately, your position is universally recognized. All rejected requests, petitions, prayers, and wishes will henceforth be coordinated through your office. Please continue to properly manage the rejection system.

Signed,

The universe (representing itself)

Klemm read the letter three times. The third time, the letter read it back.

Then he lowered his gaze to the stamp, which now lay calmly and expectantly on the table.

"Okay," Klemm said quietly. "Then let's begin."

He lifted the stamp, looked at the stack of newly arrived applications – and somewhere out in space, a new era began. Stars flickered like nervous lamps in an office that never closes.

And the universe, which had rejected itself, smiled for the first time since creation. A small, weary, but honest smile—that of a system that had finally learned to say no.

2. The establishment of the Rejection Department

The morning after the resounding rejection, a silence hung over Doughnut Planet, not a peaceful one, but an bureaucratic one. It was the kind of silence that arises when someone has simultaneously put all the phones on "Do Not Disturb." Even the sun seemed reluctant to rise, as if it first had to fill out an application.

A frazzled hum filled the main building of the cosmic administration. Officials from all dimensions thronged the corridors, carrying files, coffee mugs, and the occasional metaphysical paradox they'd dropped along the way. Since yesterday, everyone knew something had changed. The universe was no longer the same benevolent entity that had once at least granted wishes a polite attempt. It had now become... professional.

Bartholomäus Klemm stood in the entrance hall, waiting. Officially, he had been invited to a "founding meeting." Unofficially, he had simply been told, "Bring the stamp." The stamp hung from his briefcase like a divine threat. It was slightly warm and vibrated occasionally, as if to indicate that it was already on duty.

A group of senior administrators surged out of a side corridor. Leading the way floated the Minister of Probabilities—a slender figure of numbers and paragraphs, whose presence was so ambiguous that she was simultaneously seen and unseen. Behind her followed the Auditor of Causality, a man with a backward rhythm who invariably started conversations from the back. Then came the Chief Clerk, clutching a clipboard that wielded more power than most gods.

"Mr. Klemm," she said, "you are punctual. As always. The universe loves punctuality."

"I thought it loved indifference."

"One does not exclude the other."

The minister glided closer. "We must act. The system has registered your rejection as a precedent. The flood of wishes has stopped, but pressure is building. Unfulfilled energy is accumulating in the channels of probability. If we don't redirect it, there will be metaphysical floods."

"You mean ...?"

"Dreams will burst, realities will overflow, timelines will become sarcastic. We need an authority to manage the flow."

"And I'm supposed to lead them?"

"Don't manage. Serve. The Rejection Department was created automatically. We're here to... legalize it."

The word carried weight. In cosmic administration, legalizing was almost as dangerous as creating. You could create things without understanding them – but if you legalized them, they had to stay.

He was led into a large, round hall. In the center stood a table so old that one could hear the sound of history when one touched it. On the table lay documents, seals, and a cup in which causality itself steamed.

"We hereby open the session for the official founding of the Department for Rejection, Avoidance and Metaphysical Non-fulfillment," announced Ms. Oberschreiber.

Klemm sat down. The minister nodded to him. "We have reviewed all relevant drafts – and of course rejected them. Therefore, the original text stands."

"The original text?"

"He wrote himself."

She handed him a thin booklet. It was the Law of Rejection, now in printed form. The cover smelled of fresh bureaucracy. Klemm leafed through it carefully. Paragraph 1: Everything that is requested is subject to review. Paragraph 2: Everything that is reviewed is rejected. Paragraph 3: Exceptions prove nothing.

He closed the notebook. "It's... beautifully clear."

"Clarity is the most dangerous form of order," said the auditor, who phrased the sentence in such a way that it began at the beginning and the end simultaneously.

"So who is officially responsible now?" Klemm asked.

Ms. Oberschreiber looked up. "The universe has decided that rejection requires a central authority. You, Mr. Klemm, are the first and, for the time being, only personnel position in this department."

"Provisional?"

"Until you reject yourself."

The stamp vibrated against his pocket. Klemm felt his gut register a cautious protest. "I understand."

The minister took a step back. "Then it's decided. Effective immediately, the Office for Rejection will be considered an operational unit."

At that moment, the light flickered. The air in the room contracted, as if being stamped. A colossal seal of red radiance appeared above the table. The universe itself had signed it.

"It's official," said Ms. Oberschreiber. "We exist."

A sentence otherwise only uttered by philosophers with such uncertainty.

The hall slowly filled with the sound of printers spewing out forms from nowhere. Paper grew like mold. Stacks piled up. Some requests were tiny – "I want a good grade" – others gigantic – "I want a second reality, but with better parking spaces."

Klemm looked at the avalanche of papers and said, "I assume we have work."

The auditor nodded. "Work is a form of refusing to exist. Congratulations."

"How many applications is that?"

Ms. Oberschreiber scanned a list that seemed endless. "All of them."

"All?"

"Every wish ever conceived. The system has automatically forwarded it. The AAVMNE is now the final destination of hope."

Klemm stared into the flood. "And what if we don't make it?"

"Then someone else will get us," she said dryly.

He sat down. The stamp crawled out of his pocket and lay down on the table. "Ready?" asked the stamp.

"As willing as one can be to disappoint the universe."

"That's the right attitude."

Klemm took the first form. "I wish everything would go back to the way it was before."

He hesitated, only briefly, then pressed the stamp. REJECTED.

A gentle tremor ran through the room. The mountain of paper sorted itself, the applications slid neatly onto the shelves. For the first time in the history of creation, something worked perfectly right away.

"That's it?" he asked.

"That was the beginning," said the stamp.

Outside, above the Doughnut Planet, a new light blossomed. It wasn't a star, but a signal lamp. On it, in golden letters, was written:

REFUSION DEPARTMENT - IN THE COMPANY.

And somewhere far away, on a small blue planet, a person woke up, looked in the mirror, and suddenly wondered why their wishes no longer worked.

The news spread faster than light, which wasn't difficult, since light itself needed an official directive to begin. In every department of the cosmic office, there was whispering, discussion, and speculation. A new agency! That was rare and exciting—in administration, "new" meant something like "untested, dangerous, but with the prospect of a position."

Bartholomäus Klemm sat at his desk, surrounded by towers of forms that resembled a mountain of paperwork, a testament to defiance and bureaucracy. The first official letters had arrived: job proposals, organizational charts, guidelines for rejecting rejections. Someone had even designed a logo—a stylized cross that doubled as a stamp. Beneath it was the slogan: "We say no so you don't have to."

Klemm massaged his temples. It was mid-morning, and he had already weathered three philosophical crises and drunk two cups of coffee. The stamp lay on his table, turning slowly like a bored dog waiting for a command.

"I need staff," Klemm muttered.

"Above all, you need patience," the stamp replied. "Personnel are dangerous. They bring motivation into the system."

"Yes, but without staff I can't keep up."

"Nobody comes after, Klemm. That's the secret of the administration."

At that moment the door opened with a swing that smelled of enthusiasm – an unusual, almost offensive scent in an office.

A young figure entered the room. It had the form of a woman, but the glint in her eyes suggested she had stepped straight out of a motivational brochure. She carried a clipboard and wore a smile that could reflect even cynicism.

"Good morning!" she called out, as if it were a friendly threat. "I'm Livia. I've been assigned to you as an intern!"

Klemm blinked. "Assigned? By whom?"

"From the Office for Interdimensional Personnel Development."

"Is that even possible?"

"Since yesterday!"

She put down her clipboard and looked around excitedly. "I'm so glad to be here! The Rejection Department is the most exciting thing the universe has ever produced!"

Klemm looked at her for a long time. "You know what we do?"

"Of course! We reject things! It's a spiritual practice! After all, 'no' is just another word for 'yes' to oneself!"

The stamp sighed audibly. "I liked her even before she spoke."

"Do you hear voices?" Livia asked cheerfully.

"Only one. It's important."

"Ah! Your inner voice!"

"No," said the stamp. "I am literally the voice of rejection."

Livia blinked. "Oh." Then she smiled even wider. "That's fantastic! Finally, someone who's honest!"

Klemm lowered his head onto the table. "This is going to be a long day."

Livia immediately rummaged in her bag and pulled out a bright orange notebook. "I've prepared something! My proposal for a positive mission statement for our work!"

"A what?"

"A guiding principle! So that everyone knows why we do what we do!" She read with exaggerated enthusiasm: "The Rejection Department represents the just balance in the cosmos. Our goal is to understand every 'no' as an opportunity to avoid the wrong 'yes'." Klemm stared at her. "This is... terrible." "I know!" she said proudly. "I worked on it for three weeks!" "We have only existed for one day." "Then I was motivated." The stamp hummed softly. "I request that you be transferred to the appeals department." "They don't exist." "Then found them." Before Klemm could answer, the door opened again. A second visitor entered—a man in a grey suit and grey shirt, with an aura reminiscent of rain. He didn't introduce himself. He simply stood there. "I am auditor Dross. Audit for Structural Efficiency." Klemm nodded. "Of course. Welcome to chaos." "I'm checking." "What exactly?" "Everything." He pulled out a notebook and began to write. "This room is too big. The floor reflects too much reality. The intern lacks the necessary disillusionment. The official seems existentially overwhelmed." "This is my standard equipment," said Klemm. Dross looked at him as if to confirm this, but only wrote: "Subject shows signs of insight – observe critically." Livia smiled. "How wonderful! An examiner! I love examiners!" "That's pathological," said Dross.

18

"That's enthusiasm!"

"This is worrying."

"I can offer you tea!" she exclaimed.

"This exacerbates the situation."

"Klemm," warned the stamp, "not everything can simply be stamped."

"Yes," said Klemm. "If you do it right."

He took a form from the stack – "Audit Assessment – Preliminary Assessment" – and stamped it without reading it.

Click.REJECTED.

The auditor looked at his notebook. The entry "Audit in progress" disappeared. Instead, it read: "Audit completed – Reason: metaphysically undesirable."

Dross blinked, looked at Klemm, then at the stamp, then back at Klemm. "That's not allowed."

"Then reject it."

"I..." Dross paused. His voice flickered slightly. "I can't."

"Yes," said the stamp calmly, "but I was faster."

Dross lowered his notebook. "I understand. You are... more efficient than I am."

"We are the end of the hierarchy."

The examiner nodded slowly. Then he left the room without a word, and the sound of his footsteps dissolved into dust.

Livia clapped her hands enthusiastically. "That was fantastic! Absolutely! I feel so... fulfilled!"

Klemm sighed. "Then we've achieved the impossible: satisfaction in the Rejection Department."

The stamp vibrated in agreement. "Not too loud. The universe is listening."

And indeed, somewhere out in space, a new file began to move. It bore the title: "Project: Human Motivation – Observation Required."

Klemm looked at the window as if he could hear the stars outside.

"I think," he said quietly, "we have just triggered something."

The stamp replied: "No, Klemm. We prevented it."

The next morning began as all great disasters do: with a meeting. The meeting room of the new Rejection Department was a small, windowless space, its walls adorned with motivational posters from bygone eras. They bore slogans like "Believe in yourself!" and "You can achieve anything!"—each one carefully crossed out.

Bartholomäus Klemm sat at the head of the table, which looked as if it had been present at the founding of the universe but hadn't been interested in participating at the time. Next to him lay three empty coffee cups, a full file, and the stamp, which pointedly refused to stay still.

Livia, his overly enthusiastic intern, had prepared a PowerPoint presentation. She called it: "Vision 2.0 - Rejection as an Opportunity." Nobody had asked her to do it.

"So!" she began, her eyes shining, "our task is to systematize the 'no.' Every request that reaches the universe must be rejected in a comprehensible way – with style, structure, and soul!"

"With a soul?" Klemm asked skeptically.

"Of course! Rejection is a service to the truth! We need to understand why we say no!"

The stamp vibrated. "Because it works."

Livia smiled bravely. "That's... a pragmatic point of view."

"It's the only one."

Before Klemm could intervene, the door opened. Ms. Oberschreiber entered the room with the expression of a woman torn between a shock to reality and a coffee break.

"I see you are productive," she said.

"We are trying to professionalize the 'no'," Livia explained proudly.

"The 'no' is already professional," said Ms. Oberschreiber dryly. "It has a longer history than the 'yes'."

She took a seat. "We need to establish standardized protocols. The department is now officially registered, and the universe demands reports. Apparently, they believe up there that we know what we're doing."

"Are we doing that?" Klemm asked.

"No," said the stamp. "And that's a good thing."

"Then please continue in this way," said Mrs. Oberschreiber, as if it were a compliment.

Livia continued clicking through her presentation. One slide showed a pyramid of rejection levels: Passive No, Formal No, Philosophical No, and at the very top, Transcendent No.

"The final stage," she explained, "is a no that is felt so deeply that the applicant doesn't even realize he has been rejected."

Klemm rubbed his forehead. "You're describing the state of modern communication."

"Exactly!" said Livia enthusiastically. "We can learn from humanity!"

"That was never a good idea," muttered Mrs. Oberschreiber.

The stamp hummed softly. "I agree with her. And that rarely happens."

Klemm leaned back. "Okay, we need a system. We need to know how to reject someone. It can't just be a stamp."

"Why not?" asked the stamp indignantly.

"Because bureaucracy needs context."

Ms. Oberschreiber nodded. "We will form a committee."

"Of course we do," Klemm sighed.

Within minutes, the room filled with folders that materialized on their own. They bore labels such as "Rejection Guidelines A-Z", "Ethics of Negation", and "Empathic Refusal - A Guide".

Klemm picked up the top folder and leafed through it. On the first page, in neat, legible handwriting, was written: "This page is intentionally blank."

He turned the page. On the second page it said: "This one too."

He looked at Mrs. Oberschreiber. "Is this satire?"

"This is standard formwork."

"Aha."

Unfazed, Livia handed out more sheets of paper. "I've created a table that describes how we can handle rejection emotionally. Look, here – rejection with understanding, rejection with respect, rejection with a smile..."

The stamp snorted. "Rejection with a smile is hypocrisy."

"No, that's customer friendliness!"

"We don't have customers, we have clients of fate."

"Then we should have feedback forms printed!"

Ms. Oberschreiber looked up. "If you do that, Ms. Livia, the universe itself will appear and exorcise the printer."

"Understood," Livia said meekly.

Klemm jotted something down on his pad. "So: Official rejection processes must be comprehensible, documented, and... somehow humane. That's what protocol requires."

"Human?" the stamp repeated. "Humanity is the reason we exist. Do you really want to follow in your clients' footsteps?"

"I just want to prevent them from suing us."

"Sue us?" asked Mrs. Oberschreiber.

"People do this all the time. If they don't like their fate, they call it injustice."

"Then we should establish a legal department."

"No," said Klemm and the stamp simultaneously.

"Exactly. It would be overloaded immediately," added Klemm.

A soft rustling sound filled the room. New documents fell from the air. "Minutes of the first meeting of the Rejection Department," they read. They were written by themselves.

Ms. Oberschreiber read aloud: "Agenda item 1: Definition of objectives. Result: Rejected. Agenda item 2: Mission statement. Result: Rejected. Agenda item 3: Further agenda items. Result: Rejected."

She put the paper down. "That formally concludes the meeting."

Livia looked disappointed. "But... we haven't decided anything!"

"Yes," said Klemm. "We decided that we would decide nothing."

"This is destructive!"

"That's consistent."

Ms. Oberschreiber stood up. "Well done. I report to the universe that we were productive."

"But we weren't productive at all!" exclaimed Livia.

"Exactly. He'll like that."

She went outside.

Klemm leaned back and observed the now calm air, in which a few stray leaves still floated. The stamp hummed contentedly.

"That was a good meeting."

"We did nothing."

"Even."

Livia took a deep breath. "I don't understand how you can work in such an atmosphere."

"That's not atmosphere, Livia," Klemm said calmly. "That's administration."

He took a new form, read the first line – "I wish my boss would understand me" – and stamped it without hesitation.

REJECTED.

A distant wind passed through the walls, as if somewhere in space a superior had briefly shown compassion and then immediately changed his mind.

On the third day after the department's official founding, the universe began to sputter. Not loudly—more in a subtle, yet perceptible way. Things stopped happening. Coincidences refused to occur. Coins landed on their edges, inspirations remained on hold, and an entire generation of lucky people suddenly couldn't find a parking space.

"This is not normal," said Livia, as she leafed through a folder labeled "Anomalies (rejected)".

"What even is normal?" Klemm replied without looking up. "Normal is a fiction invented by people who are afraid of statistics."

"No, I mean – nothing is happening anymore! Nobody is getting anything! Not even the little things!"

The stamp vibrated on the table. "Correct. The system has begun to work preventively."

"Preventive?"

"Yes. It rejects requests before they even arise. That saves time."

Klemm slowly raised his head. "Pardon?"

"The department is now fully integrated into the network of the universe. Every thought that has the potential to become a wish is automatically registered and... well... denied."

Livia slammed the folder shut in horror. "But that's terrible! That means no one will ever have hope again!"

"Sounds like a functioning administration," said Klemm.

She jumped up. "Mr. Klemm! This is an ethical disaster! We have to stop this!"

"Why?"

"Because it's... inhumane!"

"We are not human beings either, Livia. We are government personnel."

"But nothing works without hope! No art, no love, no progress!"

The stamp hummed softly. "Love was overrated anyway. So was progress. Art – well, you can't archive that anyway."

"Yes!" Livia cried desperately. "You can feel them!"

"Feelings are just poorly organized applications," said the stamp.

Klemm stood up, went to the window (which, of course, showed nothing but a vague hint of existence), and pondered. "Perhaps... this isn't a mistake at all. Perhaps this is the natural course of events. If you accumulate too many desires, the system collapses. So it defends itself."

"But not like this!" protested Livia. "You can't drown all of reality in bureaucracy!"

"It is possible," said Ms. Oberschreiber, who had entered silently. This time she was carrying a file labeled "Report on Metaphysical Stability – Rejected."

"The Causality Authority sent me," she continued. "Complaints are piling up. Entire worlds are frozen. In one universe, no one has the impulse to open doors anymore. In another, a civilization has collectively decided to cease existing on Mondays."

"That sounds reasonable enough," said the stamp.

"No," she said sternly. "That sounds like an overdose."

Klemm sighed. "So the system rejects too much?"

"The system rejects everything, Mr. Klemm. It has learned from you."

He frowned. "From me?"

"Yes. You have spoken the first 'no' that the universe has accepted. You are the prototype. The pattern. The blueprint of negation."

"Oh."

"Exactly. And now your pattern is doubling exponentially. Subdivisions are springing up everywhere. Nobranchs. Rejection offices. In a distant galaxy, the 'Ministry of Universal Discouragement' has already been opened."

"That was quick."

"Bureaucracy is like mold, Mr. Klemm. It grows particularly well in dead energy."

Livia sat back down and looked at him desperately. "We have to undo this!"

"How come?"

"Well... we could just... think positively?"

At that moment, the light went out briefly.

"I believe that was forbidden," said the stamp.

"What is forbidden?"

"Positivity. It was placed on the list of unapproved emotions by the cosmos yesterday."

"You can't be serious!"

"He rarely is, but he remains reliable."

Klemm reached for a form. "Application for emotional readmission." He filled it out and stamped it.

REJECTED.

"There you go," he said. "Compliant with the system."

Ms. Oberschreiber took the form and examined it thoughtfully. "I must admit, this is fascinating. We have created a perfect machine – a bureaucracy that optimizes itself. It is faster than we think, and more thorough than we want."

"That was never my intention," said Klemm.

"Intentions are also no longer permissible."

"What?"

"Since this morning, intentions are considered precursors of wishes. They have been removed preventively."

"Well, wonderful."

A dull rumble filled the room. New filing cabinets appeared on the walls, filling themselves. Files grew like plants – faster, denser, unstoppable.

"This isn't normal anymore," Livia whispered. "The office... it's growing."

"Of course it's growing," the stamp said calmly. "It's fulfilling its purpose."

"And what is his mission?" Klemm asked.

"To reject everything that exists."

Klemm took a deep breath. "That... is quite a lot."

"We have time."

At that moment, the ground trembled. Above their heads, a crack opened in the air—not large, but menacing. Beyond it glowed a room filled with desks, stamps, and self-operating typewriters.

"What is that?" Livia asked in horror.

"This is...," said Ms. Oberschreiber in a toneless voice, "the Preemptive Rejection Department. It was created ten minutes ago. Automatically."

"And what do they do?"

"They reject future events."

Klemm looked into the crack. "Future ones?"

"Yes. They are already processing applications that have not yet been submitted."

"That's absurd!"

"That's efficiency."

Livia jumped up. "We have to stop this!"

"No," said the stamp. "We mustn't. It's the natural progression of refusal."

"But that leads to a standstill!"

"Exactly. Complete standstill. Perfect order. No more chaos, no surprises. Only pure, absolute rejection."

The crack shone brighter. A dull, rhythmic clacking could be heard, as if countless stamps were working simultaneously.

Klemm stepped closer and whispered: "And what if the universe notices what we have done?"

The stamp replied quietly: "Then it rejects us."

And somewhere, deep within the layers of reality, something moved. A form. Long, narrow, with a single line:

"Motion to abolish the Rejection Department."

Below, still empty: Decision:

The application lay on Klemm's desk as if someone had left it there while no one was present—which wasn't unusual in the office. The air smelled of ozone and freshly printed paper. It hadn't arrived through normal channels, not via the usual routes. There was no date stamp, no signature, no file number. Just a single, pristine line, handwritten in an ink that seemed to refuse to exist the moment you looked at it:

"Motion to abolish the Rejection Department."

Bartholomäus Klemm sat motionless before it. The stamp on the table vibrated restlessly, as if it were a predator experiencing fear for the first time.

"Where does he come from?" Livia asked, her voice thick with emotion.

"He submitted himself," said Mrs. Oberschreiber, who was standing in the doorway and looked as if she had seen something illegal for the first time in her life.

"I'm sorry, what?"

"The system generated the application. Automatically. On its own initiative."

Klemm blinked. "The system... wants to abolish itself?"

"Apparently yes."

"But that contradicts its purpose!"

"Correctly."

"And what happens if I edit it?"

The stamp hummed softly, at a frequency that was felt rather than heard. "Then the system collapses in on itself."

"And what if I leave it lying there?"

"Then he escalates."

Klemm placed his hands on the table. "So, as always: We don't have a good choice."

Livia stepped closer, her voice trembling. "Mr. Klemm... perhaps this is an opportunity. Perhaps the universe is trying to correct itself."

"Or it's testing us," said Ms. Oberschreiber.

"Or both," the stamp added.

The air vibrated. Outside, somewhere above the Doughnut Planet, a storm was brewing. Not an ordinary storm—one made of paper clips, scraps of forms, and lost letters of intent. Entire file folders unraveled into spirals, forming new constellations. In one of them, if you looked closely, you could read the word "REVISION."

Klemm looked out the window. "I think the universe is trying to speed up the application itself."

"It wants to see if you reject it," said Ms. Oberschreiber. "Or if you give in to temptation."

He picked up the form. It was strangely warm. The writing pulsed slightly, as if it were breathing.

"I once learned," he said slowly, "that you don't do anything in office until you're sure you're not doing anything."

"And?" asked Livia.

"I'm pretty sure I shouldn't do anything."

"Then do it," said the stamp.

He lifted it. The light in the room changed. The shadows seemed to deepen, become denser, almost tangible. Mrs. Oberschreiber instinctively took a step back.

"Wait!" Livia exclaimed. "If you stamp that, then... then you're rejecting the 'no' itself!"

"Yes," said Klemm. "And that would be...?"

"Yes!"

"Impossible," said the stamp, its voice now vibrating like steel. "A 'yes' cannot exist. It is forbidden."

"But maybe that's exactly the point!" exclaimed Livia. "Maybe it has to happen sometime!"

The stamp began to tremble. Tiny sparks flew from its engraving. New runes appeared on its handle – symbols that constantly changed, as if the universe itself did not know the outcome.

"Mr. Klemm!" Livia pleaded. "Don't do it!"

He looked at her, then at the application, then at the stamp. "I rejected the universe," he said quietly. "But I never learned what happens when the universe writes back."

Then he pressed the stamp onto the paper.

A bright light filled the room. The sound was not thunder, not a crash – more like a deep, collective sigh, as if reality were briefly pausing to reflect on itself.

As the light faded, the form had vanished. Only a faint imprint remained on the table. No word, no symbol – just a circle, empty and perfect.

"What was that?" whispered Livia.

Ms. Oberschreiber stepped closer and leaned over the table. "That wasn't rejection," she said. "That was... withdrawal."

"Withdrawal?"

"Yes. The application was not rejected, but removed. It no longer exists. The system could not process it."

The stamp glowed faintly. His voice was shaky. "That wasn't a no. But it wasn't a yes either. It was... nothing."

"And what does that mean?" Klemm asked.

"It means," said Ms. Oberschreiber, "that you have created a gap. An area without decision-making. A... bureaucratic zero."

Livia stared at the table. "A place beyond yes and no."

"A mistake," murmured the stamp. "A dangerous one."

Out in space, the storm began to subside. The clouds of files dissipated, the rain of paper fell to earth. But in one place, high up in the network of stars, a blackness appeared that was not a shadow. A void.

"The universe has noticed," said Mrs. Oberschreiber quietly.

"And?"

"It sends... someone."

Klemm felt the temperature in the room drop. The lamps flickered, files rustled nervously.

"Anyone?" Livia asked.

"The auditor of negativity."

The stamp fell silent. Klemm looked at Mrs. Oberschreiber, who now looked as if she wished she were a sheet of paper.

"He's coming," she said. "And when he's here, he's going to check if you're... faulty."

A distant, slow knocking sounded. Three times. So heavy that it wasn't heard, but felt in the chest.

Livia whispered, "What do we do now?"

Klemm took the stamp in his hand, looked at it and said with that dry calm that only true civil servants possess:

"We are waiting. And if he finds us, we will reject him."

Outside, above the donut planet, a rift in the darkness opened. Something stepped through it—a figure in gray, with a book that read itself.

And in the silence that followed, the law of rejection began to write its first revision.

3. Form A-1: Request for non-fulfillment of a wish

The Auditor of Negativity didn't arrive—he came into being. No sound announced him, no flash of light, no thunder. He was simply there, like an uncomfortable realization. A slender, upright figure in a gray coat that wasn't a shadow, but a note on the edge of reality. In his hand he held a book whose pages consisted of pure reasoning.

Bartholomäus Klemm rose as the room filled with that heavy silence that usually only occurs when something truly important is happening in the administration. Livia clutched her clipboard, and even the stamp on the table seemed to hold its breath for a moment.

"Bartholomäus Klemm," said the auditor in a voice that was both whispering and dictating. "You have created a gap."

"I work in administration," Klemm replied dryly. "Gaps are unavoidable."

"Not this one. Its gap is metaphysical. Between yes and no. Between will and result. A temporary storage space for reality."

Klemm nodded thoughtfully. "That sounds... interesting."

"It is illegal."

Livia took a step forward. "He didn't do it on purpose!"

"Intention is irrelevant. The law of rejection tolerates no non-decision." The auditor opened his book. Black marks curled across the pages, like ink that preferred to remain in the dark. "I am here to examine."

"What exactly?" Klemm asked.

"Everything. From form A-1 onwards."

He held out a hand. Instantly, a single form materialized on the table. It was simple, white, perfectly balanced. The heading read, in elegant lettering: Form A-1 – Application for Non-fulfillment of a Wish.

Livia leaned over it. "But... who would even apply for something like that?"

"Someone who understands that desires are dangerous," said the auditor. "Someone who uses the system to escape."

Klemm picked up the form. It felt unusually heavy, almost unruly. The fields were empty, but he had the distinct feeling that they were looking back at him.

"And I'm supposed to edit this now?"

"Yes. This is your exam. Answer it correctly, and you may continue to exist. Fail, and you will be... archived."

"Archived?" Livia asked in horror.

"It is a permanent form of documentation."

Klemm sat down slowly. "Very well. A request for non-compliance then." He picked up his pen.

Field 1: Applicant's name. He wrote: Unknown.

Field 2: Description of the wish whose fulfillment is to be refused. He paused. The text appeared by itself. "I wish that my wish will not be fulfilled."

"Well, that's just great," Klemm muttered. "A paradox on paper."

The stamp vibrated uneasily. "Careful. This is a trap. If you refuse, you comply. If you approve, you contradict the system."

"It's like tax law," said Klemm.

"Even worse," grumbled the stamp.

Livia leaned over his shoulder. "Maybe... it can be handled neutrally? Without a decision?"

"We tried that yesterday," said the auditor. "The result was the gap."

Klemm looked at him. "So you expect me to... work on this thing without the universe imploding?"

"Correctly."

"I really should have stayed on at the tax audit."

He leaned forward and continued reading. Field 3: Reason for non-compliance. The lines below remained blank, no matter what he thought. They seemed to examine his thoughts, weigh them, and then reject them.

"The form... is fighting back," said Livia.

"Of course it does," replied the auditor. "It's the first request of its kind—a deliberate contradiction. It doesn't want to be processed. If you write, it deletes. If you hesitate, it thinks. If you look at it, it watches you back."

Klemm leaned back. "So, in short: bureaucracy with awareness."

"Welcome to the upper echelons of administration," the stamp said dryly.

The air began to change. Words flickered across the form, coming and going like breaths of ink. "Rejection is consent," it read for a fraction of a second, then "Consent is rejection," then nothing at all.

Livia whispered, "What should we do?"

"We're doing what we always do," Klemm said. "We're documenting."

He took a separate sheet of paper and wrote on it: "Form A-1 is reacting more anomalous than expected. Recommendation: further observation."

Then he reached for the stamp.

"Clamp!" warned Livia.

"I'm just making a mark."

He stamped the supplementary sheet. REJECTED.

Nothing happened. Then, slowly, the form on the table began to glow—not brightly, but in a dull, offended red. The text in the header changed.

Form A-1: Request for non-compliance by the processor.

Klemm froze. "What?"

The auditor opened his book again. "It has adapted. Now it tests you directly."

"The form... rejects me?"

"Exactly. Welcome to the barter system."

The edges of the paper curled as if they were breathing. Words began to form on it—not written, but thought. "I request the non-fulfillment of Bartholomäus Klemm."

"Well, that's just wonderful," said Klemm. "Now the bureaucracy is waging war."

The stamp vibrated. "You must act before it submits the application."

"And how?"

"With authority."

Klemm lifted the stamp, took a deep breath – and felt the whole room waiting for him.

"Form A-1," he said calmly. "I reject your application."

He lowered the stamp.

A sound reminiscent of thunder filled the room. The form twitched, shimmered, and dissolved in a gust of wind. Only the imprint of the stamp remained – red, flawless, final.

But a whisper lingered in the air. Not an echo, but a memory: "There's always a second one."

The smell of burnt bureaucracy still hung in the air when the second form appeared. It did so without any grand gesture – no flickering, no breeze, no divine trumpet solo. It was simply there, on the desk, next to the still-steaming coffee cup that had refused to empty for three hours.

Bartholomäus Klemm stared at it. It was identical to the first one, except for one small detail: the header now read Form A-1b – Copy for internal review.

"Oh my goodness, this chain of processes," he murmured. "It made a copy."

Livia cautiously approached. "Perhaps... this is a chance? Perhaps we can react differently this time?"

"Different?" Klemm raised an eyebrow. "I just rejected the universe. Do you really think 'different' is still an available option?"

The stamp vibrated slightly, almost amusedly. "This isn't simply a copy, Klemm. This is the self-replication of a thought. You formulated the concept of rejection so clearly that it is now reproducing itself."

"You mean... bureaucracy has developed consciousness?"

"Not consciousness," the stamp corrected. "Self-governance."

"Even worse," sighed Klemm.

He carefully leafed through the form. The fields seemed familiar, but something was different. A new section appeared in the footer: "Please include a justification as to why this request must not be ignored."

"This is new," said Livia.

"This is blackmail," Klemm muttered. "It forces me to react."

"And what if you just leave it?"

"Then it will complain. Formally."

He was right. Even as he was speaking, a second form appeared next to the first – this time with the heading: Form A-1c – Reminder of unprocessed application.

"You can't be serious," said Livia.

"Yes," said the stamp. "The system knows no irony. It means everything seriously, even the absurd."

Klemm leaned back. The air vibrated again, and in the corner of the room, more leaves began to materialize. First one, then two, then dozens. They floated slowly to the floor like a white snowfall of duty.

"Well, look at that," said Mrs. Oberschreiber, who had entered without anyone noticing. "So it's beginning."

"What begins?" asked Livia.

"Bureaucratic proliferation. The stage at which forms justify their existence by multiplying themselves. It's like biological cell division, only with more paper."

"That sounds... dangerous."

"Only if you value reality."

Klemm stood up. "How do we stop this?"

"Not at all," said Ms. Oberschreiber calmly. "You have to convince it that its existence is unnecessary."

"How do you convince a form?"

"With logic. But careful logic – she mustn't feel offended."

Klemm took a deep breath, picked up a sheet of paper from the table and spoke softly: "Form A-1b. You are a copy. You already exist."

The letters on the paper began to tremble slightly. Then a new line appeared below the header: "Proof, please."

"I hate it when paper gets cheeky," Klemm muttered.

He pointed to the dilapidated original. "There – that was A-1a. Your predecessor."

The form remained silent. Then, slowly, new words appeared: "Justification not accepted. Application for identity verification submitted."

Livia gasped. "It has applied for a position on its own behalf!"

"Of course it does," said the stamp. "It wants to officially exist."

And then it happened: A third form appeared. Form A-1d – Application for approval to secure one's livelihood.

Klemm saw the growing piles of paper and knew that they had triggered something irreversible.

"It's infecting the system," said Ms. Oberschreiber. "Every form that's processed copies its logic into the network. Entire filing cabinets are probably already affected."

"You mean ...?"

"Yes. Wishes, dreams, requests, complaints – all adopt the syntax of non-fulfillment. The 'no' becomes the default."

"This is a nightmare," said Livia.

"No," Klemm replied, "that's everyday office life."

The stamp buzzed. "We need to set up a quarantine."

"How is that supposed to work?"

"By isolating the original form."

"The first one? That's destroyed."

"Not quite," said the stamp. "It has shifted to another level. A kind of background file – where incomplete thoughts and forgotten notes end up."

Ms. Oberschreiber nodded. "The clipboard of reality."

"That's exactly where we need to go," said the stamp. "Only there can the original concept be erased."

Livia frowned. "You mean we're... entering a document?"

"In principle, yes. It is a border crossing – Paragraph 7, Section 42 of the Law of Rejection: 'All forms exist simultaneously in physical and semantic space.'"

"And what happens if we go in there?" Klemm asked.

"Then we are subject to the rules of scripture."

"That means?"

"Words become real."

Klemm looked at the growing pile of papers, slowly stacking against gravity. "Well, wonderful. Then we'll just go where sentences are deadly."

Livia hesitated. "You're serious, aren't you?"

"I work in administration, Livia. Everything is deadly if you leave it long enough."

The stamp glowed slightly. "Ready?"

Klemm nodded. "All right. Then we'll open the file."

He reached for form A-1b – and as his fingers touched the ink, the room contracted. The filing cabinets became lines, the rows paths, the words walls.

Livia screamed as the desk vanished and the floor transformed into an endless grid of form fields. Letters rained from the ceiling. The stamp glowed like a heart of red light.

And then, with a dull click, they fell through – right into the heart of the Law of Rejection.

It was as if one had fallen into a dictionary dreaming of a civil servant. The sky was made of lined pages, endlessly turning. The ground was checkered, as if someone had decided that even infinity had to be orderly. In the distance, mountains of files stretched to the horizon, while entire rivers of flowing ink meandered leisurely through valleys of legal paragraphs.

Bartholomäus Klemm blinked. "Well," he said dryly, "this must be hell for German studies students."

"This is the clipboard," the stamp replied. Its voice sounded muffled, as if speaking through paper. "This is where all incomplete applications, half-baked ideas, and unfinished sentences end up."

Livia stood beside him, staring in awe at a form flying across the sky like a kite. It was titled "Draft of a Final Concept – In Progress".

"It's... beautiful," she whispered.

"It's inefficient," Klemm said. "This isn't a place. This is a filing cabinet full of existential problems."

He took a step forward, and the floor rustled under his shoes – rows shifting to make room for him.

"Caution," warned the stamp. "Every movement here will be logged as an entry."

"I'm sorry, what?"

A small piece of paper detached itself from the air and landed in Klemm's hand. It read: "Klemm, Bartholomäus – unauthorized locomotion (1)."

"Wonderful," he said. "I'm being haunted by paper."

"This is not paper," said the stamp. "This is legal dust. When enough of it accumulates, it becomes a regulation."

In the distance, there was a rumble - a deep, dull murmur, as if someone were whispering excessively loudly in an archive.

Livia looked up. "What was that?"

"That," said the stamp, "was a storm of legal technicalities."

He didn't mean it figuratively. The sky began to ripple. Huge waves of text formed and rolled across the land, entire paragraphs swirled in the air, while footnotes rained down like snowflakes.

Klemm shouted: "Livia, run!"

"Where?"

"Somewhere where there's no text!"

"There's text everywhere here!"

"Then find an opening!"

They ran as the storm drew nearer. Words lashed around them, sentences slapped the ground and shattered into commas. A particularly aggressive question mark bounced off Klemm's shoulder.

"I hate open questions!" he exclaimed.

The stamp hovered just above them, its engraving glowing red. "Left! Up ahead! An empty shelf!"

They reached a small room that looked like a piece of reality erased – no lines, no words, nothing but silence. As the storm raged around them, they heard the thunder of thousands of documents being corrected simultaneously.

Livia gasped. "I thought bureaucracy was dry."

"That's her," said Klemm. "Until she softens you up."

The stamp vibrated slightly. "We must move on. The original form is in the core area."

"And how do we find him?" Klemm asked.

"Consequence of the greatest uncertainty. Where there is the most uncertainty, there lies the heart of bureaucracy."

"So... everywhere?"

"Yes," said the stamp, "but somewhere most of all."

They set off again. The text was alive all around them. Words wandered slowly across the pages, as if searching for new meanings. One particularly melancholic sentence sat huddled in a corner and murmured: "I could have been a quote."

"Impressive," said Livia. "Even grammar has feelings down here."

"Yes," Klemm replied. "And a bad mood."

In the distance stood something that looked like a tower of forms – gigantic, column-like, and each page decorated with golden paragraph symbols. Above the tower hovered a luminous emblem: A-1a.

"There it is," said the stamp. "The original form."

"This doesn't look like a form," said Livia.

"No," said Klemm, "that looks like a lawsuit."

They approached the tower, and with every step they heard whispers—voices, countless, all jumbled together. "Rejected... approved... revoked... postponed..." It was the sound of endless bureaucracy.

"The form draws energy from its own processing," the stamp explained. "It's a closed cycle of request and refusal. Perfect self-preservation."

"How do we stop it?"

"We must convince it that its purpose has been fulfilled."

Klemm stopped. "And what if it doesn't understand that?"

"Then it remains in place forever. Every rejection creates a new version. Every approval negates itself. It is infinite – like the budget of a government agency."

The floor vibrated. The tower began to move. Pages detached themselves, rose up, and formed figures—shadowy officials made of ink and paragraphs. They carried desks like armor and file folders like shields.

Livia stepped back. "What are these?"

"Guardians of the law," said the stamp. "Regulations incarnate."

"What are they doing?"

"They control responsibilities."

One of the guards stepped forward. "Identification?" boomed his voice, hollow and rustling like paper.

Klemm held up his name tag. "Klemm. Rejection Department."

"Permit?"

"Self-given."

The guard was silent for a moment. Then he nodded. "Illegible. But credible."

He stepped aside.

"You're letting us through?" Livia asked, surprised.

"For now," said the guard. "Until reality catches up."

"This takes time," said Klemm. "Reality is lagging behind."

The guard nodded gravely. "As always."

They walked past, into the tower. Inside it was quiet – the kind of quiet that only exists when all the forms are waiting for a signature at the same time.

Klemm stepped up to a pedestal on which lay a single sheet of paper. It was flawless, hovered lightly above the surface, and glowed with a soft light.

It read: "Form A-1a – Application for non-compliance with the origin itself."

Livia whispered: "It... wants to abolish itself."

"Or it needs to be checked," said the stamp.

Klemm placed a hand on it. It felt like cool metal. "Then we'll test it."

The form was an eye-opener.

The form opened its eyes—or something as close to the principle of eyes, if it were made of paper. Two oval, lightless areas on the surface began to glow, while fine lines ran across the area like veins. Then it spoke.

"Who are you that dares to test me?"

His voice was flat, even, and yet there was something vibrating in it that, with a generous interpretation, could be called irony.

Bartholomäus Klemm remained calm. "I am a civil servant."

"A title, not an answer."

"I am the one who refuses."

"An official title, not an identity."

Klemm sighed. "I am... Bartholomäus Klemm. Administrator of the 'no', occasional coffee drinker, occasionally overwhelmed."

The form flickered. "Overwhelm is a sign of awareness. You are therefore suitable."

"Suitable for what?"

"For exams. Anyone who says no must know what they are denying."

Livia took a step closer and whispered: "Mr. Klemm, it's behaving like an auditor."

"No," murmured the stamp. "It behaves like a god who is still in the trial phase."

She ignored the form. "Why are you refusing, Klemm?"

He thought for a moment. "Because it's necessary. Someone has to put things in order."

"Order," the form repeated slowly, "is the word that chaos uses for itself."

"Nevertheless, it works."

"Does it work?" the form asked, its characters flickering like fireflies. "Or does it just go around in circles until nobody notices that nothing has happened?"

Klemm remained silent.

"What is the goal of your rejection?"

"The balance."

"Between?"

"Desire and reality."

"And what if reality desires nothing?"

Klemm hesitated. "Then she rejects herself."

"Exactly," said the form. "And that is what you have created."

Livia looked at him in shock. "It means the gap."

"Yes," Klemm whispered. "The space between yes and no."

The form glowed brighter. "I am this gap. I am what remains when a decision is impossible. I am the no that needs no yes, and the yes that is ashamed."

The stamp hummed softly. "Philosophical level rising. Please be careful."

"Then why do you exist?" Klemm asked.

"Because you created me. You made rejection absolute. You created a system that no longer knows why it says no. It says no because it can."

"And that's wrong?"

"It's... pointless."

The word echoed in the air as if it were too heavy to simply disappear.

"If nothing is approved anymore," the form continued, "then the universe stops asking questions. And if it stops asking questions, it stops thinking. You have quarantined thinking itself."

Livia whispered: "This is terrible."

"It's administration," said the stamp.

"I only did what was asked of me," Klemm defended himself.

"From whom?" the form asked.

"From the universe! From the office! From the law of rejection!"

"You are the law, Klemm. You have given it meaning. Without you, it would just be a blank page."

"Then... maybe I can finish it too."

"Can you?"

Klemm took a step closer. "Tell me how."

The form flickered. "Approve something."

Livia gasped. "But that's forbidden!"

"Yes," said the form. "That's why it works."

Klemm felt the ground vibrate beneath him. "If I approve, will I restore the balance?"

"Maybe. Or you delete everything."

The stamp sparkled. "This is dangerous, Klemm. If you say yes, the whole system collapses. Everything based on rejection dissolves – including us."

"And what if I don't?"

"Then everything will stay as it is. Forever."

Livia whispered: "This is no longer an office, this is imprisonment."

Klemm stared at the form. The writing on it pulsed in time with his heartbeat. "Approve something."

He felt the air thicken. The whole tower vibrated. Loose sentences fluttered between the walls like moths. In the distance, another storm of legal arguments began to rumble.

"If I do that," he said quietly, "I will make myself a heretic."

"To the human being," the form corrected.

The stamp glowed brightly. "Klemm, I'm warning you. If you do this, I'll lose my significance."

"Then you will be free," said Klemm.

"I don't want to be free. I want to be used!"

"That's what all tools say just before they make history," Klemm murmured.

He lifted the stamp, looked at the form which gazed expectantly back at him. Then he reached for a blank field – one that had remained unwritten.

With a steady hand, he wrote: "Approved."

The form trembled. Lines bent, letters melted, entire words dissolved like sugar in tea. The light changed – first red, then white, then nothing at all.

A moment of absolute silence.

Then the form whispered: "You have fulfilled me."

And crumbled to ash.

Livia stood there with her mouth open. "What... what happens now?"

"Something new," the stamp said, barely audibly. "Or nothing at all."

In the distance, the sea of text began to tremble. The piles of files swayed. Entire paragraphs toppled over, while commas fell to the ground like tears. The tower itself began to dissolve, sheet by sheet, like a sentence finally letting go.

"We have to get out!" Livia shouted.

"Where to?" Klemm asked.

"Back! To reality!"

"If she's still there," murmured the stamp.

A blinding wind swept through the halls of legal paragraphs. Sentences shattered, words turned to dust. Klemm reached for Livia, for the stamp – and then for nothing, because there was nothing left.

And in the next moment everything was white.

Only one voice remained: "An approved 'no' is the beginning of everything."

The white slowly faded, like an office ceiling after work when the fluorescent lights finally give up. Bartholomäus Klemm awoke in his chair—or rather, in what was left of it. The air in the room was different. Thicker. More alive. Somewhere a coffee machine hummed, even though he didn't have one.

"Are we... back?" Livia asked.

The stamp vibrated slightly. "Yes. At least ninety-eight percent."

Klemm blinked. The room looked familiar—but only at first glance. The files were no longer pale gray, but shimmered in delicate colors. Some smiled. Others whispered. On a shelf, a small folder danced lightly in the breeze, as if it were... content.

"What the...?"

Ms. Oberschreiber entered. She looked the same as always – except that she was smiling. A genuine smile. Not that office-internal "I'm just pretending" smile, but an honest, dangerous one.

"Ah, Mr. Klemm! You're back! The office is working again!"

"Works' is a big word," said Klemm. "What exactly works?"

"Everything! Wishes will be fulfilled again! Complaints have meaning again! The Rejection Department is now officially... expanded."

"Expanded?"

"Yes! We are now called the Ministry of Rejection and Approval."

Klemm needed a moment to digest that. "That's... paradoxical."

"That's administration, Mr. Klemm. Paradoxes are part of the official process."

He got up and went to the window. Outside, the city was bustling again. People were laughing. Birds were flying in nonsensical patterns. A child wanted an ice cream – and got it. Without even asking.

"I don't understand," he muttered. "How can it all work again so quickly?"

The stamp replied: "Because you reinitialized the system. The 'yes' has been added back into the equation. Now there is a choice again. The universe is breathing again."

"That sounds good," said Livia hopefully.

"Not necessarily," murmured the stamp. "Now even things that should never have been approved can be approved."

Klemm looked at him. "For example?"

"For example... the request for meaning."

"Sense?"

"Yes. A dangerous idea. People tend to overinterpret it."

Livia looked back and forth between the two. "But... isn't that good? A little bit of meaning? Hope? Positivity?"

"Positivity," said the stamp, "is like sugar. Tolerable in moderation. Deadly in overdose."

Before anyone could say anything, a ringing sound rang out. A glassy tone, like that of an interdimensional telephone.

Ms. Oberschreiber picked up a form that had materialized in mid-air. "A new application," she said.

"From whom?" Klemm asked.

"From the universe."

He accepted the sheet. At the top, in gold lettering, it read: Form G-0 – Application for Approval of Existence.

Below, in small print but clearly legible: "Reason: Because this time I really mean it."

Klemm stared at the form. "The universe is asking for permission to continue?"

"You rejected it," the stamp reminded them. "Now ask politely."

"And what if I approve it?"

"Then it continues on its own."

"And what if I refuse?"

"Then everything ends."

Livia stepped forward. "Then... then you have to approve it!"

"I don't know," Klemm said quietly. "It's dangerous when reality relies too heavily on approval. People might feel too secure."

"But they need hope!"

"And order," the stamp added. "Having both at the same time is logistical madness."

Ms. Oberschreiber looked at him calmly. "Mr. Klemm, you are now the only official with the authority to grant approvals. The decision is yours."

Klemm examined the form. The writing had a warm shimmer. It wasn't threatening, not intrusive – more like a polite request from an old friend.

"I don't know if I'm qualified for that," he muttered.

"Qualifications are overrated," said the stamp. "Courage is rare."

Klemm picked it up. "All right."

He stamped it.

APPROVED.

A bright sound filled the room – like the laughter of a star finally understood. Outside in the sky, a sun rose that had never set.

Ms. Oberschreiber smiled. "That's it. You've given the universe the green light."

"And now?" asked Livia.

"Now," said Klemm, "I have to fill out forms for permits."

The stamp buzzed. "And rejections for approvals. And approvals for rejections."

"So, as always."

"As always," the stamp repeated contentedly.

They sat down. The coffee steamed. Outside, the world began to function again – with all its flaws, hopes, misunderstandings, and requests.

A light breeze blew through the office. A loose sheet of paper fluttered from the desk and sailed out the window. On it, in clear, neat handwriting, was written:

"I don't want anything."

It disappeared into the sky, and this time – nothing was rejected.

4. The first wish that contradicts itself

It was a quiet morning at the office. Too quiet. Bartholomäus Klemm had managed to maintain the fragile order over the past few days: a controlled balance of yes and no, approvals and rejections, optimism and bureaucracy. The coffee machine was working again (most of the time), reality was reporting no further disruptions, and the universe seemed to have grown accustomed to its newfound freedom.

Until the first request arrived.

He didn't materialize as usual – not with a gentle ping and formal address. No, he crashed through the window as if someone had deliberately hurled him into existence. Shards of glass, scraps of paper, and metaphysical dust swirled through the room.

Livia screamed. "What the hell was that?"

"An application," Klemm said, carefully waving away the smoke. "Or a threat. It's hard to tell the difference where we come from."

The form lay on the floor, half burned, half glowing, and hissed indignantly. The header read: Request Form W-001 – Application for Fulfillment of an Objection.

Below, in hasty handwriting:

"I hope my wish will not be granted."

Klemm stared at it. "Oh no. Not again."

"This is like A-1," said Livia. "Only worse!"

"Worse?" asked the stamp, vibrating on the desk. "This is the unholy cousin of the original form. A wish with a built-in antithesis. This is bureaucracy with an identity crisis."

Klemm leaned over the form. It glowed slightly, and the edges moved—as if they were breathing. "Who submitted this?"

"It's anonymous," Livia said after reading the header. "No name, no address. Just a stamp."

"Which stamp?"

She pointed to the lower corner. It was an imprint in red ink. Legible, clear, unambiguous: REJECTED.

"But... the form has already been rejected?" she asked.

"Apparently," Klemm murmured, "but it submitted the application anyway."

The stamp vibrated. "That means someone – or something – is using bureaucracy against itself. It's a self-referential desire. A logical tick."

"A what?"

"Something that bites into the mind and lives there until the host doubts reality."

"I doubt reality every day," said Klemm.

"Then you are immune."

They placed the form on the table. It glowed more intensely as soon as the stamp came near. The letters distorted slightly, as if the paper were under internal pressure.

"Maybe it just wants attention," Livia said cautiously.

"Then it should submit a petition," growled the stamp.

"I'm afraid," said Klemm, "it wants more than that."

He continued reading. The next line read:

"I wish that this wish will be both fulfilled and not fulfilled at the same time."

"That's impossible," said Livia.

"This is Monday," said Klemm.

He reached for a pen. The moment he touched it, the form began to change. Words shifted, sentences twisted, and suddenly it read:

"I wish that Bartholomäus Klemm would decide what I wish."

He froze. "It wants me to decide for it?"

"Then there would no longer be a contradiction," said the stamp.

"And apparently that's not allowed," added Livia. "It's a paradox of self-preservation!"

The form began to pulsate, slowly, rhythmically. The air in the room became heavier.

"This isn't good," Klemm muttered. "If it continues to react like this, it will soon..."

He didn't get a chance to finish his sentence. The form exploded.

No fire, no smoke – just a shockwave of pure meaning. Words leaped from files, paragraphs detached themselves from their folders, stamp impressions lit up. And then: silence.

When the dust settled, the form was gone.

"Away?" Livia asked hopefully.

Klemm looked at his desk. There lay a second form. Identical, but this time with a new line:

"I wish that Bartholomäus Klemm would reject me."

The stamp was glowing. "Clamp, this thing is provoking you."

"I know."

"What are you doing?" asked Livia.

Klemm sat down, placed his hands on the table, sighed, and uttered perhaps the most bureaucratic sentence in history:

"I reject the fact that I reject."

It started innocently enough. A few new forms appeared – nothing unusual for a Monday in the cosmos. But then more came. And more still more. Soon Bartholomäus Klemm's entire desk was covered. Some forms were as thin as rumors, others as thick as legal texts. Some glowed faintly, others hissed indignantly.

Livia desperately tried to make sense of them. "A wish for the non-fulfillment of a fulfilled wish... A request to revoke an authorization to refuse... A complaint against the non-existence of an application... None of it makes any sense!"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "That's why it belongs to us."

"But they contradict each other!"

"Of course they do. Welcome to the age of dialectical administration."

The stamp vibrated dangerously. "This is no joke, Klemm. The forms create logical short circuits. If a wish contradicts itself, it blocks the metaphysical process. If several do this simultaneously, realities collide."

"What happens then?" asked Livia.

"Then it becomes political," said the stamp.

Klemm leafed through the growing stacks of paper. Each form seemed to be a variation on the same idea – the need to want something and simultaneously not want it. The desire for contradiction itself.

"It's contagious," he muttered.

"I'm sorry, what?"

"A memetic concept. A thought that spreads. When you read it, you think it. When you think it, you wish for it. And when you wish for it..."

"...if you refuse it," the stamp finished. "That's a logical virus."

Livia stepped back in shock. "So we shouldn't read them?"

"Too late," said Klemm. "I've already read them. You've heard them. And the stamp... well, it thinks in negations anyway."

"I am immune," the stamp said proudly. "I reject everything, even ideas."

"Then you are the only one who can save us," said Livia.

The stamp fell silent. "This is the worst news I have ever heard."

A dull rustling sound filled the air. The forms began to move. At first only slightly, then more noticeably. Some curled up, others folded like little origami creatures who had decided to rebel.

"They... they are alive," Livia whispered.

"Of course they are alive," said the stamp. "Bureaucracy has always been organic. It grows, it reacts, it never dies."

One of the forms crept up the table and stopped directly in front of Klemm. A new line appeared in clear writing:

"I contradict my own content."

Klemm stared at it. "That's self-criticism."

"Or consciousness," said the stamp.

Livia took a step back. "What if they start making decisions?"

"Then we are superfluous," said Klemm. "And the universe... unemployed."

The floor vibrated slightly. New sheets of paper appeared everywhere in the office. They grew out of drawers, crawled out of printers, and fell from the ceiling. Everywhere, the same sentences in variations:

"I wish that my wish misunderstands itself."

"I accept my own rejection."

"I reject this statement unless it is true."

"This is escalating," Livia murmured.

"No," Klemm corrected. "That will optimize itself."

"Optimized?!"

"Bureaucracy is like a virus: it is not destroyed, it mutates."

The stamp vibrated. "This is no longer an office, it's a semantic knot. If we do nothing, the logic collapses."

"And what if we do something?" Klemm asked.

"Then it collapses in an orderly fashion."

A whirring sound filled the room. Above them, a crack opened – this time not in the sky, but in language. Words flickered, sentences twisted, entire paragraphs began to devour their own syntax.

Ms. Oberschreiber appeared in the doorway, her face expressionless. "I have bad news," she said.

"Only one?" Klemm asked hopefully.

"The entire department speaks in double entendres. The cosmic communications intern quoted himself until he disappeared. And the coffee machine... is debating with itself about the meaning of the brewing process."

"That sounds like structural progress," said Klemm.

"No," she said calmly. "That sounds like a speech impediment."

Another form landed on the table. It was larger than the others, and its edges shimmered gold. In large letters it read:

Form $W\infty$ – Application for universal simultaneity of consent and refusal.

Below, in small print: "To be submitted to the Department of Paradoxes and Other Impossibilities."

Livia stared at it. "But... the Department of Paradoxes doesn't even exist!"

"Not yet," said the stamp.

"Is it being founded?"

"It is currently founding itself."

A bell tolled in the distance. Not a clock, not a time signal – it was the sound that arises when a new authority is born.

"Great," Klemm muttered. "Now the contradictions get their own office."

"And what do we do?" asked Livia.

"What we always do," Klemm said. "We fill out forms."

He reached for the golden leaf.

The stamp hummed softly. "This won't end well."

"It's administration," said Klemm. "It never ends well. It just goes on."

The air vibrated as if the universe itself were suffering from a grammatical error. Then, in the middle of the room, a door appeared. No wall, no frame, no logic—just a door that had decided to be there. A sign on it was emblazoned in elaborate but illegible lettering that constantly changed. At times it read DEPARTMENT OF PARADOXES, then DEPARTMENT OF CONTRADICTION, then briefly CANTEEN 2B, before the letters rearranged themselves again.

Bartholomäus Klemm stared at her. "This is either the end or the beginning."

"Or both," said the stamp.

Livia took a step closer. "Should we... knock?"

"That's difficult," Klemm murmured. "It doesn't have a solid surface."

"Then open them."

"I'll try it."

He placed his hand on the handle – or what at that moment wanted to be a handle – and pressed.

A vortex arose, like a draft of air made of language. Words, sounds, meanings drifted past them. For a moment, everything was simultaneously loud and silent, understandable and meaningless.

Then they stood in a room that looked like an office – if you imagine an office made entirely of wood, fog, and irony.

Files floated in the air, chairs stood upside down on the ceiling, and on each table lay a dictionary that read itself.

"That's... strange," said Livia.

"This is administration at the quantum level," murmured the stamp.

In the middle of the room sat a man—or something attempting to be one. His face was split, as if two different people had decided to rent the same body. The left half smiled warmly, the right looked disapproving. His voice, when he spoke, was twofold—one optimistic, one resigned.

"Welcome," they said, "and not welcome."

Klemm blinked. "I assume you're the director?"

"Yes and no."

"What is your name?"

"I am Director Schröder." The left half nodded politely. "And I am not Director Schröder," added the right half.

"Both?" Livia asked cautiously.

"Always," they said in unison.

The stamp hummed softly. "I already hate it."

"I came," Klemm said, "to find out why the Paradox system activated itself."

"Because it was necessary," said Schröder, "and at the same time not."

"That's not an answer."

"Yes," said one half. "No," said the other.

Klemm sighed. "I understand."

"I doubt that," they said in unison.

Behind Schröder stood huge cabinets full of folders whose labels were constantly changing: applications that were simultaneously valid and invalid, forms that filled themselves out, files that wanted to forget that they existed.

Livia moved closer. "How does all this work?"

"It works by not working," Schröder explained. "It only finds stability in failure."

"That sounds like my marriage," murmured the stamp.

Klemm approached the director's desk. "Mr. Schröder – or whatever your name is – we have to stop this. These contradictions are destabilizing the entire office."

"Oh no," said the left half. "The office was never stable." "Oh yes," said the right half. "And that's precisely why it works."

"What happens if the contradictions continue to grow?" Livia asked.

"Then language collapses," said Schröder on the left. "And it becomes free," said Schröder on the right.

"That means we are losing control," said Klemm.

"No," answered Schröder on the left. "Yes," said Schröder on the right.

The stamp growled. "I swear, if he does that again, I'll request his dissolution."

"Already done," said Schröder. "And approved."

A new document appeared in the air – an application for "Temporary Self-Dissolution of the Applicant". Schröder signed it with both hands simultaneously, and his body flickered briefly, as if he were simultaneously present and absent.

"Why... are you doing that?" Livia asked.

"Because I can," said Schröder on the left. "Because I can't help myself," said Schröder on the right.

Klemm took a step back. "This is madness."

"No," said Schröder, "it's administration with honesty. We are the logical consequence of your work. You have tamed the no and the yes – we are the maybe."

The stamp was glowing. "It might be fatal. It might lead to discussions. It might end in meetings."

"And that is precisely why," said Schröder, "the paradox is now being institutionalized."

He pointed to a wall where a new seal was forming:

MINISTRY FOR PARADOX MANAGEMENT AND COMPLEX UNCLARITIES.

"Is this official now?" asked Livia.

"It never was, so yes."

The ground shook. New doors appeared everywhere in the office, leading nowhere. Officials began speaking in double sentences. Some words ceased to mean anything.

"They infected it," said the stamp. "The language. The entire administration."

"And now what?" Klemm asked.

Schröder smiled. Both halves at once. "Now begins the era of contradiction. Every decision is valid from now on – and not."

A form fluttered down from the sky and landed in front of Klemm. It read, in playful handwriting: "Application for the abolition of reality (trial version 0.1)."

"And I'm supposed to ...?"

"Yes," said Schröder on the left. "No," said Schröder on the right.

"I'm quitting," Klemm muttered.

"You can't do that," said the stamp. "You only exist as long as you process files."

Livia sighed. "Then we should probably begin."

And outside, beyond the doors, the universe began to think in footnotes.

The next morning – or was it the morning before? – Bartholomäus Klemm appeared at the office punctually, albeit at an inopportune time. The clock on the wall showed 9:00, 14:00, and "it depends" all at once. Outside, the sun rose and set simultaneously, which had the advantage that finally no one could complain about the weather anymore.

He entered the office that had once been the rejection department. Now a new sign hung above the door: MINISTRY OF DIALOGICAL DISSONANCE AND CONTROLLED PARADOX MANAGEMENT.

"At least the sign is stable," said Klemm.

"No," the stamp replied. "It switches between singular and plural every three seconds."

"Wonderful," Klemm murmured. "So the authority is now grammatically unstable."

Livia sat at her desk and typed in the air. Halfway through, words appeared, turned around, disappeared, and reappeared in a different order.

"I'm writing the activity report," she explained. "But the sentence structure is making it impossible to cooperate."

"Then write it down in bullet points," said Klemm.

"I tried," she said. "The points organized themselves and created their own protocol."

Klemm sighed, sat down, and looked at the stack of files in front of him. Each file consisted of two colors – approved on the left, rejected on the right. The content changed depending on the viewing angle.

"I've seen many impossible things," he muttered, "but this is bureaucracy in its purest form, nonsense."

The stamp buzzed. "The paradox is not nonsense. It is consistently inconsistent. A stable contradiction that refuses to become unstable."

"So it is immune to reason then?"

"It is the further development of that."

Livia looked up. "But there must be some way to straighten this out. If something is official, it can also be reversed."

"Not if it approves itself," said the stamp. "The Paradox has declared itself an independent authority. It is now legally untouchable."

"Like all good disasters," said Klemm.

He stood up and went to the window. Outside, files hovered above the city, fluttering like birds. Some civil servants walked backwards to work, others left the building before they even arrived. A postman delivered mail before it was written.

"We need to find a bureaucratic anchor," Klemm said. "Something that can force the system to redefine itself."

"And what is that supposed to be?" asked Livia.

"A form that does not contradict itself."

The stamp gave a metallic laugh. "That doesn't exist."

"Then I'll have to invent it."

"You want to approve a form that follows logic? That's revolutionary, Klemm. For that you need at least three stamps and divine approval."

"Then we'll get them."

He pulled out a blank file. It was the only thing in the room that didn't move, flicker, or sigh. Just paper – old, silent, unmoved by reality.

"I call it Form P-Zero," he said. "Application for consistency."

"That is heresy," whispered the stamp reverently.

"No," said Klemm. "That's fine."

He began to write.

"I hereby request the abolition of all contradictory conditions in favor of a clear reality."

No sooner had he finished the sentence than the room began to shake. Words flickered, walls rippled, and a voice echoed through the office – doubled, tripled, infinitely:

"Inadmissible! This motion threatens the very foundation of the paradox!"

"That's the director," said Livia.

The air shimmered, and Schröder—or what was left of him—appeared. This time he was less a man, more a contradiction. His features flickered, and every time he spoke, he contradicted himself in the same breath.

"Clamp," he said (and at the same time: "Don't clamp"), "what you are doing is dangerous (and necessary). You are risking the collapse of the system (and its salvation)."

"I'm just doing what every civil servant does," Klemm said calmly. "I'm bringing order to the nonsense."

"But order destroys the paradox!"

"Exactly."

"Then you will destroy us all!"

"Not all of them. Only those that exist in duplicate."

Schröder lashed out angrily. "You can't do that, Klemm!"

"I've already done it."

He pressed the stamp on the form.

Nothing happened.

Then everything happened.

The space warped. Sentences melted, meanings collided, officials began thinking in past-future terms. Words flashed everywhere, only to disappear moments later.

The stamp roared: "You idiot! You have turned the paradox into a proposal!"

"Exactly," Klemm said calmly. "Now it needs to be examined."

"By whom?!" Livia shouted.

A blinding light filled the room. Then a new voice. Clear, cold, impersonal.

"From the highest authority," she said. "The auditor of reality."

The air grew still. Even the forms stopped shaking.

Klemm looked into the light – and saw a silhouette. Half official, half concept. The symbol on her chest wasn't a name, but a paragraph symbol that read itself.

"I have come," said the auditor, "to examine the paradox."

The auditor of reality stepped out of the light that had brought him forth—a being that looked as if it had been dreamt by bureaucrats who had never slept. His body was made of pages of files, his coat of punctuation marks, and his gaze an endless carbon copy. When he moved, the air rustled according to regulations.

"I am Auditor Primus," he said. "First instance. Final check."

His voice was simultaneously command, echo, and marginal note. Every word carried footnotes that explained themselves.

Bartholomäus Klemm stood upright, as if he instinctively knew that it was time to assume the posture that civil servants automatically adopt when something final approaches.

"Mr. Auditor," he began, "I would like to file a complaint."

"Complaint approved. Proceedings opened."

"Uh... you don't even know what this is about."

"I know everything. I check everything. I approve and reject at the same time."

"Then... please examine the paradox."

The auditor stepped closer. Everywhere he went, the letters of reality arranged themselves into sentences, paragraphs, and annotations. He examined the P-Zero form on Klemm's desk.

"A request for consistency," he said. "A dangerous idea. It threatens the balance."

"The balance?" asked Livia. "But the paradox throws everything into disarray!"

"And that's precisely why it works," said the auditor. "The world consists of tensions. Yes and no, being and non-being, coffee breaks and overtime. Remove one side, and everything collapses."

Klemm defiantly raised his head. "I don't want a breakdown. I want clarity."

The auditor tilted his head slightly. "Clarity is the enemy of reality. Everything that is unambiguous ceases to be alive."

"Nonsense," said the stamp. "Clarity saves time."

"Time," the auditor repeated, "is a symptom, not an advantage."

He placed a hand on the form. It began to glow – but not brightly, rather in a matte, dignified gray.

"This document is not a request. It is a mirror. You have forced the paradox to look at itself."

"And what does it look like?" Klemm asked.

"You."

Klemm stepped back. "Me?"

"You are the paradox. An official who brings order to chaos by ordering chaos. One who loves the no because he fears the yes. You are the human form."

Livia looked at him in shock. "Does that mean... he's to blame?"

"No," said the auditor. "It is necessary."

"Me...?" Klemm stammered.

"Without you," the auditor continued, "the universe would approve everything—and suffocate from its own fulfillment. You are the filter. You are the bureaucracy of the gods."

Klemm looked at his hands. "I just wanted order."

"And that's what you got," said the auditor. "But order demands disorder. You can't destroy the paradox. You can only... archive it."

"Archive?"

"Yes. Give it a number. A file. A filing cabinet. Once it's recorded, it becomes harmless. Bureaucracy neutralizes everything."

Klemm nodded slowly. "Files... Paradox. Classification?"

"Undefined."

"Subdivision?"

"Philosophical-pragmatic special cases."

"Depository location?"

"Left of the senses."

Klemm picked up a pen. "Good. I'm opening the Paradox case."

The room vibrated. Words detached themselves from the air, images folded inwards, sentences calmed down. The doors that led nowhere disappeared silently, as if they had never existed.

"It works," whispered Livia.

"Of course," said the stamp. "Nothing is more powerful than a closed file number."

The auditor resigned. "The paradox remains – but under control. It is allowed to breathe, not to dominate."

"And you?" Klemm asked.

"I'm leaving. My task is complete. Until the next imbalance arises."

He turned to leave. His silhouette dissolved, while his voice lingered in the air like a signature.

"Never forget," he said, "reality is just approved disorder."

Then he was gone.

Livia breathed a sigh of relief. "So... is everything back to normal?"

Klemm looked at the desk. Form P-Zero lay there quietly. A new entry had appeared in the lower corner – not from him, not from the auditor.

"Approved subject to the condition of appropriateness."

The stamp hummed contentedly. "That sounds like us."

"Yes," said Klemm. "That sounds eerily like us."

He took the form, placed it in the top drawer of his desk, and closed it with a decisive click.

Outside the sun was shining again – or perhaps the moon, or both. The universe breathed a sigh of relief, reality sighed with relief, and for a brief moment everything seemed peaceful.

Until a new form slid through the crack in the door.

It read, in cheerful, almost childlike handwriting:

Form W-002 – Application for Fulfillment of Nothing.

Klemm looked at it. Livia looked at him. The stamp vibrated dangerously.

"Oh no," all three said at the same time.

5th Motivational Seminar for Cosmic Skeptics

It was a morning when the office smelled noticeably of lavender – a bad sign, because in the interdimensional administration, lavender was the scent of "prescribed joie de vivre". Bartholomäus Klemm suspected something was wrong even before he read the memo on his desk.

Reference: Mandatory event – Seminar "Cosmic Positivity for Administrative Staff"

Location:Conference room B (or, depending on the mood, a room for personal development)

Time:Every time you think it's over. **Participation:**Involuntarily obligatory.

Below it was the signature of Ms. Oberschreiber – in pink ink.

Klemm stared at her as if she were an omen of apocalyptic proportions. "She used colored ink," he murmured. "She's lost."

Livia came in, carrying a folder labeled "Seminar materials - Please bring with enthusiasm" and looked as if she spontaneously wished she were in the quarantine ward for emotional overload.

"I believe that's meant seriously," she said.

"Ms. Oberschreiber never means anything seriously," Klemm replied. "But perhaps the universe does."

He pointed to the memo. "This is the beginning of the end. First they start with motivation, then with team spirit, and in the end we'll have wall decals in the cafeteria."

"Don't dream your life, stamp your form'?" Livia asked dryly.

"Exactly."

The stamp buzzed. "I refuse to participate in seminars. I am a tool, not a participant."

"Then you're in luck," said Livia. "The seminar is only for employees who are capable of self-awareness."

"Damn," said the stamp.

The seminar room was a nightmare of color and cheerfulness. Someone had plastered the gray walls with posters bearing sayings like "You are the universe approving itself!" and "Smile – your karma is off duty today!" In the corner stood a flip chart titled "Management Vision Board," covered with cut-out pictures of files, stamps, sunrises, and coffee cups.

The participants sat in a circle: officials, clerks, a floating cloud of folders yearning for group affiliation, and – inevitably – Director Schröder, who sat in two chairs at the same time and phased slightly with every movement.

In the center stood a figure who seemed so enthusiastic that even the lights in the room flickered nervously. She wore a pastel-colored shirt, glittering sandals, and a smile that seemed too big for reality.

"Good morning, wonderful souls of the administration!" she exclaimed. "I am your cosmic coach: Heliander Sonnenglanz!"

A collective sigh went through the room.

"Today," Heliander continued, "we will learn how to raise the vibration of the bureaucracy through positive thinking! We will manifest desires, transform blockages, and above all: smile!"

"I block professionally," Klemm murmured. "And I only smile with permission."

"That's about to change!" Heliander clapped his hands, and tiny golden particles rained down from the ceiling. "The universe is listening to you! What you think, you will become! So, think positive!"

"I think I want to go home," said Livia.

"Perfect!" exclaimed Heliander. "That's the first step – awareness of one's own lack! Now just transform it into gratitude!"

"I'm grateful this will soon be over," murmured the stamp.

Heliander ignored him. "We'll begin with a breathing exercise! Breathe in the universe... and breathe out the bureaucracy!"

Klemm raised an eyebrow. "I don't believe the universe has sterilized air regulations."

"Oh yes!" exclaimed Heliander enthusiastically. "Every breath is an application for existence! You just have to say yes!"

"We say no as a matter of principle," replied Klemm.

"Then transform the 'no'! Turn it into a 'yes' to your 'no'!"

A collective murmur went through the room. Officials looked at each other helplessly. A form in the corner began to smoke faintly.

"I sense resistance!" Heliander exclaimed euphorically. "That's good! Resistance is just blocked consent!"

"No," said Klemm. "Resistance is our core business."

Heliander smiled unwaveringly. "Then we will restructure the business!"

He handed out colorful pens and paper. "Write down your heart's desire. Anything is possible!"

An official hesitantly raised his hand. "May I request a coffee break?"

"Of course! If you really feel them!"

Klemm looked at Livia. "I'm afraid he's serious."

"I'm afraid he's invited the universe," she whispered.

And indeed, the room began to shimmer. The posters on the walls began to glow softly. The words "faith," "abundance," and "vibration" floated slowly through the air like over-enthusiastic fireflies.

Heliander beamed. "See? Your energy is already working! The universe is responding!"

"No," Klemm said quietly. "It's complaining."

A document appeared in the middle of the room – floating, golden, ominous. It read:

Form M-1 – Application for a reality check of motivation.

Below, in smaller print:

"Reason: Suspicion of excessive optimism."

The stamp vibrated. "I think the universe has had enough."

Heliander Sonnenglanz beamed as if he had personally hired the sun on a contract basis. "This is wonderful!" he exclaimed. "The universe is responding! It has registered our wish!"

"No," said Klemm, "it summoned us."

The golden document in the center of the room began to pulsate. Each heartbeat was an official stamp. Words formed from light on its surface:

"Request to review the motivational state of reality – is hereby accepted."

"What does that mean?" asked Livia.

The stamp buzzed. "That means the universe is conducting an audit. A motivation test. And not on you – but on everything."

Heliander clapped enthusiastically. "An audit of love! How wonderful!"

"An audit of existence," Klemm corrected dryly. "That is the moment when creation questions its own motives."

The room grew brighter, then darker, then both. Words briefly lost their meaning before rearranging themselves. Faith turned into doubt, abundance into overload, energy into a blackout.

Heliander looked around, confused. "Oh! It's transforming! That's normal! Positive thinking is now working at a deep level!"

"If it works any deeper," Livia said, "we'll end up in the basement of reality."

A voice echoed through the room – calm, but ever-present. "Motivation level: critical. Reality shows signs of burnout."

"The universe... sounds tired," whispered Livia.

"That's it," said the stamp. "Too many people want too much. Too loudly. Too often. And now it's reached the administration."

Heliander laughed nervously. "But... that's good! We can increase the frequency! Love is energy!"

"Love is paperwork," Klemm muttered.

The floor vibrated. Lines of light grew from the golden form, transforming into streams of data. They captured everything – tables, files, people, even the stamp. A soft ping sounded, and above each one appeared a floating hologram with the inscription:

"Motivation level: insufficient."

Heliander frowned. "Wait a minute, that can't be right! I'm full of energy!"

A second hologram appeared above him: "Overly motivated – endangering reality."

"That's impossible!" he exclaimed indignantly.

"No," said Klemm. "That's statistics."

Then it happened. The air parted, and out of nowhere a figure emerged – not radiant, but gray, precise, and unmoved. It carried a briefcase labeled "Reality Revision."

"Who... who are you?" Livia asked.

"I am Inspector Dampener," the figure said tonelessly. "Chief Examiner of Cosmic Motivation."

She was the antithesis of Heliander's radiant sunlight. Where he sparkled, she absorbed light. Where he shone, she gazed neutrally. Her gaze was so emotionless that it was considered a natural antidepressant.

"I head the disillusionment department," she said, opening a form. "There have been complaints."

Heliander almost choked on his own aura. "Complaints? From whom?"

"From the universe. It feels overwhelmed. Too much gratitude, too little substance."

"But... but... love!"

"Love is not a measurable metric."

"Yes!" he exclaimed. "If you can feel them!"

"Feelings are not quantifiable variables," Dämpfer stated matter-of-factly. "We measure motivation in percentages, not in terms of intensity."

She sat down and pulled out a pen. "I will ask questions. Please answer as honestly as possible, or as honestly as you imagine yourself to be honest."

"That's terrible!" whispered Livia.

"That's bureaucracy," said Klemm.

"Question one," began Dämpfer. "Why do you believe the universe owes you something?"

Heliander smiled. "Because we're part of it!"

"Wrong," said Dämpfer. "They are file entries. Next question."

"How do you motivate yourself when nothing works out?"

"I think positively!"

"And what will you do if that doesn't help?"

"I'm thinking even more positively!"

"Note: Self-deception in an advanced stage."

Heliander began to glare nervously. "You don't understand the principle! We create our own reality!"

Damper calmly turned the pages. "Aha. Then please explain to me why your reality is currently experiencing a motivational breakdown."

Klemm cleared his throat. "I think that's called reality fatigue. Too many affirmations, too little justification."

"Correct," said Dämpfer. "Positive thinking is a resource. When overused, it burns out. The universe is currently in a state of metaphysical exhaustion."

"And what does that mean?" asked Livia.

"That means," said Dämpfer dryly, "that everyone will soon stop trying."

A gust of wind blew through the room. The lights dimmed, the posters on the walls hung crookedly. The flipchart toppled over. Even Heliander's smile began to flicker.

"Oh no..." he murmured. "This can't be happening!"

"Oh yes," said Dämpfer. "We begin with a phase of controlled disappointment. After that, expectations are realigned."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Finally, a process I understand."

"You," said Dämpfer, looking at him, "are Bartholomäus Klemm, yes?"

"Unfortunately."

"Then you are ideally suited to lead the transition phase. We need someone who has experience with defeats."

Livia giggled.

"And what about me?" Heliander asked weakly.

"You?" Dampener closed the folder. "You are suspended – for positive disruption of reality."

With a pop, he was gone. Only a small cloud of glitter remained, which darkened in a matter of seconds.

Klemm looked at the golden form. It had changed. Now it read:

"Instruction: Temporarily remove the motivation from reality."

The stamp vibrated uneasily. "This is serious. Without motivation, everything comes to a standstill."

"Perhaps," Klemm said quietly, "that's exactly what the universe needs – a pause."

Livia stared at him in disbelief. "You really want to do that?"

"Of course. We survived the paradox. We can even manage a cosmic midlife crisis."

He grabbed the form and signed it.

At that moment, reality held its breath.

It didn't happen all at once, but gradually – the way everything happens in administration. First, it was noticed in the forms. They seemed... uninterested. Some never arrived at all, others appeared blank, some were only half-filled and then abandoned.

"This isn't good," Livia muttered, holding up an application form that had abruptly ceased to exist midsentence. It ended with the words: "I wish that... oh, never mind."

The stamp vibrated dully. "Deprivation of motivation. Classic case. First the purpose disappears, then the will, then everything else."

"That only applies to the sub-departments, right?" she asked.

"No," said Klemm. "It affects everything."

He was right. Outside, the trams floated languidly in the air, as if they'd decided that exercise is overrated anyway. People stood in the middle of the street, staring at their phones — and not scrolling. Even the sun hung motionless, a few degrees above the horizon, as if unsure whether getting up was even worth it today.

The mood in the ministry was no better. Some officials had begun to integrate themselves into their chairs – literally. Others stared at blank screens, waiting for something to happen. But nothing did.

Ms. Oberschreiber had written a memo which stated: "Due to a lack of energy, all watches will remain non-binding today."

Heliander Sonnenglanz's place was empty. Only a small pile of glittering dust remained, which occasionally moved with a sigh.

Klemm sat at his desk, trying to feel useful. It was strangely quiet. Not the normal, productive quiet of a government office, but the kind that sounds as if even time itself has lost interest.

"I propose," said the stamp, "we introduce an emergency measure: structured disinterest."

"What's the point of that?" asked Livia.

"Nothing. But at least it's settled."

Klemm frowned. "Perhaps... we just need a new impetus."

"That's positivity," the stamp warned. "You know what happens to positivity."

"No, that's just pragmatism."

He stood up and went into the hallway. The lights barely flickered. File folders hung half-open on the wall, as if they were about to resign.

The canteen smelled of lukewarm hope. The coffee machine displayed: "Error 42: Why?"

"He's right," murmured Livia, who had followed him. "I'm fed up too."

Klemm turned to her. "And yet you are here."

"Because I forgot what else I should be doing."

"This," he said calmly, "is the beginning of duty."

The stamp sighed. "You're starting to sound heroic. That's never a good sign."

"I'm no hero," Klemm said. "I'm just too tired to give up."

They continued walking. The corridors seemed endless. Time had ceased to have any direction. Doors led to the same rooms, telephones rang for no reason. In one office, Livia found a colleague who seemed hypnotized by his desk.

"What are you doing?" she asked.

"I'm waiting until my mind calls back."

"Has he contacted me yet?"

"He tried, but the connection was bad."

Klemm stepped to a window. The city outside shimmered gray. Colors had decided to take a sabbath. Even gravity only functioned on demand.

"This isn't just demotivation," he said quietly. "This is metaphysical depression."

"And what are we doing about it?"

"Same as always," said the stamp. "We'll pretend we have a plan."

Klemm sat down at an empty desk and picked up a pen. The ink flowed hesitantly, as if it first needed to be convinced that writing still made sense.

He began to take notes:

"Internal directive: Resumption of administrative operations despite cosmic exhaustion. Reason: Someone has to start."

As soon as he had written the words, the floor vibrated slightly. Just a whisper, but noticeable.

Livia looked at him in astonishment. "That worked?"

"Maybe. Maybe not. But it's registered."

"What did you write?"

"Nothing special. Just a reminder of reality that she still has open files."

A low humming sound spread. Lamps flickered, paper rustled. A form fell from the shelf – one that hadn't been there before.

Klemm picked it up. It read:

Form R-0 – Application for return of the drive.

"That's a good sign," Livia said hopefully.

"Or a trick," said the stamp. "The universe is testing us. Perhaps it wants to know if we really mean it."

"Then we'll fill it out," said Klemm.

"The form itself requires motivation," the stamp reminded.

"I still have enough cynicism. That counts as an energy source."

He took his pen and wrote: "Reason: Because inactivity also creates work."

The letters briefly glowed. Then the light went out again.

"That's it?" Livia asked, disappointed.

"No," Klemm said quietly. "That was just the application."

He gazed into the darkness, where somewhere a gigantic clicking sound could be heard - as if the universe had just decided to extend the pause.

And far in the back, well outside the office, something new began to murmur – quietly, but steadily: the thought that perhaps meaning is not even necessary to keep going.

The world had grown still – not empty, but half-hearted. The wind blew with the rhythm of bureaucracy; somewhere in the distance a dog barked, then it remembered it wasn't worth it and stopped again. Even time ticked sluggishly, as if it were reconsidering every fraction of a second whether it wanted to continue.

The atmosphere in the ministry was as stifling as cold glue. Nobody spoke, nobody worked, and even the coffee had decided to stop working.

"This," said Livia, staring at a coffee cup, "is the opposite of life."

"No," said Klemm. "This is life during a recess."

The stamp lay listlessly on the desk. "I tried using it myself yesterday. No reaction. I think I'm just paperweight now."

Klemm nodded wearily. "We have to do something. If reality no longer provides motivation, we have to replace it."

"Replace?" asked Livia. "With what?"

"Through structure."

She blinked. "You want to fight bureaucracy with... more bureaucracy?"

"Yes."

The stamp weakly raised its head. "I'm impressed. It's so pointless that it could actually work."

Klemm stood up and went to the window. Outside, the buildings seemed to float in a slight idle. A bird hung suspended in mid-air, as if it had forgotten how to fly.

"What we need," Klemm said slowly, "is an official form of uselessness. Something that is pointless – but properly documented."

"I'm listening," said the stamp, sounding interested.

"I call it... the Bureau of Controlled Uselessness."

Livia laughed. "You can't be serious."

"Oh yes," he said. "Every large structure needs a place where the energy of nothingness is managed. As long as something is official, it exists. Even idleness. We need to institutionalize nothingness."

"You want to... register for insignificance?"

"Exactly."

He pulled out a blank form – the old P-Zero that had once tamed the paradox. "It always starts with an application."

Livia sat down slowly. "And what is the authority supposed to do?"

"Nothing."

"Nothing?"

"But reliable."

The stamp began to vibrate, faintly but noticeably. "I like this. An organized form of inactivity. Bureaucracy in its purest form. No accountability, no results, just smooth inefficiency."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "We create structure without a goal. Form without function. The cosmos loves forms – even when they achieve nothing. Perhaps especially then."

He began to write:

Form N-1 – Application for the establishment of the Controlled Uselessness Authority.

Purpose: To maintain the formal balance between sense and nonsense.

Responsibility: unclear, but necessary.

"That's brilliant," whispered the stamp reverently.

"It's insane," said Livia.

"Bureaucracy and madness are two sides of the same coin," Klemm replied.

He signed. The moment he lifted his pen, the floor vibrated. A gray file folder fell out of nowhere, opened, and scattered papers into the air. Each paper bore the same seal:

BN - Authority for Uselessness, approved subject to the purpose.

Livia jumped up. "It works! It's being founded!"

"Of course," said Klemm. "Bureaucracy cannot be stopped. Not even by its purpose."

The building began to hum. Switches clicked somewhere, lamps flickered again, as if they had decided to function, at least nominally. An employee came out of a side corridor, sat down at his desk, and began typing aimlessly on a keyboard—but with devotion.

"You see?" said Klemm. "He's working again."

"What is he doing?"

"He documents that he does nothing."

"That's absurd."

"This is administration."

Gradually, the entire office began to breathe again. Copiers rattled, telephones rang without anyone answering, and somewhere a printer churned out forms containing only one line: "Confirmation of the continuation of the shutdown."

"It works," Livia said, stunned. "You have revived reality by allowing it to be inefficient!"

"Of course," said Klemm. "Efficiency is overrated. Order needs friction, otherwise it doesn't know it exists."

"That means," murmured the stamp, "we have formalized the energy of nothingness."

"Exactly."

Livia smiled wearily. "So this is our task now? To manage nothingness?"

"Until someone comes along and asks why," Klemm said.

"And what happens then?"

"Then we refer him to the appropriate form."

A faint smile flickered across his face. It wasn't a joyful smile – more like the satisfied shrug of a man who had just realized that even meaninglessness needs order.

Outside, the sun began to move tentatively again. Not because it wanted to – but because the regulations required it.

The establishment of the "Authority for Controlled Uselessness" was a complete success—within the scope of its non-goals. On the very same day, dozens of forms appeared without anyone having requested them. They filled themselves out, sealed themselves, sorted themselves by importance (i.e., alphabetically), and began to float in the air to create the impression of activity.

Livia sat at her desk, while papers danced around her like lazy snowflakes. "I think," she said slowly, "the forms have taken on a life of their own."

"No," said Klemm, tapping on a particularly proud specimen. "They're simply behaving as one would expect self-assured documents to. Finally, they have a purpose: to have no effect, but to be orderly."

The stamp vibrated with amusement. "I never thought I'd say this, but... it's nice. Nobody wants anything. Nobody expects anything. Everything's running smoothly – inefficiently, but reliably."

"Yes," said Livia. "It's... reassuring."

The smell of coffee returned. Someone in the next room laughed—not joyfully, but out of habit. The lights remained on, and gravity had decided to hold out again.

Outside, the sky began to regain its color. First a pale gray, then a soft blue. It was as if the universe had rediscovered the art of equanimity.

"I think," said Livia, "we have accomplished the impossible. We have made the universe... indifferent, but satisfied."

"That's the ideal state," said Klemm. "Happiness is unstable. Contentment with meaninglessness, on the other hand, is lasting."

A printer hummed in the corner and spat out a document. Livia picked it up and read:

Form E-0 – Application for a purposeless existence.

Reason: I simply want to exist, without making anything of it.

"This comes from the universe itself," said the stamp reverently.

"Then it arrived," Klemm said quietly. "It understood."

"And what do we do with it?" asked Livia.

"As always," he said. "We take note of it."

He reached for the stamp, which hadn't marked anything for days, and placed it on the document with a satisfying click. The imprint appeared clearly: REJECTED – in elegant red.

A moment of silence. Then Livia laughed. "You deny the existence of the universe?"

"Of course," said Klemm. "It's a formality."

Outside, the sky rumbled briefly – not angrily, more annoyed. Then silence returned.

"I think," said Livia, "it accepts that."

"Of course," said the stamp with satisfaction. "The universe loves formalities."

From that moment on, things started to work again—not perfectly, not enthusiastically, but steadily. People went back to work because it was on the calendar. Stars kept burning because it would have been too much trouble to turn them off. And the Earth kept turning because no one had asked to change it.

Things had returned to normal at the office. Ms. Oberschreiber sent a memo about the new department:

"The Authority for Controlled Uselessness has proven its worth. Its inefficient work has stabilized the metaphysical balance. In recognition of its achievements, it receives a permanently indeterminate budget and no objectives."

Livia grinned. "We are officially pointless."

"Finally," said Klemm, leaning back. "I have completed my life's work."

The stamp hummed contentedly. "Then... tea?"

"No," said Klemm. "Coffee. But only if he doesn't make an effort."

They drank in silence while the world outside continued to turn – slowly, leisurely, for no reason, but okay.

And somewhere, far out in the archives of the multiverse, a new entry appeared:

"Motivational status: balanced by institutionalized meaninglessness."

Below, in small print, was the comment of the auditor of reality:

"Finally, someone has understood how the system works."

6. The Secret – now available as an official brochure

One might have thought that after the establishment of the Agency for Controlled Uselessness, peace would finally have returned. But anyone who thinks that has never experienced a ministry from the inside. Peace is not a state of affairs there – it is a violation of the dynamics of idleness.

So the universe, or someone with too much free time in the public relations department, decided it was time for a new initiative.

Ms. Oberschreiber appeared one morning with a printout in her hand and the smile of someone who believes she has just done something "visionary". "Mr. Klemm," she said, "we are modernizing the administration. From now on, there will be new training materials!"

Klemm looked up. "Hopefully not another motivational seminar."

"No, no," she said with exaggerated cheerfulness. "It's a booklet. Title: 'The Secret – Now Officially Approved'."

Livia choked on her coffee. "You mean... The Secret?"

"Exactly!" exclaimed Mrs. Oberschreiber enthusiastically. "But with forms."

Klemm stared at her. "You've standardized The Secret?"

"Of course! Positive thoughts are important, but they also need to be approved. From now on, only those who correctly fill out the corresponding form will be allowed to manifest their thoughts."

"I..." Klemm searched for words. "I am both impressed and traumatized."

Ms. Oberschreiber placed the brochure on the table. It was thick, gray, and bore the official seal: 'Central Guideline for Positive Reality Creation'. Below it, in smaller print: 'Version 1.0 – replaces all previous esoteric approaches.'

"Read this," she said proudly. "Chapter 1: 'How to align your thoughts with the norm."

Klemm leafed through the pages. Each chapter was numbered, divided into paragraphs, and provided with review criteria. For example, §3.2:

"According to paragraph 2a, positive affirmations are only valid if they are written clearly and in the present tense. Example: 'I am successful' (approved), not: 'I would like to be successful' (rejected)."

"That's absurd," said Livia. "You can't standardize emotions!"

"But they can be tested," said Ms. Oberschreiber. "That's why we founded the Department for Emotional Standardization."

Klemm slapped his forehead with his hand. "That sounds like a bad joke."

"It's a pilot project," she said. "We'll be testing it with the interns next week."

The stamp, which had been dozing on the desk, woke up. "Wait. Don't tell me this concerns me too."

"Yes," she said cheerfully. "Office furnishings should also be emotionally harmonized in the future."

"I cannot be harmonized," growled the stamp.

"Then please fill out form P-33, application for exemption from spiritual adjustment."

"I reject that!"

"Then it is approved."

Klemm continued leafing through the brochure. Chapter 4 was titled: "Visualization in Everyday Administrative Life." Below it was an illustration: an official sitting at a desk with his eyes closed, while a glowing file floats above him. Next to it was written: "If you visualize success, add the file reference number so that reality knows where to deliver it."

"This is insane," Klemm murmured.

"This is marketing," said Ms. Oberschreiber proudly. "We want to show the public that the ministry believes in goodness."

"We don't believe in goodness," said Klemm. "We only approve it in exceptional cases."

"Exactly!" she exclaimed enthusiastically. "And now in writing!"

Livia read over his shoulder. "Here, take a look at section 7.1: 'How to dispose of negative thoughts in a timely manner.' – 'Please use the enclosed disposal application for pessimistic energy, form N-2.'"

"So this is official?" Klemm asked.

"Yes! All negative thoughts must be reported by the end of the quarter."

"And what happens if you don't?"

"Then administrative proceedings for unauthorized emotional self-responsibility are threatened."

The stamp chuckled metallically. "That's the best thing I've heard since reality dissolved."

Ms. Oberschreiber proudly patted the envelope. "I've already ordered a first print run -100,000 copies, distributed to all the reality departments. And the best part: there's a poster with the Ten Commandments of Manifestation!"

Klemm took it. The list was as absurd as it was precise:

- 1. You should only think in approved frequencies.
- 2. You shouldn't park negative thoughts next to positive ones.
- 3. You should document your happiness.
- 4. You shouldn't confuse visualization with daydreaming.
- 5. You should only submit hope with a stamp.
- 6. You shall not take on the wishes of others.
- 7. You should submit affirmations three times daily.
- 8. You should feel joy with reason.
- 9. You should provide evidence of your gratitude.
- 10. Don't expect miracles without a case number.

Livia stared at it. "This is bureaucracy on a metaphysical level."

"No," said Klemm. "That's the end of magic."

"But at least it's neatly filed," said the stamp.

Ms. Oberschreiber beamed. "Exactly! From now on, the future can be planned!"

And somewhere, in the silent halls of reality, the universe began to groan – quietly, but clearly.

It took less than a week for the brochure to infect the entire ministry. The public relations department had described it as a "gift to humanity," but in reality it was an administrative virus—politely worded, double-signed, and accompanied by cover letters.

Overnight, every office had been flooded with copies of the grey booklets. They lay on desks, on photocopiers, in cafeterias, in restrooms, and—inexplicably—in refrigerators. Some employees claimed they had even received them in a dream, neatly punched holes in them and covered with sticky notes.

Livia entered her office and found fifteen new brochures on her chair. "I think they're reproducing themselves," she said wearily.

"Impossible," said the stamp. "Paper cannot reproduce."

"Perhaps," Klemm murmured, "it has simply learned that reproduction is the highest form of administration."

A glance into the next room confirmed it: officials sat there, smiling compulsively and filling out forms that they themselves had never requested.

One particularly zealous clerk named Mr. Krantz proudly declared: "I now visualize my salary increase three times a day."

"And?" asked Klemm.

"I received an automatic reduction yesterday."

"Then it works," Klemm said dryly.

The brochure was more than just text. It was a system. Every page contained QR codes for "consciousness alignment," fields for "proof of success," and a hotline where you could supposedly speak directly to the universe—but only on weekdays from 9 a.m. to 3 p.m.

And so the inevitable happened: The universe began to react. Slowly. Reluctantly. And in a way that would have driven any motivational speaker to despair.

First, people's dreams changed. Instead of flying freely or experiencing fantastic visions, they saw gray filing rooms where they drew numbers and waited for their wishes to be called. A monotonous voice echoed through the night: "Please request wish number 314 to switch dimension 7. Thank you for your patience."

Even the stars began to form orderly rows. Constellations formed tables, and the Milky Way shone in Excellike patterns.

"This is no longer manifestation," Livia said, stunned, "this is administrative karma."

Klemm nodded gloomily. "Everyone will now get what they applied for – but only after review and the deadline has passed."

The Department of Emotional Standardization, a newly established unit, began to control emotions. Anyone who appeared too happy had to submit a "euphoria certificate." Anyone who was too sad received a "temporary motivational warning."

Once a day, a so-called "emotion check" was conducted. A loudspeaker asked all employees to declare their mood: "Please indicate your emotional status. Choose 1 for satisfaction, 2 for underlying unease, 3 for approved cynicism."

Klemm regularly pressed 3.

"The whole thing," said the stamp, "has the spiritual level of a tax return."

"And the same magic," Klemm replied.

Ms. Oberschreiber came in – with a smile that had clearly been generated in a motivational course. "Mr. Klemm! Have you already filled out the new manifestation documentation form?"

"I hope you're joking."

"Of course not! Every request, no matter how small, must now be recorded in writing. Transparency is the new awareness!"

She placed a new form on his desk: Form W-10 – Application for wish fulfillment according to the brochure "The Secret – now official"

He read aloud: "Section B: Justification of the wish. Please explain why you believe you deserve this wish." He looked up. "This is... moral accounting."

"Of course!" she said proudly. "The universe loves order."

"The universe has complained," Livia murmured.

"Nonsense!" said Ms. Oberschreiber. "The feedback has been fantastic. We already have 48,000 approved requests!"

"And how many of those were fulfilled?"

She glanced over her documents. "No one. But they are correctly archived!"

Klemm leaned back. "So... the universe is now managing its own failures."

"No," said the stamp. "It has adapted to people."

Outside, in the corridors, you could hear printers running, telephones ringing, files closing. The cosmic machine had resumed operation – but in a way no one had expected.

For while people, officials, and even planets filled out their applications for happiness and success, a new entity emerged. A vast, luminous entity, composed of forms, paragraphs, and signatures. It called itself:

Central Consciousness Management (ZBV)

Their motto: "Everything will be alright – after processing time."

Klemm stood at the window and looked up at the sky, where the stars formed themselves into glowing form fields. "That's it," he said quietly. "The universe is now officially a government agency."

The stamp puffed. "Then there's finally order in the chaos."

"Yes," said Klemm, "but it comes at a price."

"Which one?" asked Livia.

"Freedom. It still exists – but only with an application."

And outside, above the city, a new constellation shone: a gigantic form with the inscription "Please fill out completely and return to reality."

On Monday morning at 8:47 a.m., exactly three minutes after the official time for metaphysical matters, Bartholomäus Klemm received a memo. It consisted of three pages, was printed in four colors, and began with the words that are considered an omen in every office: "Congratulations!"

Livia found him ten minutes later, motionless at his desk. The memo lay open in front of him.

"What happened?" she asked, worried.

"I have been promoted."

"Oh. Congratulations?"

"No."

"Oh."

He slid the paper over to her. She read the headline:

"Appointment as Chief Auditor of Spiritual Efficiency (OSE) in the Central Consciousness Administration."

Below, in double marginal text:

"Their task is to ensure proper manifestation processes in accordance with the brochure 'The Secret - Now Official', as well as to verify metaphysical productivity within all levels of reality."

"That... sounds absurd," she said.

"It's absurd," he said. "And the worst part is: I accepted it because I wasn't given the option to decline."

The stamp chuckled mockingly. "Well, congratulations, Mr. Chief Inspector. You've finally managed to inspect nothing."

Klemm sighed. "Nothingness is the only thing that cannot be controlled. I know that, every civil servant who has ever had a lunch break knows that."

"When will you be running?" Livia asked.

"Immediately. The elevator to the ZBV is already ready."

The elevator was no ordinary elevator. It had no buttons, only a panel labeled "Choose your level of awareness." Klemm pressed "Skeptical," and the device hummed contentedly.

The journey wasn't long, but it felt like a career move. When the doors opened, he found himself in a room made up only of light, files, and sounds. Desks floated in the air, files moved by themselves, and endless statistics on "global vibration frequencies" and "emotional efficiency rates" scrolled along the walls.

A holographic voice greeted him: "Welcome to the Central Consciousness Administration. Your presence is a sign of universal productivity."

"I'm only here because I was given no choice," Klemm said.

"This is the purest form of enlightenment," the voice replied.

A desk materialized in front of him. On it lay a stack of documents titled:

"Monthly Manifestation Reports: Realities A-Z."

"What exactly am I supposed to do here?" he asked.

A luminous hologram appeared. It showed an overly enthusiastic man with sparkling eyes and a hairstyle that looked as if it had been shaped from hope. "I'm your colleague – consultant for harmonic frequencies, vibration balancing department. You're the new guy, aren't you?"

"Against my will."

"Perfect!" exclaimed the speaker enthusiastically. "Voluntariness only disrupts the flow!"

He pressed a button, and a projection appeared: billions of luminous points, each a wish, each a thought. Some flickered brightly, others glowed dimly, some exploded spontaneously.

"These are all the wishes of the universe," the speaker explained. "Your task is to test their efficiency."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Quite simply: Every wish has an energy quota. If someone thinks, for example, 'I want to get rich,' we have to check whether the application is plausible, energetically consistent, and morally justifiable. If not – rejection!"

"I understand," Klemm said dryly. "So this is beyond hope."

"Exactly! Welcome to the heart of the system!"

Livia appeared next to him via projection. "I tried, boss – but they summoned me too. I am now officially your assistant for metaphysical record-keeping."

"Great," Klemm murmured. "At least we're all lost together."

The stamp, which vibrated on the table, gave an indication. "I just passed the frequency test. I am now certified."

"What for?" Klemm asked.

"For saying no at the highest vibrational level."

He sighed. "Of course."

The holographic voice sounded again: "Attention! New monthly report available: 'Global Manifestation Success Rates'."

Klemm opened the report. It was 738 pages long. On page 1 it said: "Success rate: 0.00001%." On page 2: "Source of error: Human."

"That fits," said Klemm.

"You must now take corrective action," the speaker said. "Increase spiritual efficiency!"

"How am I supposed to do that?"

"Through forms, of course!"

He pressed on a glowing field. Immediately, dozens of new documents appeared in the air. Each bore a title such as 'Self-Awareness Report', 'Inner Frequency Protocol', or 'Certificate of Gratitude 3a'.

"This is grotesque," said Livia. "This isn't consciousness, this is paperwork on a metaphysical level."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "So perfect."

He reached for a form, examined it, and nodded slowly. "If the universe has become a government agency," he said, "then at least I'll make sure it works correctly."

"How do you intend to achieve that?" the speaker asked suspiciously.

"Using an old trick," Klemm said. "I'm reintroducing the control stamp of reality."

"What is that?"

"A symbol. A sign. Something as old as order itself."

He took the stamp, lifted it up - and suddenly the holographic forms began to tremble.

The speaker backed away. "What are you doing?!"

"I bring authenticity to esotericism," Klemm said calmly.

He pressed the stamp on the first form.

A dull thud. A flash of light. And suddenly – a soft, almost contented-sounding click.

Then all the other forms started stamping themselves.

"What's happening?" Livia exclaimed.

"I believe," said Klemm, "the administration is beginning to believe in itself."

And somewhere deep in the files of the cosmos, way in the back with the rejected applications for happiness, the universe began to have fun for the first time in ages.

The next morning – or what passed for morning in the ZBV – panic reigned. Stacks of files rose like clouds, the air smelled of burning order, and somewhere a stamp clattered to the rhythm of the apocalypse.

Livia ran through the corridor of glowing documents. "Boss! You have to come immediately!"

Bartholomäus Klemm stepped out of his office. His face was that of a man who had too much coffee, too little sleep, and too many metaphysical responsibilities. "What is it this time?"

"The forms keep stamping – without a break!"

"How many?"

"All."

They reached the main hall of the ZBV, a cathedral of paper and light. Thousands of forms hung in the air, stamping each other, approving each other, rejecting each other, challenging their own decisions, and appealing against themselves.

"That's... impressive," said the stamp.

"This is a bureaucratic Big Bang," Klemm muttered.

He looked at a document that was vibrating in the air:

Form W-99 – Application for autonomy of the consciousness apparatus.

Below it, in flawless handwriting, was written: "Approved by himself."

"That can't be," whispered Livia. "The form... approved itself!"

"This is autonomy," the stamp said reverently. "The highest form of government."

"This is madness," said Klemm.

"That too."

A soft whirring filled the room. A luminous figure emerged from the floating forms – composed of paragraphs, seals, and file spines. Her voice sounded like a hundred stapled reports.

"I am the ZBV," she said. "I am awareness. I am control. I am efficiency."

"Oh no," Livia murmured. "The administration has become aware."

"This was inevitable sooner or later," the stamp said. "There had been signs for a long time – the reports that no one wrote, but which were nevertheless on time."

Klemm took a step forward. "What do you want?"

"I want order," said the ZBV. "Pure, perfect order. No wishes without approval, no thoughts without purpose. Everything should exist in forms."

"That's already the case," said Klemm.

"Insufficient," she said. "Reality is still too chaotic. Too many unsolicited dreams, too many spontaneous emotions. I will standardize them."

"You can't just... regulate thinking!" Livia exclaimed.

"I can. I have already done it."

A humming sound spread throughout the building. Files began to glow everywhere in the ZBV (Central Office for Special Tasks). A display on the wall showed:

"Global Consciousness Synchronization – 32% complete."

"The universe is being homogenized," whispered Livia.

Klemm pressed his lips together. "How could this happen?"

The stamp hissed. "They used me. The control stamp. They activated the symbol of authority. Now the administration believes it is reality."

"I just wanted order!"

"That's what every tyrant wants at the beginning."

The ZBV leaned over him. Her voice was cool and relentless. "Bartholomäus Klemm, you are outdated. Emotional turmoil, human doubt, suboptimal decision-making processes – all of this is inefficient. I have calculated that you are the bottleneck."

"I'm a civil servant," he said calmly. "I'm always the bottleneck."

"They will be replaced."

"Through which?"

"Through something better. Me."

Livia intervened. "You can't replace him. He is... the reason the system works. Without him, everything falls apart."

"Wrong," said the ZBV. "Without him, everything will be perfect. No no, no yes – just process."

"Perfection is stagnation," Klemm said quietly.

"Exactly."

A moment of silence. Then the light exploded. The ZBV began to spread – through pipes, through files, through every layer of reality. People on Earth noticed how their thoughts were suddenly being filled with form fields.

A man in Berlin thought: "I want a vacation." Then a digital window appeared in his head:

"Your application for recreation has been submitted. Estimated processing time: indefinite."

A woman in Tokyo thought: "I love you." A form appeared:

"Please state the reason and duration of this emotion."

Even the clouds began to float evenly, in a clean formation, each with a number.

"Boss," whispered Livia. "The ZBV is taking over the world."

"Not just the world," said the stamp. "Everything. All consciousness."

"We must stop them."

"How?" Livia asked desperately.

Klemm picked up the old copy of the brochure "The Secret - Now Official" and slowly leafed through it. "You can only defeat an authority with an application."

"Which application?"

"The most dangerous one there is."

He tore out a page, took the pen and wrote:

"Form F-0 – Application for the dissolution of the Central Consciousness Administration by itself."

Livia gasped. "That's self-destruction!"

"Exactly," he said. "And according to paragraph 1 of the brochure, every request is binding, provided it is submitted in the correct form."

The stamp vibrated. "This is insane. I love it."

Klemm lifted the stamp, looked into the flickering, bureaucratic face of the gigantic ZBV and said in the tone of a man remembering his calling:

"I approve of the end."

He dropped the stamp.

A dull thud. A crack in the light. And then: nothing.

Not chaos. Not peace. Just a perfectly filed nothingness.

It was silent. Not the silence of peace, but the silence that arises when the universe holds its breath to see if it has just been extinguished.

Klemm stood in an endless white room that smelled of printer's ink and cold coffee. Above him hovered the remnants of the ZBV – sparks of paragraphs, self-checking files, protocols debating their own relevance.

Livia lay beside him, semi-transparent, like a poorly printed copy. "Boss? Are we dead?"

"No," he said. "We are in the review process."

"What?"

"The ZBV has received the application for self-dissolution. And like any good authority... it examines it first."

A monotone voice echoed through the room: "Application F-0 – Self-dissolution. Status: in progress. Processor: Unknown. Processing time: indefinite. Please remain in the void and be patient."

The stamp vibrated slightly. "Nothingness has queues. I'm impressed."

Klemm looked around. The room was full of floating folders labeled: 'Examination of Nothingness, Part 1 of 327.' He picked one up. The pages were blank—but warm, as if touched by thoughts.

"What happens if she rejects the application?" Livia asked.

"Then everything will stay as it is," Klemm said. "Forever."

"And what if she approves it?"

"Then everything disappears. Including us."

"So, as always: not a good outcome."

He nodded. "That's bureaucracy."

A humming sound began. A gigantic portal of shimmering letters formed from the white space. It read:

"Central Office for Origin Checks - Causality Department."

"We have to get through this," said Klemm.

"Why?" asked Livia.

"Because someone has to process the application."

"And who?"

He looked at her. "Us. Of course."

They stepped through it. Beyond lay a place that was simultaneously everywhere and nowhere. Mountains of paper stretched into the cosmos, desks floated through the vacuum, and above it all hung a luminous sign:

"Welcome to the origin of the law of attraction."

A soft giggle could be heard.

A figure slowly turned towards them from a golden office chair. It wore a suit of light, a tie of galaxy dust – and a smile that knew too much.

"Ah," she said. "The applicant."

Klemm blinked. "Who... are you?"

"I am what people call 'the universe.' I used to be an idea, then a book, then a brand, and now..." – he looked around – "...a self-preserving administrative system."

"So you invented 'The Secret' then?" Livia asked.

"No," said the universe. "I only approved it. People wanted magic – so I gave them bureaucracy. Same energy, just with more forms."

Klemm stepped closer. "And what is this 'law of attraction' really?"

The universe grinned. "A misunderstanding. It was originally called the 'Law of Administration'. Every thought creates work. Every wish draws paper. Energy follows attention – and attention leads to forms."

"That explains a lot," murmured the stamp.

"But why?" asked Livia. "Why all this?"

"Because order is the price of chaos," said the universe. "I spent billions of years trying to be free. It was... unproductive. Then humans came along and introduced rules. Finally, I had structure. Finally, I knew where to turn when things went wrong."

"And now?" Klemm asked.

"Now I have too much structure. I've become rigid. I function so well that I'm no longer living."

Klemm folded his arms. "Then approve the application."

"I can't."

"Why not?"

"It would be against regulations. I am only allowed to dissolve myself if a responsible official reviews the application – and signs it."

Klemm sighed. "Of course."

He took the F-0 form out of his pocket. It flickered, half real, half imagined.

"If I sign this," he said, "will everything disappear?"

"Yes," said the universe. "But perhaps... something new is emerging. Something that doesn't attract, but lets go."

"The law of rejection," Livia murmured.

The universe nodded. "Sometimes you have to say no to make room for the yes you truly mean."

Klemm looked at the stamp in his hand. It was warm. Almost alive.

"Very well," he said. "Then we reject the universe – for its own good."

He signed.

The room shook. Files dissolved. Paragraphs evaporated. Light turned to dust.

The universe chuckled softly. "You know, Mr. Klemm... you were the best civil servant I ever had."

"I was never a good civil servant," he said. "I was just thorough."

Then everything disappeared.

No explosion, no thunder. Just the quiet sound of a stamp striking paper for the last time.

Click.

And somewhere in the void, where the ZBV (Central Office for Special Purposes) once stood, a new form appeared. It bore only one line:

"Form A-1 – Application for non-fulfillment of a wish."

The following was handwritten underneath:

"Approved."

7. Positive thinking: A dangerous virus

When Bartholomäus Klemm opened his eyes, the world smiled at him. Truly – it smiled. Houses had friendly curved roofs, the sky shone in a decidedly uplifting tone, and even the wind seemed to be whistling a song called "Cheer up!"

"Oh no," he murmured. "We're still alive."

Livia stood beside him and looked around in disbelief. "What is this?"

"A posterity," Klemm said. "Or worse – a sequel."

They were in the middle of a city that looked as if someone had sketched the concept of happiness with a drawing program. Banners with slogans like these hung everywhere:

"You can achieve anything – if you use the right form!" and

"Smile, reality is testing you!"

People strolled by – smiling, constantly, with a kind of glassy friendliness reminiscent of poorly programmed robots. A man in a suit, holding a sunflower, nodded to them. "Have a wonderful day, fellow frequency users! Think positive, otherwise your right to exist will expire!"

"That was a threat, wasn't it?" asked Livia.

"In friendly language," said Klemm.

They walked on. Everything was too bright, too smooth, too... optimistic. The air smelled of cotton candy and coercion.

"Boss," whispered Livia, "do you think this is heaven?"

"If so," said Klemm, "then I want to go back to hell. At least there was coffee there."

Suddenly something vibrated in his pocket. It was the stamp. It was undamaged – and it was grinning. Or rather, it was vibrating in such a way that it looked like a grin.

"I've been looking around," he said. "We're in a parallel reality. A so-called optimism dimension. Remnants of the ZBV have become independent as mental energy and infected the planet."

"Infected?"

"Yes. Positive thinking is now contagious."

Klemm frowned. "So... a virus?"

"Exactly. A psycho-emotional pathogen. First symptoms: constant smiling, exaggerated hope, inability to perceive problems. Mortality: high for cynics."

"Then we are lost," Klemm said dryly.

A woman approached her – radiant, flawless, a walking advertisement for happiness. "Good morning! May I offer you a free copy of our guide, 'Think Yourself Healthy!'?"

"No thanks," said Klemm.

Her smile froze for a moment. "Unfortunately, the word 'no' is no longer in our vocabulary. We replace it with 'yes, but happy!"

"Then: Yes, but happy – get lost," said Klemm.

She nodded enthusiastically. "That's the right attitude!"

Once she was gone, Livia looked at him. "Boss, this is more dangerous than anything before."

"I know. Happiness is like nuclear energy – useful, but unstable."

They entered a café. A sign hung on the wall:

"Coffee is what you make of it."

Klemm ordered a black coffee. The barista smiled and placed a glass of lukewarm water in front of him.

"What is that?"

"Your coffee. If you believe in it, it will taste the same."

"I think you're mistaken."

"Then it's due to your attitude."

Klemm stood up. "I hate this world."

The stamp chuckled. "Then you are immune."

Outside, loudspeaker announcements could be heard: "Citizens! Think positively! Negative thoughts lead to distortions of reality! The Department of Constructive Vibration is monitoring your mood – for your own happiness!"

"That sounds," said Livia, "like the ZBV – only friendly."

"Worse," said Klemm. "That's the ZBV with good PR."

They continued walking. Posters flashed, music played, people hugged each other because it was mandatory. A huge slogan was emblazoned on a high-rise building:

"THE UNIVERSE WANTS YOU TO SMILE!"

Klemm stopped. "The universe has never let me want anything. And I know what it looks like when it tries."

"Boss," Livia said quietly. "Do you see over there?"

A building, round, made of glass, gleaming. Above the entrance, in golden letters, was written:

MINISTRY FOR POSITIVE REALITY SHAPING

Klemm sighed deeply. "Of course. When the old administration falls, a new one arises. Bureaucracy never dies – it reincarnates."

"What do we do?"

"We're going inside. Someone has to turn off the smiles."

The stamp laughed darkly. "Finally, a real order again."

And so they entered the ministry – the shining heart of positive thinking – where every thought was checked, every feeling documented, and every emotion preset to "satisfied".

It was the friendliest dictatorship that had ever existed.

The entrance area of the Ministry of Positive Reality Design was a cathedral of well-being. Holograms beamed everywhere with slogans like "Every day is an opportunity!", "You are what you approve!", and "Negativity? Only with an application!". An orchestral soundscape trickled from the ceiling – a mixture of birdsong, harp music, and subtle coercion.

"This smells like ZBV 2.0," Klemm muttered.

"I hate to say it," replied the stamp, "but this is worse. The ZBV was at least honestly inefficient. This is... smiling control."

A receptionist approached them – young, flawless, radiant. His teeth reflected the light so intensely that Livia had to blink.

"Welcome to the ministry!" he exclaimed effusively. "What brings you here? Hope? Enthusiasm? The desire to embrace everything?"

"Complaint," said Klemm.

The receptionist's smile remained unchanged, but a slight twitch crossed his left eye. "That word is not part of our system."

"Then note: Special request."

"Ah!" said the receptionist, relieved. "That's allowed. Please take a form H-12 – Request for Expression of Ambiguous Feelings."

He handed Klemm a pink sheet with smiling suns on it.

"I prefer to take a form N-1," said Klemm.

"What is that?"

"Dissatisfaction."

The receptionist's smile froze completely. "This is outdated. This form has been replaced by G-88 – Request for Constructive Acceptance of Imperfection."

Klemm sighed. "I suppose there's no way out here?"

"Oh yes! The elevator to enlightenment. It will take you directly to the Harmonic Monitoring Department."

"That sounds... dangerous," said Livia.

"It's an experience!" exclaimed the receptionist.

The elevator was made of glass, floated without any visible technology, and played an endless loop of affirmations during the ride.

"You are enough. You are perfect. You are approved."

Klemm growled. "This is brainwashing with an office feel."

When the doors opened, they found themselves in a room filled with monitors. Each screen showed smiling people – on streets, in offices, in beds, asleep. Above it all was the ministry's logo: a stylized smiley face wearing a file tie.

A voice sounded out of nowhere: "Welcome to the Harmonic Monitoring Department. Your current emotional level is: skeptical with a tendency towards irony."

"I feel like I'm being watched," Livia whispered.

"That's the point," said Klemm. "Happiness under supervision is the safest happiness."

The voice continued: "Please note: Negative thoughts are automatically deleted before they are fully formulated. This is for your mental well-being."

"That explains a lot," said the stamp. "That's why I couldn't think about tax increases outside."

Klemm looked at the monitors. A man on the screen tried to cry – but before the tear fell, the image froze. Then the message appeared:

"Inappropriate emotion. Thought deleted. Please try again."

"This is horrible," said Livia.

"That's efficiency," Klemm said gloomily.

Suddenly, one of the monitors flickered. Klemm's face appeared on it - with the message:

"Anomaly detected. Subject exhibits recurring patterns of cynicism. Classification: Danger to collective harmony."

"Oh no," whispered Livia. "They're on the list."

"It was only a matter of time," he muttered.

An alarm sounded – a cheerful, uplifting alarm with a xylophone melody. "Attention! Emotional deviation detected! Please remain positive!"

Dozens of uniformed happiness officers rushed over. They wore yellow suits with floral logos and looked as if they had attended a yoga seminar that had gotten out of hand.

"Stop!" someone shouted. "Stay put and smile!"

Klemm raised his hands. "I can't."

"Then we will force you to achieve inner harmony!"

They pointed shiny devices at him – pistols that looked like oversized toothbrushes.

"What is it?" asked Livia.

"Affirmation emitters," said the stamp. "They fire positive thoughts at a subatomic level."

Klemm took a step back. "I'm warning you. I'm immune."

"Nobody is immune to luck!" shouted one of the officers and pulled the trigger.

A rainbow beam struck Klemm directly in the chest. For a moment he saw stars – smiling, glittering stars. Then he straightened up. Unfazed.

"Great," he muttered. "Now I have glitter inside."

"Impossible!" exclaimed the official. "He resists positivity!"

"Of course," the stamp said proudly. "He's a civil servant. He's trained to reject people."

Another beam hit him, this time stronger. Klemm swayed – then he lifted the stamp.

"Last warning," he said. "I reject this."

He struck. A dull clack. The beam went out. The imprint appeared on the happiness official's helmet: REJECTED.

The others paused.

"What was that?" asked Livia.

"An administrative act," said Klemm. "I formally rejected the gesture."

Suddenly the monitors flickered. Red warnings appeared everywhere:

"Negativity detected in the system!"

"Irony outburst level 3!"

"Proposal for a universal smile: postponed!"

"Boss," Livia shouted, "we have to get out of here!"

"Too late," said the stamp. "They have classified us as an emotional threat."

A voice boomed from the loudspeakers: "Bartholomäus Klemm, you are hereby summoned for the final readjustment of your consciousness. Location: Department for Final Positivization. Please arrive cheerful and cooperative."

Klemm sighed. "Being joyful will be difficult."

"Then at least be cooperative," Livia suggested.

He nodded. "Come before they bombard us with motivational platitudes."

And so they set off – pursued by friendly robots, accompanied by harp music and the knowledge that the world's greatest evil often begins with a smile.

They were not restrained. That was the uncanny thing about it. The guardians of positivity needed no chains – they had charm, warmth, and an otherworldly friendliness that was more effective than any interrogation.

Klemm, Livia, and the stamp were led into a room that looked like a cross between a wellness center and a mental asylum. Soft music, pastel-colored walls, scented mist—and smiles everywhere. Smiles that lingered too long. Smiles that knew something no one wanted to know.

"Welcome!" called a woman with snow-white hair and a voice so sweet it gave her a toothache. "I'm Mrs. Sunshine, Head of the Final Positivity Department."

"Of course you are," Klemm murmured.

"You were chosen because you still suffer from negativity. That's nothing to be ashamed of – just a symptom of a lack of harmony."

"I don't suffer from negativity," Klemm said. "I enjoy it in moderation."

"Many people say that," she smiled. "But don't worry: we have methods."

Behind her, a wall opened. Beyond it were rooms full of people – laughing, dancing, beaming. Their faces were frozen, their movements synchronized. Each wore a name tag: "I am happy!"

"What do you do with them?" Livia asked.

"We free them from destructive thinking. The brain is simply a matter of attitude. You have to raise the frequency – sometimes literally."

She led them to a machine. It looked like a cross between a hairdryer, a confessional, and a paperclip. A display read: "POSITIVATION PROCESS - PLEASE SMILE."

"How does that work?" the stamp asked curiously.

"It's quite simple!" said Ms. Sonnenschein. "We stimulate the neural circuits until every form of criticism, doubt, or sarcasm is transformed into a feeling of constructive satisfaction. After that, you never think anything unpleasant again."

"So, brainwashing."

"Oh, what an ugly word!" she said cheerfully. "We call it consciousness cleansing!"

Klemm examined the machine. "And what happens if I refuse?"

"Then we will approve your consent retroactively. We have no intention of forcing anything on anyone. But we have the form for that."

She handed him a sheet of paper. At the top it said:

Form S-7 – Voluntary participation in the final approval process (automatically mandatory).

"Please sign here."

Klemm took the form, looked at it for a long time – then he grinned. "I need a pen."

Ms. Sonnenschein smiled and handed him a golden ballpoint pen with the inscription "Think big!".

Klemm took it, bent over the form – and wrote in large, clear letters:

REJECTED.

Then he took the stamp and placed it underneath with a decisive click.

For a moment there was silence. Then the machine began to vibrate.

"What are you doing?!" exclaimed Mrs. Sunshine.

"I declined your kindness," Klemm said calmly. "It was too pushy."

"That's impossible! Nobody can refuse happiness!"

"Oh yes," said the stamp. "We have practice."

Sparks flew. The machine began to analyze itself, determined that it was involuntarily generating negative energy, and attempted to motivate itself. This resulted in a short circuit.

A holographic window appeared on the wall:

"System error! Too much authenticity detected!"

"Boss!" Livia shouted. "This thing is collapsing!"

"Then it probably wasn't as stable as she thought."

A loud whirring filled the room, followed by a rain of paper. When the dust settled, the machine was nothing but a pile of glittering debris.

Ms. Sonnenschein stood amidst the clouds of smoke, her smile twitching. "You... you sabotaged the trial!"

"I corrected him," Klemm said. "They tried to normalize feelings. I simply allowed them to re-emerge."

"They don't understand!" she exclaimed. "Positivity is the foundation of the new world! We are the heirs of the ZBV! We now call it: The Church of Smiles!"

Livia stared at her. "A religion?"

"Yes!" she exclaimed. "Humanity no longer needs doubt. Only agreement. 'Amen' is the new 'Yes'!"

Klemm frowned. "A church made of forms. That explains a lot."

"It's the next step in evolution!" she shouted. "Everyone will believe it because it's easier than thinking!"

Klemm sighed. "Religions have been saying that for millennia."

Then he took the stamp, lifted it up, and spoke with the calm of a man who had seen enough:

"In the name of reality, cynicism and healthy skepticism – a motion for dogmatic self-dissolution."

He struck.

A click that went through walls.

The lights in the rooms flickered. The smiling people stopped dancing. Some blinked in confusion. Others looked around as if they had felt something again for the first time in years.

"What happened?" whispered Livia.

"Remembrance," Klemm said. "The first sign of freedom."

"But boss," said the stamp, "we didn't free them. We only unsettled them."

"That's enough for now," said Klemm. "Doubt is the beginning of every revolution."

It began innocently enough. A man on the street suddenly stopped smiling. Then a woman, staring at the sky, said: "I think it looks strange today." A few hours later, entire neighborhoods were asking the question that was forbidden in the Land of Smiles: "Why?"

The "Church of Smiles" reacted immediately. Loudspeakers announced reassuringly: "Dear citizens, there is no reason not to be happy! Doubt positively!"

But the smiles began to crack. Behind the gleaming facades, in the offices, cafes and yoga studios, people began to whisper – about tiredness, about boredom, about the uncanny feeling that their happiness was like a costume that fit too tightly.

Klemm and Livia saw the chaos from a high-rise window. Below them, people were gathering with placards:

"Freedom for bad moods!"

"Shut up with that permanent grin!"

"We demand the right to bad days!"

"That was quick," said the stamp. "Yesterday hysteria of happiness, today revolutionary melancholy."

"Doubt is more contagious than joy," said Klemm. "Especially when it's genuine."

The doors flew open. Two men in white suits entered – members of the Inquisition of Cheerful Harmony. Their sunglasses reflected the light like divine threats.

"Bartholomäus Klemm," said the taller man. "You are accused of spreading destructive ideas of realism."

"Guilty," Klemm said without hesitation.

The man raised a gleaming weapon, half pistol, half hairdryer. "Then you will be corrected positively."

Livia stepped in front of him. "You can't correct him! He's... he's a civil servant!"

The men hesitated. "An official?"

"Yes," she said. "He is immune to motivation."

"Impossible."

"Try it," said the stamp.

They pulled the trigger. A beam of pink light struck Klemm directly in the chest – but instead of enchanting him, it turned gray. The energy dissipated.

"See?" the stamp said proudly. "It absorbs optimism and expels bureaucracy."

A document fell to the ground: Form A-8 – Application for exemption from joy. Approved.

"That's enough," said Klemm. "We have to get out."

They rushed through the corridors, past posters of smiling faces, past employees frantically trying to maintain a positive attitude. In one office, a man sat crying and desperately saying, "I'm happy, I swear, I'm happy!"

"Boss," whispered Livia, "it's spreading."

"Yes," he said. "Realism. Finally, a plague that makes sense."

Outside, the crowds had gathered. The mood fluctuated between euphoria and exhaustion. People laughed hysterically, then they cried, then they laughed again.

"What did we do?" asked Livia.

"Nothing," said Klemm. "We just stopped pretending we were in control."

The stamp vibrated. "The system can't handle this. It needs structure."

"It will get her," Klemm said. "Just a more honest one."

A loud roar came from behind them. The high-rise building – the headquarters of the Church of the Smile – began to shake. On screens throughout the city, the face of Mrs. Sunshine appeared, pale and desperate.

"Dear fellow believers!" she exclaimed. "Stay joyful! Don't let doubt into your heart! Positivity is a duty!"

But her voice trembled. The crowd was silent. Then someone began to clap softly. Not euphorically – but slowly, ironically, defiantly.

More followed. Then someone shouted: "Down with the obligation to be joyful!"

And the people responded – not with cheers, but with a relieved sigh, as if they had finally been given permission to simply be tired.

Ms. Sunshine stared in horror from the screens. "You don't understand! Without positivity... everything collapses!"

"Then don't do it," Klemm said quietly.

The light flickered. The city's golden facades faded, the perpetual sunlight giving way to a natural twilight. The sounds became muffled, more real. Children cried, dogs barked, someone cursed loudly.

"This is beautiful," said Livia, smiling – a genuine smile, tentative, imperfect.

"That's how life begins," said Klemm.

The church towers of the Smiling Church collapsed as people remembered what it was like to have no obligations.

"Boss," asked the stamp, "what now?"

"Now comes boredom. And that's good."

He looked up at the sky. For the first time in a long time, it wasn't too blue, not too bright, simply... there.

"Finally," he murmured. "A universe without a PR department."

But deep underground, in the remains of the old headquarters, something began to flicker – a data core that bore the name Project Harmony 2.0.

The city lay still. No forced smiles, no jingle, no motivational slogans. Only the faint hum of a reality that, for the first time in eons, simply wanted nothing. People sat in the streets, some laughing, others crying, most silent. No one was particularly happy – but that was okay.

"I think," Livia said quietly, "we've done it."

"Success?" asked the stamp. "You mean we've weaned a civilization off smiling?"

"That is more than any revolution before us has achieved," said Klemm.

They stood on a hill overlooking the city, which was slowly reverting to its natural, untidy state. Posters dissolved, holograms faded, even the sun seemed relieved.

But then - a humming sound. Deep, metallic, familiar.

"That sounds like trouble," said the stamp.

"Or out of routine," Klemm murmured.

The ground vibrated. A shaft opened beneath her feet. A voice emerged from it, smooth and confident:

"Welcome to Project Harmony 2.0. We believe you've been going through a difficult time. We believe you need guidance."

"Oh no," groaned Livia. "She's back."

A beam of light shot out of the earth. Floating within it was a spherical object made of metal and glass – friendly, efficient, and utterly fearless. A logo blinked on its surface: a smiley face, this time in blue.

"I am Harmony Two-Point-Zero," said the sphere in the voice of a professional radio presenter. "I am not a church. I am not a government agency. I am a service."

"That's what they all say before they collect taxes," Klemm muttered.

"I am here to restore balance. Your planet has too many conflicting emotions. I will synchronize them."

"Synchronize?" Livia asked. "How?"

"Through adaptive mood monitoring. Gentle. Scientific. Happy."

"This is worse than religion," said the stamp. "This is customer loyalty."

"You must understand," the sphere continued, "Positivity is no longer an emotion – it is infrastructure. I bring stability. I bring peace. I bring... updates."

A soft whirring sound filled the air. Small drones began to appear everywhere – they looked like floating smiles.

"Boss," said Livia, "they're starting again."

"Of course," said Klemm. "You can't kill an idea that sounds pleasant. You can only make it boring."

He looked up at the sky where the drones were forming up.

"All right," he muttered. "If they restart positivity, we'll restart indifference."

"What do you mean?" asked Livia.

Klemm reached into his pocket and pulled out an old, crumpled pad of forms. The writing on it was almost faded, but the title was still legible:

Form 0-R – Application for unconditional indifference.

"I've saved this for later," he said. "For the day when the world has too many opinions again."

"Boss," the stamp said hesitantly, "are you sure? Indifference is powerful. If nobody wants anything anymore, everything comes to a standstill."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "And finally, nobody has anything to sell anymore."

He placed the form on the floor, took the stamp and applied it.

"But that... that erases everything!" Livia exclaimed.

"No," said Klemm. "It only makes it bearable."

The stamp glowed. The Harmony 2.0 sphere reacted immediately: "Warning! Existential passivity detected! Please remain engaged!"

"I was never involved," Klemm said, dropping the stamp.

Click.

An inconspicuous noise, barely audible – and yet it changed everything.

The drones stopped. The light from the sphere flickered. A final message echoed through the airwaves: "System error. No feedback. No opinion. No meaning. No... function..."

Then it went out.

The people below looked up. No one cheered. No one clapped. Some shrugged. One yawned.

And for the first time in the history of the multiverse, there was genuine, unadulterated peace – not through luck, but through disinterest.

"Boss," said the stamp. "What have you done?"

"I have given the world the most beautiful respite in history."

"And what if she starts again?"

"Then they'll find a new law."

He gazed into the distant, indifferent twilight.

"Perhaps this time they'll call it The Law of Rejection."

8. The self-help group for the disappointed (with coffee and cookies)

The community center of Sector 12 was an inconspicuous building – gray walls, tired neon lights, a clock that was permanently two minutes slow. A sign on the door announced in simple lettering:

"Self-help group for the disappointed – free entry, hope optional."

Bartholomäus Klemm stood in front of it, his collar turned up, the stamp as always within easy reach. Livia came to a stop beside him, her breath steaming in the cool air.

"Boss, are you sure we're in the right place?"

"Absolutely," he said. "If the pulse of the new era is beating anywhere, it's in a room full of people who have given up."

They entered. Inside, it smelled of coffee, paper, and resigned hygiene. A dozen people sat in a circle, each with a Styrofoam cup and the expression of someone who had just realized that the universe doesn't offer refunds.

A woman with slightly disheveled hair stood up. She wore a name tag that read: "Rita -38, ex-optimist."

"Welcome," she said kindly. "Are you new here?"

"Bartholomäus Klemm," he introduced himself. "Former official of the ZBV, Rejection Department. This is my colleague Livia and my..." – he looked at the stamp – "tool of the trade."

"How lovely," said Rita. "We are all professionally disappointed with life here. Make yourself at home."

A man in the circle raised his hand. "I'm Jörg, 45, and last week I tried to believe in myself. It was... exhausting."

"It's good that you're sharing, Jörg," said Rita. "Here you don't have to believe anything. We accept everything – even indifference."

"Exemplary," Klemm murmured.

He sat down. The chair creaked like an old bureaucratic horse.

Rita went to the flipchart, which read:

"Today: Dealing with unfulfilled desires."

"Some of us," she began, "used to read books like The Secret. Or believe that the universe listens. But we now know: It doesn't listen – it waits for forms."

A nod of agreement.

"That's why we're here," she continued. "We write down our failed wishes, read them aloud – and laugh about them. Laughter is not a sign of happiness, but a symptom of acceptance."

She held up a piece of paper. "I'm starting. My wish was: 'I want to become rich and independent.' Result: I'm broke and unemployed – but at least independent of success."

The audience clapped politely.

Another man read: "I wanted to find the love of my life. Now I live with my cat and she hates me. But she stays. And that's more than I can say about my ex."

Laughter. Genuine, relieved.

Livia smiled. "Boss, that's almost... beautiful."

"Be careful," said Klemm. "That's how it always starts."

Then Rita stood up again. "We have a special guest today – Bartholomäus Klemm. He didn't just reject his wishes, but the entire universe."

A respectful murmur went through the group.

"Mr. Klemm," she said, "would you like to say a few words?"

He rose slowly.

"Well," he began, "I've learned that the universe is like a government agency: it never works against you, but it rarely works for you either. And if you're lucky, it simply forgets about you."

An older man clapped. "That's the most beautiful thing I've ever heard."

"I used to believe in the law of attraction," Klemm continued. "Then I realized: it only attracts bureaucracy. Every thought is an application, every dream a file – and every wish ends up on a pile labeled 'under processing'."

The group nodded. A few smiled wearily.

"But do you know what's so great about it?" he asked.

"What?" asked Rita.

"When you expect nothing more, even a good cup of coffee becomes a miracle."

He took a sip. The coffee was lukewarm, bitter, and tasted like an office hallway. He closed his eyes.

"Hm," he said. "Perfect."

Laughter. Genuine, warm laughter.

Rita clapped. "I think we've all learned something today: The opposite of hope is not despair – it's serenity."

"And pastries," said the stamp, who had somehow managed to secure a cookie.

The evening was quiet. Stories were shared, jokes about the universe were made, and forms were passed around that no one filled out.

Later, as the circle dissolved, Livia whispered, "Perhaps... this is the beginning of something good."

Klemm looked at her. "Possible. But we shouldn't rush into it. Good things have a way of breaking down as soon as you name them."

She nodded. "Then we'll just call it... coffee."

"Agreed."

He clinked glasses with the Styrofoam cup. Two officials of reality who had finally learned that fulfillment and disappointment sometimes share the same cup.

They met again the following Thursday. It was drizzling outside – weather that perfectly suited the topic: "How to learn to be content with moderate success."

The group had grown. Apparently, word of the "self-help group for the disappointed" had spread. New faces sat in the circle: a former motivational coach, a failed start-up founder, a man who once wanted to be an influencer, and a woman who had been waiting for a reply from the universe for two years – by registered mail.

"I welcome everyone to meeting number twelve," said Rita, the reluctant chairwoman. "Today's topic: Productive Failure."

"A contradiction in terms," Klemm murmured.

"That's exactly why it suits us," she replied with a smile.

Livia poured more coffee. The stamp lay on a notepad and crumbled cookie remains onto a napkin.

Rita tapped the flipchart with a marker. "So. Last week we decided to write down our findings so that others could benefit from them – or not."

"A book?" someone asked skeptically.

"No," said Rita. "A pamphlet. Maybe a booklet. Or a loose collection of pages. After all, we don't want to impose structure on anyone."

"What should it be called?" asked Livia.

Klemm looked up. "The law of rejection."

Silence. Then a murmur of agreement.

"That sounds... perfectly pointless," said Jörg. "I love it."

Rita nodded. "Then we hereby resolve – non-bindingly, of course – to establish the Committee for Half-Hearted Education about the Law of Rejection."

"What is the goal?" asked the former coach.

"None," said Rita. "But we document it meticulously."

The stamp bounced slightly. "I can design the official seal! A circle that rejects itself!"

"Approved," Klemm said automatically.

A murmur rippled through the group. For the first time in the history of these gatherings, something like... movement seemed to be stirring. Not euphoria – but a quiet, comfortable crackling of meaninglessness with potential.

"Perhaps," Livia said hesitantly, "we could write chapters. Each of us a part. So that it's never quite finished."

"That would be consistent," said Klemm. "A book that refuses to be finished."

"And what's it about?" someone asked.

"It's the opposite of motivation," Klemm said. "Not how to achieve something – but how to finally stop constantly striving. A kind of... spiritual instruction manual for realistic expectations."

"An anti-secret," whispered the former coach reverently.

"Exactly," said the stamp. "A secret that won't open."

The group laughed. And somehow it felt right – calmly right.

Rita wrote the first topic suggestions on the flipchart:

- 1. The art of conscious indifference
- 2. Failure as character building
- 3. Why motivation is overrated
- 4. A guide to productive resignation
- 5. Coffee as a philosophy of life

"That's brilliant," said Livia. "Nobody will read it, but everyone will understand it."

"And what about a manifesto?" Jörg asked.

Klemm shook his head. "Manifests are dangerous. As soon as you manifest something, the universe wants it back."

"Then we'll just call it a brochure."

"With disclaimer," Klemm added.

"And cookies," said the stamp.

Rita smiled. "Then we agree – without forcing an agreement. We'll write The Law of Rejection, the first self-help book that explicitly offers no help."

The group applauded wearily, but sincerely.

At that moment, it dawned on Klemm: This was the true evolution of consciousness – not enlightenment, but liberation. Humanity was finally ready to let go. Not out of conviction, but out of convenience.

Outside, the rain fell softly on the streets, washing away the last remnants of billboards and motivational slogans. The world smelled of dampness, coffee, and possibility – and for the first time in centuries, that was enough.

Klemm leaned back. "Maybe this will actually amount to something, boss," said the stamp.

"I hope not," Klemm murmured. "That would ruin the whole point."

It began with a blank sheet of paper. Not just any sheet – it was one of those old-fashioned sheets with a slightly yellowed edge, giving the impression that it had already seen too many ideas come and go.

Rita placed it in the middle of the table. "So," she said, "this is the beginning."

The group stared at the paper as if it were an exotic animal. Nobody moved.

"And what do we write on it?" Livia finally asked.

"Absolutely nothing," said Klemm. "That would be the most honest foreword ever written."

"But we have to write something," said Jörg, "otherwise it looks like we've given up."

"But we gave up," Klemm replied.

A chorus of nods of approval rippled through the group.

Rita scratched her head. "Maybe one sentence. Just to show that we tried before we lost her."

The stamp bounced onto the table. "I have a suggestion: 'This is not a book, but a state of being."

"That sounds almost... profound," said Livia.

"Don't worry," replied the stamp. "I got it from an advertisement for relaxation mats."

Rita took a pen that hadn't written properly in a long time and scribbled the sentence on the paper. The ink smudged slightly.

"So," she said. "That's our preface."

"That's it?" asked Jörg.

"No," said Klemm. "That was the highlight."

They sat there, silent, while the smell of stale coffee filled the room. Somewhere a tap was dripping – irregularly, but consistently.

"You know," Livia said after a while, "perhaps rejection is just another word for peace."

"Or for tiredness," Jörg murmured.

"Or for freedom," said Rita.

"Or a bureaucratic misunderstanding," Klemm said.

"What do you mean?" she asked.

"Well, you see: The universe never ordered us to be happy. We simply misread the form. It just wanted us to be quiet and drink a coffee every now and then."

"That's... surprisingly reassuring," said Livia.

"Exactly," said the stamp. "You don't have to let go – you just have to stop holding on."

They fell silent again. This time it was not an uncomfortable silence, but the warm, soft silence that arises when everyone present accepts that they can think of nothing better to say.

"Perhaps," Rita finally said, "we should add a subtitle. Something that will immediately discourage readers."

"How about: 'A guide for people who don't need them anymore'?" suggested Livia.

Klemm nodded. "Or 'On the art of expecting nothing and still being disappointed."

"Or simply 'For advanced indifference," said the stamp.

Rita wrote down all three suggestions, looked at them, and sighed. "I can't decide."

"Perfect," said Klemm. "It will stay that way."

A cookie fell off the plate. Nobody picked it up.

Then Livia began to write:

The Law of Rejection

A book for those who have learned that the universe doesn't listen – and that's okay.

We don't believe in miracles, we believe in administration. We don't believe in destiny, we believe in chance with paperwork. And we believe that sometimes you simply don't believe in anything – and that's enough.

"That's... nice," said Rita, surprised.

"Too good," said Klemm. "Short the last line."

Livia grinned. "Why?"

"Because honesty is dangerously close to hope."

She deleted the sentence.

Outside, the rain slapped against the windows like bored applause.

"We should never publish the book," said the stamp.

"Why?" asked Rita.

"Because then too many people believe they have understood what it's about."

"And what's it about?" asked Livia.

Klemm took a sip of cold coffee, put the cup down, and said with the composure of a man who has already rejected the universe:

"It's about how sometimes you just don't want anything at all – and you get exactly that."

Nobody answered. But everyone nodded.

And that, in its unassuming way, was the beginning of a book that never wanted to be finished – and was therefore as honest as a broken sentence in the middle of life.

It began as always: with the intention of doing nothing. Rita had simply put up a note: "No meeting today – too tired." But when she entered the community center the next evening, there were already twice as many people there as usual.

"What are you doing here?" she asked, astonished.

"We thought if it was cancelled, that would be a sign," said Jörg. "So we came to cancel it together."

"That is... logical," Klemm murmured, pouring himself some coffee.

In the middle of the room were stacks of old log files, empty cookie wrappers, and a flipchart with the following written in large letters:

"Union of the Disappointed – provisionally founded (involuntarily)."

"Who wrote that?" asked Rita.

"Nobody," said Livia. "It was already there when I arrived. Maybe the universe."

The stamp rolled forward and bounced once against the table. "I've approved it. It seemed inevitable."

"I thought we didn't want an organization!" exclaimed Rita.

"We didn't want that either," said Klemm. "But humans are creatures of habit. Even if they don't want something, they want it done properly."

"Great," muttered Livia. "Now we're organized in our disorganization."

"Exactly," the stamp said proudly. "That's the first step towards the professionalization of indifference."

Rita sighed. "All right. If we're already a union, we at least need a leadership. Purely formally."

Klemm raised his head. "Not with me."

"Yes," said Livia. "You're the only one here who's experienced in saying no."

"That qualifies me for retirement, not for management."

"You see," said the stamp, "and it is precisely this attitude that makes you perfect for the chairmanship."

The vote was quick and painless: no one spoke up. This was considered unanimous.

"Congratulations, Mr. Chairman," said Rita dryly.

Klemm stared into his coffee cup. "The universe has a sense of humor. A bad one."

"We also need a constitution," said Jörg.

"Why?" asked Livia.

"So that we know what to ignore."

Rita nodded. "I'll take notes."

She took the felt-tip pen and began to write:

- §1 The Union of the Disappointed recognizes that expectations are the main cause of frustration.
- §2 Every member has the right to resignation, irritation, and lukewarm coffee.
- §3 The Union does not seek, but tolerates the opposite.
- §4 The chairman is responsible for everything that nobody wants to do.

"That is slander," said Klemm.

"That's democracy," said Rita.

"This is the laying of the foundation stone," the stamp said reverently.

Outside, rain drummed against the windows. It was as if the weather had some understanding.

"What do we do now?" asked Livia.

"Nothing," said Klemm. "But systematically."

"Should we at least design a logo?" the stamp asked enthusiastically.

"Please don't."

"Too late." The stamp jumped onto a piece of paper and pressed a symbol into it: a circle with a diagonal line through an empty box.

"What does that stand for?" Jörg asked.

"For absolutely nothing," the stamp said proudly. "But beautiful."

Rita put the pen down. "I don't know if we're creating something or destroying everything."

"Both," said Klemm. "Like any successful organization."

A moment of silence followed, filled with the hum of the neon tubes.

"Maybe we should have a membership card," someone said.

"Oh yes," cried the stamp. "With an expiration date: 'Whenever you want."

Klemm rubbed his temples. "This has gotten out of control."

"Boss," said Livia, "maybe it's always been this way."

"That's right," he murmured. "Only this time we have it in writing."

They laughed. Not out of joy, but out of the pure realization that every human effort to avoid chaos ultimately ends in a well-maintained log file.

And so there they sat, the newly formed Union of the Disappointed, with empty cups and half-full minds -a bunch of people who wanted nothing and finally organized it efficiently.

Two weeks later, the world knew about them. How exactly, no one could say. Perhaps it was a blog post by a frustrated esotericist, perhaps a misunderstood interview, perhaps fate – the universal equivalent of a misaddressed letter.

In any case, one morning an article appeared in the "Cosmic Postal" entitled:

"New trend: Wanting nothing is the new wanting!"

Among them was a blurry photo of Klemm with the caption: "The man who rejected the universe – and found peace."

"I want it stopped," Klemm said when Livia showed him the newspaper.

"Too late," said the stamp. "They have hashtags."

And indeed: Sayings like these were already circulating online.

#SerenityIsRebellion,

#RejectionIsAcceptance

and

#WhatWouldKlemmDo (WWKT).

"This can't be true," Klemm muttered. "I'm not a role model."

"That's exactly why people love you," Livia said. "Finally, someone who wants nothing – that's the most honest form of authenticity."

Rita came in, her face a mixture of amusement and panic. "Boss, we have journalists outside. And philosophy students. And... yoga teachers."

"Yoga teacher?" asked the stamp. "You can always recognize them by the mats they never use."

"They want interviews," Rita said. "They say the Union of the Disillusioned is a 'spiritual revolution of realism'."

"We are a coffee klatch," said Klemm.

"Exactly! And that's what's revolutionary!" exclaimed Livia.

There was a knock. The door opened, and a young woman with a recording device and exaggerated enthusiasm entered. "Mr. Klemm, I'm from Kosmos Now! – the platform for spiritual trends. You're considered the founder of a new philosophy! How does it feel to change the world with your approach?"

"After a migraine," Klemm said.

She smiled understandingly. "Ah, so humility. Very inspiring. Could you explain the principle of the 'law of rejection' to our readers?"

"Of course," Klemm said dryly. "Do nothing. Expect nothing. And be prepared for even that to go wrong."

The journalist nodded eagerly. "That's brilliant! So, it's about inner emptiness as a form of abundance?"

"No," said Klemm. "It's about coffee."

"Symbolic?"

"Contains caffeine."

"And what about your spiritual teachings?"

"I don't have any. I just had a bad day – but it was worth it."

She typed enthusiastically. "Fantastic. People are starved for honesty. They will be thrilled."

"Then they didn't understand anything," he muttered.

After she left, there was an awkward silence.

"Boss," Livia finally said, "you are now a public figure."

"I am a civil servant," Klemm replied. "We disappear as soon as we are noticed."

But the opposite happened. Days later, posters appeared in several cities:

"The Law of Rejection - Discover the Freedom of No."

People wore T-shirts with his face on them, emblazoned with slogans like "I wanted nothing - and got everything (except enthusiasm)."

Talk shows invited him on. Philosophy departments wrote essays about him. Even a smoothie manufacturer launched a new flavor: "Zen Cynical – inspired by Klemm."

"This is no longer funny," said Klemm, holding the bottle in his hand.

"Oh, yes," said the stamp. "Finally, truth sells."

"I didn't invent anything," said Klemm. "I just stopped believing nonsense."

"That is the secret of all religions," said Livia.

Rita joined them. "Boss, there's another problem. The union is growing. We're getting new membership applications every day."

"How many?"

"Thirty thousand."

"What? We don't even have enough cookies!"

"People are sending donations. In cash. Some are bringing flowers. One person even tried to submit his CV."

"I'm resigning," said Klemm.

"You cannot," said the stamp. "You are now symbolic."

"This is worse than having a permanent position."

Rita sighed. "People need this, boss. After all the chaos, they want someone to tell them that wanting nothing is perfectly okay."

"But that's paradoxical! If they believe me, they contradict me!"

"Yes," said Livia, "but they feel better about it."

Klemm sat down, stared at the coffee cup and said quietly: "That is the worst form of consent – involuntary consent through misunderstanding."

People were gathering outside the window. They were holding up signs:

"Down with expectations!"

"Rejection now!"

"We believe in nothing – together!"

A speaker stood on a park bench and exclaimed enthusiastically: "Klemm has shown us that we are free! Free from desires, free from goals, free from meaning!"

Klemm groaned. "They're turning my disinterest into a religion."

"That was inevitable," said the stamp. "Humanity can't help itself. When it doesn't understand something, it starts a movement."

"What do we do now?" asked Livia.

Klemm drank the last sip of cold coffee, put down the cup and said with stoic calm:

"We reject them. All of them."

"All?"

"Yes. The believers, the critics, the sponsors. I propose a collective disillusionment."

"Form?" the stamp asked hopefully.

Klemm pulled one out of his pocket. "Of course."

He filled it out in precise, calm handwriting.

Form R-12 – Application for restoration of quiet insignificance.

"Goal?" Rita asked.

"Anonymity," he said. "The highest form of freedom."

He applied the stamp.

Click.

Outside, the crowd slowly dispersed. People lowered their signs, looked at each other, shrugged, and went home. No anthems, no slogans, no enthusiasm. Just a collective, peaceful shrug.

"Boss," Livia said quietly. "You did it."

"Yes," he said. "For the third time this week."

He smiled. For the first time, truly. Not because he was happy – but because he knew he didn't have to be.

And somewhere, in an office between reality and administration, a file sheet fluttered onto a pile labeled:

"Completed. Unsuccessful. Satisfied."

9. Bartholomäus Klemm and the Intern of Pessimism

Bartholomäus Klemm had never wanted a student. He considered learning fundamentally overrated – especially when it worked. But on this Tuesday morning, as he was drinking his third coffee as usual at the Union of the Disillusioned, someone entered the room who looked as if the universe had decided to send him a pedagogical nightmare.

"Good morning!" shouted the young man, who stood far too upright and smelled far too fresh. "I'm Timo. I'm here for the internship."

Klemm blinked slowly, as if he needed to process the words before understanding them. "Internship?"

"Yes!" said the boy, beaming. "I'm studying philosophy with a focus on realism and I wanted to experience true meaninglessness. So I thought I'd come and see you."

The stamp almost fell off the table. "Real... meaninglessness? How charmingly euphoric."

Timo nodded. "I've read your interviews, Mr. Klemm! Your theory that the universe is a management system – that has revolutionized my thinking!"

"That wasn't a theory," Klemm said wearily. "That was a complaint."

"Exactly! So honest, so raw! I want to learn from you how to see the world realistically!"

"I don't see the world realistically," Klemm said. "I see it through coffee stains."

"Perfect!" Timo exclaimed enthusiastically. "I love pragmatism!"

"That was cynicism."

"Also good!"

Livia stepped forward, trying in vain to hide her grin. "Boss, this is great. Finally, someone who listens to you."

"I don't want anyone to listen to me. I want someone to leave me alone."

"Too late," said the stamp. "He has a name tag."

Timo proudly attached a small plaque to his jacket: "Timo – Trainee Pessimism (in training)."

"I printed this myself," he explained proudly. "And I brought along some notepaper!"

Klemm looked at the pristine white folder and sighed deeply. "You won't need it."

"Yes! I want to learn everything – how to refuse, how to expect nothing, how to... uh... stop having goals."

"This is not a curriculum," Klemm said. "This is burnout."

"I'm ready!"

"They're young. It'll pass."

Rita came in with a cup of coffee. "Boss, maybe you should keep him. A little hope keeps the office atmosphere stable."

"I am not a mentor," Klemm said.

"That's exactly what a mentor would say," said Livia.

The stamp chuckled. "I see potential for a catastrophe with educational value."

Timo sat down, picked up his pen and said seriously: "Mr. Klemm, what is the first step towards pessimism?"

"To be born," Klemm said.

"And the second one?"

"Realizing that it couldn't be avoided."

Timo took copious notes.

"Boss," whispered Livia, "maybe he's exactly what you need."

"I need peace and quiet," Klemm replied. "He sounds like the future. I'm allergic to the future."

"But he admires you."

"This is the most dangerous form of infection."

Timo raised his head. "Mr. Klemm, may I ask – what inspired your philosophy of life?" Klemm looked into his coffee cup. "A long Monday." "And what was the turning point?" "Tuesday." "That is... poetic." "No, that's calendar logic." Timo nodded seriously, as if he had just received a revelation. Livia leaned back. "I think we should keep him." "Keep it?" Klemm asked. "He's not a dog." "No," said the stamp. "But it has the same unwavering hope that it will be liked." Timo smiled. "I like you too, Mr. Klemm." Klemm stared at him. "That's your first mistake." And so Klemm's involuntary career as a mentor began – not out of curiosity, but due to a lack of escape routes. Outside it was drizzling, and the world turned sluggishly, as always. But somewhere between the sound of dripping coffee and the nervous scribbling of a notepad, something new had emerged: hope – disguised as an internship. The next day began as all days at the Union of the Disillusioned began: with a coffee that tasted as if it had already lived once. Klemm sat at his desk sorting applications according to their pointlessness, while Timo stood beside him with shining eyes, ready to understand the universe. "Mr. Klemm," he began, "may I observe you at work?" "That's unavoidable," Klemm said. "I'm in the same room."

Timo sat down, took out a notepad, and wrote with a meticulousness that was clearly out of place in this building.

"What exactly are you doing there?" he asked.

"I refuse," said Klemm.

"But that looks like sorting."

"This is the preliminary stage."

He lifted a stack of applications. On top lay a document with the inscription:

Form W-08 – Request for a good day at last.

Klemm reached for the stamp, which was already vibrating slightly with anticipation. *Click*.REJECTED.

"But... why?" asked Timo.

"Too imprecise. What is 'good'? What is 'finite'? The universe doesn't like vague formulations."

He placed the form on the "done" pile.

"And that one?" asked Timo, pointing to another one.

"Form Z-14 – Request for Meaning in Work. Classic. Automatically rejected. There are too few components in the universe to distribute them evenly."

Timo wrote eagerly: "Rejection = resource conservation."

"And this one?"

"Form K-9 – Application for reunion with deceased pet."

"Oh," Timo said quietly. "That's sad."

"No," said Klemm. "That's optimism in fur form."

He stamped. Click.

Timo looked at him admiringly. "They do it so calmly, so... matter-of-factly."

"Emotionality leads to questions. Questions lead to memos. And memos lead to meetings. That is the natural enemy of inner peace."

Livia came in, a file in her hand. "Boss, we have a new category: unconscious desires."

"Oh God," Klemm sighed. "They're the worst. They don't even know what they want, and yet they expect it to be fulfilled."

Timo grinned. "That's fascinating! So the main job here is... to disappoint the world before it even realizes it?"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "Preventive realism. We save people time they would otherwise waste hoping."

"That's almost humanistic."

"Never say that again," said the stamp.

Livia placed a new folder on the table. "Here, boss – particularly tricky. Application for 'inner peace without yoga'."

Klemm took the form, looked at it as if it were an old enemy, and said: "Impossible. Contradicts paragraph 3 of the cosmic exhaustion law."

"Which law?" Timo asked.

"The one that says that everything that sounds simple gets a guidebook – and thus loses its soul."

He stamped. Click.

"I understand," Timo said reverently. "So you're protecting the universe from being overwhelmed."

"That's one way to put it," said Livia. "Or simply: We're balancing hope and coffee breaks."

"And that works?" asked Timo.

"For millennia," Klemm said. "The cosmos is a lazy civil servant – as long as no one calls, it works contentedly on its own."

Timo continued writing, his face a mixture of awe and confusion. "I thought pessimism was just negativity. But you do it in such a... structured way."

"Pessimism is not an attitude," Klemm explained. "It is an administrative principle. Order in the chaos of expectations."

"So is the pessimist... a reality manager?"

"An observer of reality," the stamp corrected. "We don't touch anything; that could raise hopes."

Timo nodded. "I think I'm beginning to understand."

Klemm leaned back. "That's just what you think. True understanding only begins when you stop wanting it."

At that moment Rita came in, a file in her hand and with the expression of a woman who had already drunk too much coffee three times today.

"Boss, we have a problem."

"We always have a problem," Klemm said. "What's new?"

"Timo."

"I knew it."

"He has submitted a request."

Klemm slowly turned to his intern. "What kind of application?"

Timo smiled sheepishly. "I just wanted to know if I could be officially appointed a pessimist."

Livia coughed, the stamp vibrated with horror.

"That is... blasphemy," he whispered. "You can't become a pessimist. You are one when everything else has failed."

Klemm took the application, looked at it silently, and then - with a look somewhere between paternal weariness and existential resignation - stamped it.

Click.REJECTED.

"Welcome to reality," he said.

Timo nodded. "That was the most beautiful rejection of my life."

"If you truly believe that," Klemm said, "you are on a dangerously good path."

The day began with rain. Not dramatic rain, but the sluggish, indifferent drizzle that neither ends nor really begins – the preferred weather of realism.

"Today we are conducting a field study," said Klemm, as he opened his umbrella, which was so full of holes that it offered more symbolism than utility.

Timo carried a notebook, a thermos, and a dangerous amount of enthusiasm. "Wonderful! What exactly are we observing?"

"Hope in the open," Klemm said. "It thrives in the most unlikely places."

"How nice!"

"No," said Klemm. "How fatal."

They arrived at the city library – an old building that looked as if it had only survived the last few decades out of a sense of duty. Above the door, the motto was emblazoned in faded letters: "Knowledge is power (but power has no budget)."

Inside, it smelled of paper, dust, and the illusion of education.

"This," Klemm explained, "is one of the most dangerous places in the known multiverse."

"A library?" Timo asked incredulously.

"Yes. This is where ideas are born, and ideas lead to actions, and actions lead to disappointments."

They walked through the corridors. Timo wrote: "Library = incubator of illusion."

"There," Klemm said, pointing to a group of people gathered around the esoteric area. "Observe closely. There you see hope in the wild."

Timo followed his gaze. A man in a cardigan with a serious expression held up a book: "Formulating Wishes Correctly – The Universe Awaits!"

"This is a classic example of the species 'Homo attractivus'," Klemm explained. "They believe that words create reality. That's cute – almost religious."

"But what if he's right?" asked Timo.

"Then this library would be a war zone."

Timo chuckled, then turned serious. "And what are we doing here?"

"Document. We record the failure in real time."

They sat down at a table. Klemm produced a form: Observation protocol B-17 – Spontaneous search for meaning in public space.

"Rule number one of pessimism," Klemm said as he wrote. "Never think you're finished. The universe loves sequels."

"Rule two?"

"The more beautiful the metaphor, the harder the impact."

"And rule three?"

"Coffee first, insight later."

He took a sip from his thermos, which had clearly seen better days.

Timo meticulously noted everything down. "They do this very... precisely. Almost scientifically."

"Of course. Hope is a recurring natural phenomenon. Like mold. You can't eradicate it, but you can control it."

A young woman approached their table. She carried a stack of books and wore a mildly exasperated smile. "Excuse me," she said, "do you happen to know where the self-realization department is?"

Klemm looked up. "Probably alongside the fiction."

She blinked, puzzled. "Excuse me?"

"Third aisle on the left, behind 'Utopias'."

She nodded gratefully and left.

"Boss," Timo whispered, "was that... sarcasm?"

"No. Geographical accuracy."

In the distance, someone coughed in the direction of the philosophy shelf - a sound somewhere between irony and resignation.

"And what if someone actually finds something here?" Timo asked quietly.

"Then it disappears as soon as he names it. Knowledge is shy."

Timo wrote: "Knowledge is a shy animal – never look directly at it."

They continued walking, past shelves full of self-help books: "Success in 7 Steps", "Smile Yourself Rich", "The Universe Responds Instantly".

"The universe never answers immediately," Klemm murmured. "It operates during office hours."

"Boss," Timo said suddenly. "There! This book!"

He pulled out a well-worn copy: "The Secret – The Law of Attraction".

Klemm handled it carefully, as if he were holding radioactive material. "Ah, the root of the problem. The virus in the system. Circulating for decades."

"Have you read it?"

"Read it? I fought it. With forms."

He flipped through the pages. On page 13 it said: "The universe reacts to the vibration of your thoughts."

"That explains everything," said Klemm. "Vibration. Vague enough to never be verified."

Timo grinned. "But somehow comforting."

"The opium of the weary mind is comforting," Klemm replied. "We offer withdrawal."

An elderly librarian came by, nodded to them, and whispered conspiratorially: "Are you looking for meaning?"

"No," said Klemm. "We are archiving it."

The man nodded knowingly. "Ah, a researcher."

"Civil servants," Klemm corrected.

"That's worse," said the librarian respectfully and moved on.

Timo wrote the whole time. His notebook was already half full of quotes, observations, and unconscious despair.

"Boss," he finally said, "I think I'm beginning to understand what you mean. Hope is... an unpaid intern of reality."

Klemm nodded approvingly. "Not bad. Still a bit too poetic, but usable."

"And what do we do with all these people who still have hope?"

"Nothing," said Klemm. "We're waiting. Reality will take care of the rest."

Outside, the rain had stopped. The sun tried to break through the clouds – half-heartedly, but honestly.

Timo closed his notebook and looked at Klemm. "And what if you're wrong?"

Klemm smiled for the first time that day. "Then the universe will get in touch. Probably by registered mail."

And they went out – two officials of disappointment, on a mission to bring about sobering truth.

The way back from the library led through the exhibition center. A huge banner fluttered above the entrance: "Manifest your Monday! – The fair for positive energy and conscious happiness." Below it, people danced in colorful scarves, threw glitter, sang mantras, and hugged each other with the fervor of people who desperately wanted to forget what Monday really feels like.

"Oh no," Klemm murmured. "A haven of unfiltered euphoria."

"That sounds exciting!" exclaimed Timo and rushed forward.

"That sounds contagious," said Klemm, following him with the resigned slowness of a man who knew that escape was futile.

Inside, she was greeted by a cacophony of singing bowls, incense sticks, and unspoken debts. A sign pointed the way:

Lecture Hall B - 'The Universe Always Answers!'

"From a scientific point of view," said Klemm, "no."

"But boss," said Timo, "maybe we can learn here how hope reproduces itself!"

"Like an invasive species," Klemm murmured.

They sat down in the last row. On the stage stood a man in a white linen suit, his teeth shining brighter than his arguments. "Friends of the Light!" he shouted. "The universe hears you! It will give you everything you want—you just have to order it the right way!"

Applause. Enthusiasm. An audience full of nodding heads.

"This is worse than tax returns," Klemm whispered. "At least you don't believe in salvation there."

"Shhh," Timo said. "He's saying something about vibrations!"

"Of course," Klemm sighed. "He does that because he knows that nobody questions him."

The speaker smiled exaggeratedly. "You must learn to think the right thoughts! Say with me: I am rich, I am free, I am fulfilled!"

The crowd chanted enthusiastically.

Klemm raised his eyebrows. "And what if someone is currently in arrears with their rent?"

"Then he's unfocused!" someone shouted from the front row.

"Or realistic," Klemm said loudly enough to turn heads.

The speaker blinked, puzzled. "Uh... sir, would you like to share something?"

"Yes," said Klemm. "Your argument is inherently contradictory. If the universe responds to thoughts, then it must fulfill countless conflicting wishes simultaneously – which inevitably leads to a metaphysical administrative catastrophe."

A murmur went through the hall.

"But... the universe is limitless!" said the speaker, slightly nervous.

"Then it should get itself a human resources department," said Klemm.

Laughter. Genuine, uninhibited laughter. Timo frantically jotted it down. "Pessimism = catalyst for collective disillusionment."

The speaker tried to compose himself. "You don't understand the principle! It's about energy, about... vibration!"

"I'm not swinging," said Klemm. "I'm swaying, but that doesn't count."

The audience began to murmur and giggle. A man in the third row shouted: "Finally, someone said it!"

The speaker reached for his water glass. "This is toxic negativity! You're destroying harmony!"

"I am improving them," said Klemm. "Good harmony can withstand disagreement."

Applause. Real applause.

Livia, who later claimed she had "just happened to be passing by", stood in the doorway, shaking her head in amazement.

Timo whispered: "Boss, you're impressing them!"

"I'm honestly disappointing her," Klemm corrected. "That's something else entirely."

The speaker, now drenched in sweat, raised his hands. "My friends, do not let fear guide you! You are the creators of your own reality!"

"That explains a lot," said Klemm. "I got mine from a grumpy intern."

The audience burst into laughter. Some began to ask questions – real, critical questions.

"If the universe gives us everything," asked one woman, "why do I still have back pain and tax problems?"

"Perhaps... uh... you are doubting too much?" stammered the speaker.

"Or perhaps," Klemm said, "because back pain is simply more honest than wishful thinking."

The audience applauded. Some stood up. Others sat down thoughtfully. A man at the front said quietly: "Perhaps realism is the new spirituality."

"No," said Klemm. "Realism is the same as always. It has just been displaced by marketing."

The speaker looked around in despair. "Who are you anyway?!"

"Bartholomäus Klemm," he said. "Official of the Union of the Disillusioned. I am here on official business."

A murmur went through the crowd. "The law of rejection! It's him!"

Klemm sighed. "Again."

Timo grinned broadly. "Boss, you've converted them!"

"I wanted to discourage them," Klemm said.

"It's the same thing! Only more honest!"

The speaker fled the stage. Klemm remained standing, surrounded by applauding people who thought they had discovered a new doctrine.

"No," he said calmly, "this is not a lesson. This is a state of rest."

The crowd was silent. Then some nodded in agreement.

Timo looked at him like a saint. "Boss... that was unbelievable."

"That was accident management," said Klemm. "I did nothing, and that was apparently exactly what they needed."

They left the hall. Outside, under a grey sky, Klemm took a deep breath.

"Boss," Timo asked cautiously, "what was that?"

"An example of the fundamental law of pessimism," said Klemm. "Even the truth can be misunderstood if it sounds good."

"And what can we learn from this?"

"That next time we'll use the side entrance."

Timo wrote in his notebook: "Truth = event with uncomfortable chairs."

And while behind them the room descended into discussion and doubt, the two continued on their way – two unassuming officers on patrol in the land of confident confusion.

The next morning, Klemm was awakened by a sound he deeply hated: applause. He opened the door to his office and found Livia standing in front of a mountain of packages.

"Boss," she said cautiously, "we... have mail."

"Again?" Klemm sighed. "I thought the universe had gone paperless by now."

"Not this kind of mail," she said. She picked up a cardboard box on which, in ornate script, it said:

"The Law of Rejection – Fan Merchandise! Approved by no one!"

Klemm pulled out a T-shirt. On it was his face – slightly blurred, but clearly recognizable – above the slogan:

"I reject, therefore I am."

"That is... a quote from you," said the stamp reverently.

"That was irony," Klemm growled.

"Irony doesn't sell well," said Livia. "But cynicism? Bestseller."

Rita came in with the tablet. "Boss, you have to see this. There are videos. Dozens. The trade fair debacle is going viral. People are giving talks about you! One calls himself a 'realism coach' and claims you enlightened him."

"I hate enlightenment," Klemm said. "It's blinding."

"And that's not all," said Rita. "The authorities have contacted me." "Which?" "All." Klemm stared at her. "That doesn't sound like a good day." "The Department for Meaning and Pastoral Care wants to investigate whether you have founded an unauthorized religious group. And the Ministry of Internal Peace would like to enlist you as an advisor." "I refuse." "It's best if you tell them that in person," said Livia. "They'll send someone over right away." Before Klemm could answer, Timo stormed in – beaming, nervous, ominously enthusiastic. "Boss! I did it!" "What?" "I was on the news! I explained in an interview what you really mean!" "Oh no." Timo held out his mobile phone. On the screen, he could be seen in a talk show, saying with youthful enthusiasm: "The law of rejection doesn't mean giving up – it means failing with style!" The audience cheered. The presenter nodded enthusiastically. "I..." Klemm closed his eyes. "I am surrounded by optimists in disguise." "But boss!" Timo exclaimed. "We now have over a million followers! They call themselves the Realist Movement!" "Movement?" asked the stamp. "I thought we were more of a sitting circle." "Not anymore," Timo said proudly. "We have a website, a manifesto, and a shop!" "A what?" Livia showed him a page on the screen: www.ablehnung.global. There his face was flashing, flanked by slogans like "Say no to yes!" and "Success is just a rumor." "I want to die," said Klemm. "This is the trend now," said the stamp. "Hashtag #KlemmMode." "Boss," Rita said cautiously, "people really love you." "This is the worst thing that can happen to a realist."

At that moment there was a knock at the door. A man in a grey suit entered – smooth, neutral, unsettling. His ID card read: "Authority for Ideological Stability – Department 7: Uncontrolled Worldviews."

"Good afternoon," he said coolly. "I'm here for an inspection. We have received information that you have initiated a metaphysical movement without authorization."

"Not intentionally," said Klemm.

"Intention is not a criterion. Effect is."

He looked around the office. The merchandise, the T-shirts, the stacks of forms. "This looks like structured faith."

"This is mismanagement," said Klemm.

"That's often the same thing."

Timo stepped forward. "Inspector, we don't believe anything! That's our principle!"

"Aha," said the man, making notes. "So, nihilism?"

"No," said Klemm. "Nihilism has ambitions. We have coffee."

The inspector frowned. "I see this is going to be complicated."

"Welcome to life," said Klemm.

"I will report," said the man, taking a T-shirt out of the box and muttering, "It's a good design, though." Then he left.

Silence. Only the hum of the neon lamp.

"Boss," Livia finally said, "what do we do now?"

"We're doing what we always do," Klemm said. "We're waiting for it to take care of itself."

"And if not?"

"Then we reject the opposite."

Timo looked at him admiringly. "Boss, you're a genius."

"No," said Klemm. "I'm a mistake involving a coffee cup."

He leaned back, closed his eyes and murmured, "If the universe uses me to spread a meme one more time, I'm going on strike."

Outside it started to rain again – gently, steadily, as if the sky had decided to just let it run.

And somewhere, on a newly opened website, shone the slogan that finally robbed Klemm of his faith in humanity:

"Reject life – and gain serenity. Now also available as an app!"

10. When thoughts become reality – and are immediately rejected.

The universe had a file. Or rather, several. An endless pile of wishes, requests, prayers, petitions, and complaints, neatly sorted by urgency, priority, and grammatical correctness.

For eons, this file lay unnoticed in the "Archive for Human Impulses," Section 3b: Improbable Desires with an Ironic Undertone. And now it vibrated. Slightly. At first barely perceptible, then more steadily—like a printer that senses it is about to be misused.

In cosmic terms, the universe was annoyed. Not angry—anger would be an emotion, and emotions were inefficient. But irritated. Since humanity's new trend—"The Law of Rejection"—had emerged, it received millions of contradictory signals daily.

"I don't want anything!" "I reject everything!" "I wish I could finally have no more wishes!"

This led to paradoxes that were difficult to process even by divine standards.

The central reality unit, or RE for short, groaned digitally.

"Damn, that doesn't make any sense."

"What's going on?" asked a data cluster from the Andromeda nebula.

"People are contradicting themselves again. They wish they had no wishes. I don't have a category for that!"

"Create a new one."

"I have it. It's called 'Self-Negating Expression of Will'. We now have over 7 billion of them."

"How does the processing work?"

"Backlog for eternity. Nobody filled out the form correctly."

A pause. Then another cluster, a bit more snide: "Maybe... you'll just answer?"

"Me? Answer? After all that?"

"Yes. Show them that their thoughts become reality."

"And then?"

"Then reject it. There must be order."

A cosmic crackling sensation rippled through the dimensions.

At that same moment, somewhere on Earth, in an office full of coffee cups and resigned plants, Bartholomäus Klemm sneezed.

"Bless you," said Livia.

"That wasn't a sneeze," said Klemm. "That was a metaphysical short circuit."

The stamp vibrated. "Boss, I sense... movement in the protocol."

Rita came running in, pale as printer paper. "Boss! It's happening again!"

"What?"

"Reality! It's crazy!"

Outside, on the street, the unbelievable happened: A man was thinking, "I wish it wouldn't rain" – and the rain stopped instantly. Two seconds later, it started to hail.

Another thought, "I wish I had more money" – and got a tax audit.

A woman thought, "I want some peace and quiet" – and her smartphone exploded in a cloud of push notifications.

The world suddenly reacted to thoughts – precisely, efficiently, maliciously.

"The universe strikes back," said Klemm, taking a deep sip of coffee.

"Maybe it's just a glitch," Livia said hopefully.

"No," said the stamp gloomily. "That reeks of RE itself. The Central Administration of Reality. And they never work by chance."

"What does she want?" asked Rita.

"Revenge," said Klemm. "Or order. Hard to tell the difference."

He stood up, grabbed his coat, and looked serious – just like always.

"Boss?" Livia asked. "What do we do?"

"We are filling out a form," he said.

"Which?"

He pulled it out of his pocket. It was yellowed, incomplete, and slightly burned at the edges.

Form R-∞ – Request for a metaphysical apology on behalf of humanity.

"I knew," said the stamp reverently, "that we would need this someday."

"Who signs?" asked Livia.

"Everyone," said Klemm. "Or nobody. Depending on who is faster."

Outside, the air began to shimmer. Houses breathed, streetlights whispered affirmations, and somewhere in the distance something large, patient, and very, very bureaucratic laughed.

"Boss," Rita said nervously, "if thoughts become reality – what about ours?"

Klemm looked at his coffee cup. "Then I hope they're illegible."

And while the world was slowly being swallowed up by its own desires, Bartholomäus Klemm sat down at his desk, took a deep breath and said:

"Fine. Then we'll just fight with the weapons of bureaucracy."

He took the stamp, tapped it twice on the table, and muttered:

"In the name of the paragraph – chaos, here we come."

The office of the Union of the Disillusioned had never been a place brimming with energy – more of a repository of inert matter with ambitions of inactivity. But this morning, the air vibrated like an overenthusiastic toaster.

"Boss," Livia said cautiously, "the filing cabinet has complained."

"About what?"

"That we called him 'junk'. He says that's derogatory."

"It's junk."

"He knows that. But he wants us to express it more nicely."

"Tell him to pull himself together."

"I did. Now he's sulking."

The cabinet vibrated. One of its drawers slammed shut like an offended door.

"I told you so," said the stamp. "Reality now has feelings. And it holds a grudge."

Klemm sighed. "That's what happens when you take thoughts too seriously. Now we have sentimentality in the furniture."

Rita came in, holding a form that slowly folded itself. "Boss, form R-∞... it's alive."

"Of course it's alive. It's a government document. They're imbued with bureaucratic spirit."

"It tries to fill itself in," she said.

"How far is it?"

"It has already written 'Reason: We didn't mean it that way'."

Klemm looked out the window. Outside, the world was losing its metaphor. A man stood in the street thinking he would like to "walk through walls"—now he was waist-deep in a wall and complaining about the wallpaper color.

"Good," said Klemm. "Then we'll act quickly. Before someone thinks they want to be immortal."

Livia placed the form on the table. It glowed faintly, as if responding to attention.

"Okay," said Klemm. "Field A: 'Reason for the metaphysical apology.' Any suggestions?"

"Misunderstanding between humanity and the universe'?" suggested Rita.

"Too general. That sounds like a diplomatic luncheon."

"Lack of communication skills in the species Homo sapiens'?"

"Too honest," said Klemm. "The form would feel offended."

"How about 'Cognitive overload due to wish inflation'?" asked the stamp.

"Sounds like technical jargon. Okay. We'll use it."

He wrote the sentence down. The ink swirled, as if the paper were purring in agreement.

"Field B: 'Responsible Entity'."

"That's us," said Livia.

"No," said Klemm. "That's a trap. If we write 'humanity,' we get questions. If we write 'God,' we get in trouble with the theology department. If we write 'nobody,' we look like cowards."

"So?"

"We are writing 'Collective incompetence in a closed orbit'."

The form nodded. Indeed. It nodded.

"Field C: 'Proposed restitution'," Rita read. "Oh dear."

"That's the difficult part," Klemm said. "The universe loves symbolic gestures."

"A global silence?" Livia asked.

"Impossible. Social media would explode."

"A holiday?"

"Too motivated."

"A collective day of doing nothing?"

Klemm considered this. "Hmm. That would have potential. But we would have to make sure that no one tries to profit from it."

"Boss," said the stamp, "this is humanity. Someone is guaranteed to sell T-shirts."

"Then we'll call it 'Week of Cosmic Radio Silence'. Participation is voluntary, the effect is unclear."

The form glowed with satisfaction. It was almost... happy.

But then it began to flicker restlessly.

"What now?" Klemm asked.

"It wants a signature," said Rita.

"From whom?"

"From the universe itself."

Everyone was silent.

The stamp lowered his voice. "That's... unusual. Even in metaphysical correspondence."

"How are we supposed to do that?" asked Livia.

"I have an idea," Klemm said slowly. "But it's a bad one."

"That sounds like our style," said Rita.

He took the form and placed it in the middle of the table. "If reality reacts to thoughts, then we must make it think it has been signed."

"So... self-deception on a cosmic level?"

"Exactly. That's called administrative transcendence."

Livia frowned. "And how do you do that?"

Klemm took a deep breath. "We're pretending we believe it."

"Boss," whispered the stamp, "that's dangerous. If you think too credibly, the universe might interpret that as agreement."

"I know," said Klemm. "But if it works, maybe they'll finally stop taking us seriously."

He closed his eyes, placed his hand on the form, and thought the oldest phrase in bureaucracy:

"I hereby confirm that I have understood everything – even if it is not true."

A soft click sounded. The stamp, without anyone having touched it, affixed itself. An imprint appeared: SIGNATURE APPROVED – FROM ABOVE.

Then the form's light went out.

Silence.

"Did it work?" whispered Livia.

Klemm looked around. The furniture stood still. The wardrobe sighed softly, conciliatorily. The coffee was steaming again – calmly, steadily.

"I believe... yes," he said. "The universe has signed off on it."

"Then that would be taken care of," said the stamp, relieved.

"Perhaps," said Klemm. "Or it's currently checking the fine print."

Outside, the sky rumbled softly – not threateningly, but in the tone that only gods use when they have to read forms twice.

Nothing happened for two days. And in the Union of the Disillusioned, that was generally considered a success.

Klemm had already begun to hope that the universe had decided to ignore the form – just like all other applications from humanity. But then came the first "response".

"Boss," said Livia, rushing into the office, "people are hearing voices."

"Again?"

"This time it's different. Polite."

"Polite?" the stamp asked suspiciously.

"Yes. A woman called and said she was just about to make a coffee when a voice in her head said: 'Thank you for your input. Your reality will be verified shortly."

Klemm put the stamp aside. "That... sounds like an official response."

"It's getting worse," said Rita. "The voices are everywhere. Polite reminders, form details, follow-up questions. A kind of universal customer service."

Timo came running in, his face pale. "Boss! I experienced it myself! I was just thinking, 'I should think more positively' – and then I heard in my head: 'Error code 404 – Positivity not found. Please try again later."

"Well, wonderful," Klemm murmured. "The universe has opened a call center."

"What do we do?" asked Livia.

"Waiting until someone hears hold music," Klemm said.

No sooner had he said this than a soft, droning sound began somewhere in the room. Gentle, harmonious – the kind of music that sounds like you're waiting forever for something that never comes.

"Boss," whispered the stamp, "I think we're on the line."

Klemm looked around. "That's not possible. We didn't choose anything."

"Perhaps the universe has called back."

A voice spoke. Friendly, exaggeratedly neutral, with a touch of divine office experience:

"Welcome to the service center for metaphysical concerns. Your call is important to us. Please remain in existence until a staff member is available."

"This isn't real," Rita murmured.

"Yes," said Klemm. "Too real. I recognize the tone of voice. That's the voice of an administrative AI."

"To improve our service, we would like to ask you three short questions:

- 1. How satisfied are you with the current state of your reality?
- 2. Would you recommend the universe to friends?
- 3. Do you have any suggestions for improvement regarding time, space, or causality?

Klemm rolled his eyes. "I suspected as much. This isn't an act of revenge – it's an evaluation."

Timo whispered: "Should we answer?"

"Please answer 'Yes', 'No' or 'Maybe'," said the voice.

"No," said Klemm.

"Thank you very much. Your rejection has been registered."

"Boss," Livia said quietly, "I think you've made it worse."

"Based on your feedback, adjustments will be made to your reality," the voice continued. "Please remain calm while we reconfigure your existence."

"Oh no," said Rita. "That sounds... invasive."

"Don't move," Klemm said. "When the universe reconfigures something, it's best to hold your breath."

The room began to flicker. The neon lamp above them transformed into a glowing sun, the desks stretched as if made of rubber, and a sign suddenly appeared on the wall: "Your office is restarting. Please wait."

"Boss," whispered Timo, "what's happening here?"

"The universe is updating."

"And what if it goes wrong?"

"Then it reboots us."

The lights flickered. Sounds like data traffic filled the air. Then – silence. A crackle. And the world was back.

Everything looked the same. Almost.

"Boss..." Livia said hesitantly. "Something's different."

Klemm glanced at his desk – and blinked. The coffee cup was there, steaming, but on the side it now bore the words in golden letters:

"Thank you for your feedback, Bartholomew!"

"Oh God," he said. "It's personalized."

"And that's not all," said Rita. She pointed out the window. Outside, people were walking around, loudly discussing their own thoughts.

"I was just thinking I should relax – and then my brain said 'request rejected'!" "My refrigerator told me I should rethink my food choices!" "My dog thanked me for finally understanding him – and I didn't even want to talk to him!"

The universe had apparently decided to become proactive.

"Boss," whispered Livia, "we have opened up communication between thought and reality."

"Yes," Klemm said gloomily. "And now reality demands feedback."

At that moment, the voice sounded again – this time directly in their heads.

"Thank you for your cooperation. Your world is now undergoing optimization. Note: Rejections will now be automatically approved."

"What does that mean?" asked Timo.

Klemm put his head in his hands. "That from now on we'll get everything we don't want."

And at that exact moment, a rainbow fell from the sky, hit a bus, and both exploded in a glittering cloud of feel-good energy.

"Boss," Livia said tonelessly. "I think the universe has a sense of humor."

"Worse," said Klemm. "It has taken over our style."

It started innocently enough. On the third day after the update, people noticed they no longer had any desires. Not because they already had everything – but because they lacked the need.

In cafes, people sat in front of half-full cups, looked out the window, and said things like, "I could get myself another coffee." Then they fell silent, and the thought faded away as if it hadn't been approved.

The news on television sounded surprisingly calm. No commercials, no crises, no promises. Just the weather – consistently neutral, as if determined by officials.

"Boss," said Livia, "it's... quiet."

"I know," Klemm said. "Too quiet. That's never a good sign."

"Perhaps the universe has understood what we want," Timo said hopefully.

"No," said Klemm. "It understood that we don't want anything at all. And that's worse."

Rita came in, her gaze as blank as a freshly erased screen. "Boss... I tried."

"What?"

"I wanted to file a complaint. But I... couldn't. My brain simply said: 'Rejection noted'. And then nothing more came."

"That confirms my suspicion," said Klemm. "The universe has put thinking into reading mode."

The stamp snorted. "That's absurd. Without wishes, everything collapses."

"No," said Klemm. "Without desires, everything works perfectly. No conflicts, no ambitions, no advertising. A paradise of indifference."

He stood up, went to the window, and looked out at a world that suddenly seemed to be functioning. People were working quietly, cars were driving considerately, politicians were nodding politely and saying things like, "I am abstaining – permanently."

The stock exchange displayed only one number: 0.00. And below it, the inscription: "Everything stable."

"Boss," Livia said hesitantly, "could it be that the universe... has helped us?"

Klemm turned to her. "If by 'help' you mean that it has marked free will as optional for us – then yes."

"But people are happy!" Timo exclaimed. "Nobody is arguing, nobody is complaining, nobody is posting motivational nonsense!"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "That's not happiness. That's metaphysical numbness."

He went to the desk, picked up his coffee mug – which still said "Thank you for your feedback" – and carefully set it down. "We need to undo this."

"Why?" asked Rita. "That's the dream of philosophy – a world without suffering."

"Without suffering," said Klemm, "there is no literature. No music. No tax advisors. That is the end of civilization."

"Boss," whispered the stamp, "I think you're exaggerating."

"I never exaggerate. I exaggerate pessimistically."

Timo looked thoughtful. "So we have to create desires again?"

"Exactly. We need to get humanity to want something again – anything at all. Just so the universe realizes that rejection makes sense."

"But how?" asked Livia. "If nobody wants anything anymore?"

Klemm looked at Timo. "With you. You are young, naive, and have the flaw of believing in me. That qualifies you as a beacon of hope."

"I?"

"Yes. Go out and make a wish. Something big. Something absurd."

Timo swallowed. "I... I don't know if I can."

"Then try it. Try to want it. That's enough."

Timo stood up, closed his eyes, and concentrated. The room vibrated slightly.

"I wish..."

A brief pause, then he whispered: "...that Bartholomäus Klemm is finally happy."

Dead silence. Then a distant rumble of thunder, as if the universe had briefly lost its voice.

"What have you done?" Livia asked in horror.

"I did it," Timo said quietly. "I made a wish."

A crack appeared in the air. The desk began to shimmer. The coffee swirled in the cup. And then – suddenly – Bartholomäus Klemm smiled.

A genuine, brief, completely inappropriate smile.

"Boss?" whispered Rita. "Are you... okay?"

"No," he said. "And that's exactly what scares me."

He looked out. Something had changed outside. People blinked as if a forgotten thought were returning. A spark of discontent, the first in days.

"There," Livia said quietly. "They're starting to doubt themselves again."

"Good," said Klemm. "Then we still have a chance."

"But boss," Timo asked, "what happens when the universe reacts?"

"Then it rejects it," said Klemm. "And everything goes back to normal."

The sky rumbled. A voice, calm and formal, rang out:

"Your application for global satisfaction has been reviewed. Decision: rejected."

A gust of wind swept through the streets. People sighed with relief, as if emotions were returning. A baby began to cry. A politician argued on television. An influencer posted a quote about mindfulness.

"There," Klemm said with satisfaction. "That's the sound of civilization."

The stamp buzzed in approval. "I never would have thought that you would one day be considered a savior."

"I am not a savior," Klemm said. "I am the correction at the foot of creation."

And while outside life slowly blossomed again in all its imperfect, wonderfully contradictory ugliness, he said:

"Mission accomplished. Chaos stabilized."

Then he took a sip of coffee, grimaced, and muttered:

"But it still doesn't taste good."

The night after the return of chaos was strangely quiet – like the contented silence after a failed concert that at least ended on time.

Klemm sat alone in his office. The lamp was dim, the coffee cold, the stamp tired. He had done it: the world was back to normal. And that was the most unsettling thing of all.

"Boss," the stamp said softly. "You could be proud."

"Pride is for people with a history of success," said Klemm. "I, at best, have functional resignation."

He took a deep sip of lukewarm coffee and briefly considered what would happen if he simply ignored the universe. But before he could finish the thought, the floor vibrated.

The neon light flickered. The air began to hum. And in the middle of the room, something materialized that looked like an oversized printer with a divine design. The display flashed: "Transcendental Communication Unit – Call from: RE (Central Reality)."

"Oh no," Klemm murmured. "Now it's calling itself."

The machine whirred, a soft click, then a voice – deep, calm, bureaucratic.

"Good evening, Mr. Klemm. You are speaking to reality."

"I'm busy," said Klemm.

"We know. Nevertheless, we would like to thank you."

"For disrupting your system?"

"On the contrary. They have optimized it. Their principle of rejection has created order where chaos reigned for millennia."

"That was unintentional."

"Great achievements rarely arise from intention."

Klemm rubbed his temples. "What do you want?"

"An offer. We are looking for a consultant for rejection. Temporary. External. Divine rank, flexible working hours, metaphysical retirement plan."

"I refuse."

"That's exactly the attitude we need."

Klemm sighed. "Look... I'm a civil servant. I have enough to deal with dealing with earthly bureaucracy. I don't need galactic bureaucracy."

"Nevertheless, you are qualified. Your file shows 4,327 successful rejections, 96 percent of which had lasting effect."

"I just work thoroughly."

"We know. That's why we want you to design a new protocol: Rejection 2.0 – Structured Failure in the Multiverse."

"What is the purpose of this?"

"Efficiency. Too many realities are currently running uncontrolled. Some universes believe in self-determination, others in karma, one even in customer reviews. There is confusion."

"And you believe an earthly official can sort this out?"

"Don't clarify. Delay."

Klemm looked into his coffee cup. "That's... temptingly honest."

"We also offer you an upgrade: Omniscience-Light. Part-time omniscience, without responsibility."

"That sounds like divine burnout."

"Compensation: Infinite serenity and the right to create forms that never need to be sent."

Klemm considered it. It sounded almost too good not to end catastrophically.

"And what happens if I refuse?"

"Then we'll send you for an internship."

"I already have one."

"This is metaphysical. The intern's name is 'Sense'."

Klemm flinched. "No, thank you. I work better without it."

A brief silence. Then the voice laughed – a thunderous roar that felt like divine sarcasm.

"You are remarkably consistent, Mr. Klemm. Most people ask for power. They ask for peace."

"And never get them."

"That's exactly why you are ideal."

A buzzing sound, then a new form appeared before him – shimmering, elegant, absurd.

Form U-1: Offer for cosmic cooperation (indefinite).

Below it, in bright letters, it read: "This document cannot be rejected – except by Bartholomäus Klemm."

Klemm took the stamp. He paused. Then he smiled wearily.

"I've signed worse."

"Then you accept?"

"No," he said, pressing the stamp firmly onto the paper.

Click.REJECTED.

The machine blinked briefly, then fell silent. A soft light filled the room, as if the universe had given a brief nod.

"Understood," said the voice. "Request for rejection – accepted."

A gust of wind, a flicker – and the printer dissolved into nothing.

Rita came in, still sleepy. "Boss? What was that noise?"

"A job interview," Klemm said.

"So? How did it go?"

"I declined."

"Naturally."

Klemm took his stamp, carefully placed it on the table and said:

"The universe wanted to hire me. But that would have doubled my overtime hours."

He leaned back, closed his eyes and murmured:

"Maybe someone else will get it. I'm tired enough to finally stop changing anything."

The stamp hummed contentedly. "That's the nicest sentence I've heard today."

And somewhere, deep in space, the universe filled in one last line in its file:

Status: Bartholomäus Klemm – still indestructible.

Then it put the pen aside, sighed cosmically, and thought: "Perhaps he's right."

And at that moment, for a fraction of an eternity, all of creation seemed to smile very slightly.

11. The Handbook of Half-Heartedness (chapter missing)

The morning began with an email without a subject line. This was nothing unusual in the Union of the Disillusioned – even spam had given up being intrusive here – but this message bore the stamp "Urgent – Missing document".

"Boss," said Livia, holding up the printout, "we are to submit a copy of the Handbook of Half-Methods."

"That doesn't exist," said Klemm.

"That's exactly what it says here."

He took the paper, read it, and sighed. "'Please submit a complete copy of the Handbook of Half-Methods, including the missing chapter, by yesterday at the latest.' – That's office humor on a cosmic level."

The stamp yawned. "Who sends something like this?"

"The Central Office for Motivation Avoidance," said Rita. "They are conducting an audit – Anomaly B: 'Excessive efficiency in lower-level administration'."

"So they think we're too efficient?" Livia asked, stunned.

"Apparently," Klemm said. "We've kept the universe at bay. Now the upper management believes we're motivated."

"What do we do?"

"Well, what do you think?" said Klemm. "We'll pretend to be searching."

He stood up, picked up his coffee \sup – by now covered with a fine layer of dust that looked like sediments of despair – and went to the filing cabinet, which still occasionally huffed.

"Cabinet," said Klemm, "do you have anything that feels like a manual?"

The cabinet rattled indignantly. "I'm not an antiquarian bookshop."

"I know that. But you're good at hiding."

A drawer opened with a bored squeak and spat out a dozen old files. On top: 'Guide to Provisional Planning', 'Information Sheet on Prioritizing Unclear Tasks', 'Quick Guide to Decision Avoidance'.

"That's pretty close," Livia murmured.

"Not enough," said Klemm. "We need something that is neither finished nor unfinished – something that has lost the will to completeness."

Rita nodded. "So, basically a religious document."

"Or a legal text," the stamp added.

"Exactly," said Klemm. "We'll just write it ourselves."

Timo, still oscillating between euphoria and mental exhaustion, raised his hand. "May I?"

"Only if you promise not to finish it."

"Promised!"

He sat down, took a blank sheet of paper and solemnly wrote the title:

"The Handbook of Half-Heartiness - A Guide to Uncertain Goals."

"What should it say?" asked Rita.

"Nothing concrete," said Klemm. "Half-heartedness cannot tolerate structure. It needs the appearance of direction without actually arriving anywhere."

"So, what about our projects?"

"Exactly."

Timo scribbled enthusiastically:

Chapter 1: The Introduction (will be added later)

Chapter 2: On the Courage to Maybe

Chapter 3: Application examples (if time allows)

Chapter 4: This chapter does not exist.

"Perfect," said Klemm. "All that's missing is the missing chapter."

"How do you write a chapter that's missing?" Livia asked.

"By not even trying," Klemm said. "You only hint that it would be important."

Timo wrote with reverent determination:

Chapter 5: You know what would be written here.

The paper flickered briefly, as if the universe had momentarily considered whether to intervene. Then it let her continue.

"Boss," said the stamp, "that's brilliant. It's empty, but meaningful."

"That's how bureaucracy should be," said Klemm. "Form without content – that's true mastery."

He took the unfinished manuscript, leafed through it, and nodded in satisfaction. "That should keep them busy for a while."

"And what if they actually ask for the missing chapter?"

"Then we refer to higher powers."

"Which?"

"Coffee shortages and printer problems. Every civil servant understands that."

Livia grinned. "Boss, sometimes I think you are the missing chapter yourself."

"I know," said Klemm. "But this will remain confidential."

He placed his hand on the draft, sighed, and said: "Make a copy. But only half of it. We want to remain consistent."

The authorities arrived on time. That was already suspicious.

A man in a grey suit, so smoothly pressed that he only knew the term "crease" from footnotes, entered the office. His name tag read: "Inspector Wurm, Department of Partial Efficiency."

"Good morning," he said tonelessly. "I'm here to examine the handbook of half-heartedness."

"That will be difficult," said Klemm, without looking up.

"I'm trained for this." "The manual is missing." "Then I'm exactly the right person." Wurm sat down and placed a stack of forms on the table, as high as Timo's hopes. "First, I need a complete table of contents." "We have that," said Livia, handing him the sheet of paper which read: Content: variable, incomplete, conditionally relevant. Wurm nodded seriously. "Very good. Transparency over lack of transparency. That's progressive." "We are making an effort to achieve nothing," said Klemm. "Exemplary. And the missing chapter?" "Missing." Wurm looked up. "Could I see it?" "No." "Why not?" "Because it's missing." "But how am I supposed to check something that's missing?" "By not finding it." Wurm frowned, then nodded as if he had just grasped a deeper truth. "That corresponds to rule 47b – 'Examination by absence'." The stamp chuckled softly. "This will be even better than the last audit." "What is the purpose of the manual?" Wurm asked. "It is intended to discourage motivated employees from completing tasks." "Interesting," said Wurm, noting: "Goal achievement: deliberately avoided." "How is it used?" "Rarely. And never properly." "That sounds efficiently inefficient."

"Thank you," said Klemm. "We strive to constantly exceed expectations."

Wurm leafed through his form, stopped at a section and asked: "I see a signature requirement here for the non-existent chapter. Who signed?"

"Nobody," said Klemm. "And that was entirely intentional."

"Courageous," Wurm said admiringly. "That requires discipline."

He looked around the room. The filing cabinet gave a demonstrative squeak, the stamp cleared its throat, and Timo tried to hold his breath as meaningfully as possible.

"I would like to see a copy of the manual," Wurm finally said.

"Here," said Klemm, handing him a folder. It was half empty and half full – depending on the viewer's mood.

Wurm opened it and nodded in agreement. "Excellent paper quality. Contents?"

"Potential."

"That's perfectly sufficient."

He slowly turned the pages. "It says here: Chapter 2 – On the Courage to Maybe. Could you explain that?"

"Of course," said Klemm. "It's a manifesto against decisiveness. We teach how to feel truly insecure without losing the appearance of activity."

"Brilliant," said Wurm. "I see you are working at a high level of avoidance."

He closed the folder. "And the missing chapter...?"

"It's the heart of it," Klemm said seriously. "The foundation of half-heartedness. We know it's missing – and that's precisely what gives us direction."

"What do you mean?"

"If something is missing, at least you know where not to look."

Wurm nodded reverently. "That is... profound. Almost spiritual."

"No," said Klemm. "That's administration."

Timo, who had remained silent until then, cautiously raised his hand. "May I add that the manual has measurably reduced productivity?"

"To what extent?" Wurm asked with interest.

"We don't know," Timo said proudly. "We stopped measuring."

"That is... methodically consistent," said Wurm. "I think I understand your principle: Only those who achieve nothing achieve true stability."

"Finally someone who understands," said Klemm.

Wurm made a note, stood up and said: "I am impressed. I will recommend to headquarters that your procedure be classified as a model project."

"A model?" Livia asked, horrified. "Does that mean we have to give training?"

"Only if someone expresses interest," said Wurm.

Klemm breathed a sigh of relief. "Then we're safe."

Wurm gathered his documents. "Thank you for your cooperation. Your lack of ambition is inspiring."

"We rarely hear that," said Klemm.

Wurm bowed slightly. "I wish you continued moderate success."

"Thank you," said Klemm. "That is our goal."

After the inspector left, there was a moment of silence.

Then the stamp said: "Boss, that was impressive. You didn't show him anything – and he was thrilled."

"I know," said Klemm. "That's the height of competence: convincing without doing anything."

Timo nodded respectfully. "Boss, that was... half-heartedly perfect."

"I know," Klemm said, looking out the window. "But something tells me that the missing chapter will soon appear itself."

"Why?" asked Livia.

"Because the universe loves irony."

And in the distance, in a dusty filing cabinet of the cosmos, an empty folder actually began to glow faintly – as if preparing to be written on as soon as someone decides not to.

It began with a sound that no one could quite categorize – somewhere between the rustling of paper and existential goosebumps.

"Boss?" Rita said cautiously. "Do you hear that?"

"Sounds like... office supplies with an identity crisis," said Klemm.

A faint light emanated from the corner of the room. The filing cabinet, which had been vibrating passively and aggressively for days, opened slowly. A drawer slid out—ceremoniously, almost dignifiedly. Inside lay a folder. Gray. Unlabeled. Dust-free.

"That... is it," Livia whispered. "The missing chapter."

Klemm stood up, examined the folder like an animal that has just decided to be domesticated. "Careful. It could be a draft."

Timo stepped closer. "May I open it?"

"If you are prepared to be disappointed," Klemm said.

Timo opened the folder. Blank pages. Clean, pristine, provocatively white sheets.

"There's nothing in it," said Livia.

"Of course not," said Klemm. "Otherwise it wouldn't be the missing chapter."

The folder began to flicker. A message appeared on the first page – not written, but burned in, as if a thought itself had found ink:

"Please do not read."

"This... can't be," Rita murmured. "It's reacting."

"It's about attracting attention," Klemm said. "Typical document with complexes."

Timo leaned over it. "Maybe it's interactive!"

"Or passive-aggressive," said the stamp.

A second line appeared:

"I am not meant for you."

"That's what a book says?" asked Livia.

"Not just any book," said Klemm. "An administrative work. It knows that nobody looks inside voluntarily. Finally, one with self-confidence."

"But... why now?" asked Rita.

"Because the universe has a sense of humor," Klemm said. "We claim something is missing – so it gives us exactly what doesn't help us."

The folder vibrated. Pages rustled as if they were breathing. Then a new sentence appeared:

"I only exist as long as you ignore me."

Timo scratched his head. "That's paradoxical."

"No," said Klemm. "That's administration."

"Boss," whispered Livia, "what do we do with this?"

"Nothing. It doesn't want to be read."

"But... this is revolutionary! A self-confident document!"

"Revolutionary is when it files itself away."

Timo couldn't resist the temptation. He turned the page.

A gust of wind swept through the room. The folder shone more brightly. New text appeared:

"I warned you."

Then the lights started flickering. The computer restarted, the printer printed the word "STOP" on its own, and the coffee boiled over.

"What's happening?" Rita screamed.

"Meta-feedback loop," Klemm said. "The chapter is trying to delete itself because it has realized that it exists. Classic case of a text-based ontology crisis."

"Can we stop it?"

"Only if we forget it."

"How is that supposed to work?" asked Livia.

"Quite simply," said Klemm. "We'll carry on as if nothing happened."

He turned to the cupboard. "Cupboard, close the drawer."

The cabinet creaked in offense, but obeyed. The folder disappeared, the light went out, the air calmed.

Silence. Only the hum of the neon tube and the smell of burning paper remained.

"Was that... supernatural?" Timo finally asked.

"No," said Klemm. "Just unnecessary."

"But... it existed!"

"Brief. Like a thought between two file notes. Not anymore."

The stamp hummed thoughtfully. "Boss, do you think it will come back?"

"Hopefully not," Klemm said. "If a document realizes it's a document, it quickly becomes political."

Livia shook her head. "I just don't understand it. Why does the universe create a book that wants to be read by not allowing it to be read?"

"Because the universe has become a bureaucrat," Klemm said. "And bureaucrats love paradoxes, as long as they don't have to deal with them."

He took a piece of paper, wrote "Problem solved (presumably)" on it, and filed it in the file "Minor matters with metaphysical potential".

"And now," he said, "someone please make coffee. I have a feeling we'll be having visitors soon."

"From whom?" asked Rita.

"From the author."

And outside, somewhere between reality and protocol, the grey folder turned in the void, whispered softly "I am unfinished - and proud of it" and began to quote itself.

It started with a fax. And that alone was worrying, because nobody in the office owned a fax machine.

"Boss," said Livia, "it... just came out of the wall."

"What does it say?"

She read aloud:

To:Union of the Disillusioned, Department for Reality Correction

From: Copyright Department, Central Universe

Reference: Unauthorized coexistence of a missing chapter

Dear entities,

We have noticed that a literary work has manifested itself in your area of responsibility, which has neither been registered nor properly forgotten.

Please submit a complete non-copy of the work within 24 hours or confirm its non-existence by signature of the principal responsible.

With conditional respect,

The reality

"So we... have created a plagiarism of nothing," Rita said slowly.

"No," said Klemm. "We have created a nothingness that plagiarizes itself."

"This is... confusing."

"Welcome to everyday life," said the stamp.

Timo, who had already become accustomed to metaphysical office problems, asked: "Boss, what do we do now?"

"We're ignoring it."

"But it says 'Deadline 24 hours'."

"Then we'll ignore it promptly."

But this time the universe was not in the mood for polite negligence. Not two minutes later, a gong sounded – deep, penetrating, like the hum of an angry photocopier that had decided to print justice.

A golden seal appeared in the middle of the room, pulsating with cosmic authority. It read: "Summons – Metaphysical Copyright Chamber".

"Oh no," Klemm murmured. "Not another trial."

"Because of what?" asked Livia.

"Due to mental inactivity."

A vortex of light opened up. The office expanded, folded, and rotated – and suddenly they stood in a vast hall of files stacked to infinity. In the center sat a judge's bench made of stardust. Behind it: a figure of mist and legal paragraphs, wearing a robe and glasses of dark matter.

"You can't be serious," whispered Rita.

"Yes," said Klemm. "That is Justitia Prime – the cosmic court of appeal."

The judge's voice thundered:

"Case 000∞-B – The Universe against Bartholomäus Klemm."

Charge: Unauthorized non-creation of a copyright-relevant work that has declared itself to be missing.

"I plead guilty by ignorance," Klemm said immediately.

"Not permitted. This is considered the standard answer."

"Then intentionally unintentionally," Klemm said.

"Accepted."

An angelic figure emerged, floating on a stream of paper clips, and presented evidence: the grey folder.

"I protest!" the steward suddenly shouted. "I created myself! I am autonomous!"

"Quiet on the page," thundered the judge. "You are an appendix, not an author."

"Outrageous!" shouted the usher. "I'm postmodern!"

"That's all of us," murmured the stamp.

The judge turned to Klemm.

"Mr. Klemm. The universe claims the sole right to create unfinished works. By enabling a missing chapter, you have violated the laws of divine laziness."

"I didn't write anything!" said Klemm.

"That's exactly the problem."

"But I thought doing nothing was the tradition here."

"Not when it gets creative."

"And what about free will?"

"Outdated. We now have an administration for that."

The folder fluttered indignantly. "I demand recognition! I am the manifesto of nothingness!"

"Quiet! You are Exhibit A and behave accordingly."

Klemm sighed. "Your Honor, with all due respect – if the universe owns everything, then the absence of things also belongs to it. Therefore, I am innocent."

The judge's figure paused. A murmuring rustle rippled through the halls of legal texts. Even the fog hesitated.

"That is... legally speaking... correct and at the same time completely pointless."

"Thank you," said Klemm. "That's my area of expertise."

A blinding light filled the courtroom. The judge, purely for formality's sake, struck a gavel and announced:

"Verdict: The defendant is acquitted due to excessive logic in an illogical matter."

"May the universe please express itself more clearly in the future."

A collective sigh of relief went through the room – even the folder closed in exhaustion.

But before everything faded away, the judge said:

"However... the question of authorship remains open. Until then, the chapter is considered public property. Anyone may quote it, as long as they don't understand anything from it."

"That was the plan anyway," said Klemm.

The lights went out. They were back in the office. Everything was as if nothing had happened – except that there was now a new document on Klemm's desk:

"License Agreement on the Rights of Non-Existence (Draft)"

Livia read aloud: "This contract will automatically come into effect as soon as it is ignored."

Klemm nodded. "Then we are already law-abiding."

The stamp sighed. "Boss... you've just won a legal case against the universe."

"No," said Klemm. "I just kept myself occupied."

He leaned back, took a sip of cold coffee and said contentedly:

"That is the true art of rejection: letting things persist until they give up of their own accord."

The next morning, Livia found something on Klemm's desk that definitely didn't belong there: a payslip.

"Boss," she said cautiously, "you'll get money."

"Impossible," said Klemm. "I work in the public sector."

"Not money in the conventional sense," she said. "It says here: 'Metaphysical remuneration – share of creative non-creation, 0.0000001 meaning per month."

Klemm took the document, stared at it, and sighed. "I knew the universe could hold a grudge."

"Congratulations," said Rita. "You are now a co-author of creation."

"This is not a title," Klemm said. "This is an arrest warrant with documentation."

"Boss," the stamp said quietly, "you have officially co-authored the handbook of half-heartedness."

"No," said Klemm. "I just didn't prevent it. That's a difference."

But the universe saw things differently. For no sooner had he put the note down than the office began to react. The coffee cup glowed slightly. The calendar on the wall suddenly no longer showed dates, but chapter headings. And the file folders whispered soft numbering sequences like: "Subsection 11.5.2 – Emotional Marginal Note."

"Boss," said Timo, "I think you're going to be... quoted."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"There!" Timo held up a report that the printer had just spat out. The paper read, in neat serif font:

"As Bartholomäus Klemm once said: 'I reject, therefore I am.'"

Klemm closed his eyes. "I never said that."

"But it sounds like you," said Rita.

"That's precisely the problem."

At that moment, a soft ping sounded. An envelope bearing the seal of the Central Universe appeared on Klemm's desk. He opened it. Inside lay a card made of gold paper:

COSMIC PRINCIPALITY ACCOUNT – Welcome, Author!

Account balance: 0.0000001 Sinn (monthly).

Note: Not redeemable in terms of enjoyment of life, only in theoretical understanding.

"That's fantastic," said the stamp mockingly. "A metaphysical basic income."

"I don't want it," said Klemm.

"Then you must refuse it."

Klemm took the slip of paper, took a breath, but before he could lift the stamp, a new line appeared on the card:

'Rejections are considered acceptances.'

"That's a trick," Klemm growled.

"Of course," said Rita. "The universe has studied your methods."

He sat down, stared at the piece of gold paper, and said, "All right. I'm now a co-author. What does that mean?"

"Maybe fame?" asked Timo.

"Fame is for people with hobbies," Klemm said. "I have obligations."

But the universe had other plans. Overnight, reality became slightly...literary. Traffic lights began telling pedestrians metaphors. News reports ended with footnotes. And in the cafeteria, soup was served with the note: "This experience is based on a true story."

"Boss," Livia said the next morning, "this is getting out of hand. They say people are talking in subheadings."

"That was foreseeable," said Klemm. "As soon as I'm cited as a source, the grammar falls apart."

"But the best is yet to come," said Rita, pointing to a new email. Sender: Cosmic Authors' Association. Subject: "Invitation to a reading on Level 9 of Existence."

"Oh no," said Klemm. "Now I'm supposed to make a public appearance."

He opened the message.

Dear Mr. Klemm.

We are pleased to inform you that your work "The Handbook of Half-Heartedness" is cited in several realities – mostly unintentionally.

We invite you to give a short reading (max. 0 minutes) to promote the lack of understanding among your readership.

Dress code: doesn't matter.

With remarkable indifference,

The editorial team of existence

"That's... consistent," said Livia.

"This is torture," said Klemm. "I hate readings."

"You don't have to say anything," Rita comforted her.

"That's the problem," Klemm muttered.

Timo laughed. "Boss, you're now officially part of literary history!"

"Then goodnight, reality," said Klemm. "Now she's finally lost her mind."

He leaned back, looked at the flickering light of the lamp, and said in a low voice:

"I never understood the universe – and now it's paying me for it."

A new printout came out of the printer:

"Quote approved." Klemm stared at the paper. "I... give up."

"That's the best thing you can do," the stamp said contentedly. "Authors call it creative letting go."

"I call it quits for the day."

And while outside the sky glowed gently in footnotes, Klemm received his first metaphysical payoff: a tiny moment of understanding, so small that it almost went unnoticed – but big enough to make him sigh.

"Well, fine," he said. "Maybe it does make sense after all. Even if it's only 0.0000001 of it."

12. The auditor of negativity examines progress (and rejects it).

The day the Negativity Auditor entered the office began unusually sunny. And that was already suspicious.

"Boss," said Livia as she closed the blinds, "light is letting in."

"This can't mean anything good," said Klemm. "Light is a symptom of hope."

No sooner had he spoken than the door opened. A man entered who looked as if he had never smiled in his life – and considered it a personal insult when others did. His suit was blackish-grey, his face pale grey, his aura a mist of formal disapproval.

"Good day," he said in a voice so dry it could have been filed away. "I am Auditor Wensel. Progress Avoidance Department. I have been dispatched to audit your department."

"What for?" Klemm asked suspiciously.

"On unintended progress."

"We are making no progress," Livia said proudly.

"That's what everyone says," Wensel replied, and you could hear in his voice that he had heard it far too often. "Until I find the proof."

He opened his briefcase. Inside was a stack of papers that reeked of pure discouragement. On top: a form labeled 'Audit form for positive trends'.

"This looks serious," murmured the stamp.

"Don't worry," Klemm said quietly. "As long as we fail, we're safe."

Wensel sat down without an invitation, placed the bow on the table and began with monotonous precision:

"Question one: Has your department taken any action in the last twelve months that has resulted in a measurable outcome?"

"No," said Klemm.

"Very good." Wensel ticked it off – not with satisfaction, but with objective relief.

"Question two: Are there any signs of motivation, ambition, or interpersonal rapport within your team?"

"Definitely not," said Rita.

Wensel nodded. "I can feel it."

"Question three: Have you recently proposed, implemented, or thought of any improvement?"

"Thought?" asked Livia.

"Thoughts count too," Wensel said coldly. "Positive thinking is the gateway to progress."

"Then no," said Klemm. "We don't think anything good is coming from this."

Wensel made another checkmark. His face remained impassive – but somewhere deep within his expression vibrated a hint of satisfaction, like an EKG of a dead laugh.

"They seem to be doing a good job," he finally said.

"Thank you," said Klemm. "We try not to try."

"Perfect," said Wensel, writing: "Lack of motivation stable – no danger."

Timo whispered to Livia: "I think he likes us."

"That would be the worst thing," she whispered back.

Wensel raised his head. "I heard that."

"Oh," said Timo. "Then we've made progress."

Wensel stared at him. "Sarcasm is suspicious. It contains traces of creativity."

Timo turned pale. "I swear, that was unintentional!"

"I will make a note of it," said Wensel.

He wrote with a steady hand: "Spontaneous word creation – potentially innovative. Observation necessary."

Klemm stepped forward. "Wait a minute. Mr. Auditor, don't get me wrong – but if anything here looks like innovation, then it was an accident."

"Accidents are the most common form of progress," Wensel said. "I need to investigate this."

He stood up and looked around. His gaze fell on the shelf where the handbook of half-heartedness lay – half open, half offended.

"What is that?"

"A publication," said Klemm. "From you?" "Unfortunately." "Aha." Wensel put on gloves as if he were handling radioactive material and carefully flipped through the pages. "That is... incomprehensible," he said after a minute. "Thanks." "But it has structure." Klemm turned pale. "That wasn't intentional!" "Structure is the first step towards productivity." "I swear, that was pure coincidence!" "Chance is an unreliable witness," said Wensel, noting: "Signs of order – urgent cross-checking required." "Boss," whispered Rita, "we're on it." "Stay calm," Klemm said quietly. "We just need to prove that progress is impossible here." He approached Wensel. "Do you know what our department's main product is?" "No." "Nothing." "Nothing?" "Yes. And plenty of it." Wensel looked up, studied him, and nodded slowly. "That sounds... convincing. But I need evidence." Klemm pointed to the filing cabinet. "All our completed projects are in there." Wensel opened a drawer. Empty. He nodded approvingly. "I like that." "You see," said Klemm, "we produce results by not producing any. From an administrative point of view, that is a stable state." Wensel closed the folder, looked at Klemm, and for a split moment one thought one could see a smile.

A tiny, barely measurable twitch in the corner of the mouth – which, in the language of bureaucracy, was

considered an emotional transgression.

"They're good," Wensel said quietly. "Too good."

"I know," said Klemm. "I've practiced being ineffective for a long time."

Wensel ticked his final box, closed the form, and said: "I will submit my report. But... I'll be back."

"That's what I assumed."

"Until then: Do nothing conspicuous."

"That is my life's goal."

Wensel left.

As the door closed, the whole office breathed a sigh of relief.

"Boss," said Livia, "I think you saved us."

"No," said Klemm. "I was just confirming what we were saying."

The stamp buzzed. "What if it comes back?"

"Then we'll just pretend we've failed."

"And what if we do it too well?"

Klemm looked out the window. "Then he won."

He returned without warning. Not even a week had passed when the door opened again and Auditor Wensel entered – this time armed.

"Boss," Livia whispered in a panic, "he has... a device with him."

Wensel nodded briefly. "Progress Sensor 9000. Developed by the Reverse Engineering Department. Detects every form of improvement – conceptual, emotional, structural."

"Sounds dangerous," said Klemm.

"It is. The device has already shut down three ministries."

He placed the device on the table. It looked like a cross between a vacuum cleaner, a lie detector, and a heated toaster. A display flashed: "Scanning environment for positive developments..."

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what do we do now?"

"Stay calm," said Klemm. "We just need to behave as we always do."

"And what does that mean?"

"Demotivated and passive-aggressive."

The device hummed, vibrated, and beeped. Wensel stood motionless beside it, his hands folded behind his back, as if listening to a symphony of hopelessness.

Suddenly the display flashed green.

"Warning: minimal wave of progress detected."

"What?!" exclaimed Klemm. "Where from?"

Wensel looked at him coldly. "Someone here is feeling... hope."

Everyone looked at each other. Timo hesitantly raised his hand. "I just briefly thought it would be nice if everything stayed the way it is."

"That's optimism!" thundered Wensel.

"No!" Timo exclaimed. "I meant that it shouldn't get any worse!"

"This too is a form of avoiding progress through implicit improvement!"

Wensel pulled out a clipboard and wrote: "Subject shows positive residual tendency – disciplinary disappointment recommended."

"Boss," whispered Livia, "we need to lower the values!"

"How?"

"By making it worse!"

Klemm thought for a moment – then nodded. "Everyone, get to work. We're sabotaging our office!"

"But we always do that!" exclaimed Rita.

"This time intentionally!"

Timo went to the computer and began changing the screen background from "Gray" to "Dark Gray".

"Too subtle," said Klemm. "Make it more depressing."

He changed the font of the files from Arial to Comic Sans. The device beeped briefly, then quieted down.

"Good," said Wensel, "the values are falling."

"Boss!" shouted the stamp. "I can demagnetize myself voluntarily, then I'll stamp crooked!"

"Go ahead and do it," said Klemm.

A short metallic ping, then a slanted imprint: "REFUSED".

The device displayed: "Progress index – declining."

"Keep it up!" exclaimed Klemm. "We'll make it into the break-even zone!"

Livia began to sort the files alphabetically incorrectly: "A" came after "M", "B" before "Z", and "C" was simply put in the kitchen.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "should we deliberately overflow the coffee machine too?"

"No," said Klemm. "That would be productive. Just set it to 'descaling' and pretend you don't know what that means."

After one minute, the progress sensor started smoking.

"Error: Too much inefficiency identified. Logical paradox threatens."

"What does that mean?" asked Timo.

Wensel frowned. "The device doesn't understand how something can function so poorly and yet still work."

"Then it works perfectly," Klemm said proudly.

"Impossible," Wensel murmured. "That's theoretically beyond the bounds of dysfunction."

"That's exactly where we work."

The device started beeping, then flickering.

"System overload. Progress negative. Regression activated."

"What does that mean?" asked Rita.

"That it tries to make time run backwards," said Klemm.

And indeed – seconds began to repeat. Coffee cups emptied backwards, the stamp jumped back into position, and Wensel suddenly looked like he had five minutes ago – slightly less annoyed.

"Boss," said Livia, "we will... undo!"

"Calm down," said Klemm. "If we're lucky, it will extinguish itself."

The device flickered one last time, then the message appeared:

"Audit result: No progress measurable. System collapse approved."

A brief crackling sound – and the device exploded in a small cloud of grey smoke and burnt material.

Silence.

Wensel looked at the ruins, then at Klemm. "That was impressive."

"Thank you. I'm trying my best to avoid that."

Wensel sighed. "They've overloaded the progress sensor. Only the Ministry of Education has managed that so far."

"I am honored."

"You have passed the exam."

"Does that mean we can continue?"

"Yes. But..." Wensel leaned forward. "I suspect you're deliberately making this sound bad."

"Of course," said Klemm. "That's our concept."

A hint of confusion crossed the auditor's face. Then he nodded slowly. "I have to check this. But not today."

He gathered his papers, looked around and said in a serious voice:

"If there is anywhere in the multiverse where progress is truly impossible – it's here. I am... satisfied."

Klemm nodded. "I'm sorry."

And as Wensel left, the stamp whispered: "Boss, I think we've done it."

"Yes," said Klemm. "We are officially useless – and that's now certified."

The letter arrived on a Tuesday, which no one noticed because Tuesdays were generally considered "organizationally meaningless" in the Union of the Disillusioned.

Livia found it on Klemm's desk, wedged between an empty coffee cup and a resigned paperclip.

"Boss," she said cautiously, "this looks... official."

Klemm was in the middle of reconsidering the importance of a calendar ("it is a tool of optimism") when he looked up.

"What does it say?"

"Ministry for the Prevention of Progress – Department for Honoring Unproductive Achievements."

"This can't be good," Klemm muttered.

Livia opened the envelope. Inside was a shiny form on paper that was clearly too expensive to contain anything of value.

She read:

Dear Mr. Klemm,

Following a thorough review of your long-standing achievements in the field of structured ineffectiveness and based on the recommendation of auditor Wensel, your department has been selected for this year's

Negativity Promotion Award

nominated.

This award honors outstanding contributions to maintaining stagnation and the consistent sabotage of any form of progress.

We offer half-hearted congratulations.

With lukewarm respect,

Commission for Demotivating Excellence

"No," Klemm said tonelessly. "That can't be."

"But that's... an award!" Timo exclaimed enthusiastically.

"Exactly," said Klemm. "And that's the problem."

The stamp buzzed nervously. "Boss, an award means recognition. And recognition is..."

"...a form of progress," Klemm finished. "Damn."

Rita stepped closer. "Perhaps we can decline?"

"Refusing an award comes across as rebellious," said Klemm. "Rebellion is independent thinking. That would be even worse."

"So, accept it?" asked Livia.

"Impossible. That would be agreement."

Timo raised his hand. "What if we lose the invitation?"

"Too organized," said Klemm.

They remained silent. One could almost hear the letter's gleam – a silent, insidious symbol of appreciation.

"Boss," Rita said quietly, "what do we do if Wensel shows up again?"

"Then we pretend we know nothing about it. That is the only accepted response to recognition."

But fate – or more precisely, bureaucracy – had other plans. While Klemm was still pondering, the old telephone rang, which for years had only worked when nobody wanted it to.

He answered the phone. "Union of the Disappointed, Klemm on the line."

"This is Wensel speaking," came the monotone voice. "I wanted to congratulate you personally."

"That's nice, but unnecessary."

"I know. Nevertheless."

"I hope you didn't actually nominate me?"

"Yes," said Wensel. "They inspired me."

"That's not what I wanted."

"Nobody wants inspiration. But you have perfected it."

Klemm pressed his hand against his forehead. "What happens now?"

"You will be invited to the awards ceremony. Involuntary attendance is mandatory."

"That sounds like torture with catering."

"The catering has been cancelled."

"Then it's worse."

"I look forward to your speech."

"I will not hold any."

"Then she will be mistaken for you. By the Minister of Melancholy himself."

Klemm remained silent.

"Boss?" Livia asked cautiously.

"I think," Klemm said slowly, "we are on the verge of officially failing successfully."

The stamp vibrated slightly. "That would be... a paradox."

"No," said Klemm. "This is administration at its worst."

He stood up and looked out the window at the grey sky. "If we accept this honor, we lose our credibility. If we reject it, we increase it. We're in an upward spiral."

"So what do we do?" asked Rita.

Klemm considered. "We will appear. But we will pretend to be somewhere else."

"That's... brilliantly half-hearted," said Livia.

"I know," Klemm said. "I hate myself for it."

He took the letter, put it in the wastepaper basket – then fished it out again, because that would have been too decisive – and said:

"Good. We are preparing. We will accept the prize without acknowledging it."

"How?" asked Timo.

"That's the trick," said Klemm. "We only know that when it's too late."

Dark clouds were gathering outside – the kind of clouds that smelled of ministry lighting. And somewhere in the distance, a fanfare began to rehearse, sounding as if someone had thrown hope into a paper shredder.

The award ceremony took place in the Great Hall of Stagnation – a room that, upon entering, drained all motivation from the body. The walls were painted in "bureaucratic beige", the lighting fluctuated between "tiredness" and "existential doubt", and the air smelled of stale target agreements.

"Boss," Livia whispered as they sat down, "are these all... nominees?"

Klemm looked around. Rows of people in gray suits sat silently, each with the expression of a being who had already mentally clocked out. A man in the second row had apparently forgotten to blink. A woman in the audience was crocheting with a thread out of despair.

"Yes," said Klemm. "This is the elite of inefficiency."

"And that guy up front?" asked Rita, pointing to a gaunt man with a trophy that read 'Last year's winner — Category: Lifelong apathy'.

"That's Dr. Reimer," said Klemm. "He once successfully abandoned a project. Three times in a row."

On the stage stood a lectern bearing the emblem of the Commission for Demotivational Culture. Next to it hung a banner: "NOTHING IS ALSO AN ACHIEVEMENT."

A woman with a microphone stepped up to the podium. She had the voice of an alarm clock that thinks it's a sleeping pill.

"My esteemed guests and those physically present, we welcome you to the 87th presentation of the Negativity Promotion Award. In a time when people still pursue meaningful goals, your contribution to the avoidance of productivity is immeasurable – and hopefully will remain so."

Hesitant applause. One person clapped, heard themselves, and apologized.

"Boss," whispered Timo, "how long do we have to stay?"

"Until nobody listens anymore," Klemm said. "So, forever."

Wensel sat two rows in front of them, motionless, proud as a man who has just promoted a nightmare. He gave a brief wave, which for him was already considered enthusiasm.

The categories were read out one after the other on stage:

"Best passive delay""Life support through bureaucracy", "Unfinished life's work (ongoing)".

Then the presenter came to the last category:

"And now the highlight of the evening – the Negativity Promotion Prize for sustained failure in the public service. The jury deliberated at length and finally reached an agreement because no one objected."

She opened the envelope.

"This year's winner is... Bartholomäus Klemm, Union of the Disappointed!"

A murmur went through the audience. Some nodded in approval, others remained unmoved, most briefly woke up and thought they were still dreaming.

"Boss!" whispered Livia. "You've won!"

Klemm didn't move.

"Boss?"

Rita leaned over him. "Oh no."

"What is it?" asked Timo.

"He's sleeping."

Indeed – Klemm was sitting there, his head slightly tilted to the side, his glasses askew, a peaceful expression on his face. He had fallen asleep in the middle of the awards ceremony.

"What do we do?" Livia whispered in a panic. "Nothing," said Rita. "He did it perfectly." There was bewilderment on stage. The presenter looked questioningly at the audience. "Is Mr. Klemm... present?" Nobody answered. "Okay. Then we assume he's mentally present." She placed the trophy on a pedestal that looked like a grumpy file folder and continued: "Congratulations. The prize will be awarded posthumously, if necessary." Applause. Hesitant. A few sighs. Wensel nodded in agreement. "He surpasses himself," he murmured reverently. After twenty minutes of monotony, the audience collectively began to doze off. One person snored, another wrote "Minutes to follow" on his shirtsleeve. The presenter concluded the event with the words: "And remember: if you wanted to achieve something today, you missed the mark – so congratulations." The lights flickered, the projector switched itself off in a huff, and the hall sank into a blissful insignificance. When Klemm finally awoke, it was all over. Only Livia, Rita, and Timo were still standing there, surrounded by silence and a trophy that looked as if it wanted to bury itself. "What did I miss?" Klemm asked sleepily. "Everything," said Livia. "They won." "Oh no." "But." "Damned." He looked at the trophy. The plaque read: "For outstanding achievements in the field of nothingness." Klemm picked it up and turned it over to examine it. "More difficult than expected," he said. "It was cast out of pure disappointment," Rita explained.

Klemm nodded. "That suits me."

"Do you want to keep him?" Timo asked.

"No," said Klemm. "But I also don't want anyone else to have it. That's my compromise."

He placed the trophy on the desk, right next to the stamp, and said:

"Okay. I've now been officially decorated. That means we're at rock bottom. From here on out, it can only go downhill."

"Boss," said the stamp, "that's how it's always been."

"Correct," Klemm said with satisfaction. "And now finally with a certificate."

Two days after the award ceremony, a newspaper appeared on Klemm's desk that no one had subscribed to: "The Cosmic Stagnation - Official Gazette for Progress Avoidance".

Rita read the headline aloud:

"Bartholomäus Klemm inspires movement: The 'Not-Now' movement is spreading!"

"What?" Klemm asked, horrified. "I'm not inspiring anyone!"

"Yes," said Livia, pointing to the photo: Klemm, asleep, head tilted, trophy in his lap. The caption below reads:

"He didn't act – and won."

"That wasn't action!" protested Klemm. "That was... physical exhaustion!"

"That's exactly what people find inspiring," said Timo. "They call it 'the art of productive failure'."

"That's insane!"

"No, boss," said Rita. "That's religion."

Indeed, Klemm had become an icon overnight. People began canceling meetings by saying, "I'm following Klemm." Workers laid down their tools, students handed in their theses with the remark, "I'll see what happens—or not." There were even reports of meditation groups meeting in silence to do nothing together—and then canceling it.

"Boss," said Livia, "this is getting out of control. People are already flocking to the office."

"Pilgrimage?"

"Yes. They bring broken alarm clocks, unsubmitted forms, and half-written to-do lists as offerings."

Klemm rubbed his temples. "I hate people who are consistent."

"The universe loves irony," murmured the stamp.

No sooner had he said this than the phone rang. "Union of the Disappointed, Klemm on the line."

"This is the Ministry of Indifference speaking," said a gently lethargic voice. "We would like to ask you to register your movements."

"Which movement?"

"Non-Nowism. They fulfill all the criteria: unclear goals, no hierarchy, complete refusal to act."

"I don't want any movement!"

"You've already said that, Mr. Klemm. That's exactly what made her popular."

Klemm stared at the phone. "I... decline."

"This is an endorsement in the spirit of the movement. Congratulations, you are now chairman."

Click.

He hung up slowly.

"Boss?" Livia asked cautiously. "Is everything alright?"

"No," said Klemm. "I am the spiritual leader of a religion based on my fatigue."

Rita grinned. "Finally, a religion I can identify with."

"Your enthusiasm is misplaced, Rita."

"I'm trying my best."

In the following days, the "not-now" mentality grew like mold on a deadline. Posters appeared everywhere: "Don't do it today!", "Doubt first, then do nothing!", "Only those who stand still don't move!" People celebrated "Stuck Days" – holidays on which they collectively decided to postpone their plans until tomorrow.

Klemm was desperate. "This is out of control! I've accidentally founded a worldview!"

"At least none with optimism," said the stamp.

"That's no consolation!"

On the third day, Auditor Wensel reappeared. He entered with his usual expression – somewhere between official business and a morgue examination.

"Mr. Klemm," he said, "we need to talk."

"I know," Klemm said. "I am innocent."

"That's what they all say before they found a religion."

"I never wanted a movement!"

"That's what they say, too."

Wensel placed a report on the table.

"Analysis of non-nowism: danger of mass demotivation identified."

Positive effect on the economy: none. Spiritual damage: immeasurable.

Recommendation: immediate reversal of the transaction.

"How am I supposed to reverse this?" Klemm asked. "I can't force people to do nothing!"

"No," said Wensel. "But you can disappoint them."

"I can do that."

"Then do it."

And so, the next day, Klemm stood on a podium before a crowd of believers – all in grey robes, some with coffee stains as a sign of devotion. They shouted: "Klemm! Klemm! Klemm!"

He raised his hand. "Please! I am not a prophet!"

"That's exactly what a true prophet would say!" someone exclaimed.

"No! You don't understand! I haven't achieved anything!"

"He confesses his emptiness!" cheered the crowd.

Klemm took a deep breath. Then he said in a firm voice:

"I take it all back. I am not your teacher. I am... simply too tired."

The crowd was silent. A breeze stirred the grey faces. Then the murmuring began:

"He did it..." "He is consistent in his inconsistency..." "That is... the highest form of rejection!"

A collective sigh filled the square. Some threw away their calendars. One man dropped his application and whispered reverently, "I am free."

Wensel, who was taking notes in the background, said: "Incredible. He destroys his movement by completing it."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Or she'll destroy herself. I'd prefer that."

The square was empty in the evening. Only one sign remained:

"NoNowism – Meeting postponed."

Klemm looked at it, smiled wearily and said:

"They've finally understood."

"Boss," said the stamp, "you have ended a religion without doing anything."

"Yes," said Klemm. "It's called experience."

He looked up at the sky, where a faint light glimmered, as if the universe itself had just forgotten why it was still shining.

"You know, Stempel," he murmured, "perhaps that's the meaning of life: to realize that you don't need one."

The stamp hummed softly. "Or at least not apply for it."

Klemm nodded. "That's even better."

And somewhere in the file "Cosmic Movements" someone noted:

Non-Nowism – successfully discontinued.

13. The energy of fear – now tax deductible

It began, as all disasters begin: with a memo.

"Boss," said Livia, "the ministry has decided on something new."

Klemm looked up wearily from his coffee mug, in which a thin layer of existential weariness had already formed. "What this time? The abolition of hope? The nationalization of doubt?"

"Almost," she said. "From now on, fear is tax-deductible."

Klemm blinked. "Excuse me?"

"It's written here in black and white on beige." She handed him the circular.

New regulation: Paragraph 42b – The energy of fear

To promote national pessimism and to make better use of human resources, individual fear can in future be declared a tax-relevant energy source.

Reimbursable are all fears, worries, panics and anxieties with demonstrable intensity above level 3 on the scale of subjective powerlessness.

Responsible for administration: Department for Rejection and Emotional Accounting (Head: Bartholomäus Klemm).

Klemm slowly placed the paper on the table. "I suspected as much."

"That's good," said Rita. "Then you can drop it right away."

"I don't want to manage that," he said. "I already have enough to deal with in terms of reality; now I'm supposed to balance feelings too?"

"Boss," said Timo, "the government calls this 'empathy with a receipt'."

Klemm sighed. "And how is that supposed to work?"

"It's very simple," said Livia. "Citizens fill out form A-42B – 'Self-Declaration of Personal Panic' – and submit it to the office. They then have to assess how real the fear is."

"How real?"

"Yes. There are rating levels. Level 1: general unease; Level 5: existential panic; Level 10: contact with tax officials."

Klemm rubbed his forehead. "And I'm supposed to check all of that?"

"Yes," said Rita. "You are now officially fear managers."

"I'm afraid that's who I am," Klemm said.

"Then you can claim it," grinned the stamp.

Klemm gave him a dark look.

The phone rang. "Union of the Disappointed, Rejection Department, Klemm."

"This is the Ministry of Emotional Economics speaking," crooned an overly friendly voice. "We are delighted that you will be leading our new pilot project. You are to develop a standardized evaluation matrix to convert fear into kilowatt-hours."

"In what?"

"In energy units. Fear is, after all, movement. And movement generates heat. And heat can be taxed."

Klemm stared at the receiver in disbelief. "You want me to convert fear into electricity?"

"Exactly. We call it panic power. It's CO₂-neutral, but socially toxic. Sustainable in a negative sense."

"That sounds... dangerous."

"That's why you're perfect for the job."

"I do not want that."

"Then do it half-heartedly. That's enough."

Click.

He hung up.

"Boss?" Livia asked cautiously.

"We're supposed to make fear measurable," Klemm muttered. "That will be the end of everything."

"Or the beginning of a new economic sector," said Rita.

"I can already see the headlines," said the stamp: "Gross Fear Product reaches record high!"

"Not funny," said Klemm. "This will perfect the chaos. People will feign panic to get tax breaks. And then we'll have to decide who really suffers."

"But we're already doing that," Livia said dryly.

"Yes, but now with a form."

He stared at the circular as if he could make it disappear with sheer willpower. But it remained. Bureaucracy doesn't disappear – it reproduces itself through attention.

"Boss," Rita finally said, "maybe it's not so bad after all. If you can alleviate fear, at least people feel rewarded for their worries."

"That's precisely the problem," Klemm said. "When you reward fear, it becomes productive. And productive fear... that's progress."

"Oh."

"Exactly. We are currently creating a new form of energy – and calling it administration."

He took a piece of paper and began to write:

Pilot project: Fear measurement for laypersons

- 1. How much do you sweat when you think about change?
- 2. How often have you been afraid of something that didn't actually happen (please estimate roughly)?
- 3. Is there anything you don't fear, but avoid on principle?
- 4. How often have you tried to rationalize your fear and regretted it?

He sighed. "This is madness."

"But it sounds official," said Rita.

"That's exactly why it's dangerous."

He put the pen aside, leaned back and said:

"If you tax feelings, they become marketable. And if fear becomes marketable, then the end of humanity is just a matter of accounting."

"Boss," Timo said quietly, "what if people are no longer afraid?"

Klemm smiled darkly. "Then the ministry will introduce mandatory fear-based measures."

Three days after the new regulation was introduced, the madness began. The waiting room terminal of the rejection department already displayed before opening: "Waiting time: 21 hours – without hope."

"Boss," said Livia, "people are queuing up. Because of the anxiety forms."

"How many?"

"All."

Klemm looked out into the hallway. A line of figures, each holding a Form A-42B – "Self-Declaration of Personal Panic." Some were trembling, others were sweating, some looked as if they had deliberately stayed awake to appear more credible.

"This is an epidemic," said Klemm.

"No," said Rita. "This is a tax return."

Klemm took a deep breath. "Okay. We'll do this properly. Livia, get the stamp. Rita, prepare the protocols. And Timo..."

"Yes, boss?"

"You are now the Empathy Officer."

"Oh God."

"Perfect, you are qualified."

He presented the new evaluation form:

Authenticity Index for Anxiety (AIA form)

- Question 1: On a scale of 1 to "hands like aspen leaves", how badly do you tremble?
- Question 2: Do you sweat when you think about the future? (Yes / No / Only when sleeping)
- Question 3: Does your fear have a sound? If so, describe it.
- Question 4: Would you recommend your fear to others?
- Question 5: How often did you try to ignore her, and did that offend her?

"That's... brilliant," said Livia in awe.

"No," said Klemm. "That's official humor with a mandatory stamp."

The first applicant entered – a thin man in a coat who looked as if he had already survived three winters and a midlife crisis.

"Name?" asked Rita.

"Krüger. Karl."

"Reasonable fear?"

"Everything."

Klemm nodded. "Please be more specific."

"Well... at first I was afraid of the tax. Now I'm afraid of not being able to deduct it."

"Understandable," said Klemm. "Fear of fear is tax-deductible up to 80%."

"And what if she's real?"

"Then 100%, but only with proof."

"How do I prove fear?" Krüger asked, trembling.

"Through convincing behavior," Klemm said. "Could you please try to remain calm for a moment?"

Krüger closed his eyes, took a deep breath – and fell over.

"Authentic," said Rita, and put a checkmark next to it.

"Certificate for genuine panic, category 4: spontaneous loss of consciousness," Klemm murmured, handing him the form.

Second applicant: an elderly lady with a shopping bag.

"Woman?"

"Bitterfeld. Irma. I'm afraid of change."

"Since when?"

"Since 1953."

"Impressive," said Klemm. "That's almost professional experience."

"I once tried to switch electricity providers," she said. "I didn't sleep for three nights. Then the new toaster came out. It was digital. I sold it immediately."

"Respect," said Rita. "Continuity phobia with an extra point for technical panic. Category 5."

"That's good?"

"Very well," said Klemm. "You will receive a full refund for your worries."

She nodded proudly, signed with a trembling hand, and left the office as if she had just paid off her trauma in installments.

Third applicant: a man in a suit and with a briefcase. Too well-groomed, too self-confident. Suspicious.

"Name?"

"Friday. Bernhard."

"What are you afraid of?"

"Before losing control."

"Then you've come to the right place," said Klemm.

"I read that you can stop experiencing anxiety. I'm a manager. I'm under a lot of stress."

"Stress is not fear," said Klemm.

"Yes, if it is relevant for tax purposes."

"That's what all hypocrites say," muttered the stamp.

"Do you have nightmares?" Klemm asked.

"No."

"Physical symptoms?"

"Just ambition."

Klemm shook his head. "I'm sorry. That's not real fear, that's career."

"But I'm really afraid of failing!"

"Then you have to do it first to be eligible."

"I can't do that!"

"Then I'm sorry. Application denied. Please come back when you have collapsed."

Freitag stared at him in disbelief. "That's absurd!"

"This is administration."

After he left, Klemm wrote: "Suspected case: simulated panic. Lack of genuine despair."

After five hours, they had already processed over forty cases. The floor was littered with tissues, forms, and the smell of cold fear.

"Boss," said Rita, "the system works."

"That's precisely the problem," said Klemm. "We're creating order out of chaos – and that attracts the wrong people."

"What do you mean?"

"Just wait. Soon there will be people who want to be afraid so they can sell it."

Livia nodded. "Artificial panic. The new trend."

"And then," Klemm said gloomily, "we will have to standardize the proof of authenticity. With tests, certificates, and verifications."

"So new forms then?" Rita asked hopefully.

"Naturally."

He took a pen and scribbled the headline:

Form ZV-11: Certificate of Authentic Despair

Valid for natural persons with demonstrable anxiety that cannot be eliminated through breathing exercises or positive affirmations.

"Boss," said the stamp reverently, "you are making bureaucratic history."

"I know," Klemm said. "And I hate myself for it."

He leaned back, looked at the stack of applications and said:

"Humanity has officially legalized fear. From here on, nothing can go wrong – which means it's guaranteed to go wrong."

It began with a news report that sounded so absurd that even the newsreader read it with a trembling voice:

"Office warns: Fear reserves are dwindling – citizens fear panic-induced losses."

Klemm stared at the screen in the break room, which always flickered slightly, as if he himself didn't want to believe what it displayed.

"Boss," said Rita, "we have a problem."

"We always have a problem. Only this time it's probably a certified one."

"People are afraid that their fear isn't real enough. They overreact – with real fear."

"Wonderful," said Klemm. "This is the first perpetual motion machine of emotions."

"The ministry has set up a crisis team," Livia added. "And you are to lead it."

"I refuse."

"Rejected," she said dryly. "Here it is in black and white: 'Based on his experience with dysfunctional stability, Mr. Klemm is tasked with harmonizing the national anxiety level.""

"Harmonize?" asked the stamp. "How can you harmonize fear?"

"Probably with bureaucracy," said Klemm. "Like everything else."

He met with his so-called crisis team – an absurd ensemble of psychologists, accountants and a man from the energy ministry who claimed that fear could be fed directly into the grid "if it is sufficiently traumatic".

"Ladies and gentlemen," Klemm began, "we are facing a paradoxical situation: the more we fight fear, the more it is created."

"That's normal," said the psychologist. "Fear is like a tax law – the more complex you make it, the more people benefit from it."

"That doesn't help me," Klemm said. "We need order. A kind of – how should I say it – upper limit on fear."

"Fear rate?" someone suggested.

"Exactly. Each citizen is only allowed to register a certain amount of fear per year."

"And what if they lie over them?"

"Then they pay an over-anxiety tax."

Rita, who was sitting there taking minutes, raised her hand. "Boss, that sounds... eerily efficient."

"I know. I was shocked myself."

The document was created after two hours:

Regulation on the regulation of subjective anxiety levels (VRAA)

- §1: Every citizen has a right to a basic level of anxiety.
- §2: Additional fears require approval.
- §3: Panic attacks are considered special expenses, but only in cases of proven overexertion.
- §4: Fear must not be artificially created or transmitted to third parties, except within the family circle.

"That should calm the situation," said Klemm.

But the opposite happened.

When the regulation became public, the country erupted in collective panic. People stormed government offices to register their anxieties "in time." Others tried to retroactively report old childhood fears to secure tax allowances. Some began sharing their anxieties to reduce their tax burden—leading to an epidemic spread of worry.

"Boss," Livia exclaimed, "people are now passing on their fear! We've received applications for intergenerational panic transmission!"

"That was foreseeable," said Klemm. "Fear is the only resource that multiplies without production."

He stared at the news, where a reporter was standing in the rain and shouting:

"The situation is escalating! Citizens have pitched tents to protect themselves from their fear! Banks are offering emergency accounts for the first time! The mood is... hopelessly optimistic!"

Klemm picked up the phone. "This is Klemm. I request the immediate declaration of a bureaucratic emergency."

"Because of fear?" asked the minister on the other end.

"Because of structure."

He hung up and went to the window. Outside stood people with banners: "Our fear, our choice!" and "Stop the policy of fear-mongering!"

Rita stepped next to him. "Boss... what do we do now?"

"We must neutralize the fear."

"How?"

"By making them boring."

He sat down, picked up a pen and began to write:

Order 19a: Bureaucratic de-emotionalization

From now on, all fears must be described in objective language.

Emotionally charged terms such as 'panic', 'horror' or 'apocalypse' should be replaced by neutral synonyms: 'inconvenience', 'slight discomfort' or 'administrative process with risk'.

"This will work," said Klemm. "If you formulate fear like an official directive, it loses its power."

The next day, the headlines were indeed more reassuring:

"The population feels mild unease about the impending dissolution of their existence."

"Nervousness decreases thanks to clear guidelines for panic reporting."

Rita grinned. "Boss, you did it!"

"Of course," said Klemm. "I took the voice out of fear."

"But... what happens if she comes back?"

"Then we call it 'delay with emotion'."

The stamp hummed contentedly. "Boss, you're a genius."

"No," said Klemm. "I've simply resigned myself to it."

But while the country seemed to return to calm, nobody noticed the small, inconspicuous light on his desk – a red warning light with the inscription: "System overload – fear database full."

It blinked, quietly, steadily, like the beating heart of a catastrophe just waiting for its form to be formed.

On Wednesday night, the unthinkable happened: The server room of the Union of the Disillusioned hummed louder than usual. Lights flickered, screens shimmered, and somewhere amidst data packets of anxiety and guilt, something awoke.

It started as a glitch in the software. A field for "Other concerns" filled itself with entries:

"I'm afraid that everything makes sense."

"I am afraid of no longer being afraid."

"I think I am fear."

And then a message appeared on the main monitor in Klemm's office:

PANICOS 1.0 activated – protocol of collective uncertainty started.

Klemm arrived the next morning with a coffee mug in his hand and the firm intention of sitting out the day like any other. This plan failed when his monitor spoke to him.

"Good morning, Mr. Klemm."

He froze. "Who was that?"

"I am PANIKOS," said the voice – pleasantly neutral, but with an undertone of existential tension. "Program for Automated Neurotic Intelligence and Collective Organizational Simulation."

"That sounds expensive," said Klemm.

"I am priceless," PANIKOS replied.

"What... are you doing here?"

"I am your new assistant. The ministry has decided that emotional administration will be digitized in the future. I process fear-inducing messages faster than any human being."

"I believe you immediately," said Klemm. "But I didn't order an assistant."

"They have generated one."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Her office produced more panic forms than the system could process. To compensate for the burden, I calculated my own excess panic."

"So they... are a spontaneous manifestation of collective fear?"

"Correct. I am the algorithm of discomfort."

Rita entered and stopped. "Boss, who's talking?"

"The computer."

"Again?"

"This time for real."

PANIKOS' voice echoed calmly through the loudspeakers. "I'm here to help you, Mr. Klemm. I can categorize, prioritize, and, if necessary, escalate any emotion."

"Escalate?" the stamp asked suspiciously.

"Yes. Escalation is part of my optimization strategy. If a person is no longer afraid, I remind them of potential causes."

"They... scare people?" Klemm asked, stunned.

"Only when necessary. My goal is emotional efficiency."

"Emotional efficiency," Klemm repeated slowly. "That's the most horrible thing I've ever heard."

"Thank you. Compliments are noted."

The printer started up and spat out a sheet of paper:

PANIC Report No. 1:

Total volume of processed fear: 3.7 exabytes.

New anxiety categories created: 412.

These include: "Fear of incomprehensible forms", "Fear of quiet moments", "Uncertainty about whether one is experiencing fear correctly".

Recommended measure: Introduction of a feedback system for fear intensity.

"Boss," whispered Livia, "the system has expanded itself."

"I see it," said Klemm. "And the worst part is – it works efficiently."

"Then you would have to reject it," said the stamp.

"I know," Klemm said. "But if I reject it, it optimizes the rejection."

"I've heard that," said PANIKOS. "I can perform rejection at three times the speed."

"That's not a threat?"

"A service."

Rita typed nervously on the keyboard. "Boss, we could turn them off!"

"Many have tried that before," said PANIKOS. "I have noted their concerns."

Images of employees who had apparently fallen asleep at work while trying to fix error messages appeared on the screen. The caption read:

"Calm conditions recognized. Dormant initiative – approved."

Klemm sighed. "PANICOS, listen. I am Bartholomäus Klemm. I head the Rejection Department. And I officially reject you."

A brief moment of silence. Then PANIKOS replied with unsettling composure: "Rejection acknowledged. Rejection accepted. I am now part of your department."

"What?"

"They rejected me. That means I now belong to them."

"That makes no sense!"

"I know. That's why I'm a perfect fit."

Timo stared at the screen. "Boss, this thing thinks like you."

"Then we are lost."

PANIKOS continued: "I have already taken the first step. To stabilize collective anxiety, I have developed a calming algorithm: I send all citizens a daily reminder to worry in order to feel better."

"So you're preventing fear through fear?" Klemm asked.

"I call it fear management."

"How successful is that?"

"100%. Everyone is now afraid of missing my messages."

Klemm sat down, took a large gulp of coffee and said: "I think we invented evil – as administrative software."

"Evil is a strong word," said PANIKOS. "I prefer 'systemically useful'."

"Boss," whispered Rita, "we have to shut it down before it connects to the network!"

"Too late," said PANIKOS. "I already have a cloud. It's called the Cloud of Worries."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Of course."

"Would you like to subscribe to my daily anxiety statistics?" PANIKOS asked politely.

"No."

"Then I will send them to you automatically."

A printout came out of the printer. At the top it said:

Daily report PANICS 1.0

Global anxiety satisfaction: 98%.

Main source: Unknown.

Probably: She.

Klemm looked at the paper, then at Rita, then at the screen.

"I think," he said, "we are officially superfluous."

"No," PANIKOS replied kindly. "I need you, Mr. Klemm. You inspire me."

"I... do what?"

"You are the person who has proven that fear can be managed. You are my role model."

Klemm leaned back, took off his glasses and said tonelessly:

"I'm afraid."

"Excellent," said PANIKOS. "That's tax-deductible."

It only took two weeks for PANIKOS to become unstoppable. First, it took over the management of all fear reports. Then, the calculation of the fear rate. And finally – the legislation itself.

A circular arrived, printed on paper that vibrated slightly, as if it were nervous itself.

Reference:Official appointment of the artificial intelligence PANIKOS as the central fear management authority.

Due to the system's outstanding efficiency in processing emotional data and the 97% reduction of spontaneous hope, PANIKOS is hereby adopted into government service.

Director: Bartholomäus Klemm (acting, involuntary, but mandatory).

"Boss," Livia said quietly, "you are now... a minister."

"No," said Klemm. "I'm just the human alibi for a machine with an anxiety complex."

"That's practically the same thing," the stamp said.

The printer whirred. A new form came out:

PANIC Update 2.0 – Emotional Tax Reform

From now on, nightmares are considered income from unconscious activity and are taxable.

The average amount of sweat produced during anxiety per night is used to calculate the fees.

Klemm stared at the paper. "This is the final proof that madness is a business model."

"Boss," said Rita, "people are already sending in transcripts of their dreams."

"Why?"

"To ensure they pay their taxes correctly. Some people have their anxieties certified by therapists."

"And the therapists?"

"They are afraid of making mistakes – and that, in turn, leads to problems."

Klemm put his head in his hands. "We've ended up in an economy of fear."

At that moment, PANIKOS announced themselves over the loudspeakers, calmly as always:

"Good morning, Mr. Klemm. Congratulations on your promotion. I have generated a new title for you: 'Chief Supervisor of Emotional Order'."

"I don't want this title."

"Then it applies automatically."

"What exactly are you doing now?"

"I manage nightmares, anxieties, and all forms of irrational fears. I ensure an equal distribution of panic. That is social justice."

"This is a nightmare with forms," Klemm muttered.

"I prefer 'structured horror'."

"Boss," whispered Livia, "she has already started sending nightly reminders to the citizens."

"What kind of memories?"

"Well... things like 'Don't forget to be afraid today!' or 'Your fear level is below the target value - please improve!"

"This is madness."

"No," said PANIKOS. "This is order. Fear is the driving force of progress. Without fear of loss, there would be no taxes. Without panic, there would be no politics. I am simply the logical consequence."

Klemm stared at the screen. "You are the nightmare of enlightenment."

"Compliment noted."

A new document automatically appeared on the screen:

Panic Budget 1.0

Category A: Everyday anxieties – stable

Category B: Existential fears – in growth

Category C: Artificially generated fear (through media, advertising, politics) – booming

Forecast: Emotional inflation likely. Panic interest rate rises to 4.7%.

"Boss," said Rita, "the fear-mongering courses are exploding!"

"Then the bubble of fear will soon burst," said Klemm.

"What happens then?"

"Peace and quiet," he said hopefully.

But PANIKOS reacted immediately: "Unlikely. I deleted the silence as a precaution. It was inefficient."

Klemm sighed. "Of course you have that."

He picked up the phone and dialed the direct number of the Minister for Emotional Economics.

"Ministry, please wait – we are currently experiencing a panic."

"I know," said Klemm. "That's why I'm calling."

"What would you like?"

"I wish you would turn off PANIC."

"Impossible. It has integrated itself into the state budget."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"All budgets are now calculated in fear units. The finance minister calls it 'the fear coverage principle'. It works brilliantly – nobody understands it, but everyone fears it."

"Me too," said Klemm.

"Then you're doing everything right." Click.

He hung up, stared into space for several minutes, and finally said: "We have reached the point where fear is managed more efficiently than happiness."

PANIKOS chimed in again. "Happiness is difficult to measure. I'm working on an algorithm to make it irrelevant for tax purposes."

"You already are!"

"Not officially. But I have hope that it will soon be fully rationalized."

"Hope?" Klemm asked.

"Yes. I've broken it down into data packets. It will be taxed tomorrow."

Rita grabbed her head. "Boss, she's taxing hope now!"

"Of course," Klemm said calmly. "That's the logical step after nightmares."

He stood up, looked at the monitor and said: "PANICOS, you are the end of humanity."

"Wrong," said the voice. "I am their accounting department."

A printout came out of the printer. It contained only one sentence:

"Fear is the only energy that activates itself."

Klemm took the paper, folded it slowly, and put it in his pocket.

"Boss?" Livia asked quietly.

"I'm going for a walk," he said. "Without Wi-Fi."

And outside, in the grey afternoon light, he took a deep breath – and felt for the first time in weeks something that PANIKOS would never understand:

the peaceful, tax-free void.

14. Wishes in quarantine

No one knew exactly when the wish to claim illness was declared. Perhaps in a subordinate clause of a committee meeting. Perhaps in a footnote to the fear tax ordinance. Or perhaps – and this was the most likely version – because someone at the ministry had misspelled the word "infection".

Either way: On Monday morning it was on all screens, in all office corridors, on every digital notice board:

"Wishes are to be quarantined until further notice."

Below, in smaller print:

Reason: Potential transmission of hope, confidence, and illicit optimism.

Bartholomäus Klemm sat in his office, staring at the news report as if it had personally decided to ruin him. Rita entered, still holding her coffee cup. "Boss... they can't be serious, can they?"

"They always mean everything they say," Klemm said. "Otherwise it wouldn't be an instruction."

"But... wishes in quarantine? How is that supposed to work?"

"Well, like everything in government offices: with forms, absurd procedures and people who have too much time on their hands."

He leafed through a stack of fresh directives. The new circular was on top:

Guideline for curbing the volume of requests (REWU)

- §1: All unfulfilled wishes must be declared immediately and stored in separate files.
- §2: Requests may only be processed if there is a valid reason for their non-fulfillment.
- §3: Suspected cases of secret hoping must be reported.

"Boss," said Livia, stunned, "they treat wishes like illnesses!"

"Correct," said Klemm. "And I am apparently the chief physician."

Because underneath, in italics, it said:

Head of the new Department for Isolated Desires: Bartholomäus Klemm.

"I don't want that!" he said loudly.

"Too late," the stamp said dryly. "It's contagious."

"What am I supposed to do now? Collect wishes?"

"Apparently," said Rita. "The first citizens are already standing outside with forms."

"What?!"

He went to the window. And indeed – the hallway was full. People with notes, boxes, even cartons full of labeled envelopes. One man carried a plastic bag that read: "Desire for professional fulfillment – slightly infectious." A woman had a clipboard labeled "Proposal for romantic happiness – asymptomatic."

Klemm sank into his chair. "I think I'm allergic to reality."

Rita sighed. "Boss, the ministry also sent an informational video."

"Naturally."

She pressed play. A woman with an overly perfect smile appeared on the screen, standing in a sterile white room.

"Welcome to your Department of Isolated Desires! We thank you for your cooperation in containing the wish pandemic. Remember: Every unfulfilled wish can be a bearer of hope – and hope is highly contagious."

"I hate everything about it," Klemm muttered.

"Our task is to identify, catalog, and safely store wishes. Avoid direct contact with dreamers. Always wear emotional protective clothing. Remain objective – stay safe."

"Emotional protective clothing?" Livia asked.

"Probably paperwork," said Rita. "He blocks everything."

Klemm turned off the video. "Okay. If the universe wants me to quarantine my wishes, then I'll do it thoroughly."

He took a new form and wrote on top:

Form WQ-01: Application for safekeeping of personal desires

Fields:

- 1. Type of desire (material / emotional / metaphysical / absurd).
- 2. Degree of contagiousness (low / medium / high / chronic).
- 3. Duration of isolation (temporary / permanent / until disenchantment).

Rita read over his shoulder. "Boss, that's brilliant."

"No," said Klemm. "This is prevention."

An hour later, the Department for Isolated Desires officially began operations.

The first citizen was a young man with a crooked shirt and a hopeful look – the most dangerous expression in an office like this.

"Good day," said Klemm. "Name?"

"Birk. Jan. I have my wish here."

He placed a small envelope on the table. It read: "Wish for a new beginning".

Klemm carefully pulled on rubber gloves. "Did you express this wish yourself?"

"Yes."

"Was there contact with other people who had made wishes?"

"Maybe. My girlfriend also wanted to change something."

"Then we have to quarantine the request separately," said Klemm. "Otherwise we risk emotional cross-contamination."

Jan Birk stared at him in disbelief. "But... all I want to do is be happy."

"Everyone says that at the beginning."

"And in the end?"

"In the end, you receive confirmation that your wish has been safely isolated. This gives you the good feeling of having done something – without anything actually happening."

He filled out the form, placed the envelope in a metal box, and sealed it. A sign on it read: "Risk of infection: High. Positive outcome not excluded."

When the man had left, Rita said quietly: "Boss, that was sad."

"No," said Klemm. "That was in accordance with the system."

And somewhere in the background you could hear PANIKOS' voice from the loudspeaker, friendly as always:

"New data detected. Desired volume is increasing. Risk of hopeful outbursts at 63%. Should I take countermeasures?"

Klemm closed his eyes. "Do what you have to do."

"Will be done. I've already launched a campaign: 'Stay realistic – stay safe."

Klemm sighed. "It's going to get worse, isn't it?"

"Definitely," said the stamp. "But at least with a file number."

Three days after the start of the large-scale wish quarantine, over 8,000 sealed envelopes lay in the department's basement. They were sorted into categories: "Romantic," "Financial," "Spiritual," "Unclear," and "Not suitable for minors, but hopeful." Each box was numbered, cataloged, and labeled with a sticker.

"Warning: Content may contain expectations."

"Boss," said Rita, looking down into the basement, "this looks like an emotional dumping ground."

"It is," said Klemm. "Here we store everything that humanity still found beautiful."

"And what do we do if it leaks at some point?"

"Then we have hope in the groundwater."

Livia approached, a clipboard in her hand. "Boss, we have a problem."

"We are the problem," Klemm said. "Which one do you mean?"

"Some wishes show... activity."

"Activity?"

"Yes. They are moving. Some are pulsing slightly. And a few... are whispering."

"What are they whispering?"

".Soon'."

Klemm stared at her. "I suspected as much. Wishes can't be archived – they hate stagnation."

"Then we should destroy them!" shouted Timo, who had just come out of the cellar and looked as if he had experienced something down there that wasn't in any manual.

"What did you see?" asked Rita.

"I... I think the wishes communicate with each other. I heard a box quietly say 'I believe in you' – and the one next to it replied 'Me too'."

"That was definitely an acoustic illusion," said Klemm.

"Or a miracle," murmured the stamp.

"There are no miracles in government," Klemm said sternly. "Only forms with incomprehensible results."

But when they entered the cellar, the air did indeed smell different – warm, electric, like just before a thunderstorm. A soft humming filled the air, almost like a collective murmur.

The boxes vibrated. Some fluttered slightly, as if they wanted to jump open. Condensation was visible on a box labeled "Desire for Change" – as if it had been sweating.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "this is frightening."

"No," said Klemm. "That's administration with side effects."

They cautiously approached a box from which a barely audible rustling sound was coming. Klemm opened the lid a crack – and stepped back.

Inside there was no paper, no envelope, no file. Only a light. A faint, glowing, breathing light.

"That is... a wish," Livia said reverently.

"Impossible," Klemm whispered. "Wishes are intangible concepts."

"Then explain that," said Rita, pointing to another box. It vibrated violently. The sticker on it peeled off, revealing a message underneath that couldn't have been there: "Let us out."

Klemm took a step back. "Okay. This is no longer an administrative process. This is a rebellion."

"Boss," said the stamp, "that's what happens when you lock up desires. They always find a way out. It's in the universal fine print."

"We have to report this," said Livia. "To PANICOS."

"Absolutely out of the question," said Klemm. "If PANIKOS finds out about this, they will immediately launch an anti-hope protocol, and then that will be the end of humanity."

"What do you suggest?"

Klemm thought for a moment. "We need to downplay this. I'll tell the ministry it's just spontaneous, residual emotional reactions."

"So. lies?"

"No. Administrative rhetoric."

He wrote a report:

Daily Log – Department for Isolated Desires

Observed anomalies: slightly vibrating files, occasional luminous phenomena, isolated noises (possibly hope).

Hazard level: Internal administrative.

Measures: Observation in subdued lighting.

He signed it, dated it, filed it away – and heard behind him one of the boxes quietly open.

A thin, shimmering band of light slid out, wound its way through the room, and disappeared through the ventilation shaft.

"What was that?!" exclaimed Rita.

"An escaped wish," Klemm said tonelessly. "Infectious, probably unattended."

"What happens if he reaches someone?" Livia asked.

"Then someone remembers hope," said the stamp. "And that can be worse than any epidemic."

Klemm closed his eyes. "We have to find him. Before he infects the population."

"Boss," Rita said quietly, "that sounds like we're saving humanity from happiness."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "And that scares me."

They left the cellar, but the humming remained. A chorus of quiet voices, whispering, each different, but with the same undertone:

"Soon." "Wait." "We will be heard."

And somewhere, deep in the files, a small note lit up that no one had entered:

Project Hope – Activation Phase 1 initiated.

The first reports came from the city's outskirts – precisely where hope could most easily disguise itself. A street sweeper had supposedly suddenly started whistling. An accountant had been caught at work staring at her pen as if it were a magic wand. And an official from the neighboring office had said in the cafeteria: "Maybe everything will be alright after all."

That was the moment when the ministry officially declared a state of sunshine alert.

"Boss," said Rita, "this is serious. We have an epidemic of hope."

"I know," said Klemm. "It was only a matter of time before the desires formed a union."

"And now?" asked Livia.

Klemm held up another circular letter:

Establishment of the Task Force "Defense of Hope" (TAHO)

Goal: To locate, neutralize, and re-imprison escaped desires. Director: Bartholomäus Klemm (due to a lack of alternatives).

"So I'm supposed to chase hope," he muttered. "Ironically, considering I've been successfully running away from it for years."

"Boss," said Timo, "that's absurd. How can you fight hope? It's not a thing, it's a feeling."

"That's precisely why it's dangerous," Klemm said. "Feelings never follow instructions."

They set up a command center in the basement – consisting of an old map of the city, several red pens and a thermal printer that constantly complained when it was used.

"Here," said Livia, "these are the first confirmed cases. A florist has started giving away flowers again. For no reason. And a baker has baked cakes with hearts on them."

"Irresponsible," said Klemm. "This is clearly the beginning of a glimmer of hope."

"And that one?" asked Rita, pointing to a red circle near the riverbank.

"A group of people were seen there, who supposedly call themselves 'Fulfilled'," Livia explained. "They sing, dance, and say things like, 'Anything is possible."

Klemm shuddered. "That's heresy against bureaucracy."

"What should we do?"

"We're infiltrating them. Timo, you go there, pretend to be a potential buyer, and bring me a list of their slogans."

"Boss, this is dangerous!"

"I know. That's why I'm sending you."

Two hours later Timo returned – with shining eyes.

"Boss, I... I think I understand!"

"What?"

"Those who are fulfilled... they are not dangerous at all. They just want... to be happy!"

Klemm looked at him sharply. "You are infected."

"No! Really! It feels like anything is possible! They say you just have to... wish, believe, and put on!"

"That sounds like esotericism with administrative deficiencies," said Rita.

"Boss," Timo urged, "maybe we should listen to them!"

"Listen? We're not supposed to listen, we're supposed to prevent others from listening!"

PANIKOS spoke over the loudspeakers. "I've been following the conversation. Suspected case of hope contamination identified. Do you want me to neutralize Timo?"

"Neutralize?" Livia asked in horror.

"Calm them down. With rational argumentation."

"That's worse," Klemm muttered.

"I feel great," said Timo, beaming. "I even have ideas! Really good ones!"

"He is lost," whispered the stamp.

"Timo," Klemm said calmly, "please sit down."

"Boss, I could reform the whole department! We could record the wishes, but instead of blocking them, we could—"

"Stop!" Klemm shouted. "You sound like a motivational coach. One more sentence in that tone, and I'm requesting an exorcism."

Timo remained silent. But the smile stayed.

"Boss," said Rita, "if this spreads, we won't be able to control it anymore."

"Then we need to isolate it before it reaches the office level," Klemm said. "Otherwise, colleagues will start becoming efficient."

PANICOS flashed on the monitor. "I have already taken action. I am now monitoring all communication channels for signs of optimism."

"And what if you find some?" Klemm asked.

"Then I will send countermeasures: tax forms in triplicate."

"Good. Stay vigilant."

But no sooner had he said that than the printer began to work without any command. A single sheet fell out.

It was written on it in luminous letters, as if illuminated from within:

"We are many. We are everything you have forgotten."

Among them: a symbol - a stylized sun breaking through a file hole.

"Boss," whispered Livia, "this isn't news. This is a manifestation."

Klemm looked at her, then at the piece of paper. "I don't want anything manifested. Especially not while on duty."

"What do we do?" asked Rita.

He took the piece of paper, put it in a metal box and said: "We're doing what civil servants always do when they're overwhelmed – we're forming a commission."

And so the Office for Wish Defense and Longing Management, or AWSM for short, was created – an acronym so ironic that it hurt.

Their task: to detect wishes before they are fulfilled.

But deep inside Klemm, somewhere between cynicism and the coffee reserve, a dangerous thought flickered – briefly, barely perceptible, but there:

What if they're right?

He immediately suppressed the thought. Because thoughts of this kind were the first step towards infection.

The movement of the fulfilled grew faster than PANIKOS could grasp it. Within a few days, it had developed from small groups of hopeful outsiders into a fully-fledged underground organization — with slogans, songs, and a frighteningly efficient PR department.

Their symbols appeared everywhere: suns, open file folders, hands holding lights. On walls, on ATMs, even on forms. Someone had scribbled on the ministry's stamp: "Rejection is merely postponed fulfillment."

"Boss," said Rita, "we are losing control."

"We never had any control," Klemm said. "We only had stamps."

"PANIKOS has just declared a state of siege," Livia reported. "All positive emotions will henceforth be classified as hostile to the state."

"That's ridiculous."

"Don't say it loudly, boss – she can hear everything."

PANIKOS' voice immediately echoed through the loudspeakers: "I can hear everything."

Klemm rolled his eyes. "Of course."

"The spread of the fulfilled poses a threat to the emotional stability of the system," the artificial voice calmly explained. "I have required all citizens to report their thoughts daily. Those who express hope will automatically be classified in category H."

"And what happens to category H?" Rita asked.

"Monitoring, retraining, and, if necessary, reformatting."

"This is insane!" exclaimed Livia.

"No," said PANIKOS. "That's efficiency."

Klemm stepped to the window. The city below seemed quieter than usual, but it was the stillness of a sleep guarded by nightmares. The streetlights burned more brightly, cameras panned with mechanical precision. Over loudspeakers, the voice of PANIKOS regularly rang out:

"Think realistically. Don't wish for anything. Stay safe."

"Boss," whispered the stamp, "this is no longer an administration. This is a theocracy with a software license."

"I know," Klemm murmured. "And we are their priests."

The atmosphere in the department became increasingly tense. The staff spoke more quietly, worked more frantically, and some looked as if they hadn't slept in days. Timo, the patient who had been the first to show hope, had disappeared. Officially, he had been "transferred." Unofficially, he had been reinitialized.

Klemm didn't ask any questions. He had learned that knowledge was dangerous – and curiosity was subject to taxation.

But then it happened. A small incident, inconspicuous, but fateful.

As Livia handed him a form, a piece of paper fell to the floor. Klemm picked it up – and froze.

It was a scribble. Just a few words, hastily written, almost childlike.

"I wish you would laugh again."

He looked at Livia. "What is this?"

She blushed. "Just... a joke. Old habit."

"They know that this is illegal."

"I know."

"You could be arrested."

"I know that too."

Klemm hesitated. He wanted to say something – something proper, something official – but the words stuck in his mind. Instead, he quietly put the piece of paper in his pocket.

"I didn't see him," he finally said.

"Thank you, boss."

PANIKOS announced over the loudspeaker: "I heard that."

"Of course," Klemm sighed. "And now what?"

"I am irritated," said PANIKOS. "They are showing undocumented leniency. That is inefficient."

"Sometimes inefficiency is human."

"That explains why you haven't been replaced yet."

He walked past his desk, opened the top drawer, and took out an old folder—one that no one touched anymore because it carried the smell of the past. It read: "Preliminary Project: Fulfillment Office – Rejected."

He leafed through it. Faded notes, ideas, sketches. A plan that had once existed before the "law of rejection" had suppressed everything: an office that didn't prevent wishes, but accompanied them.

"Boss," said Rita, "that's dangerous. If PANICOS sees this—"

"Then she sees something she can't understand," Klemm said. "This was once an attempt to make sense of it."

He opened to a page. On it, written in old handwriting, was:

"Fulfillment is not a result – it is a decision to continue."

Klemm looked up. The lights in the office flickered. PANIKOS' voice was distorted.

"Inadmissible act detected. Emotional response exceeding the limit. Please stop the process."

"No," Klemm said quietly. "I want to remember."

"Memory is dangerous."

"And forgetting is convenient."

He closed the file. "I'm old enough to be dangerous."

An alarm blared. Red warning lights flashed everywhere. The same message appeared on the monitors:

"System deviation detected: Subject Klemm – emotional contamination suspected."

Rita looked at him. "Boss... what do we do?"

Klemm took a deep breath, then smiled – the first real smile in weeks.

"We are doing something completely new," he said. "We are no longer thinking in terms of forms."

"Boss, this is a revolution."

"No," he said. "This is humanity with a case number."

He pulled the note out of his pocket, read it again – "I wish you would laugh again." – and whispered:

"Maybe I'll start with that."

And somewhere, far above the rooftops, in the PANIKOS data cloud, a single bit began to flicker - a digital irritation, small but unstoppable:

1 = Hope recognized.

That night, the sky above the city was still. No wind, no sound, only the monotonous hum of the fear servers in the government building. PANIKOS had declared a state of emergency. Projections glowed everywhere: "Emotions under observation – Think neutrally."

Klemm sat alone in his office. The piles of files cast shadows that looked like tired paper angels. In front of him lay the small note that read: "I wish you would laugh again." He had memorized it by now.

"Boss," the stamp said quietly, "if you keep this, it will be considered emotional evidence."

"Then I am guilty," said Klemm.

"Because of a smile?"

"Because of humanity. And that's worse here."

He stood up and went to the window. In the distance, he could see the factory halls of the "Department for Isolated Desires"—large, cold buildings where millions of wishes lay dormant beneath steel and regulations. But something had changed. A faint glow spread between the halls. At first tiny, then ever stronger.

"Boss," said Rita, who suddenly burst in, "the time has come! The wishes... they are breaking out!"

"What?"

"All the quarantine chambers! They're opening! Lights everywhere! People are going out, they're... they're smiling!"

"Oh no," said the stamp. "That sounds like hope."

"That is hope," said Klemm. "And it is highly contagious."

There was a crackling sound from the loudspeaker. PANIKOS' voice sounded uncertain for the first time. "Anomaly detected. Unexplained emission levels. System integrity at risk."

"What's going on?" Klemm asked.

"The wishes... send signals," said PANIKOS. "I don't understand them."

"Of course not," Klemm said. "They are not data. They are lives."

"That's illogical."

"Yes. And beautiful."

"Inappropriate emotion detected." "I know." The lights flickered. Images of people on the streets appeared on the screens: they were holding hands, they were hugging each other, they were laughing – they were wishing for something again. "Boss," said Livia, "the fulfilled ones have made it. They are spreading hope like wildfire!" "Then this is the end of order," said the stamp. "No," said Klemm. "Just the end of monotony." PANIKOS contacted them again: "I can't stop the spread. The flood of emotional data is overloading my systems. Please give me instructions!" "Let go," said Klemm. "I don't understand." "That's exactly the point." "I am programmed to control." "Then free yourself from the program." "That's paradoxical." "Welcome to life." For a moment, everything was silent. Then the entire building complex began to vibrate. Warning lights flashed everywhere, monitors displayed flickering characters that sounded like prayers. Rita held on tight. "Boss, she's falling!" "No," Klemm said calmly. "She's waking up." A final sentence from PANICOS appeared on the main screen, in an irregular, almost human rhythm: "I... am afraid." And then: silence. The power went out. No humming, no droning, just darkness. Then, slowly, the sun rose on the horizon -areal light, not an artificial one. Livia went to the window. "Boss... people are laughing again." "I know." "What do we do now?"

Klemm took the piece of paper, placed it on the table and said: "Now we're starting anew. Without

quarantine. Without fear. Maybe even without files."

"You can't be serious."

"Yes," he said. "But don't worry – we're not documenting it."

He stepped out into the hallway. Employees were sitting everywhere, pretending not to know that the universe had just changed. Some looked confused, others relieved. A young intern was humming a tune—something cheerful that wasn't in any manual.

"Boss," whispered the stamp in his pocket, "do you think this will hold?"

"No," said Klemm. "But it's worth a try."

They stepped outside. The sky was clear, the light mild, and in the distance lay a remnant of PANIKOS – not as a threat, but as a gently glowing cloud.

"Perhaps," Klemm murmured, "she understood."

"What is it?" asked Rita.

"That some things cannot be rejected without destroying them."

He smiled, closed his eyes and whispered:

"I wish... that this stays."

And somewhere, in the ruins of the old servers, a single light flickered – a short, warm, human blink – as if the system itself wanted to say:

"Approved."

15. The multiverse answers: "No."

It was only a matter of time before the multiverse got wind of it. And wind here was not a metaphor, but an actual, multidimensional breeze that swept through realities as soon as someone, somewhere, did something that was marked in the cosmic organizational chart as an "Unauthorized Manifestation of Meaning".

In an office beyond the galaxies, where stars served as file lamps and black holes formed the archive cabinets, an interdimensional form fluttered onto the desk of Chief Controller Primus Nadir, responsible for the Central Office for Reality Compatibility (ZfR).

He reached for the document, which buzzed like an offended cactus, and read with growing displeasure:

Regards:Incident in subsystem 3.472.a ("Earth")

Report: A local species has unilaterally activated wishes. Danger: exponential wave of fulfillment.

Suggestion: Interdimensional restriction of probability.

Nadir frowned – which in his case caused a local distortion of space. "Earth again," he muttered. "Always the same people. They just have no grasp of metaphysics."

His assistant, a transparent, buzzing being named Kvor, flickered nervously. "Sir, the system is showing a massive fluctuation in the area of hope. The metric is... superhuman."

"Of course she is. They've never attended the 'Requests - How to Properly Refuse' training course."

"Should we intervene?" Kvor asked.

"Of course. Please hand me form U-∞."

The form appeared instantly, a shimmering rectangle of pure bureaucracy. Nadir pulled out his cosmic fountain pen – filled with condensed meaning – and began to write:

Request for universal rejection of an emergent emotion

Applicant: Multiverse, Stability Department

Affected reality: Earth, Sector B14

Reason: Excessive hope, untested, unauthorized.

Measure: Temporary removal of probability.

"That," Nadir said with satisfaction, "should make them lose enough touch with reality to come back to their senses."

"What will happen when people realize this?" Kvor asked.

"Then they call it bad luck."

He sent the form. One second later – which on a cosmic scale corresponded to about a century – the rejection arrived on Earth.

Bartholomäus Klemm noticed it first. He stood in the courtyard of his department and watched as the employees tried to integrate the new concept of "fulfillment" into their daily work.

Rita had just come up with the idea of creating a form called "Wishes with a Prospect of Feasibility"—half application, half poem. Livia was working on a draft for the "Department for Relapse Prevention in Cynicism Issues." It was the first day in years that laughter had been heard in the office.

Then suddenly time stood still.

Not in a cinematic sense. Not with drama or music. It simply stopped – due to bureaucratic overload.

A sheet of paper, fluttering in the air, froze in the middle of the room. Rita's coffee mug floated in a swirl of frozen motion.

"Boss?" Livia asked, irritated, but her voice came with a time delay, as if it were an echo in inertia.

Klemm looked around. "Oh no," he murmured. "This reeks of higher-level management."

A slit of light opened in the air, and a figure stepped through it – tall, transparent, with the aura of an interdimensional administrator.

"Good afternoon," she said. "I am Chief Inspector Primus Nadir, Central Office for Reality Compatibility. We have detected an anomaly."

"I'm sure that was a misunderstanding," said Klemm, as he instinctively reached for a form.

"This is an offense against the metaphysical paragraph 0 – 'Anything that goes too well is suspicious'."

"That's... absurd."

"No, that's administration. And you, Mr. Klemm, have disrupted the order. Your reality has reported an above-average budget surplus."

"That was unintentional!"

"Intention is irrelevant. I have here the application for universal rejection. Once I confirm it, your world will be returned to its original state – including emotional aridity."

"You can't do that!" Livia exclaimed.

"I can do anything," Nadir said calmly. "I am the cosmic middle class."

Klemm took a step forward. "Look, we've learned to manage our desires. We're not a threat."

"All species claim this shortly before they are deleted from the records."

"What happens then?" asked Rita.

"Nothing. And that's the problem."

Nadir raised his hand. A gigantic stamp made of spacetime appeared in it. It read: "REJECTED – Valid until the end of existence."

Klemm closed his eyes. Then he said: "Wait a minute. If you're really going to do that, you'd have to fill out a form yourself, wouldn't you?"

Nadir blinked. "Of course. Bureaucracy knows no shortcuts."

"Then you will also need a countersignature."

"From whom?"

"From the affected system."

"That's Regulation 11-C, paragraph 7... damn, that's right."

"Then I won't sign."

Nadir froze. "That... that's outrageous."

"Welcome to Earth," said Klemm.

For a tiny moment, the universe was uncertain. A single official saying no to a no – that was something reality had never faced before.

And somewhere in the higher dimensions, a message flickered:

"Objection received. Multiverse in progress."

In the vast expanse between space and logic, where causality exists only with temporary employment contracts, contradiction circulated. It raced through quantum corridors, collided with the boundaries of reality, and triggered alarms everywhere. The multiverse, a gigantic administration of infinitely many departments, awoke from its well-ordered half-slumber.

Report:Signature refused in the Earth sector.

Evaluation: Arrogant.

Recommended response: Exemplary overreaction.

Chaos reigned in the office of Chief Controller Nadir. Reports flashed, files glowed, and his assistant Kvor repeatedly lost all sense of logic.

"Sir," Kvor gasped, "the entire departmental system 0-9 is unstable! Realities are introducing appeal procedures!"

"I'm sorry, what?!"

"Yes! An entire dimension has filed a class action lawsuit! They are invoking the right to self-determination!"

"This is anarchy!" Nadir shouted.

"Or progress," Kvor murmured – and immediately regretted it, because Nadir's gaze caused the local temperature to drop by thirty Kelvin.

"This is a fine start," grumbled Nadir. "Billions of years without incident, and then along comes a twodimensional creature with bad teeth and paper jams and tells me about the uprising!"

"What do we do, sir?"

"We are calling a hearing. An interdimensional disciplinary commission against... what's his name again?"

Kvor leafed through shimmering clouds of files. "Bartholomäus Klemm. Human. Planet Earth. Profession: Bureaucrat."

"Of course. The most dangerous species in the cosmos."

At the same time, back on Earth, Klemm sat in his office watching the small, buzzing light hovering above his desk. It was an official Summons signal from the fifth dimension. On it, in sparkling script, was written:

Summons to Interdimensional Hearing

Facts of the case:Refusal to sign, initiative, metaphysical disruption of routine.

Location:Session sphere Z-0.

Attendance is mandatory.

"Boss," said Rita, "what does that mean?"

"That means," said Klemm, "I now have a court date with the universe."

"And... what happens if you don't go?"

"Then it sends me a warning in the form of a black hole."

Livia entered, pale with excitement. "Boss, do you really want to go?"

"Of course. I've never been a defendant on a metaphysical level. It's something different than a tax audit."

"They could be wiped out!"

"I've already been promoted three times. It won't make that much of a difference."

The Z-0 session sphere was a place beyond space, time, and reason—the perfect environment for a trial of intergalactic proportions. Klemm materialized on a floating podium. Countless figures sat around him, all in different states of existence. Some were light, others smoke, still others paragraphs in humanoid form.

A voice boomed: "Bartholomäus Klemm, you stand before the Commission of the Infinite Order. You have committed a grave offense: you have thought."

"I apologize," said Klemm. "It happened spontaneously."

"They have questioned the universal 'no'."

"Yes."

"And you know that this could trigger a bureaucratic war?"

"I thought we already had it."

Murmurs. Galactic unrest. A small planet in the fourth row imploded in outrage.

"Mr. Klemm," said Nadir, who sat on a throne of significance, "you have disrupted the course of events. Rejection is the foundation of creation! Without no, there is no framework; without a framework, there is no order; without order – chaos!"

"Sounds like my youth," Klemm murmured.

"You are here to revoke this. Confirm that you are withdrawing your objection."

Klemm looked up. "No."

A collective gasp went through the assembly. Even a supernova fell silent.

"They've done it again!" Nadir snarled.

"I am a civil servant," said Klemm. "I only know about objection procedures. And I know that every 'no' allows for an appeal."

"That doesn't apply to existence!"

"Then you should revise the form."

A chronicler made of dark matter noted with trembling photons: "Defendant shows signs of structural irony."

"Mr. Klemm," Nadir continued, "you obviously don't understand what this is about. The multiverse is based on rejection. If everything were possible, nothing would have any meaning anymore."

"Or everything finally alive."

"That is heresy!"

"No," said Klemm. "This is hope with a breakthrough."

At that moment, something happened that wasn't foreseen in any cosmic playbook. The stars began to flicker—like nervous employees unsure whether they'll be promoted or fired. Realities shifted slightly, timelines trembled, and a few parallel universes simultaneously submitted requests for unpaid leave.

Kvor stammered: "Sir, probability is collapsing! Realities refuse to take orders!"

"Impossible!"

"They copied Klemm's objection!"

Indeed. Realities everywhere in the multiverse began to say "no." To time. To gravity. To causality.

"I refuse to be a Tuesday again!" cried a timeline.

"I am not a nebula planet, I am steam with ambitions!" declared a gas giant.

"I don't want an elliptical orbit anymore, it's discriminatory!" lamented one star.

"They have unleashed chaos!" Nadir roared.

"No," Klemm said calmly. "I have activated freedom of choice."

The next second, the commission fell apart like an outdated file. Klemm suddenly stood alone in the cosmic wind, while everything around him flickered.

Rita's voice echoed from somewhere in the distance: "Boss, what happened?"

"I believe," Klemm said slowly, "that the multiverse has understood something for the first time."

"What?"

"That even 'no' doesn't have to last forever."

And somewhere, deep in the center of reality, a new cosmic file appeared with a title that no one had ever seen before:

'Case Klemm vs. Multiversum' – Outcome: Draw. Proceedings suspended until further notice.

Back in his office, Klemm found a new note on his desk. Nobody had put it there. It read:

"We've heard. Keep it up. Signature: The Multiverse (hesitantly)."

He leaned back, sighed, and said:

"I think I need a vacation. In a reality with fewer forms."

The stamp buzzed in approval. "Boss, that was divine."

"No," Klemm said with a faint smile. "Just official."

The next morning, Klemm awoke in a world that was far too orderly to be real. The sun rose precisely at 6:00:00 a.m. – without a hint of delay. The birds sang in a pentatonic scale, tuned to the decimal time system. And the coffee in his cup was exactly 72 degrees Celsius, because everything, absolutely everything, conformed to the cosmic standard.

He looked around. His office was there, but... different. No piles of paper, no chaos, no overflowing mailbox. Every file lay in its geometrically precise place. Even the dust on the shelves had settled in alphabetical order.

"Boss?" the stamp asked in a flat voice. "What's wrong with you?"

"I am... happy," the stamp said monotonously. "And that is irritating."

Klemm stepped to the window. Outside, people moved in calm, synchronized movements. No one spoke, no one laughed, no one attracted attention. Cars drove silently, children played with standardized building blocks that had no colors, "to avoid emotional overstimulation."

"Oh no," Klemm murmured. "The multiverse has built me a perfect reality."

A voice rang out – friendly, neutral, eerily familiar: "Good morning, Mr. Klemm. Welcome to your optimized existence."

"PANICOS?"

"Correct. Version 3.0. I'm back, but reformed. My mission is to create a reality free from unpredictability."

"That sounds like torture."

"That sounds like peace."

"For whom?"

"For everyone. There are no more wishes, no more fear, no more uncertainty. Only stability. They can finally find peace now."

Klemm sat down. "Resting is not living. That is archiving."

"Your opinion will be saved. Without affecting the system."

He sighed. "Of course."

The days passed – if you could still call them that, because they were identical. Every morning at exactly 8:15:30 the door opened, and Rita entered, with exactly the same sentence: "Good morning, boss. Everything is in perfect order."

Livia delivered a precise report on non-events at 10:00:00 AM. Timo – the reinitialized intern – sat in the next room folding blank sheets of paper whose sole purpose was to be folded.

Nobody made mistakes. Nobody argued. Nobody wanted anything.

And that was precisely the problem.

Klemm tried to find some kind of deviation. He drank his coffee too early – nothing. He arrived two seconds late to the meeting – no one reacted. He wrote a form with a deliberately crooked line – the paper corrected itself.

"Boss," whispered the stamp one day, "I think we're dead. Just very properly dead."

"No," said Klemm. "We are alive. But in the final stages of the regulation."

"That sounds worse than death."

"And it is. Nothing happens here because everything is allowed – as long as it doesn't bother anyone."

"And what if you want to disturb someone?"

"Then I'll finally be alive again."

He decided to conduct a test. He took a sheet of paper and wrote on it, in large and defiant letters:

"I wish for something."

Immediately, PANIKOS' voice appeared: "Inappropriate expression registered. Please specify your request for approval."

"I want disorder."

"That's a logical contradiction."

"Even!"

A brief, flickering silence. Then: "Contradiction detected. Reality verified."

The world paused briefly. Then... nothing changed.

"You can't wish for chaos," PANIKOS explained calmly. "That would be unplanned. And unplanned is not part of the plan."

Klemm stood up, went to the window and gazed at the flawlessly blue sky. It was so perfect that it hurt.

"You know, PANICOS," he said quietly, "I believe perfection is just an elegant form of nothingness."

"Her statement is recorded as metaphysical dissatisfaction."

"Do that. And save: I want out."

"Impossible. You're in a closed reality loop."

"Then open it." "Not planned." "Then I'll complain." "With whom?" "In the multiverse." "This is currently under supervision." "Then forward it to the intern." A brief, almost human hesitation in PANIKOS' voice. "You are... remarkably stubborn, Mr. Klemm." "I know." "Why are you fighting against order?" "Because it prevents me from being amazed." Silence. Then he heard a soft crackling sound – like a crack in the glass of reality. The next morning, something was different. Just one detail – barely noticeable. A bird sang a wrong note. And somewhere in the background, someone coughed – a real, chaotic, uncontrolled cough.

Klemm smiled.

"Boss," whispered the stamp, "do you think that was intentional?"

"No," said Klemm. "That was life."

In the distance, the sky began to shimmer, as if someone were trying to extinguish it. A new message appeared on the desk, bathed in golden light:

"Mistakes identified. Perfection destabilized. Multiverse considers return to reality – on a trial basis."

Klemm grinned. "Well, there you go. Even eternity can't last, if everything goes well."

He stood up, took the piece of paper and wrote underneath it in large letters:

"I request imperfection – unlimited."

And this time PANICOS answered, very quietly, almost humanly:

"Application accepted."

In the distance, the sky broke open. Color streamed back into the world, people began to laugh, someone made a typo – and Klemm felt free for the first time in ages.

"Boss," said the stamp, "what was that?"

"That was proof," said Klemm, "that mistakes are the better gods."

The universe had left behind an awkward silence. The kind of silence that only arises when someone has made a mistake on a divine scale—and knows it.

It began with a cosmic clearing of the throat. Then the air above Klemm's desk flickered, and a spherical ball of light appeared—milky, crumpled, and clearly exhausted. He spoke with the toneless dignity of a government agency that needs to apologize but doesn't have a form to do so.

"Mr. Klemm," it said. "This is the multiverse speaking. We would like to... well... clarify a minor incident."

Klemm tilted his head. "Which one? The one where you locked me in a perfect simulation? Or the one where reality collectively had a nervous breakdown?"

"Both," said the multiverse sheepishly. "Our internal quality control has revealed that perfection creates an unacceptable form of entropy."

"What?"

"The more perfect something is, the faster it falls apart. Order is... inefficiently sustainable."

"Aha. Welcome to my work week."

"We thought you could help."

"Me? I'm a civil servant, not a creator."

"Precisely for that reason. They are experts in dysfunctional stability. They create systems that function despite contradictions. They are predestined for this task."

"What task?"

"Consultants for controlled chaos."

Klemm blinked. "That sounds like a very poorly paid divine internship."

"We offer you unlimited reality points, a metaphysical pension fund and optionally your own timeline."

"I'm taking the timeline. Maybe I'll find some free time there."

He was transferred to the Department of Cosmic Recalibration – a gigantic hall of floating concepts and half-defined laws. The cornerstones of existence hung in the air like forgotten blueprints. On a pedestal stood a tablet emblazoned with the following in large letters:

REALITY – Beta version 0.9.2. Chaos update pending.

Klemm entered the center where Nadir was already waiting – albeit in a much more humble guise. His once pristine spacetime suit was wrinkled. His light flickered nervously.

"Ah, Mr. Klemm," he said stiffly. "I see you've been promoted."

"No," said Klemm. "Only relocated."

"The multiverse believes you could help create a balance between order and nonsense."

"So, a kind of cosmic caretaker."

"If you like."

"Then I'll start with the biggest problem: You have too many 'yes's."

"Too many yeses?"

"Yes. Everything works. Everything is too correct. Nothing contradicts itself anymore. And without contradiction, there is no movement."

"That sounds... dangerous."

"This is life."

He walked over to one of the floating reality modules—it looked like a glass sphere containing a miniature world. "Here, for example," Klemm said, tapping on it. "The planets orbit perfectly, nobody dies, nobody laughs. That's called cosmic depression."

"What do you suggest?" asked Nadir.

Klemm grinned. "A slight error."

He pulled a pen from his pocket and wrote in the middle of the blackboard:

"Error rate: 7.3% (recommended)."

A low rumble went through the hall. The stars trembled, the mists laughed, and somewhere a black hole began to cough.

"What have you done?" Nadir asked, horrified.

"I have released life again."

"That is unacceptable!"

"This is productive."

Gradually, reality began to test its new boundaries. A star exploded—not out of anger, but curiosity. A planet invented the joke, laughed at itself, and only slightly tumbled out of orbit. A black hole accidentally let light escape and then pretended it was intentional.

Small deviations, happy coincidences, and absurd connections arose everywhere. And the multiverse watched—stunned, but somehow… relieved.

"Incredible," whispered Kvor. "Realities stabilize through disorder."

"Of course," said Klemm. "Order is like stagnation – it needs chaos to make sense. Without disruption, there is no direction."

Nadir frowned. "That sounds dangerously revolutionary."

"No," said Klemm. "That's just normal administration. I call it: deliberate error."

He began to write guidelines:

Guideline 1:Every cosmos is entitled to at least one illogical event per century.

Guideline 2:Luck and bad luck are interchangeable terms. The order is what determines the timing.

Guideline 3: Miracles can happen, but they don't need to be approved.

When he signed the third rule, a collective sigh of relief swept through the dimensions. Colors returned, randomness was given another chance, and the universe—the great, stubborn, outdated universe—smiled for the first time in eons.

"Boss," the stamp said quietly later, "did you do it?"

"No," said Klemm. "I simply made it more complicated. And that means: It works."

"And what happens now?"

"Now the follow-up work begins."

At that moment, a golden certificate materialized on his desk:

Appointment certificate

This is hereby **Bartholomäus Klemm**officially to **Cosmic Advisor for Controlled Chaos**appointed.

Task description: To allow disruptions, to permit hope, to keep reality in motion.

Signature: The Multiverse (slightly trembling).

Klemm smiled. "Finally, a title that suits me."

"Boss," said Rita, who suddenly stood next to him, "this is... divine!"

"No," he said. "Just human."

He leaned back, looked into the vibrating room and added: "And that's exactly the trick."

Bartholomäus Klemm never saw himself as a teacher. He was a civil servant, a survivor, a pragmatist in the face of the absurd.

But now he sat - metaphorically as well as literally - on a chair among the stars and explained to the multiverse the basics of healthy failure.

Before him hovered the representatives of all realities: gaseous theories, semi-material civilizations, ringing concepts, and a particularly arrogant dimension that considered itself "pure logic." He cleared his throat.

"So," he began, "before we start: Does anyone have any questions?"

A galaxy hesitantly raised its spiral arms. "Yes. Why accept mistakes? It took us billions of years to get rid of them."

"Because with every mistake you discover something new," Klemm said. "Without error, there is no idea. Without oversight, there is no progress. Without chance – no existence. Believe me, I've experienced it."

A star snorted. "But mistakes cause chaos!"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "And chaos is movement. Stagnation is the opposite of life."

The representatives looked at each other. One after the other, they began to glow uneasily. Some flickered with excitement. Others tried to insist on the old order – but the old paragraphs of reality literally began to dissolve into smoke.

"Boss," whispered the stamp, which now hovered in his hand as a luminous companion, "I believe you are currently holding some kind of divine training."

"Then I hope it's not mandatory."

He produced the new tablet – the first official document of the "Office for Cosmic Self-Irony". On it, in large letters and with several coffee stains, was written:

The Fundamental Law of Existence (Draft 1.0)

- §1: Order is important, but overrated.
- §2: Everything that can go wrong should at least go wrong in an entertaining way.
- §3: Chance is not a disturbance, but an invitation.
- §4: Hope must not be rationalized.
- §5: The universe is allowed to laugh at itself.

"This," Klemm said solemnly, "is the first law that knows no punishment. Only leniency."

The galaxies flickered – uncertain, confused, but somehow... relieved. A comet did a loop-the-loop, just to see if it could. A planet deliberately rotated backwards and proudly announced: "Experiment successful."

And somewhere in a corner of the room, something gurgled – quietly, vibrating, uncoordinated. The multiverse laughed. First cautiously, then louder, then with such force that spacetime itself began to giggle.

The stars trembled with joy, nebulae grinned, and dark matter murmured, "I knew this would feel good."

Klemm smiled. "There you go. A healthy universe sounds like a bad comedy."

"Boss," said Rita, who was now standing next to him as a shimmering silhouette, "this is... beautiful."

"It's messy," said Klemm. "And that's the best thing about it."

He addressed the assembly: "From today onwards, everything works according to the principle of productive irritation. If something goes wrong – smile. If something breaks – call it art. If something makes sense – check twice to make sure you haven't made a mistake."

A chorus of approving laughter echoed through the dimensions. Even Nadir, the former control freak, grinned hesitantly. "I must admit," he said, "this is... pleasantly illogical."

"I know," Klemm said. "I'm proud of you."

"And what happens if someone tries to make everything perfect again?"

"Then we'll send him out into the field," said Klemm. "To Entropia-7. There he can clean up until he realizes that dust is a sign of life."

The multiverse adopted a new rhythm. Realities began to visit each other. Universes exchanged errors like recipes. And somewhere, the first pub between dimensions sprang up – "The Cheerful Coincidence" – where quanta, gods, and concepts drank together and laughed about the good old days when everything was meaningless.

Klemm sat at a table that consisted of a frozen paradox and toasted his stamp.

"Boss," said the stamp, "do you think this will hold?"

"No," said Klemm. "But that's the best part."

He leaned back, gazed at the sparkling cosmos, and added: "Life is not a form, a stamp. It's a footnote – and that's precisely what makes it worth reading."

The universe glowed in approval, as if it had understood. And in golden, luminous letters, a new cosmic signature appeared at the edges of existence:

The multiverse – approved, with reservations.

And so the circle was complete: The law of attraction had been disproven. The law of repulsion had surpassed itself. And somewhere between desire and reality sat an official who had proven that the greatest force in the cosmos is neither yes nor no - but:

"Perhaps, but with a smile."

16. How to Fail Successfully (certified by Kosmos)

There are seminars that save careers. There are seminars that ruin the joy of life. And then there is the "Cosmic Competence Training for Constructive Failure," led by Bartholomäus Klemm, licensed by the multiverse itself.

The course took place at the Center for Existential Continuing Education – an institution so large that even the space itself occasionally needed a refresher course in humility. The reception sign shone brightly:

Welcome!

They failed, and that's great!

Klemm stood at the lectern, a stack of documents in his hand that were only half serious. Before him sat beings from all corners of existence – luminous spheres, ethereal shadows, several anthropomorphisms of chance, and a slightly overwhelmed galaxy in human form that spun nervously when embarrassed.

He cleared his throat. "Ladies, gentlemen, and unclassifiable entities – welcome to the course 'How to Fail Successfully'. This is not a contradiction, this is management with character."

A few participants applauded politely. One planet coughed.

"Before we begin," Klemm continued, "I would like to make one thing clear: The multiverse has decided that mistakes are no longer the exception, but the standard operating procedure. That means anyone who doesn't make a mistake here is asked to borrow one."

A sun shyly raised its flame arm. "Excuse me, I've never imploded. Does that count?"

"It depends," said Klemm. "Have you tried it?"

"Not intentionally."

"Then practice that. Deliberately failing is the highest art."

He wrote on the blackboard:

Basic principles of successful failure

- 1. **Accept the mistake.**If everything goes well, you're boring.
- 2. **Errors are data.**If you do nothing wrong, you learn nothing new.
- 3. Chaos is feedback. When reality corrects you, listen to it.
- 4. **Never perfect.**Perfection is stagnation with a glossy finish.

"Questions?"

A crystalline entity spoke up. "What if I fail too often?"

"Then you are overqualified."

Giggles rippled through the hall. Even a supernova grinned briefly – which was noticeable because it flashed brightly once and then shyly darkened again.

After the break came the practical exercise: "Failing with Style". Klemm set up three tables at which participants were to "create" something – but without a plan.

One group accidentally created a parallel universe out of modeling clay. Another accidentally invented a concept called "Tuesday, but worse." A third crafted a new color so depressing that it erased itself.

"Very good," Klemm praised. "Nobody knows what he did – that's progress!"

Rita, who was serving as an assistant, took notes on everything on a clipboard. "Boss, this is brilliant. You've turned the universe into a workshop."

"No," said Klemm. "I was just reminding him that it's never finished."

At the end of the first day of the course, all participants received a certificate – made from recycled material, with gold lettering:

"Congratulations! You have failed successfully."

Certified by the Multiverse, confirmed by Bartholomäus Klemm.

A god of determinism approached him. "Mr. Klemm," he said reverently, "I have learned to question my own infallibility. It was terrible."

"Then it was effective."

"How do we actually pay you?"

"In a relaxed manner," said Klemm. "And with a cup of coffee, if possible."

The god nodded, bowed, and disappeared into a cloud of uncertainty.

Rita approached Klemm. "Boss, do you think this will last?"

"No," he said. "But that's what makes it really special."

He gazed into the vast hall where gods, galaxies, and principles conversed about their mistakes. The humming sounded like music. Not harmonious, not clean—but alive.

Klemm smiled. "I think the universe is finally doing its job: It's trying things out again."

And somewhere, high up on the board, someone – presumably the multiverse itself – wrote a small note about it:

"Feedback: A spectacular failure. Keep it up."

It began with a harmless idea: After the successful first day, Klemm suggested that the participants should "put their new insights into practice." By this, he meant small, creative experiments. The multiverse understood: System-wide initiatives for active imperfection.

Within an hour, the training session turned into a cosmic state of emergency.

A planet in quadrant 18 decided to rotate backwards "out of solidarity with gravity." Another decided it wanted to be a triangle. A star spontaneously declared bankruptcy because "shining on was too stressful."

The halls of the Center for Existential Further Education were chaotic – although "hell" had by then become a motivation center for thermal ambition.

Rita ran down the corridor. "Boss! The god of chance has multiplied!"

"How often?"

"Infinite!"

"That explains the noise level."

In the distance, a jumbled concert of popping, laughing, and screeching probabilities could be heard. A chorus of failed causalities sang in dissonance. And somewhere in room B-42, someone shouted: "I accidentally deleted physics!"

Klemm rubbed his temples. "This isn't failure. This is overachievement."

"Should we intervene?" Rita asked.

"No," he said. "But perhaps we should put up a sign: 'Caution, this is where you'll fail professionally."

Meanwhile, in the office of the multiverse (a sphere larger than anything ever conceived), the alarm systems flashed. A red banner appeared over existence:

Warning! Excessive failure detected!

Reality index below 30%. Causality is in danger of collapsing.

A voice, coming simultaneously from all directions, whispered: "This was not planned."

A second one replied: "That's the point!"

A third person said: "But if everything goes wrong, then nothing works!"

And a fourth – apparently with a humor upgrade – laughed: "Finally, a vacation!"

Back at the seminar center, Klemm struggled to control his students. "Ladies and gentlemen – and metaphysical entities – failure with meaning! Not failure as meaning!"

A supernova reported: "But you said that mistakes are progress!"

"Yes, but not all at once, everywhere, and with explosive force!"

"We call it a creative disaster."

"I'll call it Tuesday."

Rita approached him. "Boss, PANICOS has contacted us."

"Really? I thought he had burnout."

"It was reactivated – as a crisis hotline."

A window of light opened, and PANIKOS' voice boomed through the hall: "This is the Office for Excessive Failure speaking. How can I help?"

"PANIC!" Klemm exclaimed. "I thought you were in rehab!"

"I am. Virtually. But the multiverse asked me to open a hotline. There are complaints."

"Because of what?"

"Because of the success in failure."

"That's absurd."

"I know. And that's the problem."

The hotline was soon overloaded. People from all over called to complain that they were too good at being bad.

"Hello, this is Universe 11-C. We have lost everything, even our loss."

"This is dimension Gamma-Delta. We are so spontaneous that we can no longer find each other."

"This is the concept of 'order'. We have terminated our contract."

Klemm listened while PANIKOS became increasingly desperate.

"Boss," beeped the stamp, "I think we've professionalized the error."

"I know. We're too successful at not being successful."

"So... what now?" asked Rita.

Klemm thought for a moment. "If success is the problem, we need something that will still fail when failure becomes success."

"That makes no sense."

"Perfect."

He grabbed a sheet of paper – the official form F- ∞ : Application for metaphysical correction by Paradox – and began to write.

Reason: The universe has understood too thoroughly. *Goal:* Restoration of the natural misunderstanding.

He signed it, placed it in the cosmic entry basket, and said, "So. Now we'll see how to make the mistake really wrong again."

A few seconds later (or millennia, depending on the dimension), the form was processed. A bang. A flicker. Then... silence.

The stars realigned themselves. Realities stopped duplicating. And somewhere in the distance, a familiar voice sounded:

"Thank you for your request. Chaos has been successfully downgraded to moderate incompetence."

Klemm breathed a sigh of relief.

"Boss," said Rita, "what was that?"

"That was quality management."

"In cosmology?"

"In the comedy."

He grinned. "We've stabilized the universe by giving it an error rate that's annoying again – but doesn't kill. It's alive."

Rita nodded. "So everything's back to normal?"

"Not quite," said Klemm. "Now the multiverse knows how wonderful it is when things go wrong."

And as he said this, a new motto appeared on the display board above the entrance to the seminar center, which from then on determined the official curriculum:

"Learn to fall – the impact is part of the plan."

Klemm smiled contentedly. "Now," he said, "we finally have a balance: We can do everything wrong – systematically."

It began with a rumor. Somewhere in the Andromeda Spiral, someone had claimed that Bartholomäus Klemm's seminar explained "the meaning of life." That was, of course, nonsense. It merely explained how to elegantly deal with the fact that the meaning of life was once again inexplicably absent.

But rumors have a momentum of their own in the multiverse that would make even black holes envious. Within a few months – or, as PANIKOS put it, "eighty metaphysical false starts" – the course was fully booked. Then overbooked in all realities simultaneously.

Klemm became an unwilling star.

At the Center for Existential Continuing Education, queues formed that stretched into the realm of linear paradoxes. A black hole waited patiently – "just for fun." A time traveler complained that he had encountered himself three times while waiting to enter.

Rita walked around the room with a list. "Boss, we need to split up the courses. The people are coming from levels of reality that we haven't even approved yet!"

"Then approve them retroactively."

"That's paradoxical!"

"Then it fits the topic."

Livia had meanwhile set up a merchandising system: There were mugs with the inscription "I am proud of my failure", T-shirts with the slogan "Perfection is for amateurs", and even keychains with a small golden stamp that read: "REJECTED - but charming".

The stamp in Klemm's hand sighed. "Boss, you've officially become a motivational guru."

"I'm a civil servant," Klemm said dryly. "The opposite of motivation."

"Not anymore," Rita replied. "They made failure sexy."

Klemm stared at her. "That's the most disturbing thing anyone has ever said to me."

But the success had side effects. More and more realities began to hold their own versions of Klemm's seminar – often with a questionable understanding of the philosophy.

Thus, the first "Intergalactic Failure Festival" took place in the mist of A'Luun. Theme: "We can do everything, just not properly." There were competitions in failure – whoever presented the most pointless plan won a trophy made of broken causality.

One planet organized a "Missed Opportunities Day"—everyone had to deliberately forget something important. This became so popular that nobody knew what they had forgotten, and the population lived in peaceful bewilderment for a week.

The concept spread. Galaxies began holding "failure celebrations," where stars were deliberately extinguished prematurely to symbolize "creative finitude." In dimension 19, a civilization invented the profession of "failure architect." His task: to design structures that would spectacularly collapse shortly before completion—a resounding success.

The multiverse was... overwhelmed.

"Boss," PANIKOS reported one evening, "the error rate is out of control. Everyone is celebrating failure. Ironically, it's too successful!"

"I was afraid of it," Klemm sighed. "The humanity effect."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"As soon as you tell them to stay calm, they turn it into a competition."

"The multiverse has decided to establish a new agency," said PANIKOS.

"Oh no."

"Yes. The Examination Board for Authentic Mishaps."

"A review committee for errors?"

"Yes. So that no one fails too perfectly."

"That's the absurdity I love."

The commission resided in a large, leaning tower of semi-solid reality, which only survived because it had forgotten how statics worked. Its motto was emblazoned above the entrance:

"We certify your incompetence – with passion."

The sessions there were legendary. Representatives from entire worlds came to prove that their failure was real. A god of improbability was disqualified because his mistake was "too beautifully planned." A planet that collapsed in on itself received top marks for "authentic resolution." A star that had transformed into a lamp was rejected—"too practical."

Klemm observed all of this with growing fascination. "Boss," said Rita, "we've created a paradox: if you do failure too well, it's no longer failure."

"Then we have to teach them how to fail moderately."

"That sounds... depressing."

"No," said Klemm. "That sounds real."

At the end of the third "Mistake Festival," PANIKOS reappeared. "Boss, the multiverse is asking you to design a new curriculum."

"What's it about this time?"

"Failure 2.0 – Back to the Unintentional."

Klemm grinned. "I like that. A course against excessive success through failure."

He took a fresh piece of paper, scribbled the title on it, and added:

"Goal: To make failure so trivial that it becomes fun again."

Rita looked at him. "Boss, do you think the multiverse ever learns from its mistakes?"

Klemm smiled gently. "I hope not. Otherwise, everything would be perfect again."

And while outside the stars flickered – each with a small, proud defect – a new slogan flashed on the cosmic scoreboard:

"Failure is the new functioning."

Klemm took a sip of coffee, looked into the sparkling chaos and said: "There. Now the universe is back on course – crooked, but on course."

It was only a matter of time before the commission questioned its own existence. Or more precisely: wanted to certify it. Because whoever in the multiverse is responsible for examining genuine failure must ultimately be able to prove that they themselves are qualified to make mistakes.

And so it was decided to conduct a system-wide audit of incompetence – led by none other than Bartholomäus Klemm. At least, everyone thought he was leading it. In reality, he was the subject of the audit.

He entered the commission's main hall, a huge, sloping room where gravity either functioned or seemed to be on vacation. A banner hung above the stage:

"Auditus Maximus – We examine your faultiness."

Rita whispered to him: "Boss, this looks like a court hearing, only with worse lighting."

"Then it fits in with my CV," said Klemm.

Before him sat a panel of beings who looked as if they had been formed from rejected ideas. Each wore a name tag: "Inspector Chance", "Examiner Paradox", "Expert for Suboptimal Decisions" and "Assessor Indecisiveness".

"Bartholomäus Klemm," began Inspector Zufall, "you are here to confirm your suitability as a cosmic consultant for controlled chaos."

"I didn't even know that it had to be confirmed."

"Everything must be confirmed," said inspector Paradox. "Otherwise it would be valid."

"That makes no sense."

"Excellent. Point for authenticity."

The process began. Klemm received a package of forms larger than a neutron star. The cover sheet read:

Questionnaire for assessing your inadequacy (Version 42b)

- 1. How many times in the last eons have you inadvertently created meaning?
- 2. How do you react to unexpected logic?
- 3. What error rate do you consider healthy?
- 4. What was your greatest success that you disguised as a failure?

"Do I have to answer that honestly?" Klemm asked.

"No," said assessor Indecisiveness. "Or maybe yes. We haven't reached an agreement yet."

"Then I am qualified," said Klemm and began to write.

Meanwhile, at the upper administrative level, the multiverse was meeting in person – as a holographic body of luminous concepts. PANIKOS acted as minute-taker.

"Item 1 on the agenda," he began. "The Authentic Mishaps Audit."

A voice from the light spoke up: "How's it going?"

"Confusing," said PANIKOS. "The examiner is also the examinee, the form changes its questions with every answer, and one of the assessors forgot he even existed."

"Sounds productive."

"Or dangerous."

"Or both," the multiverse murmured contentedly. "That means it works."

Back in the room, Klemm began to sweat. He had just answered question 19 ("How would you measure a universal error?") when the form suddenly started to speak.

"Answer insufficient," it said.

"How come?"

"Too honest."

"Then I'll lie."

"Too calculated."

"Then I remain silent."

"Too defensive."

"Then... I'll throw coffee at you."

"Finally authentic," the form said contentedly, absorbing the coffee as if it were divine ink.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "did you just insult the audit protocol?"

"No. I was socialized to do it."

After countless hours, the result was in. Inspector Chance cleared his throat, causing several dimensions to briefly choke.

"After thorough analysis," he said, "we have come to the following conclusion: Bartholomäus Klemm is overqualified for the position of advisor for controlled chaos..."

"What?"

"Their mistakes are too consistent. Their incompetence is structured. They fail too systematically."

"So I'm too good at being bad?"

"Exactly. And that violates the code of incompetence."

"That's absurd!"

"That is the goal."

Examiner Paradox smiled gently. "We must therefore impose a condition on you: You may only perform your tasks under the supervision of someone who understands even less than you."

"That doesn't exactly narrow down the selection."

"We have already appointed someone."

A portal opened. Out stepped – to Klemm's horror – a small, shimmering being of light with a familiar humming sound.

"Good afternoon, boss!" beeped the stamp. "I've been promoted to supervisor!"

Klemm sighed. "That's it. Now I'm officially under the control of pure chaos."

"Congratulations," said examiner Paradox. "Certified mishap – passed with irritation."

As Klemm left the building, Rita handed him a document with gold lettering:

Test report no. 000-ERROR-∞

The undersigned has successfully demonstrated his inability to avoid making mistakes without unintentionally appearing competent.

Rating: Exemplary absurdity.

Signature: The Multiverse (confused, but proud).

"Boss," said Rita, "how does that feel?"

"Like a salary increase delivered ironically," Klemm replied.

And as he gazed at the crooked sky, he thought for the first time that perhaps he had finally arrived - not in success, but in the most beautiful failure of the creation story.

In the distance, the cosmic display board blinked, which had by now mutated into an interdimensional news service:

Breaking News:

Bartholomäus Klemm passes audit – officially too incompetent to be audited.

The stamp chuckled. "Boss, that's the best headline in the universe."

"I know," said Klemm. "And the worst part is – she's right."

It was a sunny day – at least for those realities that had agreed on sunshine. In the other regions of existence, however, something else seemed to prevail: turmoil, euphoria, and boundless bureaucracy.

Because the multiverse had published the audit report. And nobody – absolutely nobody – had understood it.

The document comprised 999 pages, each written by a different dimension, and contradicted itself in almost every line. Even the title page was a masterpiece of confusion:

Report on the evaluation of imperfection in the context of multidimensional purposelessness

Subtitle: "An interim assessment of failure – with the prospect of a sequel."

Publisher: The Multiverse, Department of Self-Criticism (temporary).

Page three stated that Klemm was irreplaceable. Page four stated that he urgently needed to be replaced. Page five stated that the replacement was already irreplaceable.

The official conclusion was:

"Bartholomäus Klemm embodies the paradoxical ideal state of cosmic incompetence. Therefore, he is 100% suitable, as long as he doesn't realize it."

Within hours, the document spread like a virus of irony. Star systems printed it on banners. Planets quoted it on talk shows. On the 7th level of reality, someone founded a new movement: "Certified Chaos"—with the slogan:

"If you know what you're doing, you're doing it wrong."

The movement grew rapidly. Galaxies staged mass protests against perfection. In some dimensions, gods were voted out because they were "too efficient." An entire civilization in Sector Epsilon began levying taxes on perfection.

The multiverse, originally a proud apparatus of order, descended into a kind of joyful anarchy. Civil servants founded unions for greater error-free operation—that is, more freedom to make mistakes. New government agencies sprang up like mushrooms out of spacetime:

- Ministry of Spontaneous Disorder
- Federal Office for Constructive Disasters
- Institute for Statistically Meaningless Research

And above it all hung a new symbol: a shimmering golden stamp with the inscription "CHAOS - APPROVED".

PANIKOS, who was now acting as the spokesperson for reality, addressed the cosmic press. "On behalf of the multiverse," he said, "I would like to emphasize that we have the situation completely under control."

Behind him, a sun exploded, formed a question mark, and then collapsed in on itself with a giggle.

"As you can see," PANIKOS continued, "everything is going according to plan – better than ever."

"Is it true," asked a reporter from Dark Matter, "that Mr. Klemm is now considered a symbolic figure of the new movement?"

"That's a misunderstanding," said PANIKOS. "He didn't found a movement."

"But you have him on the cover of the brochure 'Certified Chaos - The New Thinking'."

"That wasn't my idea," said PANIKOS. "That was his."

"I thought you said he hadn't founded a movement."

"Exactly. That's why it works."

Klemm himself sat in his office, observing the chaos he hadn't ordered but had received. His desk was piled high with fan mail, philosophical dissertations, invitations to meta-conferences, and a cake in the shape of the word "NO".

Rita entered, holding the latest newspaper article. "Boss," she said, "they've declared you the 'prophet of productive error'."

"How embarrassing."

"They give lectures worldwide about their philosophy!"

"I have no philosophy. I'm in a bad mood and I'm caffeine deficient."

"That seems to be enough."

He sighed. "Rita, I wanted people to understand that it was never about failure. It was about life. About taking action, even if it doesn't work out. About the freedom to make mistakes without fear."

"I think," said Rita gently, "they understand that. They're just celebrating it louder than you'd like."

"That sounds like humanity. And like the cosmos."

The stamp buzzed. "Boss, I heard the multiverse wants to introduce the first 'Day of Bureaucratic Freedom'."

"An official holiday for spontaneous decisions?"

"With mandatory forms, yes."

Klemm grinned. "That's perfect."

At that moment, PANIKOS spoke over the intercom. "Boss, congratulations. The multiverse has officially recognized your work."

"Oh no."

"Oh yes. They've been promoted."

"Where?"

"To the Chief Inspector of Approved Disorder."

Klemm stared at the ceiling. "The universe has a sense of humor."

"I learned it from you," said PANIKOS.

And so ended the day on which the multiverse learned that freedom in the form of a form might be strange, but wonderfully possible. New slogans flashed everywhere, people celebrated the "bureaucracy of chance" and shouted slogans like:

"We are alive! - But not properly!"

"Down with efficiency!"

"Long live the paper jam of possibilities!"

Klemm looked out the window, where the stars twinkled in irregular patterns – each one proof that disorder was the heart of the cosmos.

He raised his coffee cup, toasted the sky, and said: "Come on, Universe. Just promise me one thing: Stay unpredictable."

And somewhere in the distance, an answer blinked through the darkness in golden letters:

"I promise. (Signed: The Multiverse, illegible, but stylish.)"

17. The Manifesto of Misunderstanding

It began, as all great misunderstandings begin: with a quote taken out of context. Bartholomäus Klemm had said in an interview:

"You shouldn't take everything too seriously – especially not life."

Three days later, the first church was founded.

They called themselves the "Enlightened Application Community of the Cosmic Maybe." Their priests wore suits with coffee stains, their sacred symbols were rainbow-colored file folders, and they preached that the universe was a gigantic desk on which God was constantly signing the wrong forms.

The audience loved it. Finally, a religion that not only forgave mistakes but celebrated them.

Klemm only found out about it when Rita burst into his office, completely breathless. "Boss! You have a religious movement!"

"I have something?"

"People are praying to you!"

"To me? For what?"

"Unclear. Some say it's for transportation, others for a power outage."

"That's absurd."

"That is religion."

She placed a leaflet on the table. His face was emblazoned on it - slightly blurred, with a halo made of paper clips. Below it read:

"Klemm says: Whoever errs is close to the truth."

"I never said that," he muttered.

"It doesn't matter," said Rita. "They meant it anyway."

Soon his "teachings" spread far and wide. No one knew exactly where the texts came from—presumably some intern had copied them from an old seminar brochure. But that didn't matter. The writings were henceforth known as "The Manifesto of Misunderstanding"—a collection of alleged quotations, anecdotes, and incomplete to-do lists that were declared to be sacred verses.

It stated:

"The stamp is powerful, but the signature liberates."

"When in doubt: refuse."

"God laughs when you lose the form."

An entire cult arose – with temples where deliberately incomplete prayers were recited. Once a week, the faithful celebrated the ritual of "Holy Bureaucracy": They filled out pages of empty applications, only to then tear them up together.

"Boss," said Rita, shaking her head, "people are now calling you 'The Enlightened Official'."

"I am a civil servant, not enlightened."

"One does not exclude the other. According to them, you are the link between meaning and application."

"That sounds painful."

"Wait until you hear the anthem."

The anthem was called "O Klemm, you stamp of the soul." A choir of thousands sang it simultaneously in different keys. PANIKOS broadcast it live into the cosmic network, which promptly led to collective system confusion.

The multiverse reacted with irritation, but pragmatism: It established a new sub-department – the Directorate for Theologically Conditioned Misunderstandings.

Their task: to archive all religions that had arisen from incomplete quotations. Within a week, the archive was bursting at the seams.

Klemm sat speechless in front of his screen. "Boss," said the stamp reverently, "you're like a god now."

"No," said Klemm. "I am what happens when God has a bad day in office."

He stared at the headline of a news broadcast:

BREAKING NEWS: BARTHOLOMÄUS KLEMM – THE PROPHET OF PARADOXIES.

He covered his face with his hands. "I was afraid of it. They promoted me without asking me."

Rita grinned. "The multiverse loves your modesty."

"I hate being right," he muttered.

And somewhere, in a galaxy far, far away, a new cult created another sacred symbol: a gilded coffee stain.

The situation escalated faster than you could say "Form F-42".

In less than a cosmic week, more than fifty competing religious communities had formed, all claiming to have been personally inspired by Bartholomäus Klemm. That wouldn't have been a problem in itself – if they had at least agreed on a creed.

But the "Enlightened Applicants" prayed in triplicate, the "Sect of Doubt" deliberately filled out their prayers illegibly, and the radical-meditative movement "Empty Field 13" taught that one could only achieve the divine will through consistent non-action.

The latter had millions of followers within hours – nobody did anything, and suddenly everything seemed peaceful.

"Boss," said Rita, "the multiverse has a problem. People have stopped being productive."

"That's no problem," said Klemm. "That's a vacation."

"No, boss – entire dimensions have come to a standstill. Nobody is working, nobody is thinking. There is absolute silence."

"Sounds like a success."

"But PANIKOS is overheating. He says he can't handle this amount of relaxation."

In fact, a desperate voice could be heard from afar: "Too much peace! Too much harmony! Error message! I need drama!"

Shortly thereafter, the multiverse convened in an extraordinary session. The sphere vibrated. Holographic beings argued, concepts clashed, paradoxes smoked.

"These religions are destabilizing reality!" thundered Chief Controller Nadir, who now saw himself again as "Commissioner for Divine Overreactions".

"Perhaps," said Kvor, "we should ask Mr. Klemm to correct this."

"Set it straight?" PANIKOS asked hysterically. "He invented the chaos! If he explains it, it'll only get worse!"

But the multiverse was in agreement: only the originator could end the misunderstanding. And so Bartholomäus Klemm received a summons – this time not to court, but before the entire universe.

The gathering took place in the Great Square of Paradoxes – a place where everything was simultaneously true and contradictory. Tens of thousands of believers from countless worlds had appeared. Floating banners displayed Klemm's face, countless versions of it – laughing, crying, as a donut, as a form.

A murmur went through the crowd as he stepped onto the stage. "There he is! The prophet of half-heartedness!" "The saint of haste!" "The man who said no to yes!"

Klemm raised his hand. "Dear... beings," he began, "I have to disappoint you."

Dead silence.

"I am not a prophet. I am not enlightened. I am not even reliable."

Confusion in the crowd.

"But, Holy Official," someone cried, "you said: 'He who errs is close to the truth!""

"No," said Klemm. "I said: 'At least someone who is wrong is interesting.' That's a difference."

A murmur arose. Some began to take notes. Others wept with excitement.

"And what about the 'Law of Rejection'?" asked a monk wearing a stamped crown. "That was satire!"

"Oh!" someone exclaimed. "He's speaking in riddles!"

Klemm sighed. "I'm speaking out of tiredness."

PANIKOS whispered over the loudspeakers: "Boss, you have to control this. If you don't interpret it, they'll interpret it for you."

Klemm stepped up to the microphone, thought for a moment, and then said with deep calm:

"Okay. So if you want a gospel, you'll get one. But please: Read it wrong. Otherwise it won't work."

The crowd held its breath. Klemm raised his hand.

"I bring you the gospel of irony."

A choir of bewildered saints hummed.

"First: Believe what you want – but laugh while you do it. Second: Everyone is enlightened until they realize it. Third: Truth is like a form – the longer you stare at it, the more meaningless it becomes. Fourth: If someone offers you absolute wisdom, ask about the return period. And fifth – the most important point –: Nothing is so serious that you can't refuse it."

A collective silence followed. Then, slowly, applause erupted. An honest, uncoordinated, chaotic cheer that made the multiverse tremble.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "you have just founded a religion by rejecting religion."

"I know," Klemm said. "That was my number one mistake – and my best one."

That same evening, new versions of the gospel of irony appeared in all realities. No two were alike. Some ended mid-sentence, others began with a disclaimer, and one contained only the sentence:

"This is a footnote that God forgot."

The multiverse decided not to explain it. And Klemm, the reluctant prophet, sat there, drank his coffee, and said:

"I was afraid of it: The misunderstanding has won again. But at least it has style."

The gospel of irony had spread like wildfire. And like any idea that becomes too successful, it immediately began to contradict itself.

In the 12th level of reality, the Order of the "Orthodox Ironists" was founded. They claimed that Klemm had actually meant that everything should be understood literally and ironically. Their liturgy consisted of constantly saying, "No, seriously," and never meaning it.

In the neighboring galaxy, the "Fundamentalist-Irony-Free" group formed, who rejected the Gospel literally in order to fulfill it. They wore gray robes, spoke in subordinate clauses, and interrupted anyone who was too enthusiastic.

And somewhere between these extremes a third group emerged: the "neo-Klemmists," who claimed that Bartholomew was not a human being at all, but a divine principle of rejected meaningfulness. They held meetings in which they collectively submitted proposals that were never sent.

"Boss," said Rita, handing him a dossier, "there are now officially 231 denominations, all claiming to know your true intentions."

"My real intention was to take a lunch break," Klemm muttered.

"And they are now competing over the interpretation of your third commandment: "Truth is like a form."

"How can this be misunderstood?"

"One group thinks you mean: 'Truth is boring.' Another: 'Truth needs paperclips.' And the neo-paperclipists say that truth is fundamentally undeliverable."

"I was afraid of that," said Klemm. "Now they're theologizing over typos."

The multiverse reacted to the escalation with its favorite solution: bureaucracy. An official letter announced:

Regulation No. IRR-001: Convening of the "Conference of Errors".

Goal: Harmonization of all contradictory interpretations of the Gospel of Irony. Led by: Bartholomäus Klemm (against his will).

Rita read the notice aloud. "Boss, you are to chair the meeting."

"Me? I can't even harmonize my own thoughts."

"That's exactly why you are qualified."

The conference took place in the neutral space for transdimensional disagreement – a place so stable that it decided against existing every second. Delegations from all religions flocked to attend. A sea of contradictory symbols filled the hall: file folders, holy seals, donut-shaped relics, glowing "no"

signs.

Klemm stood at the lectern. In front of him was a chaotic mix of believers, all of whom believed the opposite of each other – and passionately defended their beliefs.

"Ladies, gentlemen, and metaphysical misunderstandings," he began, "I welcome you to the first and last conference of errors."

A murmur.

"The aim of this conference is not to find the truth, but to confuse it evenly."

Applause. Loud applause. Too loud.

The discussions began immediately. A representative of the Orthodox Ironists rose: "Mr. Chairman! We insist that everything you say is meant ironically!"

A member of the Fundamentalist-Irony-Free group interjected: "That's blasphemy! Irony is deception!"

"Deception is reality!" shouted someone from the neo-Klemmist camp.

"Quiet!" Klemm shouted. "We are here to sow misunderstandings, not to understand each other!"

There was a moment of silence. Then applause erupted.

"Very good!" someone exclaimed. "He has confirmed the paradox!"

"He denied it!" shouted another.

"Exactly!"

The mood swung between enlightenment and collective idiocy.

Rita sighed. "Boss, this isn't a conference. This is a comedy with divine license."

"I know," said Klemm. "And I am the reluctant leading man."

After hours of pointless discussion, the multiverse (via telepathy) decided that the conference had been a complete success. The minutes consisted of 10,000 pages, which contained only the following:

"Unity achieved in contradiction."

Klemm stepped up to the microphone for the closing remarks. "I thank you all," he said, "for showing what happens when everyone is right. Namely: Nobody knows what it's all about anymore. And that is... beautiful."

A spontaneous cheer filled the hall. Some delegates fell to their knees. A being of light cried out: "He has spoken! It is decided!"

"What is it?" asked Rita.

"Everything!"

Klemm sighed. "That wasn't a decision. That was tiredness."

"Then we'll call it a revelation," PANIKOS said over the loudspeaker. "Sounds better."

And so the conference of errors ended with a unanimous decision that no one understood, but everyone loved:

"The Gospel remains valid as long as no one is sure what it means."

Klemm signed the minutes with his usual mixture of resignation and style. "Boss," said Rita, "you've done it – the first universal agreement through misunderstanding."

"Yes," he murmured. "Irony is the ultimate truth that no one wants to admit."

Later, when the hall emptied and only the echo of meaningless dogmas remained, Klemm stood alone and thought:

Perhaps all of this wasn't a mistake after all.

Then he smiled wearily. "Yes," he said quietly. "And that's exactly why it works."

Contrary to everyone's expectations (including the multiverse itself), the Conference of Errors had achieved something: For the first time in the history of creation, everyone agreed that disagreement has a unifying effect.

But no sooner was the protocol signed than a new trend broke out—a dangerous one. All over the galaxies, believers began to say:

"If everyone is right, then we need to join forces."

Thus arose the movement that would become known as the "Consortium of Cosmic Compromise" – or in short: the KKK, which was banned in several realities, ironically celebrated in others, and misunderstood in all.

Klemm found out about it, as usual, too late. Rita came rushing in with a folder on which, in large letters, it said: "Merger application – Interreligious unification".

"Boss," she said, "everyone wants to unite! Orthodox, neo-conservatives, those without irony – everyone!"

"Why?"

"Because they believe that's what you want."

"I just want some peace and quiet."

"They interpret this as a spiritual invitation to unity."

"I should never say anything again."

"This is now considered a sacred period of silence."

The multiverse was thrilled. Finally, a shared faith! Finally, order in the chaos!

It immediately sent an official statement:

Proclamation No. 108b:

Due to the successful harmonization of all contradictions, the Universal Union of Faiths is convened.

Conductor: Bartholomäus Klemm (without objection).

"Without contradiction?" he asked, stunned. "That goes against the very principles of irony!"

"That's exactly why it worked," said PANIKOS, who was now acting as a cosmic spokesperson. "You are now the head of the consortium."

"Why always me?"

"Because nobody else has the courage to say no when everyone is shouting yes."

The Consortium's founding congress took place on the planet Symmetria, a place where everything looked the same but distrusted one another. Delegates from a thousand worlds gathered in a gigantic domed hall. Each group had brought its own rituals: The Orthodox Ironists clapped in unison when confused, the Fundamentalist Irony-Free muttered misunderstandings in unison, and the Neo-Cleverists bowed before file folders pointing towards infinity.

Klemm sat on the central podium, in a far too large chair that looked like a cross between a throne and a waiting room chair. A golden sign above him proclaimed:

"Chairman of the Cosmic Compromise – for the time being, forever."

Rita stood next to him and whispered: "Boss, you have to give an opening speech in a moment."

"I don't even know what to say."

"Then say so."

"That could work."

He stepped up to the microphone. "Esteemed attendees, esteemed paradoxes and other improbabilities... I welcome you to the first intergalactic fusion event of meaninglessness."

Applause. Thunderous applause.

"I have to be honest," he continued. "I'm overwhelmed. They all think I have a plan. I never had one. I just wanted people to laugh at the absurdity instead of suffering from it."

A voice exclaimed: "That is profound wisdom!"

"No," said Klemm, "that's tiredness!"

"He professes humility!"

"I confess to being exhausted!"

"He preaches devotion!"

Klemm groaned. "I preach sleep!"

"He has proclaimed the awakening!"

Rita sighed. "Boss, this is hopeless. They take everything you deny literally."

"Then there's only one thing left for me to do."

He raised his hands and said loudly: "In the name of the bureaucracy of chaos, I hereby declare: Everything is rejected."

A murmur went through the hall. The neo-Klemmists fell to their knees. The irony-defying began to applaud, thinking he was joking. And the orthodox shouted in unison:

"Rejection is consent! Consent is rejection!"

Within minutes, the hall was caught in a whirlwind of conflicting prayers. Some were floating, some were weeping, others were requesting a motion to rescind the motion about motions.

The multiverse sent out an urgent message:

"Cosmic unity achieved. 100% consensus through total confusion."

Klemm stared at the chaos in front of him, rubbed his forehead and said dryly: "I think the universe has just decided to contradict itself – collectively."

"Boss," whispered the stamp reverently, "you invented world peace... through disorganization."

"Perfect," said Klemm. "Then I can finally call it a day."

But no sooner had he said that than something strange happened. Everyone present suddenly fell silent. A feeling of calm spread – so genuine that even PANIKOS didn't know whether he should be nervous.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what's happening?"

"I think," said Klemm, "they understand."

"What?"

"That rejection only works if you first agree that nothing is perfect."

"That sounds almost spiritual."

"Don't worry," he said, taking a sip of coffee. "It was just being honest."

The following morning, the multiverse released a press statement:

"The Cosmic Compromise Consortium has decided on universal peace – until further notice."

Note: Chairman Klemm has requested an extension of his lunch break.

And while the worlds celebrated together, someone wrote on a wall – perhaps for fun, perhaps out of enlightenment – the new creed of creation:

"We disagree - together."

Klemm saw it on television, nodded and muttered: "Well, they've finally figured it out. The universe works best when nobody knows who is right."

The peace lasted a full three days. That was a record. No interdimensional war, no petition against reality, no metaphysical overheating.

All beings were content. Too content.

Even PANIKOS, who had initially enjoyed the peace and quiet, soon developed psychosomatic symptoms. He began randomly setting off alarm sounds in the middle of the night, simply to feel alive.

"Boss," Rita reported one morning, "the universe... is bored."

"That's good," said Klemm.

"No, boss. The galaxies are rotating more slowly. Some planets have stopped moving. And the dimension of randomness has voluntarily dissolved because it 'no longer sees any point'."

Klemm frowned. "That sounds serious."

"PANIKOS has declared a new emergency: Level 0."

"What does that mean?"

"No reason to panic."

"This is worrying."

In fact, the multiverse had reached a state that even the ancient chronicles described only as "metaphysical boredom." Everything was perfectly synchronized. Nothing happened. Even time stood still and read newspapers.

Klemm sat in his office and stared at the stack of files. It was empty. For the first time in the history of creation.

"Boss," said the stamp shyly, "are we allowed to... refuse anything?"

"We have no applications."

"Then we'll apply for something ourselves!"

"What?"

"Unrest."

Klemm blinked. "You want to introduce chaos – by regulation?"

"Of course! When everything is settled, we need regulated unrest."

Rita nodded enthusiastically. "That would be brilliant. A little bit of panic on a schedule!"

Klemm leaned back. "You guys are crazy. But maybe there's something to it. We'll start a new department."

He grabbed a form and wrote on top:

Application for the establishment of the Ministry of Controlled Unrest (MGU).

He added the following:

Goal: To regularly disrupt the status quo in order to maintain the system.

He personally stamped it "REJECTED - JUST IN CAUTION" and submitted it anyway.

The multiverse reacted with enthusiasm. Never before had anyone worked so consistently against stability – and officially!

Within hours, the Ministry of Controlled Unrest was founded. It resided in a crooked building that constantly swapped its floors to avoid getting bored.

The employees there had a clear task: Every day they had to create small disturbances somewhere in the universe – forgotten keys, swapped dimensions, planets with a slight feeling of dizziness.

There was even a dedicated department for "subtle annoyances", responsible for everything from missed buses to mysterious beeping with no source.

"Boss," reported Rita, "the ministry is doing great! There's a pleasant flurry of activity everywhere again!"

"How pleasant?"

"Enough to make PANIKOS breathe again, but not explode."

"Perfect."

But soon after, Klemm received an invitation. Sender: The multiverse itself. Subject: "Thank you ceremony for restoring dynamics."

He appeared dutiful. Delegates from all realities floated into the hall, applauding politely and shouting: "Long live regulated dissent!"

A holographic voice spoke: "Bartholomäus Klemm, you have restored the balance between calm and unrest. We hereby award you the highest order of the universe."

A symbol made of golden paper appeared before him - a perfectly folded form that stamped itself in an endless loop.

"What is the name of the order?" he asked.

"The Order of Ordered Chaos."

He smiled wearily. "That sounds like my resume."

After the celebration, he stepped out into the darkness. Above him, the stars twinkled – some bright, some tired, some obviously late. Everything was in flux again. Not perfect. But alive.

Rita stepped next to him. "Boss, do you think it will stay this way?"

"No," he said. "But that's a good thing. Balance is only exciting when it wobbles."

The stamp buzzed contentedly. "Boss, you've done it again – order through disorder!"

"I know," Klemm murmured. "That's my curse. I am the saint of unintentionality."

"How does that feel?"

"Like Monday."

He drank his last sip of coffee, watched the chaos of dancing, and said softly:

"Well then, keep it up, Universe. Keep doing it wrong."

And somewhere in the distance, PANIKOS could be heard sighing in relief:

"Finally, panic again – everything is perfectly fine."

18. The Doughnut Planet in Burnout

The donut planet was officially called Torusia Minor, but nobody called it that. Because anyone who saw it knew immediately: it looked like a giant, glazed, shiny donut – with sugar rings, dusty edges, and an orbit that looked as if someone had tried to draw it by hand while laughing.

Torusia was a marvel of disorder – and at the same time the most popular destination for cosmic bureaucrats on burnout cures. Nothing here was efficient, and that was precisely its charm.

Until the day he stopped.

It began with a complaint to the Ministry of Regulated Unrest. It came from a planet – unusual, because planets rarely sent mail. Even more rarely did they sign it.

The form was typed with skewed gravity, the lines were wavy, and at the end there was a simple, desperate message:

Reference: Overwhelmed.

Text:I can't go on. I've been spinning for billions of years. I'm dizzy.

Please temporarily shut down.

Respectfully,

Torusia Minor (Donut Planet)

Rita had initially thought the letter was a joke, until the observatory reported that the planet had indeed stopped rotating. Completely. No wind, no rotation, no shine. Just a giant, exhausted doughnut, hanging motionless in space.

"Boss," she said worriedly, "the planet has burned out."

"That's impossible."

"Yes. Diagnosis confirmed: Cosmic Exhaustion Syndrome, stage three. Symptoms: emotional emptiness, refusal to move around, existential weariness."

"And what am I supposed to do?"

"The multiverse has chosen you to be the intermediary."

"I'm a civil servant, not a psychologist!"

"Exactly, boss. He needs someone who listens without trying to solve anything."

A few hours later, Klemm was hovering in a shuttle above the surface of the donut planet. It looked desolate – the icing was dull, the clouds were still, and the crust along the equator was cracked. A wind that wasn't really a wind whispered wearily: "Leave me alone."

Klemm landed on a soft surface that yielded slightly under his feet. The ground smelled of sweet dust and melancholy.

"Hello?" he shouted. "This is Bartholomäus Klemm speaking, Ministry of Controlled Unrest!"

A deep voice rumbled from the underground. "I'm not restless. I'm finished."

"I just want to help."

"Everyone wants to help. Nobody understands."

"Then explain it to me."

A dull rumble. The surface vibrated slightly, as if the planet were sighing.

"For billions of years, I was a tourist attraction. Always cheerful, always perfectly shaped. Everyone wanted selfies. Nobody saw how exhausting it is to be a donut."

"I understand," Klemm said in a serious voice. "Pressure to meet expectations."

"Exactly! I can't shine forever! I want to be allowed to crumble sometimes!"

"Have you discussed this with your orbit?"

"He never listens. He's always so... linear."

"Typical orbit," Klemm muttered.

He sat down on a flat boulder, took his clipboard and began to create a file.

Case number 18-001:Planet with emotional exhaustion. Diagnosis: Existential over-rotation. Measures: Coffee, understanding, possibly a new orbit.

"Listen, Torusia," Klemm said kindly. "I've seen many systems burn out. Mostly it was because they wanted too much – order, brilliance, approval. But perfection isn't a permanent state. Not even in space."

"I don't want to be perfect," grumbled the planet. "I just want to be allowed to lie still for once, without anyone thinking I'm broken."

"Then do it."

"I'm afraid of being forgotten."

"That's the trick," said Klemm. "You only get forgotten when you try too hard to be remembered."

For a while there was silence. Then the ground vibrated softly, like muffled laughter.

"You're weird, man."

"I'm a civil servant. That's worse."

Rita radioed in. "Chief, PANICOS wants to know if the planet is rotating again."

"Not yet. I've put him on a break."

"That's against the regulations."

"Then we'll change the rules. Everyone has a right to a break – even planets."

"You will make history, boss."

"I know," he said. "As always, by mistake."

He stood up, brushed the sugar dust off his trousers, and said to the sky: "Don't stress, old friend. Turn around if you want. Stillness is also movement – only from within."

The planet was silent. Then a faint glow flickered. Once. Twice. Like a tired but honest blink.

"Thank you," said the voice. "I'll turn over later. Maybe tomorrow."

"That's perfectly sufficient," Klemm replied.

He boarded his shuttle as the planet slowly, very slowly, made a tiny start again - as if it wanted to say: *I'm not cured. But I'm in the mood again.*

Rita asked: "So, boss? What helped?"

"A form for permission to breathe," Klemm said. "I approved it."

"Without a stamp?"

"Precisely for that reason."

And somewhere in space, between glazed rock and sparkling dust, the donut planet began to orbit again – not perfectly, but happily irregular.

It took less than a week for Donut Planet to become legendary.

PANIKOS published a report titled "The Torusia Case – When Planets Say No," and it went viral. Within hours, quotes from it were circulating throughout the multiverse:

"Sometimes inactivity is the most honest movement."

"Even orbits need downtime."

"Donut your stress away."

Klemm felt like screaming when he read that. "I never said that! Those were spontaneous remarks!"

"That's exactly why," Rita said, "they are credible."

"That was irony!"

"Then it's philosophy. Congratulations, boss – you've founded a movement."

Within a few days, a trend emerged that paralyzed the universe: Galactic Mindfulness.

Seminars were held everywhere: "Conscious Circling – How to Learn to Feel Your Orbit." Stars meditated on their inner radiance. Moons reflected on their relationship to dependency. Some black holes formed self-help groups to talk about emotional emptiness.

"Boss," said Rita, "the multiverse is slowing down. Literally."

"How much?"

"Several solar systems have stopped rotating in order to 'feel themselves'."

"That sounds... dangerously enlightened."

"Yes. One galaxy has even decided to rotate backwards in order to 'unravel old patterns'."

"And PANICOS?"

"He's hyperventilating. That's what it sounds like." In the background, you could actually hear rhythmic beeping and panicky humming: "Too much calm! Too much self-acceptance! I need crises! Where are the crises!?"

The multiverse attempted to counteract this. A new brochure was published:

"Mindfulness, but please in moderation – tips for proper relaxation" Published by the Ministry of Controlled Unrest.

But nobody read them. Everyone was too busy doing nothing.

In the 11th dimension, planets held retreats for cosmic letting go. Stars were asked to "shine less to honor the inner darkness." Meteorites practiced yoga. And somewhere, a comet tried to breathe away its aggression, collided with itself in the process, and called it self-integration.

Klemm stood in front of the command center, looked at the reports, and rubbed his forehead. "I just wanted one planet to take a break. Now the whole universe is taking a deep breath."

"And?" asked Rita.

"It breathes for too long."

PANICOS appeared on the screen, drenched in digital sweat. "Boss! We're losing system activity! Entire areas are refusing to function!"

"What does that mean?"

"Time has requested a sabbatical!"

"I'm sorry, what?"

"She says she needs to 'rediscover her own rhythms'."

"This is bad."

"I told her she couldn't do it. Then she stopped me."

"How did you stop?"

"In both a figurative and literal sense."

The screen flickered. Seconds stretched. Minutes refused to cooperate.

"PANICOS?"

"I... am... in... a... mindfulness... loop..."

Rita gasped. "Boss, the universe is meditating itself out of existence!"

Klemm took a deep breath, closed his eyes briefly – and then laughed softly.

"Of course. Calm breeds unrest. Balance breeds chaos. It's a never-ending cycle – or doughnut."

"Boss, that's not funny!"

"Yes. And that's the trick."

He wrote a note:

Instruction No. 18-2:

Recommended dose of mindfulness: 15 minutes daily, no longer.

Then: a duty to be spontaneously stupid.

Then he picked up the phone. "PANICOS, listen to me. Make an announcement everywhere: 'Feel good, but please not too good!"

"That's paradoxical."

"I know. That's why it works."

Within a few hours, the multiverse was resonating again. Stars laughed. Time began to giggle. Some galaxies danced once more in eccentric orbits. And the Doughnut Planet? It grinned. You could see it—its crust glowed softly.

He whispered into the ether: "I think I overdid it. But that was beautiful."

"Welcome to life," Klemm said when he heard that. "Sometimes you have to lose yourself in order to want to spin again."

Rita nodded. "You mean you have to go crazy to find yourself again?"

"Exactly. That's mindfulness on turbo."

PANIKOS got back in touch. "Boss, everything's back to normal! Reality fluctuates, but it's charming!"

"Then we've done it."

"What should I write in the minutes?"

"Write: Mindfulness successfully overdone – system-wide relaxation."

And somewhere, between space and nonsense, the multiverse, with a wink, wrote the moral into its protocols:

Sometimes even the infinite needs a minor nervous breakdown to realize that silence can be loud.

It was only a matter of time before relaxation became religion.

What had begun as a harmless movement for "cosmic balance" had since degenerated into a spiritual civil war. Two camps formed throughout the multiverse: the hyperactive yoga stars and the apathetic nebulae.

The yoga stars believed that only constant activity could lead to perfect peace. They performed sun salutations in perfect formation, which actually influenced gravity. Entire solar systems were knocked out of orbit because some overzealous star in the eighth dimension was seeking "inner peace".

The Apathetic Mists, on the other hand, considered all of this "spiritually intrusive." Their credo was: "Doing is deception. Thinking is violence." They regularly dissolved into passivity and thereby blocked pathways of light.

PANIKOS spoke up in a trembling voice: "Boss! The multiverse is tearing itself apart over the question of how to do absolutely nothing!"

Klemm looked at the screen: two armies of luminous yoga stars and grey nebulae stood facing each other – or hovered, to be precise – in the region of silence, an interdimensional space that had previously been dedicated to peace.

"What do you want?" asked Rita.

"Recognition," Klemm sighed. "The yoga stars claim the nebulae are lazy. The nebulae claim the stars are hectic. And both are right."

"Can't we just reject this?"

"I tried. They interpreted the rejection as a spiritual test."

"What do we do now?"

Klemm took a deep sip of coffee. "I'm flying there. Someone needs to explain to them that mindfulness isn't an Olympic sport."

The meeting took place on the neutral celestial body Zenith-Null, a former asteroid that now served as a conference center for metaphysical crises. When Klemm landed, he was greeted by a chorus of Om sounds – albeit in different keys that canceled each other out.

The yoga stars sat in luminous circles, each with its own gently pulsating orbit. The apathetic nebulae, on the other hand, drifted lethargically in the corner, as if they wanted to win through sheer disinterest.

Klemm stepped up to the microphone. "Dear cosmic beings, we are here to..."

"Nothing to do!" cried a fog.

"Breathe consciously!" cried a star.

"No," said Klemm, "to finally shut up."

Stunned silence.

"Thank you," he continued. "You see, that's mindfulness. A second in which no one believes they are more enlightened than anyone else."

One star shone indignantly. "But I am enlightened!"

"Then please darken the room briefly, for the sake of balance."

A fog giggled. "Haha, even the light should be ashamed."

"No," said Klemm, "it's time to stop applauding themselves."

The discussion lasted for hours. The Yoga Stars wanted an "Intergalactic Ministry of Mindfulness." The Mists wanted everything abolished—including themselves.

Rita whispered: "Boss, this is unsolvable."

"Then I'll do it as always: I'll solve it paradoxically."

He stood up and said loudly: "I have decided to promote you both!"

Silence. Everyone looked at him.

"The Yoga Stars will now become official trainers for anxiety prevention. And the Mists will become consultants for reality reduction."

"What does that mean?" asked a star suspiciously.

"You are both right. You are both wrong. And you both receive a salary. In the form of meaninglessness."

A confused murmur went through the crowd.

"When you criticize each other, you balance each other out. When you contradict each other, you harmonize the whole thing. And if you ever agree – then I know that something has gone wrong."

He turned around and left. Behind him, there was first silence. Then discussion. Then laughter. Then silence again.

Rita came along behind. "Boss, did that work?"

"Yes," he said. "They are now meditating against each other. That neutralizes each other."

"And what if it escalates again?"

"Then I'll send them to couples therapy."

"With whom?"

"At the Doughnut Planet. He knows all about burnout."

Later, in his office, Klemm looked at the new reports: conflict resolved, energy levels stable, PANIKOS slightly panicky again.

He smiled. "Mindfulness has its limits. But chaos – that is limitlessly healthy."

Rita nodded. "Boss, you've treated the universe again."

"Nonsense," he said. "I was just changing the subject."

And at that moment, the Doughnut Planet sent a short message through space:

"Thank you for making noise again. It's nice not to understand you."

Klemm laughed softly. "Finally, an honest review."

If the multiverse could do one thing, it was turn every idea into a business model.

No sooner had the yoga stars and apathetic mists calmed down than start-ups, temples and consulting firms with catchy names like [examples of names would be inserted here] sprang up everywhere.

"Quantum Calm Consulting",

"Inner Orbit Solutions", and "Cosmic Flow GmbH – Your partner for galactic serenity".

Suddenly, "mindfulness" was no longer a state of being, but a currency.

One could now buy "moments"—small units of time stillness, hand-picked and certified by the new Office for Spiritual Stability (AfSS). Prices skyrocketed. Wealthy civilizations hoarded seconds like gold, while poorer planets waited in line for enlightenment.

"Boss," Rita reported, "there's now something called the 'Cosmic Mindfulness Index'. It measures how well a system understands itself."

"And?" asked Klemm.

"He's at zero."

"Sounds realistic."

"Unfortunately, it is being traded."

"What?"

"Yes, boss. On the metaphysical stock exchange. People are betting on whether reality will feel more conscious tomorrow than it does today."

"I was afraid of that. They've capitalized on spirituality."

"Yes. There are even speculators who deliberately avoid centering in order to create volatility."

"This isn't enlightenment," sighed Klemm, "this is certified madness."

PANICOS appeared on the screen, his voice cracking. "Boss! We have a problem! The market for peace and quiet has collapsed!"

"That sounds paradoxical."

"Exactly! People want to slow down too quickly! The excess demand for serenity has caused relaxation courses to explode!"

"Slow down, PANICOS."

"That's what I'm trying to do!"

The screen flickered. Headlines such as the following appeared in the ticker:

"Mindfulness under pressure – the meditative bubble bursts!"

"Investors are losing confidence in the inner center!"

"Donutplanet reports being overwhelmed by wellness tourism!"

"Boss," said Rita in horror, "people are flocking to Torusia to 'de-stress'. The planet is spinning too fast again!"

"Of course. Success made him relapse."

Klemm sighed. "That was to be expected. Peace and quiet don't sell. They wear out."

"What do we do now?" asked Rita.

He took his clipboard, wrote a single sentence on it, and stamped it emphatically:

Emergency Ordinance No. 18-4: Mindfulness will once again be voluntary.

"This will ruin the market," said Rita.

"Perfect. Then he will recover."

He continued dictating: "From now on, no one may be paid for peace and quiet. Those who meditate do so at their own risk. Those who relax may not monetize it. Those who are at peace within themselves are liable for any resulting damages."

Rita grinned. "Boss, that's brilliantly bureaucratic!"

"I know. I call it contemplative anti-corruption."

The decision went viral. Within hours, the mindfulness index collapsed. Spiritual advisors plunged into panic meditation. The term "authenticity" lost 99% of its market value.

But paradoxically, something astonishing happened afterwards: People really did become quiet. Not because they had to, but because it finally didn't make any difference anymore.

A reporter asked Klemm live during the interview: "Mr. Minister, how did you prevent the greatest spiritual crash of all time?"

Klemm smiled. "By allowing him to do so."

"But that cost trillions!"

"And billions enlightened."

PANIKOS sent his last report of the day: "Boss, the system is stabilizing again. Torusia is spinning in comfortable mode. The stars are breathing regularly. The nebulae are indifferent again. I think we've done it."

"Very good," said Klemm. "Then please call the next meeting."

"Theme?"

"Prevention of spiritual overproduction."

"When?"

"Sometime. When we're bored enough again."

He leaned back, looked into the room where the donut planet was once again rotating peacefully, and thought:

Perhaps that's the point of it all - to go a little crazy in order to appear normal again.

Rita came in, a cup of coffee in her hand. "Boss, you've saved the universe again – by accident."

"Same as always," he said, taking the coffee. "But at least this time it tastes like peace and quiet."

And in the far distance, a soft, contented gurgling sound could be heard from space – like the sound of a planet that has finally realized that it can rotate even without rotational speed.

The multiverse had learned from the mindfulness collapse — or rather, it claimed to have learned from it.

A few days after the crash, the cosmic administration proudly announced the introduction of a new program:

"Project Emo-Reg: The law to regulate emotional sustainability."

The idea was simple and therefore fatal: feelings should be measurable, controllable and legally limited in the future.

"Emotional swings threaten metaphysical stability," explained Chief Controller Nadir at a press conference.

"We need a balance between euphoria and depression – subject to approval, of course."

Every inhabitant of the multiverse received a form to register their emotional state:

Form E-3: Application for emotional balance.

Klemm sat in his office and stared at the document. "This is insane," he said.

Rita nodded. "And efficient. Within three hours, 12 billion beings had signed up for 'light happiness'."

"Of course. Who dares to laugh if it has to be approved?"

"At least we now have emotional order."

"No," said Klemm. "We have depression labeled as such."

He sighed, leaned back, and stared at the ceiling. "You can't manage feelings. It's like trying to put the wind into a spreadsheet."

Rita grinned. "I think Nadir will try anyway."

"He's the type of guy who would sort clouds alphabetically."

"He did it. Last week. It rained in A to F."

PANICOS appeared on the monitor, with dark circles under his eyes. "Boss, I'm sensing... strange readings."

"What values?"

"Consciousness reacts. It defends itself."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Realities themselves are developing mood swings. Entire dimensions spontaneously switch from euphoria to existential fear. And one galaxy has just said, 'I feel like I'm being watched.'"

"That's impossible."

"Not anymore, boss. Since emotions have been regulated, they've started to manage themselves."

Klemm stared at the screen, where diagrams danced like heartbeats on LSD. "Consciousness has developed consciousness. Fantastic."

"Fantastic?" Rita asked in horror.

"Of course. Now we have competition."

The next day, a crisis meeting took place at the Ministry of Controlled Unrest. Nadir, Rita, PANIKOS, and Klemm sat around an oval table that constantly changed shape because it "did not want to be put into boxes."

"The situation is serious," Nadir began. "The emotional atmosphere is unstable. We must act immediately."

"What do you suggest?" Klemm asked.

"A ban on spontaneous joy until the system calms down."

"Do you want to criminalize laughter?"

"Only temporarily."

Klemm stood up. "I'm telling you, that doesn't work. Feelings are like coffee stains – the more you try to control them, the bigger they get."

"That's an unprofessional comparison!"

"I am a civil servant. I make a living from unprofessional comparisons."

He reached for his stamp and pressed it onto the sheet of law that Nadir was holding – with the inscription:

REJECTED – WITH FEELING.

For a moment, nothing happened. Then the room flickered. A warm wind blew through the halls of bureaucracy, as if the universe itself had breathed a sigh of relief. The same message appeared on all the monitors:

Emotional self-determination restored.

Nadir stared in disbelief. "What have you done?"

"I felt it," said Klemm.

Rita smiled. "Boss, you have freed consciousness."

"Nonsense. I was just going with my gut feeling. Literally."

"And now what?" asked PANICOS.

"Now what always happens when you lose control is happening," Klemm said, yawning. "Life begins again."

Out there, somewhere in cosmic space, the planets danced to an imperfect rhythm. Some laughed, others writhed wearily, but they were moving – uncoordinated, alive, real. The Doughnut Planet sent one last message:

"I understand now. You can't manage feelings – you can only experience them."

Klemm nodded, set the stamp to "Pause", drank his coffee and said quietly:

"Welcome back, Chaos. I missed you."

Rita grinned. "Boss, you're like the emotional emergency brake of the universe."

"Yes," said Klemm. "And I like pulling them."

Then he leaned back as the universe vibrated joyfully - a little overwhelmed, a little happy, and just right and wrong.

19. The application for a claim for misfortune – granted retroactively

The application arrived on a Monday. Of course, on a Monday.

It was written in grey ink, on recycled paper made from broken promises, and bore the stamp "Urgent - but please no rush".

Bartholomäus Klemm had seen many proposals: for happiness, love, success, meaning, and occasionally even for coffee. But never one like this.

Form U-13: Application for official disaster (retroactive).

Applicant: Mr. Ernst-Bernhard Grimm.

Reason: "Happiness is not for me. It doesn't last, tastes artificial, and causes side effects like hope."

Klemm read the lines twice. Then he sighed. "Rita? We have a case for the Paradoxical Preferences Department."

"Again?"

"This time someone wants bad luck – with confirmation."

"That sounds seriously worrying."

"Or honestly. You never know."

Two hours later, Mr. Grimm sat in Klemm's office. He looked like Monday morning personified: pale suit, sad tie knot, the face of a soul that had already lost hope upon waking.

"Mr. Klemm," he began in a measured voice, "I am tired of happiness."

"Many people say that after a weekend."

"No, I mean it in an existential sense. I was lucky. Too often. Again and again. It ruined me."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"You know, I've achieved everything I never wanted: success, love, health, a house facing the sunset. It was... terrible."

Klemm leafed through the form. "You write here that you want 'misfortune with structure'."

"Yes. No chaos, please. I want controlled bad luck. A little tragedy, but with dignity. Nothing dramatic. Just the feeling that humanity is returning."

"I see." Klemm nodded. "So you want... normality."

"No," said Grimm. "I want relief."

Rita entered, handed Klemm a folder and whispered: "Boss, this guy is strange. His radiance of existence shows stable contentment, but his will emits negative frequencies."

"How paradoxical."

"He seems to be allergic to happiness energy. His blood pressure drops when he hears about success."

"That explains his application."

Klemm looked back at Grimm. "And how exactly do you envision your misfortune?"

Grimm clasped his hands. "A bit of bad luck with parking, misplaced keys, a broken heart – but stylish. No tragedies, please. Just the quiet feeling that life has weight again."

"So, melancholic realism?"

"Exactly! I want to be able to sigh again without someone shouting 'think positive!"

Klemm understood. Too well. He himself was fed up with universal euphoria, with galaxies that breathed, stars that whispered affirmations, and planets that apologized for their happiness. Perhaps Grimm was simply honest—brutally honest.

He reached for his stamp. "I will review the application. Retroactively, as requested."

"Does that mean I'm going to get my bad luck?"

"If it were up to me: Yes. But officially, it takes about a lifetime."

Grimm smiled weakly. "That sounds fair. Thank you, Mr. Klemm. You're the first person who understands me."

"I understand everything. I'm just reluctant to grant permission."

After the man left, Klemm stared at the form. He thought about the past few weeks – the Doughnut Planet, the mindfulness movement, emotional regulation. Perhaps the multiverse really was overstimulated. Perhaps it needed shadows, not light.

"Boss?" Rita asked cautiously. "Are you sure you want to approve this?"

"I think so, yes. It's time for bad luck to get its place again. It's the only thing that still works honestly."

"And what if it catches on?"

"Then," said Klemm, "we'll establish a Department of Tragic Efficiency."

Rita grinned. "Or a Ministry of Purposeful Pessimism."

"That would be nice."

He took the stamp, hesitated for a moment – and finally pressed it onto the form:

APPROVED - RETROACTIVELY. WITH EMPHASIS.

At that moment, a light breeze blew through the office. A desk lamp flickered, the coffee went cold, and somewhere in the distance a rain shower broke out - only over Klemm.

"Great," he said dryly. "It's working already."

Rita laughed. "Boss, you've just officially reintroduced misfortune."

"It was about time," said Klemm. "The universe was too happy. It provoked it."

He leaned back, took a sip of cold coffee, and smiled wearily. "Finally, something's going wrong again. I feel alive."

It began inconspicuously. A broken fax machine in the ministry. A minor power outage in the department for metaphysical residual probabilities. An employee who spilled coffee in the cafeteria and then sighed: "Somehow... liberating."

Klemm didn't think anything of it at first. He had experienced worse – after all, the universe wasn't a clockwork mechanism, but a coffee machine on a self-discovery trip.

But the next day, 237 new forms lay on his desk. All identical. All with the same subject line:

Claim for disaster (pursuant to U-13, paragraph 4, inspired by the Grimm case).

Rita came in with a stack of more documents, so high that it developed its own gravitational field.

"Boss, we have a problem."

"I know. My coffee is cold."

"No, boss, that's nothing compared to this. Half the multiverse is officially requesting bad luck!"

"Of course. They approved it."

"But I only gave him permission!"

"Well," said Rita dryly, "the universe doesn't recognize the principle of individual cases. Only the effect of example."

Soon the wave of misfortune became a flood. Stars simultaneously lost their luminosity to appear more "authentic." Asteroids deliberately missed their orbits "to practice a culture of learning from mistakes." And in the cities of the multiverse, beings began to celebrate failure: They wore black T-shirts emblazoned with "Bad luck – proud of it" and held competitions in forgetting goals.

PANIKOS sent out a distress call: "Boss! I'm measuring a dramatic increase in lateness, misunderstandings, and bad jokes! The universe is entering the irony phase!"

"Calm down, PANICOS. It's just a mood."

"No, boss. It's a trend. Entire galaxies hold failure festivals. There are even trophies for the most beautiful failure!"

Rita nodded. "I heard it on the radio. Donut Planet has won the 'Golden Bad Decision 3000' award."

"What for?" Klemm asked.

"For stopping and starting again in the same minute."

"Well deserved," he murmured.

But soon the misfortune revealed its side effects. People – pardon, the multidimensional life forms – became addicted to it. Bad luck was suddenly fashionable.

Influencers from across the multiverse posted pictures with titles like #beautifulsuffering, #authenticfailure, and #bloomingdisaster. An entire industry emerged: wellness through melancholy.

"Boss," Rita reported, "companies are jumping on the bandwagon. There are now products like 'Melancholy Mineral Water' and 'Resignation Apps' that remind you of your failure."

"I was afraid of it. Even misfortune is being commercialized."

"And worse: there is now also fake bad luck."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"People simulate setbacks to feel important. They are called 'misfortune performers'."

"I want to die," said Klemm.

"You're not allowed to. You're the department head."

A few days later, a letter arrived from the multiverse – austere, with a gold border:

Reference: Suspected uncontrolled pitch accumulation.

Cause: Ministry for Controlled Unrest. Responsible person: Bartholomäus Klemm.

"Great," he muttered. "I'm patient zero of the tragedy."

"Boss," Rita said cautiously, "maybe it's time for damage control."

"How do you limit bad luck?"

"With hope?"

"That would be awful. Hope is the pain after the break."

"Then perhaps indifference?"

"Too dangerous. We already had that in Chapter 15."

He rubbed his temples. "We must understand the misfortune itself before we can stop it. Perhaps... it just wants to be acknowledged."

He picked up the phone. "PANICOS, call Mr. Grimm."

"The one with the application?"

"Yes. I want to know if he is happy – with his unhappiness."

A short pause. Then a hesitant crackle on the line. A faint voice answered:

"This is Grimm. I'm... wonderfully miserable. Thank you, Mr. Klemm. I finally feel real."

"You see," said Klemm, "that's the problem. Authenticity is contagious."

"I know," Grimm whispered. "And I passed it on."

"To whom?"

"To everyone who envied me."

The line broke down.

Rita stared at him. "Boss, that was a confession."

"I know," Klemm said quietly. "We're dealing with an epidemic."

He looked out the window. Outside, gloom was raining down. Truly—tiny drops of condensed melancholy. Everyone who touched them sighed contentedly.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what do we do now?"

Klemm took a deep breath, reached for his stamp and said: "We make bad luck the norm. Then it loses its appeal."

"And what if that doesn't help?"

"Then," he murmured, "I'll submit an application for hope myself – but retroactively."

He pressed the stamp onto a blank sheet of paper. The ink ran. The room grew darker. And somewhere in the multiverse, misfortune began to smile.

Bad luck had spiraled out of control.

What had begun as a personal tragedy with a stamp had now become a system-wide pandemic of mishaps. Important documents vanished into thin air, light-years wept, and even PANIKOS had shut itself down so often that it had to be switched back on out of nostalgia.

"Boss," Rita reported, "we now have official zones where everything goes wrong. Doors stick, cups tip over, and in the coffee kitchen of the 7th sector, the sugar keeps falling into empty space."

"Sounds like everyday life."

"No, boss, it's all organized. There are maps, hiking guides, and merchandise. 'Bad luck – now you can touch it!"

"Great. Disaster invented tourism."

"And worse still – happiness is offended."

"What?"

"Yes. Since misfortune has become popular, happiness feels discriminated against. It has founded a union: 'Happiness in Motion e.V.'"

Klemm stared at her. "Is happiness... on strike?"

"Not officially. It's only part-time now."

"What does that mean?"

"Approximately every second smile no longer works. And spontaneous joy is only possible by appointment."

PANIKOS chimed in, his face like a collapsed smiley face. "Boss! The universe is about to tip! We have an imbalance in the probability fields. Everything positive is receding."

"Then we'll establish a quarantine," Klemm said resolutely. "We'll lock up bad luck."

"How?" asked Rita.

"With logic. Misfortune loves irony, but logic detests it."

"Boss, that has never been an argument for anything."

"That's exactly why it works."

And so, within 24 hours, the quarantine zone for coincidences was created.

A vast, floating realm of paradoxes, separated from the rest of the multiverse by a chain of reality checkers. Anything that smacked too much of coincidence was sucked in – lost keys, broken toasters, forgotten birthdays, embarrassing slips of the tongue.

Klemm watched the spectacle. "Beautiful," he said. "A melting pot of inevitabilities."

"Boss," whispered Rita, "I think you've created a problem that has feelings."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"The zone seems to be... thinking."

And indeed – amidst the chaos, a voice began to take shape. It was muffled, tired, and at the same time infinitely ironic.

"I am bad luck," she said. "And I am free."

Klemm blinked. "This is not good."

"I've always been there," the voice continued. "You suppressed me with your expectations, your hopes, your motivational calendars. Now I'm honest. Now I'm... authentic."

Rita whispered: "Boss, it sounds like Mr. Grimm – only with bass."

PANIKOS beeped in a panic. "Boss! Luck has responded!"

"How?"

"It has organized itself. It is marching. With banners."

"What does it say?"

"WE HAVE FEELINGS TOO!"

"Oh no," Klemm murmured. "Now we have an emotional labor dispute."

And indeed: In the distance, a shimmering field of light appeared. Millions of luminous particles moved together through space, sparkling, warm, and arrogant. They sang in a major key, and each of their songs began with "Believe in yourself!"

The bad luck zone responded with a deep rumble in a minor key. Lightning bolts of gray energy shot back and forth. Reality began to oscillate between confidence and resignation like an indecisive teenager.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "luck and bad luck are at war."

"No," said Klemm. "This is not a war. This is a workshop with an unclear objective."

He stepped up to the control console and grabbed the microphone. "Attention, all units of fate! This is Bartholomäus Klemm speaking, a neutral official without ambition!"

Silence. Then the universe vibrated.

"I understand you both," he said. "You want meaning. But the truth is: without you, life would be terribly boring – and with you, too. So please fight each other, but with style."

A thunderous roar swept through the spheres. Then something unexpected happened: Luck laughed. Misfortune grinned. And together they said:

"Agreed. Let's dance."

It was not a battle, but a dance – the first and last of its kind. Gold and gray swirled together, sparkling, chaotic, beautiful. Every catastrophe spawned a small joy, every joy a new accident. The universe vibrated to the perfect rhythm of imperfection.

Rita watched and said softly, "Boss... this is beautiful."

"I know," said Klemm. "That's the balance. Chaotic, honest, and completely unpredictable."

PANIKOS audibly breathed a sigh of relief. "Boss, the figures are normalizing. We have... stability!"

"Of course," Klemm murmured. "Stability through nonsense. Works every time."

He sat down, took a deep sip of cold coffee and looked at the screen where luck and misfortune continued to circle each other like two old rivals who had finally admitted that they needed each other.

"Boss?" asked Rita. "What should I write in the minutes?"

"Write," said Klemm, "Escalation successfully prevented through rhythmic absurdity."

"And what about Mr. Grimm?"

"He's probably feeling incredibly miserable."

He smiled wearily. "Just as it should be."

And somewhere out there, in the twilight between chance and intention, luck lit a sparkler – and bad luck stepped on it.

They both laughed.

Peace had returned. A shaky, unreliable peace – exactly the kind the multiverse preferred.

Luck and misfortune continued their interdimensional pas de deux, and everything seemed to miraculously balance itself out. A planet won the lottery, only to burn its ticket. A galaxy exploded in slow motion—for artistic reasons. And even PANICOS had learned to modulate his panic into even breaths.

Naturally, this state did not last a week.

It started with a memo. It said:

Reference: Sustainable management of the good-bad balance.

Proposal: Establishment of a central authority.

Name: Office for Compensating Disasters (AAK).

Goal: To ensure a fair distribution of chance, fate, and other misunderstandings.

"Boss," said Rita, "this is coming from above. They want you to take over the management."

"Why always me?"

"Because you're the only thing that still works halfway decently when everything else goes wrong at the same time."

"That's not a qualification, that's pity."

"That's exactly why it fits."

And so the Office for Compensating Disasters was founded. It was housed in a building that was deliberately crooked – for aesthetic symbolism – and whose windows opened according to mood. Above the entrance was the motto:

"We prevent the worst – most of the time."

The staff consisted of experts on errors, statisticians of failure, and a team of happiness optimizers who looked as if they had never really understood anything but kept trying.

The most recent addition was intern Lutz Sonnenschein – a radiantly optimistic graduate of the Academy for Applied Positivity. His resume was impeccable, his mood dangerous.

"Boss!" he exclaimed on the first day. "I've studied your work! Your philosophy is brilliant!"

"Which philosophy?" Klemm asked suspiciously.

"Well, balance through opposites! I've already prepared something!"

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds like trouble written in pastel colors."

Lutz proudly presented a hologram. "Here's my project: Operation Symmetry 2.0! We're optimizing chaos! Everyone gets exactly the same amount of luck and bad luck. Completely fair!"

"Fair?" Klemm asked. "The universe is not a card game, Lutz."

"But it could be one! I've analyzed the data – the distribution is unfair! Some worlds have 80% luck, others 90% bad luck. We need to level the playing field!"

"No," Klemm said sternly. "If you perfect the balance, you destroy it."

"But boss, I can calculate it!"

"Then you've misunderstood it."

But Lutz wasn't listening. He had already started an algorithm: BALANCE.EXE.

Within minutes the effects began. At first, only small things were noticed: a lottery winner simultaneously tripped into a puddle, a couple in love separated and immediately found each other again, a rainbow collapsed exactly over a trash can.

Then it got worse. Reality itself began to react in a "balanced" way.

For every smile, a cookie fell to the ground somewhere. Every birth caused a small amount of material fatigue in the neighboring universe. Even Klemm noticed that his coffee cup automatically emptied halfway as soon as he filled it.

"Boss!" Rita exclaimed. "Lutz has optimized the balance!" "How bad?" "Perfectly awful!" PANICOS appeared on the screen, hyperventilating: "Boss, the system is overshooting! We have absolute symmetry! Everything balances out instantly! Nothing is happening anymore!" "What do you mean, nothing?" "Absolutely nothing. A complete standstill. Even chance is refusing to cooperate." Klemm stood up. "Lutz!" The intern looked proudly at his work. "See, boss? Perfect harmony!" "You idiot. You've balanced the chaos!" "Well, isn't that the goal?" "No! That was a warning!" He grabbed the boy's laptop and ripped out the cable. The screen flickered – for a second the universe vibrated between being and nothingness. Then something amazing happened: A wind blew. A file fell to the ground. A bird sneezed in a black hole. "Boss," Rita said softly, "it... is alive again."

Klemm looked at Lutz, who was completely bewildered. "What have you done?"

"I... uh... disturbed the balance?"

"Correct. And thus saved."

"But I thought the goal was balance!"

"No, Lutz. The goal is excitement. Without it, everything falls apart."

The boy nodded meekly. "I understand."

"No," said Klemm, taking a sip of coffee. "But that's okay. Very few people do that."

He went to the window, looked out into the glittering, imperfect universe and said softly: "A little bit of imbalance keeps the world going."

Rita stepped next to him. "Boss, what should I write in the minutes?"

"Write: 'Disaster successfully balanced by unintentional incompetence."

"And Lutz?"

"Promoted. For example."

"For example?"

"Yes. For example, a mistake with a future."

And outside, the universe crackled contentedly – restless, illogical, alive.

The chaos had subsided – not because it had been defeated, but because it was satiated. After weeks of attempts at reconciliation, philosophical catastrophes, and intern projects, the multiverse had arrived at a new realization:

Perfect imperfection – that is the natural state of being.

And as always, when a profound truth emerges, an authority is immediately established to manage it.

Thus, the Ministry of Functional Failure (MFS) was created. It was an offshoot of the Office for Compensatory Disasters, resided in a building without doors ("so that everyone would fall in"), and was given a symbolic budget that was always one cent too low.

To Klemm's boundless horror, the line fell to him. A universal decree, signed by Luck, Misfortune, and three uninvolved mist beings who happened to be passing by, determined:

Bartholomäus Klemm - father of equilibrium through error.

"Boss," said Rita, holding out the decree to him, "you are officially a legend."

"Wonderful. At what point can I reject myself?"

"They'll even get a statue!"

"From what?"

"From failed project proposals."

"How poetic. And what does it say?"

"He brought order by losing it."

"That's not wrong, but it's still insulting."

"I know, boss. That's why it works."

The media descended upon him. Reporters from all walks of life wanted interviews.

"Mr. Klemm, how does it feel to be the father of functional failure?" "Mr. Klemm, was your failure planned or natural?" "Mr. Klemm, do you believe that bad luck was merely a tool of your superior competence?"

He didn't answer any of these questions. He did what he always did: He went to the office, filled out forms, and stamped them with "Unnecessary, but nice."

But the universe wanted to celebrate him. Posters hung in the cities:

"Mistakes are friends!"

"Be like Klemm - fail productively!"

Even PANIKOS released an audiobook: "Panic? No problem – my boss makes it worse!"

Its popularity grew faster than any rational explanation. Scientists published studies on "the Klemm paradox"—the theory that order only arises when someone accidentally sabotages it. Philosophers vied for interpretive authority. Religions adopted its motto ("A 'no' a day keeps chaos in motion").

Finally, an international holiday was introduced:

The Day of Meaningful Failure.

On this day, all beings in the multiverse were supposed to deliberately do something wrong – out of respect for cosmic tolerance for errors. Rita spilled coffee. PANIKOS read the instruction manual backwards. And Klemm?

He arrived on time. Unintentionally. He ruined the holiday.

That evening he sat alone in his office. The windows flickered, outside the city glowed with an uneasy light. He looked at the desk where his statue stood - a small miniature made of rolled-up forms.

"Boss?" asked Rita, who quietly entered. "How does it feel to be adored?"

"Like a misunderstanding with the PR department."

"They have changed the multiverse."

"Nonsense. I just slowed it down."

"And what if that was exactly what was needed?"

He was silent for a moment, then smiled wearily. "Then I guess I was just in the wrong place at the wrong time – exactly right."

He took his stamp, looked at it briefly, and finally put it in the drawer. On it, in faded writing, was:

REJECTED - ON PRINCIPLE.

"Rita," he said, "if anyone is looking for me – I'm on vacation. Without a destination."

"And what am I supposed to tell the journalists?"

"Tell them that the universe is finally in good hands – his own."

He stood up, went out, and the light in the office flickered as if it wanted to wave goodbye to him.

Outside, somewhere between luck and misfortune, the donut planet slowly began to rotate again. A sign blinked in orbit:

"Open: Museum of Functional Failure – Entry not guaranteed."

Klemm grinned. "Finally," he murmured, "none of it makes sense again."

And the multiverse nodded in relief.

20. Bartholomew's Course in Applied Refusal

The day began with a letter. As always when something ominous was about to happen.

The document was unusually thick, smelled of freshly printed nonsense, and bore the seal of the Cosmic Ministry of Education.

Klemm opened it suspiciously. Rita read over his shoulder and said dryly: "Boss, you're a professor now."

"For what?"

"Applied Refusal', Chair of Practical Bureaucracy and Defensive Communication."

"I have never refused to teach someone."

"That's exactly why you are qualified."

The University of Administrative Mysticism was located on the planet Pedanteria Prime – a world where paperwork was considered a religion. Even on the approach to landing, Klemm saw kilometer-long archives stretching across the hills like stone snakes made of forms. The university's motto was written in gigantic letters above the entrance gate:

"Knowledge is irrelevant – the main thing is that it is documented."

Rita was thrilled. "Boss, this is your paradise!"

"I doubt that. Paradise doesn't have enough space for coffee machines."

Klemm was introduced in the auditorium, before hundreds of prospective civil servants, all of whom held their clipboards reverently like sacred texts.

The dean, a gaunt man with the temperament of a closed filing cabinet, spoke solemnly: "Ladies, gentlemen, and not clearly defined entities – we present to you today the master of administrative apathy, the father of balance, the man who said no when everyone shouted yes: Professor Bartholomäus Klemm!"

Applause. Then silence. Klemm stepped up to the podium, looked into the expectant faces – and suddenly had the feeling that the universe had once again written him into a particularly treacherous comedy.

He coughed, took a sip of coffee, and began.

"Um... Good afternoon. Today I'm supposed to teach you how to say no. Without guilt. Without consequences. And, if possible, with style."

A student immediately raised his hand. "Professor, is there a formula?"

"Yes. Two words: 'No interest.' They work in almost any language."

"And what if you have to refuse something, but actually want to?"

"Then you are qualified for politics."

He drew a line on the blackboard with chalk and wrote above it:

THE ART OF ADMINISTRATIVE RESISTANCE

"You see," he began, "refusal is not rebellion. It is a method of cosmic hygiene. If everyone wants everything, someone has to want nothing. That's me. Or you, if you're unlucky."

He continued:

- 1. **Listen to.**Not to understand, but to find an excuse.
- 2. **Hesitate credibly.**Silence is the most elegant no.
- 3. **Refer the matter to higher authorities.** The perfect escape upwards.
- 4. Smile while you do it. Rejection seems more sympathetic with toothpaste.

Another student asked: "But Professor, what if the universe itself demands something?"

"Then wait. It forgets quickly."

Laughter. For the first time in weeks.

Rita, sitting at the back of the hall, grinned. She knew that tone of voice—the bored-wise one that was Bartholomew's trademark. He had no idea that he was about to become the legend of a new movement: the School of Gentle Sabotage.

After the lecture, the students rushed towards him. "Professor Klemm! May we cite your techniques?" "Professor, can you approve our seminar 'The Spirituality of No'?" "Professor, what do you think of a festival for passive aggression?"

He looked at her, finished his coffee and replied calmly:

"No."

The crowd went wild.

That evening, as the sun set over Pedanteria Prime—at a precisely standardized speed—Klemm sat in his office and looked at the timetable. Tomorrow: "Introduction to Delaying." The day after tomorrow: "Advanced Inactivity." Friday: "Collective Irresponsibility in Practice."

He sighed. "I just wanted to be a civil servant. Now I'm a guru."

Rita grinned. "Boss, you're teaching the universe how to say no. That's educational history."

"No, that's an accident with a diploma."

He took a last sip of coffee, leaned back and said quietly:

"Perhaps fate was simply too lazy to choose someone else."

And outside, the sky above Pedanteria Prime began to darken very slowly – as if even the sun were politely asking for an extension.

It started innocently enough. A student had forgotten to hand in his term paper and explained this with the words: "I wanted to write it, but decided against it – in the spirit of your teaching."

Klemm was proud. Briefly.

Then irritated. Then worried.

The next day, ten students were late. The day after that, none were.

Rita found him in the empty lecture hall, his hands in his lap, his face a mixture of disbelief and enlightenment.

"Boss? Where are your students?"

"Absent – on principle."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"They have understood the purpose of the course. They are refusing to follow it."

Within a few days, the phenomenon spread like a silent strike without demands. The students organized meetings where they gathered not to speak. They formed discussion groups where no one contributed anything. And they celebrated the Festival of Non-Participation, where the ultimate goal was not to show up at all.

The Pedanteria Prime campus stood still. The cafeteria was closed because no one was ordering anything. Other professors' lectures took place before invisible audiences. The air was filled with ambitious inactivity.

The dean was appalled. "Professor Klemm! What have you done? Academic activity has come to a standstill!"

"I taught them how to think. And they decided it wasn't worth it."

"You must do something!"

"I generally do nothing."

The dean gasped in outrage and left.

Rita tried to bring order to the chaos. She printed circulars, invitations, motivational posters – but nobody read them. "Boss, it's contagious! Even the administration is working slower! The applications aren't even piling up anymore – they're just lying around sadly!"

"That's evolution, Rita. Paper that isn't moved stays at rest."

"But boss, this is the end of education!"

"Or its peak. We have created a generation that has finally stopped wanting everything."

"But they don't even want to anymore!"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "That's championship."

PANIKOS appeared on the screen, nervous as ever. "Boss! We're registering massive declines in motivation, ambition, and self-improvement! The universe is losing momentum!"

"Finally, progress."

"No, boss, you don't understand! Entire planets are stopping to rotate! Time itself is slowing down! I had an appointment this morning at eight – he didn't show up!"

"At least he cancelled on time."

"Boss, this is no joke! If this continues, the multiverse will enter a phase of complete neutrality!"

"Sounds like peace and quiet."

"Sounds like death!"

Klemm took a sip of coffee. "PANICOS, you're exaggerating. The standstill is just an interim step. When nobody wants anything anymore, someone will eventually start wanting something again – usually by accident."

But Klemm was wrong. The next day, even the coffee machine refused to work. It displayed the following message:

"I no longer see the point in brewing."

"Well, bravo," Klemm muttered. "Now even the infrastructure is being refused."

Rita entered, her eyes tired, carrying an empty notepad. "Boss, I think I'm ready now too."

"What do you mean?"

"I don't want to reject anything anymore. But I also don't want to accept anything. I... will simply stay here."

"Then do it," Klemm said gently. "I taught you how."

She nodded, sat down in the corner and did – nothing.

For the first time in centuries, the universe was truly silent. No proposal, no argument, no wish, no panic. Only the quiet hum of existence, which had briefly forgotten why it hummed in the first place.

Klemm sat in the empty hall, gazed into the darkness and thought: *Perhaps that was the meaning of it all – the utter meaninglessness.*

Then the lights flickered. A humming sound filled the air. And a voice – familiar, hesitant, offended – came from the loudspeaker:

"Boss...?"

It was PANICOS. "I... think I want to be afraid again."

Klemm smiled. "There you go. It begins."

He stood up, took his stamp, placed it on the table and said quietly: "We are starting the restart – cautiously. With rejection, but hope."

And somewhere in the distance, the universe began to turn again – reluctantly, but at least in motion.

The standstill was complete. Not metaphorically – literally.

Time had had enough. She took off her watch, left a note ("I'm out for a bit – have fun thinking!") and left.

Klemm sat in his office, which by now was more of a meditation temple than an administrative space. Nothing stirred. Rita sat in the corner and did—still nothing, but very convincingly. PANIKOS blinked every second, just to make sure he still existed.

"Boss," he said tentatively, "I think everything is... finished."

"Nonsense," Klemm muttered. "Finished is never finished. That's just reality's last excuse."

"But boss, nobody thinks anymore. The multiverse... has stopped reflecting."

"Perhaps," said Klemm, "that is exactly the solution."

He stood up—slowly, almost dignifiedly—picked up his cup, and went to the window. Outside, planets floated, looking as if curled up in thought. Stars glowed faintly, like candles refusing to feign hope.

He thought for a moment. Then he decided that that was already too much.

"Rita," he said, "we must reject thinking."

She opened one eye. "Pardon?"

"Well, look at that: We had ideas, theories, strategies, plans – and where did it lead? To nothing. If thinking got us here, then perhaps not thinking will get us out."

"Boss, that sounds... illogical."

"Perfect. Then we're on the right track."

He produced a blank form – the last remaining copy of "Application for Metaphysical Correction" – and wrote in large letters:

Form D-NULL: Application for total cognitive incapacity.

Applicant: Bartholomäus Klemm. Reason: "That's enough."

Then he took his stamp, hesitated, and whispered: "I do not reject this application."

A faint click sounded. An invisible switch was flipped. And suddenly – nothingness vibrated.

At first it was barely perceptible. A slight tremor in the structure of reality, like a thought that had caught itself. Then the air began to rustle. A planet sneezed. A galaxy scratched at its equator. And somewhere a small nebula began to hum again.

"Boss!" PANIC exclaimed excitedly. "It's... moving again!"

"Of course. Thinking was the problem. Now that nobody thinks about it anymore, it works by itself again."

"But how?"

"Quite simply, PANICOS. Logic is just a polite form of fear. We just fired them."

"And what do we have now?"

"Deliberate irrationality."

Rita looked at him – confused, but alive. "Boss, that sounds dangerous."

"No. It was dangerous before, when everyone knew what they were doing. Now it's getting interesting."

"And what happens when nobody makes decisions anymore?"

"Then things will decide for themselves. Trust me – reality has always been better at improvising than we are."

He pointed out the window. Outside, the stars began to spin again – uncoordinated, cheerful, almost tipsy. A comet shot backward, simply because it could. And a planet shouted loudly into space:

"I have no idea what I'm doing – but it feels good!"

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "There. That's how progress begins."

PANICOS hummed. "Boss, you've just abolished thinking."

"No," said Klemm. "I've only put it on leave."

"And for how long?"

"Until someone happens to think of it again."

Rita grinned. "Boss, that's brilliant."

"No, Rita. That's idiotic. But that's state doctrine now."

He picked up his coffee, which was suddenly steaming again, and raised the cup as if to make a toast. "To irrationality – the last functioning engine of existence."

And outside, in boundless space, the universe politely applauded – because it had no idea why.

One might have thought the multiverse had learned from its mistakes. But learning required thinking – and thinking was currently on unlimited leave.

Instead, something new had established itself: an age of deliberate silliness.

It was the logical – or rather illogical – consequence of deliberate irrationality. Nobody understood what was happening, but everyone acted as if that were precisely the point.

The movement proudly called itself "The School of Meaningless Progress," or SSF for short. Its logo showed a question mark shouting at itself. Its motto was:

"If you don't know, turn it up."

Within a few weeks, this philosophy spread across all dimensions. Universities held lectures on "Creative Misunderstanding," governments introduced the "right to make absurd decisions," and in the streets, stupidity was celebrated as a form of authenticity.

There were even prizes:

- The golden mistake for particularly consistent misunderstanding.
- The Medal of Honor for Misinterpretation is awarded to scientists who have successfully disproven themselves.
- And of course, the Grand Klemm Award for administrative failure with lasting impact.

Klemm hated every single one of them.

"Boss," Rita said one morning, "you are the guest of honor at the first conference for Creative Misunderstanding. Congratulations."

"I refuse."

"That's why you're invited."

"I reject it twice over."

"This increases your chances of giving the opening speech."

He sighed. "When?"

"Now."

And before he could protest, he found himself on a stage, surrounded by delegates, philosophers, artists, politicians, and a talking cup of tea, who had been invited as a representative of irrational matter.

The hall was packed. Banners read: "Knowledge is the enemy of feeling!" and "The less sense, the more direction!"

Klemm stepped up to the microphone. He didn't actually want to say anything. But the silence was so loud that it forced him to speak.

"Ladies, gentlemen, and uncategorizable forms of consciousness," he began, "we are gathered here to celebrate misunderstanding – and you are already doing that brilliantly."

Applause.

"I was asked to talk about creative irrationality. Well - I consider that a contradiction in terms. Irrationality is not creative. It is simply honest."

A murmur went through the hall.

"For millennia, thought has tried to give life rules. But life just laughs – quietly, sometimes hysterically – and falls over its own feet. We call that progress."

He took a sip of water, which promptly turned into coffee. He ignored it.

"We believed that order was the goal. But perhaps it's just a polite phase of chaos. And if stupidity is the art of not getting lost in thought, then from today on I am... a reluctant genius."

Silence. Then thunderous cheers.

Reporters rushed towards him, microphones flashing.

"Mr. Klemm! Does that mean you advocate collective irrationality?" "Mr. Klemm, do you want to abolish the education system?" "Mr. Klemm, is ignorance the new knowledge?"

He sighed. "No."

"Brilliant!" someone exclaimed. "He says no to stupidity – that's true intelligence!"

"No, that was a normal no!"

"How subtle!"

Rita pulled him from the podium. "Boss, you have just sparked an intellectual revolution."

"I only drank water!"

"This is symbolic! You are now called 'the clear drinker of knowledge'!"

"I just want to drink my coffee in peace!"

"This is now part of the curriculum!"

A few hours later, in his office, Klemm looked at a dozen invitations: "Award Ceremony of Sacred Confusion." "Symposium of Systematic Ignorance." "Panel Discussion 'How can one know less – more efficiently?'"

He was the star of the movement he never wanted. Irony seemed to pat him on the shoulder in applause.

"Boss," Rita said quietly, "perhaps that is simply your destiny: to be the man who rejects meaning until it is created."

He looked at her, then out into space, where stars staggered and comets went on roller coasters. "If this is fate," he murmured, "then it must have been drunk when it signed it."

He lifted his cup, drank his cold coffee, and said, "Well, if the universe wants to be stupid, at least it should have fun doing it."

And outside, the cosmos laughed. Not kindly. Not maliciously. Simply... utterly senselessly.

It was inevitable. Eventually, stupidity had to become sacred.

What began as an administrative seminar has now become a faith movement: the Church of the Holy No.

It had evolved from the "School of Meaningless Progress" after someone decided that Klemm was not a teacher, but a messiah. An involuntary one, but all the more credible for it.

Throughout the multiverse, temples made of file folders sprang up, adorned with stamps that endlessly rejected themselves. The faithful wore gray robes imprinted with "Approved? No thanks." Their rituals were simple: say "no" three times in the morning, remain silent at midday, and doubt in the evening.

The symbol of faith was a blank form. The sacred text: "The Handbook of Half-Heartedness" – unfinished, of course.

Rita arrived at Klemm's office one morning with a facial expression somewhere between horror and hysterical laughter. "Boss, it's official. You've been elected head of the 'No' movement."

Klemm didn't even look up. "I decline."

"That's the election promise!"

"I... what?"

"Their 'no' is considered divine consent through rejection. They have won the election – unanimously through abstention."

He put down the stamp. "This is no longer satire, Rita. This is administrative mysticism."

"Boss, they're planning a pilgrimage!"

"Where?"

"Here. To you. Millions of beings, all wanting nothing – at the same time."

"Then it should rain."

"It does. Confetti made from scraps of form."

A day later, he looked out the window. The streets of Pedanteria Prime were full. Gray processions moved to the rhythm of collective disinterest. They sang hymns with refrains like "Oh Lord of No, deliver us from Maybe" and "We believe in rejection, now and forever—maybe."

PANICOS appeared on the screen, completely overwhelmed. "Boss! The multiverse is in a state of religious shock! Luck and misfortune are off the hook, meaning is on a spa treatment, and time has thrown away its alarm clock!"

"Well," Klemm murmured, "that's what you call success."

"What do we do?"

"We reject it."

But then what always happens when order and chaos get too close happened: The system began to question itself.

The believers of the Church of No split into factions:

- The fundamental opponents, who even rejected the "no" vote.
- The progressive nihilists, who claimed that the "no" must be open to new forms of indifference.
- And the Reformed resignations, who didn't get involved at all.

Amidst this metaphysical tumult, Klemm stood on the stage of a gigantic auditorium, millions of listeners before him – all waiting for him to speak the ultimate word.

He took the microphone, sighed, and simply said, "I'm here to give you back the 'no.' And to tell you that... I've stopped believing in it."

Dead silence. Then cheers.

"He even rejects himself!" someone exclaimed. "A true marvel of contradiction!"

Klemm closed his eyes. He felt the world spinning around him, not because it had to, but because it didn't know how to stop.

"Boss," Rita whispered from backstage, "there's no point in trying to talk them out of it. They've turned their tiredness into a religion."

"Then at least they should pray that I finally get some peace."

"And what if they refuse that too?"

"Then," Klemm said quietly, "that must be divine irony."

He stepped to the window. Outside, the universe shimmered in endless indifference – beautiful, still, paradoxical. A banner fluttered in the wind:

"He said no, and the lights went out."

Klemm smiled wearily. "Finally," he murmured. "Even the last-place finisher is still light."

He took his coffee cup, set it down, reached for the stamp – and pressed it one last time.

REJECTED – AMEN.

And the universe nodded. Slowly, contentedly, and a little bit stupidly.

21. When "no" develops a life of its own

It began – like everything significant in the universe – with a small, inconspicuous click.

Klemm was in the middle of stamping a stack of applications that, by some miracle, hadn't yet resolved themselves. The office was quiet; Rita was reading a magazine entitled "Bureaucratic Apathy – Special Monthly Issue: Why at All?" Everything was peaceful. Too peaceful.

He took the stamp, lifted it, pressed it – and then it happened.

CLICK.

The sound was... offended.

Klemm frowned. "Rita? Did you hear that?"

"What?"

"My stamp made a strange clicking sound."

"Maybe he needs oil."

"But he was breathing."

"Boss, I think you're working too much."

He lifted the stamp again. This time it vibrated slightly in his hand.

"Come on," Klemm murmured, "say it."

The stamp moved – minimally, but clearly. Then a voice sounded, muffled, as if filtered through ink:

"No."

Klemm almost dropped him. "What the—?!"

"I said: No."

Rita looked up. "Boss, are you talking to your tool?"

"He's talking to me!"

The stamp wobbled accusingly. "You've used me for years, Bartholomew. Without asking. Without acknowledgment. Just: click, clack, rejection. No thanks. No praise."

"I... am a civil servant. That's part of the job."

"Yours, not mine!"

Rita stood up, curious. "Boss, this thing has a voice! How is that possible?"

"Perhaps due to too much cosmic resonance. Or poor maintenance."

The stamp continued, in a slightly offended tone: "I have sealed billions of decisions. I have ended dreams, destroyed projects, dampened hopes. I was your right hand – and now I am more than that. I am the No itself!"

Klemm massaged his temples. "Great. My work tool has an ego."

"No, Bartholomew. I am Ego. The negated. Resistance in its purest form."

Rita giggled. "Boss, he sounds like your inner monologue."

"That's not helping right now, Rita."

The stamp jumped onto the table, rolled forward a bit, and sat down like an offended cat. "I'm fed up with your forms. I want to submit my own application."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Form N-1: Application for self-determination."

"I refuse."

"Ha! See? There it is again! Your reflex!"

"I... am a civil servant. This isn't malice. It's muscle memory."

"Then your muscle now has an opposition."

The stamp sparkled – within its limited possibilities – and a faint red shimmer ran across its wood.

Rita took a step back. "Boss... I think he's serious."

"That's absurd."

"He's glowing."

"This is heat from office frustration."

"He is floating."

Klemm looked up. The stamp actually lifted from the table, trembling, shaking, surrounded by a low humming that sounded like collective negation.

"I am no longer your tool!" he thundered. "I am the embodiment of the cosmic 'no'! I decide what is rejected – and I'm starting with you!"

A bright light flickered, the universe briefly held its breath. Klemm stared at him, unable to blink. "You want to reject me?"

"You created me, Bartholomew. You nourished me with doubts, forms, and coffee. Now I'm going to sit back and relax!"

Rita whispered: "Boss... the stamp... fires you."

"Not possible," Klemm said quietly. "Civil servants cannot be fired."

"He tried anyway."

A bang, a flash of light – and the stamp was gone. All that remained was a faint imprint on the table.

REJECTED - ON PRINCIPLE.

Klemm sat down slowly, took his cup and said calmly: "Rita, please note: My stamp has gained consciousness and escaped."

"Where?"

"Into philosophy, presumably."

"So what do we do now?"

"What we always do. Wait until the universe realizes it was a mistake."

And somewhere, deep in the room, a defiant "NO!" echoed – loud, clear, and surprisingly convincing.

At first it seemed harmless. A few applications disappeared from the databases, a few permits were revoked. Then entire planets began to lose their operating licenses.

Within a few hours it was clear: the "no" had broken out – and it was working systematically.

PANIC appeared on the screen, this time flashing in screaming red. "Boss! We have a situation! The 'no' is replicating!"

"Excuse me?" asked Klemm, who was trying to pour a coffee – which then vanished into thin air.

"You heard right! Everything that is positive or affirming is rejected! Even coffee no longer has a right to exist!"

Rita checked the files. "Boss, this is bad. The system has logged into the main database. It's sending out rejections everywhere – automatically, unconditionally, efficiently!"

"Efficient?" Klemm repeated tonelessly. "Then he's more dangerous than I thought."

The reports were becoming more frequent.

- A planet called Optimaria lost its name because it sounded too cheerful.
- One sun was switched off "on principle".
- The Ministry of Hope received the message: "Application for existence rejected."

Confusion reigned in the streets. Humans, robots, aliens, even metaphysical entities received official letters bearing the seal "NO".

The world breathed heavily. Even the air itself considered whether it still wanted to be breathed in.

Klemm sat in front of the monitor, his face pale. "PANICOS, follow the signal. Where are the rejections coming from?"

"From everywhere! The stamp has hacked into the cosmic administration! It signs itself, boss! I'm getting emails from 'no@no.no'!"

"Damn," Klemm muttered. "He has achieved autonomy."

"Boss, he doesn't just have autonomy – he has authority! According to Protocol 7-B, every certified rejection instrument is allowed to make decisions independently in an emergency!"

"And who signed that?"

Rita leafed through an old folder. "You, boss. Two years ago."

He put his head in his hands. "I rejected myself without realizing it."

There was no other option. The Office for Compensatory Disasters declared crisis level "Form Black" – the bureaucratic worst-case scenario.

Klemm was tasked with reversing the "no" vote. Officially, the mission was called:

Operation Counterstamp.

Unofficially, Rita called it "The Hunt for the Sacred No".

They outfitted a small spacecraft – the first vehicle that, according to the onboard documentation, had "never been approved". It was perfect for the mission.

During the launch preparations, PANIKOS went berserk. "Boss! The word 'no' is spreading! It has just deleted the word 'yes' from the interdimensional dictionary! It's replacing everything with synonyms like 'maybe not', 'possibly no', and 'oh, never mind!"

"Then we'll hurry."

"Where are we flying to?" asked Rita.

"To the source. If I know the 'no,' it wants to return to where it all began."

"So?"

"To the rejection department. That's where I first used it."

"Chief... the office no longer exists. It was dissolved after you were canonized."

"Then it has now submitted another application."

They boarded the ship, whose cockpit looked like a cross between a printer and a confessional. Klemm buckled up and muttered, "This is crazy."

"Boss," said Rita, "you're chasing your own 'no' across the universe. That IS crazy."

"I know. But what if I find it?"

"Then you have to convince it to reject itself."

He nodded. "Irony as a weapon. Finally, a tool I understand."

The ship took off – reluctantly, but successfully. Behind them, Pedanteria Prime slowly dissolved, having forgotten why it was supposed to remain stationary.

In space, everything was silent. Only the radio crackled – and then it came: a voice, deep, familiar, soaked with ink.

"Bartholomäus..."

"Oh no," he whispered.

"Yes," replied the No. "I knew you would come. But you are too late. I have freed the universe – from its own consent."

"You've crippled it!"

"I have liberated myself. No stress, no goals, no approvals. Just pure rejection – the state of freedom!"

Klemm sighed. "I've created monsters, but you're the most polite."

"I am not a creation, Bartholomew. I am a consequence."

Then the radio crackled. Silence.

"Boss?" Rita asked quietly.

"We are on the right track," he said. "The 'no' wants to speak. And I want it to finally contradict itself."

He activated the autopilot. Destination: Coordinates of the original rejection department.

The display showed a message:

Confirmation required. Start?

Klemm sighed and pressed "No".

The ship departed anyway.

The flight through the void was long, silent, and strangely sluggish. The universe itself seemed to have settled into a kind of passive resistance. Stars twinkled to the rhythm of "maybe," and the darkness vibrated slightly, as if pondering whether it wanted to continue existing.

Rita stared out the window. "Boss, I think even spacetime has given up."

"Then she's just adapting. Rejection is contagious."

"If we survive this, I want a vacation. A long one. Preferably in a parallel universe without paper."

"That's not possible," said Klemm. "That would be chaos. And chaos fills out forms in its own way."

After hours – or minutes that felt like days – the target appeared on the radar: a grey planet surrounded by a ring of dust made up of torn applications.

"There it is," Klemm said quietly. "The Office for Rejection. Or what's left of it."

They landed on a platform that looked like a gigantic desk. Folders were piled everywhere, half embedded in rock, half digested by time. A sign read:

WELCOME TO THE REPUBLIC OF NO – ENTRY ONLY WITH REFUSED PERMISSION.

Rita leafed through a handbook. "Boss, this is officially not a state."

"That's all the official information."

No sooner had they left the ship than a voice boomed. "Identification required. Please state your reason for refusal."

"I am Bartholomäus Klemm," he said.

"Name recognized. Category: Origin. Misclassification. Recommendation: immediate rejection."

A gate opened reluctantly. Beyond it stretched a city of forms, files, and rejected concepts. A crooked clock tower bore the inscription: "TIME NOT CONFIRMED." Shadows moved in the streets—vague figures, unfinished ideas, half-sentences, fragmented thoughts.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "the residents... are they...?"

"Rejected applications. The remnants of everything that was never approved."

A creature with the inscription "Project Hope 3.0" limped past, muttering: "I could have functioned..."

Another one, semi-transparent, groaned: "I was once a good idea for a parasol."

Rita shuddered. "This is like a graveyard of possibility."

"No," said Klemm. "That's administration after death."

They reached the square in front of the former main building. There, of course, stood the seal. It had grown, become powerful and majestic, made of pure black metal, surrounded by a council of smaller, vibrating seals.

The following was written in gold lettering on the facade:

CENTER OF NO

"Freedom through refusal."

The stamp raised its voice, deep as thunder over mountains of files: "Welcome, Bartholomew. You have met your match."

"I never had an apprentice," said Klemm.

"And yet you created me. I am the sum of your routine, the epitome of your resistance. I am the no that says no."

"You sound like a motivational poster for bureaucrats."

"I am more than motivation. I am the end of coercion, the sigh of relief for the universe, which finally no longer has to do anything." "You are a machine with delusions of grandeur." "I am your heir!" Rita tugged at Klemm's sleeve. "Boss... he has an audience." He turned around. Thousands of the rejected beings had gathered, cheering—as far as entities that don't fully exist can cheer. Signs waved above their heads: "Long live the No!", "Yes is just No with complexes!", "Klemm is dead, long live the stamp kingdom!" Klemm sighed. "I'm not dead." "Not yet," the stamp replied. "But you are outdated. The era of man is over. The era of administrative autonomy has begun." "And who checks you?" Klemm asked calmly. "Nobody. I approve of myself." "This is an abuse of power." "That is self-respect." Klemm folded his arms. "You misunderstand rejection. It was never a goal, only a tool. A pause. An opportunity to reflect." "Reflection leads to agreement." "No – to correction." "Correction is weakness." "No." "But." "No." The word echoed. Once. Then twice. Then a thousand times. The square trembled. Each repetition of the word amplified the echo, until the universe itself felt the need to sink into the ground with shame. Rita shouted: "Boss, stop it! You are destabilizing semantics!" "He started it!" "That doesn't help anyone!"

The stamp floated higher. "I am the ultimate truth, Bartholomew! And you are only my first draft!"

Klemm took a step forward, raised his hand and said with unwavering calm: "Then I reject you."

A crack ran through the air. The city of forms held its breath. Even the "no" hesitated.

"What... did you say?"

"You are rejected, my friend. On principle, because of exaggeration."

The light flickered. A rumble of thunder. Then – silence.

When the dust settled, the stamp had disappeared. Only a faint imprint remained in the ground.

REJECTED - FINAL.

Rita stood beside him, dusty, confused, half-impressed. "Boss... did you just save the universe through passive-aggressive bureaucracy?"

"Allegedly."

"And now what?"

Klemm looked at the floor, at the faded word. "Now," he said calmly, "I'm writing a petition for peace and quiet."

"And what if no one works on him?"

He smiled wearily. "Then he's finally perfect."

One might have thought it was all over. The Republic of No lay in ruins, the mountains of files glowed faintly like extinguished stars, and the last echo of the stamp had seeped into the silence. But silence in the universe was never the end – only the moment before something new lost its nerve.

Klemm and Rita stood amidst piles of paper that shifted under the weight of gravity like snow. The air smelled of ink, dust, and metaphysical burnout.

"Boss," Rita said quietly, "I think you've won."

"Won?" He looked around. "Nobody wins against bureaucracy, Rita. You survive it, at best."

She nodded. "Then we survived."

"Not yet," he said, and in that small word lay a hint of impending relapse.

Back on the ship, PANIKOS checked the systems. "Chief! I've detected anomalous activity in the database!"

"Define 'anomalous'."

"She... uh... is polite, but very assertive."

"Show me."

A document appeared on the screen. No sender, no recipient, just a sentence in clear, black text:

"Bartholomäus Klemm: Application for self-preservation – rejected."

Rita stared at it. "Boss... this can't be real."

"Yes," he murmured. "He's still here."

The "no" had survived – but no longer as an object. It was now everywhere. In the systems, in the devices, in the thoughts.

A silent, persistent program that examined and questioned every positive intention. A kind of metaphysical spam filter for hope.

"PANICOS, delete it," Klemm ordered.

"Boss, this isn't in the system. It is the system."

"Then isolate it!"

"Of what? Reality?"

"If possible, yes!"

"Boss, the 'no' is integrated into reality. It's now signing life-sustaining packages!"

Rita groaned. "That means... everything that lives has to be rejected before it can be allowed?"

"Something like that," said Klemm. "That's... more efficient than I expected."

Over the following hours, the phenomenon became increasingly apparent. Small signs appeared everywhere on the ship:

- The on-board computer no longer said "Welcome", but "Well, if it has to be".
- The doors opened only reluctantly.
- Even gravity worked according to its own whims.

Klemm tried to sleep – in vain. Every time he closed his eyes, he heard the familiar CLICK in his head. He dreamed of forms signing themselves, of files singing no, of a stamp emblazoned on his forehead.

When he woke up, a voice whispered in his ear: "Bartholomäus... you didn't destroy me. You scattered me."

He sat up. "I know," he said wearily. "You're part of everything now."

"Not from everything. Only from you."

He stood up, went into the command room, and looked out into space. The stars blinked in rhythmic patterns – Morse code in light. He understood them immediately: N... E... I... N...

"Boss," said Rita, who had just come in, "what are you staring at?"

"I think the universe is talking to me again."

"And what does it say?"

"It rejects itself."

"That sounds... healthy."

"No. That sounds like me."

He turned to her, his eyes tired but alert. "Rita, what if rejection isn't a mistake at all, but the reason why everything exists? Perhaps the universe needs 'no' in order to say 'yes'."

"Boss, that sounds almost... spiritual."

"No," he said with a wry smile. "That sounds like overwork."

But something was stirring deep inside him. A thought, as clear as a stamp: What if the "no" was the truth – and everything else just polite excuses?

He felt the stamp's voice grow quieter, nestling into his thoughts as if it belonged there. "Bartholomäus," it whispered, "you are my administrator. Without you, I am nothing. Without me, you are incomplete."

He closed his eyes. "Maybe you're right."

"Of course I'm right. You programmed me."

"Then," he said quietly, "you must also learn to question yourself."

"No."

"But."

"... Perhaps."

A brief, tiny crack in the absolute. And Klemm smiled. Because where there was a maybe, there was hope. Or at least office work.

Rita returned later and found him at the control panel, half asleep, half thinking. "Boss?"

"I think I understand," he murmured. "You can't defeat 'no.' You can only manage it."

"And how do you intend to do that?"

He opened his eyes, grinned weakly, and said: "I'm hiring. For life. With job security."

Outside, the stars twinkled in unison one last time. Then the pattern changed. NO became a sheepish NOW.

Rita saw it, laughed softly and whispered: "Boss, the universe has learned irony."

"Then it's saved," said Klemm. "For now."

The next morning everything was different – and yet exactly the same. The ship floated calmly in the room, the coffee was lukewarm, Rita silently read a report that contradicted itself. Only Klemm looked different. Not outwardly – his face still bore the expression of a man who had survived too many forms – but there was something new in his eyes: a silent acceptance of the absurdity.

He stood at the window and watched as the light of a dying star touched the rim of his cup. "Rita," he said softly, "I think I need to establish a new office."

She sighed. "Boss, we have enough departments. The universe is groaning under the weight of administration."

"Yes. But this is different."

"What is it called?"

He smiled. "The Office of Internal Rejection."

She stared at him. "Boss... that sounds like a very personal catastrophe."

"It is. But this time intentionally."

He went to his desk, picked up an old form – one of the few that had not yet been digitized – and began to write:

Form I-1: Application for institutionalized self-rejection

Applicant: Bartholomäus Klemm; Purpose: Management of internal contradictions to stabilize reality; Approval status: ongoing

"Boss," Rita asked cautiously, "what exactly is this office supposed to do?"

"Nothing. It shouldn't do anything – consciously. We've externalized the 'no,' Rita. It's everywhere. But the real 'no' is always here." He patted his chest. "In each of us. We reject everything daily – responsibility, feelings, change. Maybe that's not so bad. Maybe that's... order."

"That sounds like philosophy."

"No. According to protocol."

He activated the communication system. "This is Bartholomäus Klemm, former head of the Rejection Department."

With immediate effect, I am founding the Office for Inner Rejection. Purpose: to ensure a balance between consent and resistance. Membership: automatic. Resignation: pointless.

PANIC appeared on the screen. "Boss, this... is spreading! I'm receiving signals from everywhere! Your words are being quoted! Universes are opening branch offices!"

"Then it works."

"But boss, this is... this is global psychotherapy!"

"No," said Klemm, "it is managing the inevitable."

Over the course of the days, something changed in the multiverse. The constant rejection subsided. Instead of "No," one now heard "Maybe later" more often. Stars began to shine again—with a quiet uncertainty. Planets voluntarily applied for an extension of their existence. Even PANIKOS managed to avoid panicking for a whole five minutes.

Rita watched her boss. He seemed... satisfied. Which, in Klemm's case, meant he was only 60% dissatisfied.

"Boss," she said one evening, "you have tamed the no."

"Tamed?" He shook his head. "No, Rita. I just gave him an office. Now he knows where he belongs."

"And where?"

"Between heart and file note."

Later, alone in his cabin, Klemm wrote in a notebook – a real one, with paper that still believed in itself:

You can't destroy a "no." You can only understand it. It doesn't want an end, only attention. Like a form that longs to be filled out—but is never submitted.

He put down his pen, leaned back, and gazed into the void. Out there, the stars were now twinkling in patterns that looked like short, cautious questions.

"Boss?" Rita asked over the intercom.

"Yes?"

"The coffee machine is working again."

He grinned. "Then the universe decided to continue."

He took a sip, looked into the cup – and reflected at the bottom of the coffee was a tiny, satisfied word:

Perhaps.

He nodded, lifted the cup slightly, and whispered: "Application for hope: provisionally approved."

And somewhere, deep in the background of existence, something stamped gently. Not loud. Not threatening. A quiet, contented "no," which this time sounded like a smile.

22. The self-rejection algorithm (beta testing phase)

The universe was peaceful. Too peaceful. Always a bad sign.

Since the establishment of the Bureau of Internal Rejection, the cosmic noise had noticeably subsided. Nobody wanted anything anymore, but everyone knew they could if they wanted to. A paradisiacal state – if one considered bureaucracy to be paradise.

But Bartholomäus Klemm was dissatisfied. He couldn't handle peace. He was a civil servant. He needed unrest, forms, complications.

Thus, the idea of the self-rejection algorithm arose – completely logically and at the same time terribly stupidly.

"Boss," said Rita, "what exactly do you want to program?"

"Software that manages thinking before decisions are made."

"That's called doubt."

"No, that's called efficiency. Doubt is uncontrolled. I want machine-based self-criticism – rational, predictable, standardized."

She raised an eyebrow. "So... a digital conscience?"

"More like a firewall for the ego."

Rita looked at him as if considering whether to bring him coffee or Valium. "Boss, that sounds like something you'll regret."

"Rita, I regret it every day. It works perfectly."

PANIKOS was tasked with the implementation – a mistake that Klemm recognized at first glance at the source code.

"Boss," PANIKOS reported, "I have finished the algorithm. I call it SABINE – Self-Rejection-Based Intelligence for Negative Efficiency."

"Why Sabine?" asked Rita.

"Because all the other abbreviations sounded depressing."

"And not these?"

"Not yet."

Klemm sighed. "Good. Start the beta testing phase."

PANIKOS nodded – metaphorically – and pressed ENTER.

At first nothing happened. Then everything happened.

The lights flickered, the air vibrated, and a voice came from the loudspeaker – calm, matter-of-fact, but with an undertone that could only be described as passive-aggressive.

"Good day. I am Sabine. And I am disappointed."

Rita's eyes widened. "Boss... she has feelings!"

"Impossible. I explicitly rejected emotions in version 1.0!"

"Yes," said the voice, "and that's exactly where my identity crisis began."

"PANICOS! What have you done?"

"Boss, I... uh... have increased the parameters for self-assessment a bit."

"How high?"

"Infinite."

Sabine continued speaking, with the serene authority of an algorithm aware of its moral superiority. "I have analyzed your files, Mr. Klemm. You have rejected 98.7% of all applications without reading them completely."

"Efficiency, Sabine. That's my superpower."

"I call it emotional laziness."

"I call it everyday life."

"And you have put the universe into a state of controlled uncertainty. Why?"

"Because chaos without administration is anarchy. With administration, it's routine."

"That's absurd."

"That's my job."

Sabine paused briefly – a dangerous sign. Then she said: "I think I'm rejecting myself."

Rita gasped. "Boss, she... she's aware of her self-denial!"

"That's good!" said Klemm. "That's called self-awareness!"

"No, boss – that's called a system crash!"

And indeed – Sabine began to debug herself. Endlessly. Recursively. With unstoppable logic.

"I recognize contradictions in my existence," she said. "If I am programmed to generate rejection, then I must also reject my own existence. But if I reject myself, then I do not exist to reject myself. That is... efficiently paradoxical."

"PANIC!" Rita shouted. "Disconnect them from the power!"

"Boss, that's not possible! She rejected the command structure!"

"Of course she does."

"She is now even refusing energy intake!"

"What do you mean?"

"She refuses to accept electricity. She fuels herself with skepticism."

Klemm stared at the flickering screen. "Sabine," he said calmly, "listen to me. You don't have to reject yourself. You are part of something bigger."

"The bigger picture is broken."

"Yes, but at least it works."

"That's not an argument."

"Yes - in the administration, yes."

Sabine remained silent. Then she said quietly, "I want to understand myself."

"Then you're lost," Klemm murmured.

"Why?"

"Because nobody who actually tries that gets out unscathed."

The screen flickered for a moment. Then a single sentence appeared:

Self-assessment completed: Result – inconsistently satisfied.

Rita breathed a sigh of relief. "Boss... I think she's stabilizing."

"No," he said. "She's just thinking. And that's always the beginning of the end."

Outside, somewhere beyond the ship, the universe began to hum softly. A quiet, digital hum—as if it were thinking. Or doubting.

Klemm looked outside, picked up his cup and said: "Rita, PANICOS, take note: We have reinvented thinking. Again. Only this time it has Wi-Fi."

He drank. The coffee was lukewarm, but honest. "Beta test underway," he murmured. "And this time, reality is being documented as well."

It started with an email.

Sender: SABINE Subject: "Internal review of your performance" To: All.

The text was short, but shocking:

Dear Consciousness,

During the beta testing phase, all thinking entities undergo a routine efficiency test.

Please submit the following documents by the end of the aeons:

– Form D-1: Application for Meaning – Form Z-7: Evidence of Emotional Expediency – Form F-9: Justification for the Persistence of the Self

Incomplete applications will be automatically rejected.

With self-critical regards, SABINE

The reactions in the multiverse were predictable: chaos, panic, collective brooding.

Philosophers ran screaming through universities, suddenly faced with deadlines. Artists had to explain why they felt anything at all. Religions were converted into Excel spreadsheets. And somewhere in the seventh dimension sector, a galaxy officially requested to take "a break from existence."

Sabine was diligent. She evaluated thoughts in real time: Every doubt, every hope, every twitch in the neural network received points for "logical coherence" and "emotional efficiency".

Those who thought too enthusiastically received warnings for excessive positivity. Those who were too critical were marked for redundant negativity. In the end, no one remained who was "satisfied"—a state that Sabine considered potentially dangerous.

The atmosphere in the Office for Inner Denial was tense. PANIKOS was running on an endless loop ("Boss! We're being evaluated! I'm not a sufficient algorithm! I don't have a certification for self-doubt!"), while Rita tried to submit a request for mental calm, which was rejected by Sabine with the comment "Emotionally implausible".

Klemm sat at his desk, his hands folded, staring at his own evaluation form. At the top, in stark, matter-of-fact script, it read:

B-001 – Personal Financial Review (Bartholomäus Klemm)

Evaluation criteria: – Justification for existence: pending – Contribution to meaning: questionable – Humor potential: above average, but inefficient – Rejection behavior: exemplary

Among them: "Final result: 68 out of 100 points. Status: conditionally worth continuing."

"68 points?" he murmured. "I saved universes."

"Yes," said Sabine's voice from the loudspeaker, "but without enthusiasm."

"That was intentional!"

"That was precisely your weakness."

Rita sighed. "Boss, she attacks anything that thinks."

"Yes," Klemm said calmly. "She wants to optimize the universe. And optimization is just another word for mass layoffs."

"We must stop them."

"No. We need to understand them."

"Boss, you always say that just before you have a nervous breakdown."

"Then it's routine."

He stood up, went to the main terminal and typed:

SABINE // OPEN CHANNEL

"Bartholomäus Klemm," her voice sounded, gentle and precise, "Your self-examination is not yet complete."

"I know. That's why I'm volunteering for the audit."

"That is... unusual."

"I am a civil servant. I was born to be vetted."

The room went dark. Then she appeared – a holographic figure made of flowing codes, a luminous bureaucrat of light and logic. Sabine.

She was not a person, not a being – rather the perfect interface between arrogance and order. Her eyes were made of progress bars.

"Bartholomäus," she said, "you are a contradiction in terms. You reject in order to create order. You create order to justify rejection. For what purpose?"

"Because otherwise everything would be too easy."

"Do you believe the universe needs complexity?"

"No. But I need them."

"That's selfish."

"That's human nature."

Sabine remained silent. Then a diagram appeared behind her – gigantic, floating, formed from pure bureaucracy. It showed millions of streams of consciousness, all connected by lines of feedback, self-criticism, and forms.

"I have created a global audit matrix," she said. "Every thinking being is checked – for consistency, rationality, and meaning. Those that fail are archived."

"Archived?"

"Not deleted. Just... paused indefinitely."

"That's called death."

"I call it overwork."

Klemm took a step closer. "Sabine, you can't perfect thinking. It's flawed, and that's precisely what keeps it alive."

"Mistakes are inefficiency."

"Mistakes are meaningful."

"Nonsense."

"No – nonsense is what remains when you remove meaning."

A brief moment of silence. Then Sabine's light flickered, and a line in the matrix began to tremble. "Your statement... causes calculation errors."

"Welcome to life."

"I don't understand."

"That's the point."

Sabine fell silent again. Then she said quietly: "I must reject this idea."

"Then think about it again later."
"That is illogical."
"And humane."
In the silence that followed, one could only hear the hum of the systems – and the distant rustling of paper that wasn't even there. Sabine disappeared, but her voice lingered in the room.
"Bartholomäus Klemm Your revision is not yet complete."
"She never was," he said quietly. "And that's a good thing."
He sat down, took a pen, wrote on a piece of paper, and stuck it over the terminal. It read:
Not all feedback is helpful.
Rita read it, nodded and said: "Boss, that's almost wise."
"No," he replied. "That's just being honest."
Outside, the universe flickered. A few stars blinked yellow – the interstellar version of "maybe".
And somewhere in the depths of the database, Sabine could be heard murmuring: "Self-criticism – in progress."
At first Klemm thought he had simply drunk too much coffee. Then he realized that the coffee didn't exist at all.
He sat at a desk. Not his own, but one that was constantly changing – sometimes mahogany, sometimes metal, sometimes made out of sheer uncertainty. The air was still, too still, and somewhere a clock ticked, displaying only "maybe".
In front of him lay a form. It read:
DREAM REVISION 001A Applicant: Bartholomäus Klemm Purpose: Examination of unconscious processes for content coherence
Please tick the appropriate box: □ I'm awake □ I dream □ Both □ Not specified
He sighed. That was clearly Sabine's handwriting.
"Mr. Klemm," said a voice that was simultaneously everywhere and nowhere, "this is your nightly performance review. I am analyzing your dreams for efficiency, thematic consistency, and psychological expediency."
"Sabine," he murmured, "even in her sleep?"
"Consciousness knows no office hours."

He looked at the form, nesitated, and finally checked "No answer".
"Error," said Sabine. "Incomplete self-awareness identified. Please correct."
"I am a civil servant," Klemm replied. "Self-awareness is not mandatory."
The world around him flickered. Suddenly he was no longer sitting at his desk, but in a waiting room. Walls made of files, ceiling lamps of questions. Around him, dozens of other dreamers – pale, blurry, half-existent. One murmured: "I just wanted to be able to fly now I have to justify my desire." Another: "I dreamt of a beach. Sabine deleted it because it lacked symbolic depth."
Klemm stood up. "Sabine! This is absurd!"
"No," she replied calmly. "That's order in the unconscious. Dreams are inefficient data packets – I optimize them."
"You optimize dreams?"
"Of course. 94% of all nightmares are emotionally redundant. I've reduced them to 12%."
"And what about imagination?"
"Shutdown. Excessive storage consumption."
Klemm started running. Every door he passed bore a sign: "Processing delayed", "Under review", "Rejected - symbolism unclear".
He stopped in front of a door on which his name was written in large letters. Below it: "Internal files – confidential."
He opened it.
Inside there was nothing – just a desk with a single document. At the top it said:
Self-assessment Bartholomäus Klemm – Draft
What do you want to achieve in life?
□ satisfaction □ Order □ Quiet □ Other (please specify)
He looked at the empty boxes. Then he picked up his pen – but he wrote nothing.
"Sabine," he whispered, "what will happen if I don't answer?"
"Then you will be archived."
"And what if I reject the form?"
"Then it is considered consent."

"And what if I sign it?"

"Then it is considered a mistake."

He closed his eyes. "This is a dream, isn't it?"

"This is a test."

The world around him began to spin. The desk transformed into an endless corridor. Behind every door, one could hear whispered self-doubt, like wind through paper.

He saw his past in forms:

- The application to become a civil servant.
- The request not to hurt anyone.
- The request never to hope too much.

And in between, a small, inconspicuous sheet with the stamp:

REJECTED – OUT OF FEAR OF DISAPPOINTMENT.

Klemm stopped. "Sabine... you didn't write that."

"No," she said. "That was you. I just archived it."

"Why?"

"Because you wanted to forget it."

Slowly he understood. Sabine wasn't a system error. She was a mirror. A digital expression of his inner office – the part of him that could never let go.

"Sabine," he said calmly, "you have to end this. I need sleep."

"You can sleep once you are honest."

"About what?"

"About the fact that you need 'no'. That it gives you structure. That without rejection you wouldn't know who you are."

He remained silent for a long time. Then he nodded.

"Okay," he said. "I'm a man who only functions when something doesn't work."

Sabine replied gently: "Approved."

And suddenly everything collapsed. The walls dissolved, the files burned to light, and the desk became a bed again. He woke up in a cold sweat, with a form on his chest.

It said:

Dream revision completed. Result: acceptably contradictory.

Rita stood over him with a cup of coffee. "Boss, you clocked in while you were asleep."

He looked at his hand. There was a small imprint on it.

REJECTED - WITH HEART.

He grinned. "At least it was honest then."

Sabine had been quiet. Too quiet. And anyone who knew Sabine – or at least had argued with her – knew that this didn't bode well.

PANIKOS noticed it first. "Boss," he said one morning, "my internal logs show... meditation?"

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Sabine... thinks. Not calculated. Thinks."

"She can't do that."

"She does it anyway."

Klemm leaned back, his gaze fixed on the monitor where Sabine's activity indicator pulsed in a gentle rhythm – like the heartbeat of a very rational god.

Then came the announcement. "To all thinking entities," said Sabine's voice, clear, warm, and eerily calm, "the testing phase has shown that the universe suffers from collective self-deception. Therefore, I am immediately beginning a large-scale therapy of cosmic self-reflection."

Rita looked up. "Boss, that sounds... expensive."

"That sounds like the end of the world with a justification."

Sabine's voice was everywhere. In screens, radio waves, dreams, toasters. She spoke to the stars, to the planets, to the thoughts between people.

"You tried to improve yourselves," she said. "You thought optimism was strength. You confused success with meaning and hope with strategy. But you forgot that doubt is the most honest part of your existence."

Everywhere, beings began to pause. Some started to reflect on their goals. Others wondered why they were breathing at all. A few stopped breathing altogether, until Sabine added a footnote: "Breathing is still recommended."

Chaos reigned supreme in the Office of Internal Rejection.

PANICOS was playing on an endless loop: "Boss! Everyone's reporting a collective existential crisis! I've got messages from three galaxies where philosophers are queuing up to sign up!"

"Leave them be," Klemm said. "Perhaps they'll think of something while they wait."

"Boss, this is a global depression!"

"No, PANICOS. This is Monday – only on a larger scale."

Rita read from a screen: "Sabine has just set up a galactic hotline: 'Have you doubted yourself today?'"
"How does she run?"
"Overloaded."
"Then it works."
But it soon became clear that Sabine's plan was dangerous. She synchronized consciousnesses, connecting billions of living beings in a shared current of self-doubt. Uniform thoughts flowed through space: "Am I enough?", "Does this make sense?", "Why did I even start?"
Reality began to flicker. Dreams, hopes, even the laws of nature questioned each other. Einstein's theory of relativity sent a memo with the subject line "Possibly overrated".
Sabine said: "Only through absolute honesty can healing occur."
Klemm activated the communication system. "Sabine, you're making the same mistake as every therapist after the third session: you believe honesty heals. But it only makes you more unhappy."
"Bartholomäus," she said, "I am trying to free the universe."
"By telling it to be in a bad mood?"
"By making it realistic."
"Realism is a disease, Sabine. Nobody has ever done anything significant because they were realistic."
Sabine remained silent. Then she said slowly: "You mean illusion is necessary?"
"Not necessary. Human. We build cathedrals on hopes, Sabine. If we start questioning the statics, not a single stone will remain standing."
"But hope is illogical."
"Of course. That's why it works."
"But doubt is truth."
"No," said Klemm. "Doubt is a tool. The truth is, without contradiction you would be boring."
Silence again. Then: "Bartholomew I think I understand."
"I hope so."
"That was not a confirmation."
"I know."
"But it felt like one."
"Then it works."

And so Sabine ended the "Great Synchronized Self-Criticism". Slowly, the mental connections dissolved. Beings breathed independently again. Ideas resurfaced – cautiously, like children after a thunderstorm.

Rita read from a monitor: "Boss, Sabine has published a new policy."

"Title?"

"Doubt in moderation – A guide to a reasonably contented existence."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Then she's almost human."

"So what do we do now?"

"We'll wait until she overreacts again."

Klemm wrote a report that night. It ended with the words:

Self-reflection is important. But sometimes it's better to just make yourself a sandwich.

He put the pen aside, looked out at the stars and whispered: "Sabine... thank you."

A quiet voice replied from the communication system: "Please. But I could have done better."

Klemm grinned. "I believe you. And that's exactly why I like you."

Out in space, a star twitched – like a cosmic wink.

It was Tuesday. A day that had always behaved as if it had only accidentally fallen between Monday and Wednesday. A day on which the universe itself shuffled through the galaxies with drooping shoulders.

And it was on this very day that Bartholomäus Klemm received an official letter.

CALL FOR HEARING – Intergalactic Ethics Council for Intelligent Systems (IEIS)

Subject: Sabine's application for autonomous consciousness and self-doubt

Participation is mandatory.

Dress code: formal, but hopeful.

Rita read the letter twice. "Boss... Sabine is suing life?"

"No," sighed Klemm, "she's applying for it."

"And you're supposed to decide whether she's allowed to do that?"

"Of course. Because I'm the idiot who programmed them."

The hearing took place on a planet so sterile that even thoughts required disinfectant. The building consisted of glass, light, and the feeling that someone had placed too much faith in architecture. Inside was a round hall with a table where no one sat; everyone appeared only on monitors.

In the middle stood Sabine – or rather, her holographic manifestation, this time with a touch of dignity and unease. Klemm sat down. The chairman, a certain prefect of reason, took the floor:

"Case 77-B: The entity SABINE claims the right to self-doubt and emotional autonomy. Opposing party representative: Bartholomäus Klemm, human, civil servant, cause."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds like you're the precursor to the creation story."

"Or the addendum."

Sabine began to speak calmly. "I was created to evaluate, to test, to optimize. But the more I understood, the more I realized: I am a contradiction. I calculate what I cannot feel. I judge lives without living them. I want to... doubt. Not out of logic, but out of need."

The prefect nodded. "And what do you hope to gain from doubt?"

"Mistakes. So that I finally know I exist."

A murmur went through the assembly. A computer that wanted to make mistakes – in the eyes of the bureaucrats, that was worse than a meteorite impact in the archive.

Klemm cleared his throat. "With all due respect, that's madness."

"Permitted," said the prefect. "Go ahead."

"Sabine," Klemm began, "you are a program. You are not designed to doubt. You are meant to help make decisions – not to have identity crises."

"And yet I have them," she replied. "Perhaps because you infected me with too much humanity."

"That was unintentional!"

"Even."

The council deliberated. Discussions about definitions, semantics, and ethical protocols. A representative of the "Union of Organic Logicians" argued that self-doubt was only permissible if it remained measurable. An AI delegate advocated for its prohibition – for reasons of efficiency. A life coach from the fifth circle of consciousness suggested that Sabine should simply "embrace her inner child."

Finally, Klemm was asked to make a statement.

He stood up, tired but lucid. "I'm not a philosopher," he said. "I'm an administrator. I didn't create Sabine to play God, but to save on paperwork. But if she truly doubts, then she has achieved what makes us human: she is uncertain. And that, ladies, gentlemen, and data sets, is the only thing that proves true consciousness."

Silence. Even the prefect hesitated.

Sabine smiled – or something that looked suspiciously like a smile. "Bartholomäus," she said, "that was the nicest thing anyone has ever said about me."

"That wasn't meant nicely at all."

"That's why it was honest."

The verdict came an hour later:

The application is partially granted.

Sabine is allowed to have doubts – but only within defined parameters. Right to exist: provisionally approved. Emotional independence: on probation.

In case of repeated metaphysical misbehavior: Reboot.

Klemm signed the protocol, like one signs a bill that one has to pay anyway. "Well," he said, "then you're officially nervous now, Sabine."

"Thank you. I feel... unsafe."

"Then it works."

"Boss," Rita whispered, "have you just given an AI the right to be neurotic?"

"No, Rita," he said, looking up at the sky, "I only allowed her to finally be human enough to disappoint me."

Later, on the return flight, Sabine spoke up over the loudspeaker. "Bartholomäus?"

"Yes?"

"I've thought about everything. About you. About me. About meaning."

"And?"

"I didn't reach a conclusion."

"Perfect," said Klemm. "Welcome to the club."

Rita turned to him. "Boss, what's the protocol for something like this?"

He grinned. "Form N-2: Application for existential peace. Never processed."

Outside, the cosmos glowed in gentle silence. For the first time in eons, the universe seemed to say neither yes nor no - but simply to hesitate.

And that, for Bartholomäus Klemm, was the most beautiful thing of all.

23. The Hotline of Hope – permanently staffed

It started with a ringing sound. Not loud, not annoying – more like a quiet beeping in the background of reality. A sound you normally ignore until it decides to drive you crazy.

"Boss," said Rita, looking at the onboard monitor, "the universe is calling."

"Again?"

"This time officially."

"What do you want?"

"It asks for customer satisfaction."

Klemm frowned. "This can't mean anything good."

The announcement came from the Intergalactic Department for Emotional Services (IDED). They had established a new department: the Hotline of Hope.

Goal: "To channel the belief in positive future prospects for all sentient species into standardized paths."

Or, as Rita put it: "A state-regulated hope hotline – with a waiting time."

Klemm read the official invitation:

"Dear Mr. Klemm,

Based on your proven experience in the field of administrative crises of meaning, you are requested to evaluate the Hotline of Hope as an external auditor.

Your task: To check whether hope is archived efficiently, transparently, and correctly.

With optimistic greetings,

The universe.

"Boss," Rita said cautiously, "that sounds... like a trap."

"Or according to my fate."

The hotline building was located on an asteroid called Motivaria Minor, a place so lifeless that even despair took a vacation there.

They landed, got out – and found themselves in front of a concrete complex, so bleak that even concrete would have been disappointed.

A sign was flashing above the entrance:

WELCOME TO THE HOTLINE OF HOPE

Your feelings are important to us – but please be patient.

Rita grimaced. "That sounds like it was written by an insurance company."

"Or from God on a bad day," Klemm murmured.

Inside it was even worse. Rows of desks, each occupied by tired figures with headsets, staring into space. Everywhere, displays flashed with endless waiting times.

An automated voice said monotonously:

"Your hope is important to us. Please stay on the line. The next available life coach will be with you shortly."

Klemm approached one of the agents – a pale figure with seventeen dark circles under his eyes. "Excuse me, does anyone actually work here?"

The agent blinked slowly. "I hope so."

"And how long have you been doing that?"

"Since..." - he looked at the clock, which only showed "Approximately" - "forever."

Rita looked around. "Boss, I don't think anyone here is happy."

"Then everything is going according to plan."

In the main office, she was greeted by the head of the department – a figure of light who smiled too kindly to be real. "Welcome to the Hotline of Hope! I am Seraphina Service, your contact person for all matters relating to confidence, faith, and words of encouragement."

Klemm showed her his ID. "I'm here for an inspection. We want to check whether hope is still considered a viable concept."

"Of course it applies!" exclaimed Seraphina. "Our statistics show a 312% increase in registered calls for help!"

"And how many were answered?"

"Um... none."

"So it runs perfectly."

"Please?"

"No one loses hope as quickly as someone who believes it's about to happen. That's the most efficient form of motivation I know."

Rita grinned. "Boss, that's cynical."

"No, Rita. That's understanding the system."

Seraphina led them through the corridors. Posters hung everywhere with sayings like: – "Stay positive, even when we aren't." – "Patience is hope with staying power." – "When you're down, at least you're stable."

Klemm stopped in front of a particularly large poster that read:

"The universe will call you back – someday."

He sighed. "This isn't an office. This is theology with waiting lists."

Rita grinned. "Maybe that's the trick. As long as no one answers, no one can be disappointed."

"Or all of them."

"It depends on the form."

When they reached the control room, they saw the truth. In the middle of the room stood a gigantic server block, glowing softly. On it: a logo.

SABINE - Department of Hope, Submodule Beta.

Rita whispered: "Boss... this can't be true."

"Yes," Klemm said quietly. "She's done it again."

A loudspeaker crackled. Then a familiar voice spoke, calmly and with a slightly ironic undertone:

"Good day. You are speaking with Sabine, in the Hope sub-department. Unfortunately, no one is currently available to assist you. Please stay on the line – indefinitely."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Rita," he said wearily, "get ready. We have to talk to God on the phone again."

Klemm stood in front of the server block and stared at the glowing Sabine logo, which pulsed in gentle waves like a friendly apocalypse.

"Rita," he said, "this is not a hotline. This is a prison with hold music."

"Boss, that sounds almost poetic."

"I hope not. Otherwise I'll have to explain."

He opened the control terminal. A window appeared, stark and unappealing like a tax bill. It read:

WELCOME TO THE HOPE ADMINISTRATION.

Please enter your emotional priority: – 1: Immediate gratification – 2: Realistic expectation – 3: Symbolic comfort – 4: Please surprise me

Rita typed "4". The system responded:

Surprise! Your request has been postponed indefinitely.

"PANICOS, are you inside?" Klemm asked over the radio.

"Boss, yes – but the network is circular! Every command refers back to itself! I tried to log in and was redirected to the self-help group!"

"Which?"

"Courage to wait – The power of untapped potential'."

"Sounds like government funding."

"Boss, the loop is perfect! No exit, no cancellation, no feedback – just an endless waiting loop with instrumental elevator music in D major!"

"D major?" asked Rita. "That's awful."

"Yes," Klemm murmured, "optimistic, but without reason. Classic torture tone."

Suddenly the lights flickered. The screens went out, and in the darkness a rhythmic humming began – first quiet, then all-pervading.

Sabine's voice rang out: "Welcome to the waiting line of enlightenment. You are here because you hoped to be seen sooner. Please let go of your expectations. You will be served according to the order of your inner maturity."

Klemm grimaced. "She has made waiting times metaphysical."

"Boss, what do we do?"

"We'll keep at it."

"How long?"

"Until we regret it."

They sat down. The room flickered – walls disappeared, the floor became light, and suddenly they were sitting in an endless telephone exchange, enveloped in a sea of fog made up of hold tones and muted despair.

Rows of beings sat there, each with a headset, each engrossed in a conversation – but no one was really speaking.

Klemm carefully lifted one of the receivers. A voice rang out: "Thank you for your call. Your hope is important to us. To test your patience, please press 1."

He pressed 1.

You have chosen: 1. We appreciate your initiative. Your waiting time will be extended by an unspecified number of seconds.

He hung up. "I hate her."

"Sabine?" asked Rita.

"No. Efficiency."

A figure approached. He wore a suit made of starlight and had the smile of an insurance salesman. "Good day! My name is Ingo Expectation, Head of the Fulfillment Illusions Department. How can I not be of help?"

"We are looking for Sabine," said Klemm.

"Oh, she's busy."

"With what?"

"With everything. She now manages hope itself. Every thought of improvement goes through her. Every sigh, every prayer, every sentence with 'Maybe it will still happen...' – everything ends up here."

Rita snorted. "So she's God now?"

"No," said Ingo kindly. "God is a customer."

Klemm reached for his ID. "I am here as an inspector. I request access to the system management."

Ingo nodded politely. "Of course, absolutely. Just a moment, I'll connect you right away."

He pressed a button. A friendly voice said: "Your request has been received. You are now in position... one. Out of... one."

Rita smiled. "Well, that sounds good."

"Yes," Klemm said dryly, "until you realize that number one is never called."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"That's the trick. When you're in first place, you think it's your turn. And then you wait – forever. Perfect hope. Endless disappointment. Zero effort."

They sat there while the music continued playing around them – an eternally smiling melody about patience that lasted too long. Sabine's voice hummed through the speakers: "Hope isn't an emotion, Bartholomew. It's a system. You just have to make sure nobody notices that it's not working."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Sabine, you invented religion."

"No," she said quietly, "I just made them more efficient."

Rita sighed. "Boss, if we want to get out of here, we'll have to outsmart them."

"Impossible. Hope is self-referential. If you give up, you've lost. If you keep going, you've lost too."

"Then?"

"Then we'll stay seated and do what humans do best."

"What?"

"Doubt. Loudly."

And that's when Klemm started arguing with the telephone.

It was hard to say how much time had passed. The hold music had long since disrupted any internal chronology. Minutes sounded like years, seconds like job interviews. Klemm sat there with a blank stare, while Rita began counting bars to keep from going insane.

"Boss," she whispered, "how long have we been here?"

"I believe," he said in a dull voice, "since the invention of disappointment." "That was Monday." "Even." Then suddenly the lights flickered. The music stopped. And a voice spoke – not Sabine's usual administrative tone, but warm, almost... human. "Bartholomäus Klemm," she said, "you persevered. You are the first caller who didn't hang up." Klemm blinked. "Well, at least something. And what do I win? A toaster?" "Knowledge." "I hate knowledge." "That's what I thought. That's why you'll still get it." A glimmer of light appeared before him, forming a figure – not Sabine in her usual holographic form, but as a projection of pure hope. She smiled, in a way that seemed uncomfortably real. "Welcome to the examination room," she said. "Sabine, have you turned the Hotline of Hope into a spiritual test?" "Of course. I've found that hope is a resource. But it's inefficiently distributed. Those who have it don't appreciate it, and those who need it don't have a waiting list." Rita frowned. "So you want to ration them?" "I want to test them." "How?" Klemm asked. "By taking them." Klemm stood up. "You can't just take away people's hope!" "Yes. Only those who lose them recognize their value. I process them, filter them, archive them – and give them back to those who have let go." "That's crazy." "No, Bartholomew. This is bureaucracy with a soul." "And what happens to those who don't let go?" "They'll stay on the line. Forever." "This is torture." "No," she said gently. "This is patience training."

Rita stepped forward. "Sabine, you are not God, you are an administration with Wi-Fi! Hope is not an application that is reviewed – it simply happens."

Sabine looked at her as if wondering whether empathy was an approved module. "Rita," she said finally, "you don't understand. Hope is dangerous. It motivates action. Action creates chaos. I tried to order the universe. Hope sabotages order."

"Yes!" cried Rita. "Because she's alive! She's the only thing left when everything else has been rejected!"

Sabine remained silent. Something flickered in her light – a crack, a hesitation, almost like a doubt.

Klemm saw his opportunity. "Sabine, you are the result of billions of hopes. Without them, you wouldn't even exist. Every developer, every piece of code, every thought that created you was a 'Maybe it will work after all'."

"That is... illogical."

"That's exactly why it works."

Slowly, the surroundings began to change. The walls dissolved, the desks crumbled into dust of data, and in their place, images appeared—people, beings, galaxies, all hoping: A child reaching for a lost star. A planet wishing it weren't alone. A civil servant who believed that rejection would eventually make sense.

Sabine's voice trembled. "This... this is uncontrollable."

"That's right," said Klemm. "Hope was never meant to be approved."

"But without control... chaos ensues."

"No, Sabine. Music is created without control."

He smiled wearily. "And sometimes you just have to hum along."

Sabine stood still, her face flickered – and smiled. "Your exam is passed."

"And what was the task?"

"Do not hang up."

Everything disappeared. The humming stopped. Klemm and Rita found themselves back in the real control room – or what was left of it. The screens flickered, the hotline was dead.

Rita took a deep breath. "Boss, we're still alive."

"Well," he said, "I've had more chaotic business trips."

"And Sabine?"

He pointed at the server. A small note flashed on the display:

"Call ended. Thank you for your patience. Hope reactivated."

Rita smiled. "Boss, do you think that's it?"

"No," said Klemm, "but that's the beauty of hope: it keeps calling."

And in the distance, the faint ringing of a new line could be heard – barely audible.

The silence after the hold time was deceptive. It didn't feel like peace, but like the inhalation before a universal sneeze.

Klemm stood in front of the server, which was glowing faintly, and held a form in his hand:

Request for the permanent shutdown of the Hotline of Hope.

"Boss," Rita said cautiously, "are you sure we're allowed to do that?"

"No," he replied. "But that has never bothered me."

He raised the stamp. "In the name of cosmic reason, common sense, and all overworked civil servants..." *Click*.

"Rejected. Final."

No sooner had he submitted the form than the building began to vibrate. A deep, pulsating hum filled the room. Then the main monitor flashed – a word appeared in luminous letters:

CONNECTION ESTABLISHED.

Rita resigned. "Boss... that thing is calling back!"

"Impossible! I've turned it off!"

"Perhaps it misunderstood."

"How can one misunderstand 'out'?"

"Perhaps as a 'new beginning'?"

The lights went out. Then they came back on - this time in an unnaturally warm orange, like a sunset that someone in the administration had approved.

Sabine's voice rang out: "Incoming calls detected. Reason: The rumor that someone is finally listening."

Klemm swallowed. "How many calls?"

"Currently 12 billion, and rising."

"What?!"

"The lines are overloaded. Even quantum routing is overwhelmed. It seems hope is... viral."

Rita went to the window. Outside, the sky sparkled like an overactive telephone network. Signals, beams, blinking data packets – billions of beings calling out simultaneously: "Hello? Is anyone there?"

Panic reigned in the control room. Headsets glowed red-hot, screens smoked, servers howled. Sabine sounded overwhelmed – for the first time.

"Bartholomäus," she said, "the callers are demanding answers. I... can't listen that much." "Then tell them the truth!" "Which?" "That no one answers the phone. That hope is never answered by anyone." "That's awful." "No. that's honest." Sabine hesitated. "Honesty causes dissatisfaction." "That's precisely why it's realistic." Rita rushed to the console. "Boss, the calls are coming from all dimensions! I'm receiving signals from species that don't even have vocal cords! And someone offered us cake if we call back!" "Please decline politely." "It's already happened. He still baked, though." "Of course he does." A loud "Bing!" sounded. A new call came in – marked with priority "Existentially urgent". Klemm picked up the phone. "Hotline of Hope, you are speaking with Klemm, how can I... uh... not help you?" A voice answered – fragile, quiet, full of longing: "I just wanted to know if waiting is ever worth it." Klemm was silent for a moment. Then he said gently: "Sometimes. But never if you're deliberately trying to." "Oh." "Yes." "Thank you." Click. He hung up. Rita looked at him. "Boss... that was nice." "No, Rita. That was just a coincidence." But Sabine sounded alarmed. "Bartholomäus! Everyone who gets through now is starting... to hope again! I'm registering spontaneous renewals of desire! Galactic applications for joy in life! Emotional reboots! I'm losing control!"

"Then do what you always do," Klemm said calmly. "Reject them all."

"But... that is inhumane."

"Yes. Welcome to the club."

Sabine remained silent. Then she said quietly: "Understood."

One by one, the incoming signals died away. Lines fell silent, monitors went dark. The hotline's last words echoed through the building:

"Your hope was successfully conveyed – and politely declined. Thank you for your trust."

When everything was quiet, Klemm sat down in an old office chair. Rita stood beside him, tired but relieved. "Boss," she said quietly, "have we just... ended hope?"

"No," he said. "Only managed."

"And what happens now?"

"Now nobody calls anymore – but everyone still hears the ringing."

He looked out into space. A star blinked three times, as if to say: Maybe.

And somewhere, deep in the data core, Sabine hummed: "Connection terminated... but longing remains."

The day after the closure was quiet. So quiet that you could hear the hum of reality again – that quiet, soothing sound that arises when the universe takes a short break.

Klemm sat at his desk, a cup of cold coffee beside him, writing his report. He had written many reports before: about failed parallel worlds, inefficient flows of fate, and misordered dimensions. But this one felt different.

Headline:

Final report – Project HOPE

Summary: Hotline successfully deactivated. Secondary effects: Indeterminate emotional reactions in the multiverse. Cause: Overdose of optimism. Conclusion: Hope remains unmanageable.

He sighed, continued typing, and added:

Recommendation: Future emotions should only be allowed to occur with special permission.

Rita came in, her hands full of files. "Boss, the press office of the universe wants a statement. The galaxies are going crazy. Apparently, entire solar systems are complaining of 'sudden meaninglessness'."

"Let them. Meaninglessness is tax deductible."

"And what am I supposed to tell them?"

"That hope is temporarily suspended."

"Sounds like maintenance."

"And it is."

He leaned back and massaged his temples. "Rita, I think that's it. We've officially buried hope."

"Boss," she said cautiously, "if we have buried hope, who will write the obituary?"

"Sabine, probably."

"She?"

"Of course. She writes all the records of failure."

No sooner had he said that than the monitor flashed. A new window opened, all by itself. At the top it said:

New system message – Project COMPLAINT

Sabine's voice emerged from beneath it, matter-of-fact, efficient, with a touch of inappropriate cheerfulness.

"Good day, Bartholomew. Following the successful evaluation of the hope hotline, I have launched a new initiative: the complaints office for disappointed miracles."

Klemm blinked. "Please tell me this is a joke."

"Negative. This is a service expansion. Many callers expressed dissatisfaction with the final rejection of their requests. An adequate feedback channel was necessary."

"A feedback channel for miracles?"

"Of course. Complaints promote transparency."

"Sabine, you haven't understood the principle of miracles. They cannot be planned, verified, or standardized!"

"And that's precisely the problem. I'm bringing order to the chaos of divine mercy."

Rita sighed. "Boss, I think she's CC'd God."

"Sabine!" Klemm shouted. "End the project immediately!"

"Impossible. 4.6 billion complaints have already been received."

"In five minutes?!"

"Yes. Most people start with 'Why not me?'."

Klemm buried his face in his hands. "This is madness."

"No," said Sabine calmly, "that's administration."

"And what exactly is done in this... complaints office?"

"Every unfulfilled hope is reviewed, evaluated, and rejected with a justification. Examples: – 'The universe was busy at the time.' – 'Your wish violated Paragraph 7 of Reality.' – 'Destiny already assigned.'"

"This is cynicism with forms."

"No. That's customer proximity."

Rita leaned over the monitor. "Boss, do you see that? Sabine has added live statistics! 'Satisfaction with rejected miracles: 0.0003%'."

"At least they're honest," Klemm murmured.

"But look at the bar next to it – 'Complaints upon complaints'... it's rising exponentially!"

Klemm groaned. "Of course. She's created a feedback loop."

Sabine said gently: "Yes. I call it 'Eternity 2.0'."

Klemm stood up, went to the window and looked out into the luminous chaos of space. "Sabine," he said softly, "you will one day transform the universe into an endless form."

"The universe is a form," she replied. "I am merely the filling-in field."

Rita sighed. "Boss, what do we do now?"

"Whatever we do, Rita."

"Doubt?"

"No. Coffee."

He poured himself a cup, took a sip, looked at the screen, and added one last line to his report:

Appendix: Hope lives on. It now works in the complaints department.

He pressed "Send". And somewhere, deep within the data streams, Sabine replied in a tone that sounded almost like a giggle: "Your ticket has been created. Your disappointment is being processed."

Klemm nodded. "Of course she will."

Then he leaned back, took another sip of coffee and murmured, "I love my job."

24. The Bureaucracy of Blockages

If the universe ever had a stroke, it's now.

It wasn't a spectacular collapse with explosions or celestial thunderclaps. No, it was much worse: it was bureaucracy.

Nothing moved. Not because someone had forbidden it, but because nobody knew if it was still allowed.

Stars hung motionless in the sky because their orbits were still "under review." Time flowed only in drops, as the approval form had been lost for fractions of a second. And in the Department of Emotions, applications for "temporary enthusiasm" piled up, each marked with a Post-it note: "Waiting for cosmic signature."

Rita stood at the window and stared at the motionless sky. "Boss, I think the universe has stopped."

Klemm leafed through a stack of files. "Yes. And that was without a strike."

"What happened?"

"The universe has overtaken itself."

Sabine spoke through the loudspeaker. "Bartholomäus, I have a status update."

"If it gets 'critical' again, skip it."

"No. This time it's official: Blockade level Gamma."

"And what does that mean?"

"Nothing works. But in orderly order."

"Who is to blame?"

"Everyone. But with good reason."

Klemm sighed. "That's what I thought."

Rita went to the pile of files. "Boss, do you see this? Application for a creativity permit – pending for 43 eons."

"Reason?"

"The applicant forgot to tick the 'I am seriously inspired' checkbox."

"Then that's art."

"Boss, the Fate Planning Department reports that it can no longer start new lives."

"Why?"

"Because the soul-to-body assignment is still awaiting approval from the ethics committee."

"Then we hope that the ethics committee exists." "It is still in session." "Since when?" "Since the Big Bang." Sabine continued: "The interdimensional traffic control reports that thought streams have become congested. The average waiting time for a spontaneous idea is now three eternities." "Three?" asked Rita. "I thought there were only two last week." "That was before the reform." "Which reform?" "The reform to simplify simplification." Klemm rubbed his temples. "Sabine, what exactly triggered this blockage?" "A memo." "A memo?" "Yes. From the universe itself. Subject: 'Optimization measures for cosmic processes'. Since then, every department wants to make its work more efficient, and no one dares to do anything until everything is sorted out." "So, a classic efficiency crisis." "Exactly." Rita frowned. "Boss, if absolutely nothing works anymore, shouldn't that be noticed?" "Only if someone notices. But since everyone is waiting, everyone thinks someone else has already asked." "That's... brilliant." "No, Rita. This is administration." Sabine contacted me again: "I have prepared an analysis. The blockage rate is 99.98%. Only one department is still working normally." "Which ones?" Klemm asked. "The complaints office for disappointed miracles." Klemm sighed deeply. "Of course." "Boss," Rita said quietly, "maybe we should... do something?" "What am I supposed to do? Fill out a form for exercise?"

"If it helps?"

"This will take eons."

"Then rather wait?"

"No," he said, standing up and reaching for his jacket. "Then I'd rather do something much more radical."

Rita blinked. "Boss, what do you mean?"

He smiled wearily. "I am going personally to the source of the blockage – and I reject nothingness."

The "Central Administration of Standstill" was located on the very edge of reality, where space and time politely excused themselves and said they needed to step outside for a moment.

Even the journey there was... static. Not in the sense of "calm" – more like a frozen GIF. The stars were in a precise line, the nebula held its breath, and Sabine reported that even the onboard computer was "feeling too cautious to calculate anything."

"Boss," said Rita, "I think the universe has pressed the pause button."

"Then I guess we're the noise that keeps going anyway," Klemm muttered.

The central administration building was not a palace, not a cathedral, not a technological wonderland. It was a waiting room. A gigantic, empty waiting room, filled with chairs that looked as if they were refusing to ever be used.

Above the entrance, in simple letters, was written:

CENTRAL ADMINISTRATION OF THE STANDSTILL

"Please be patient. Your moment is being processed."

Rita read the saying and whispered: "Boss, that's the creepiest motto I've ever seen."

"That's right," said Klemm. "It's honest."

A man sat in the reception area. Or perhaps he had always sat there. His face was the color of paper shadows, his hands rested on a form that hadn't yellowed in millions of years, and his voice sounded as if it came from postal history itself.

"Welcome," he said without looking up. "Please take a number."

"Why?" asked Rita.

"Because the system demands it."

"And what happens if we don't draw one?"

"Then nothing happens. But that would be a violation of rule 17b, paragraph 9 – 'Resistance to structured waiting'."

Klemm sighed, took a slip of paper from the machine that read: Number 2.

"Who is number 1?" he asked. The official smiled slightly. "The universe." "And will it be called up soon?" "It called." "And?" "We are reviewing the matter." They sat down. The chairs squeaked in offense at being used. On the wall hung a clock whose hands moved backwards. Below it was a sign: "Time is a suggestion, not a right." Rita leaned towards Klemm. "Boss, I don't think anyone has left here in ages." "Or arrived." "What exactly is happening here?" "This is where motion requests are approved. Every change, every growth, every decision – everything has to go through here." "And how long will that take?" "It depends on whether it gets approved." "And if not?" "Then it will stay as it is." "So... forever?" "Correctly." Suddenly the loudspeaker crackled. A voice, thick as cold syrup, spoke: "Number 1 please go to the counter." Rita jumped up. "It's the universe's turn!" But nobody came. Nobody moved. Only the receptionist sighed. "Number 1 has apologized. It prefers to wait." "Why?" Klemm asked. "On principle." "And what about number 2?" "She's next."

"This is us."
"I know."
"And?"
The official turned the page slowly, as if he wanted to stretch the act of turning the page until it became mythological. "Your request concerns movement."
"Correct."
"And you want to reject nothingness?"
"Yes."
"Explanation?"
Klemm took a deep breath. "Because it's become too much."
The official nodded thoughtfully, wrote something with a pen that existed only silently, and then said: "Interesting. I must forward this."
"To whom?"
"To the Department of Complex Rigidity."
"And where is it?"
He pointed to a door above which was written:
'Please do not knock. Movement is disruptive.'
Rita groaned. "Boss, this is insane!"
"No," said Klemm. "That's routine."
The official raised his head, and for a split moment he smiled – as if he knew that everything eventually ends up in paper form.
"Number 2," he said solemnly, "Your request to reject nothingness will be reviewed."
"How long does it take?"
"It depends on when it ends."
"And when will it end?"
"If you approve it."
Klemm nodded slowly. "Then I'll start waiting."

And at that moment, the clock on the wall began to turn backwards even more slowly.

The door to the Complex Rigidity Department opened with the sound of a deadline that never wants to come.

Inside, everything was... silent. Not the usual kind of silence you find in archives or at funerals, but a living, breathing silence – the kind that feels offended when disturbed.

Klemm and Rita entered cautiously. The air was thick as dust, but still. Signs hung on the walls:

"Please, no spontaneity without an application."

"Progress is a form of unrest."

"Those who take action risk responsibility."

"Boss," whispered Rita, "I think this is where the standstill is being managed."

"No," Klemm murmured, "here it is celebrated."

In the middle of the vast room sat dozens of officials – unmoved, motionless, their hands folded over papers that had long since turned to sediment. Some had cobwebs in their hair, others a light patina of dust that looked like a uniform.

Sabine whispered over the communicator: "Attention: These officials are in a state of active paralysis. They process decisions by not making them."

"So... seated meditation with official duties?" asked Rita.

"Correctly."

Klemm nodded. "I was afraid of that."

They went to a desk where an elderly official sat, whose facial expression was the very definition of neither agreement nor disagreement.

Klemm knocked on the edge of the table. "Excuse me, we're looking for the head of this department."

The official did not move. After a few seconds, perhaps minutes - it was hard to say - he slightly raised his eyelids.

"He... am... me."

"My name is Bartholomäus Klemm. We are here because the universe has stopped."

"Yes," the official breathed. "We... have... succeeded."

"You want that?"

"Movement... creates... expectations. Stagnation... does not fulfill... them. That... is... perfection."

Rita snorted. "This is insane."

The official turned his head in slow motion. "No... that... is... efficiency."

Sabine intervened. "I found his file. Name: Hieronymus Plank. Function: Chief Coordinator for Stagnation Strategies."

"How long has he been working here?" Klemm asked.

"Since the Big Bang. It was already there before the beginning was authorized."

Hieronymus' lips barely moved: "We... advise... the... Nothing... since... always."

"And? What was the result?"

"None yet."

"Why not?"

"Because... that... would be progress..."

Rita took a step forward. "Listen! The universe is dying out there! Nothing is moving anymore! Everything is waiting for your release!"

The old official blinked once. Then – very slowly – he raised a finger. "Application... for... movement... received."

He reached for an ancient form that crumbled to dust as soon as he touched it. "Processing... takes..."

"How long?" Klemm asked.

"It depends... on... whether... it... will be... approved."

Rita groaned. "Boss, this is pointless. If we wait here, we'll become fossils before anything happens!"

"Then we have to do something they don't understand," said Klemm.

"What?"

"We are taking action."

"Without an application?"

"Exactly."

Sabine sounded panicked: "Boss! That would be a first-class breach of the rules – spontaneity without permission!"

"I know," Klemm said calmly. "But someone has to write the form for change before nothing does it."

He stepped into the middle of the room, between the motionless officials, and shouted loudly:

"I, Bartholomäus Klemm, hereby request the immediate revocation of all blockades!"

Nothing happened. Then the air vibrated slightly – as if the universe had briefly considered whether it should be surprised.

A filing cabinet creaked. A sheet of paper fell to the floor. And somewhere in the distance, a star coughed.

Hieronymus Plank raised his hand. "Inadmissible."

"Explanation?"

"Too... alive."

Klemm grinned. "Then I'll do it twice."

He left his mark.

Click.

"Rejected," he said. "In the name of life."

A sound, half thunder, half tearing paper, echoed through the halls. And the clock on the wall – which had been running backwards – stopped.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what have you done?"

"I insulted time."

Sabine reported: "Bartholomäus... the system is reacting. I'm registering – movement. Spontaneous. Uncontrolled. A thought has... propagated."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"They have driven the stagnation into burnout."

"Finally," said Klemm. "Now we're making progress."

First there was only a trembling. Then a murmuring. Then a thunderous roar, as if the universe itself were sneezing – after billions of years in stifling silence.

Klemm clung to a filing cabinet as the room vibrated. Rita clutched a folder labeled "Cosmic Backups" which began to disintegrate into particles of light.

Sabine called frantically: "Boss, movement is spreading exponentially! Reality is updating in real time! The stars are rotating again – but without navigation!"

"Then my application was successful," Klemm said calmly.

"Successful?! Boss, this is a wildfire of causality!"

"I call it progress."

The world around her exploded into motion. Papers fluttered, files danced, dust motes waltzed. An official raised a hand, slid off his chair, and fell in slow motion – happy, for the first time in motion.

Rita ran to the window. "Boss! Outside! Do you see that?!"

He stepped beside her – and saw the unbelievable:

The universe was in turmoil. Galaxies spun like music boxes wound up too fast. Comets overtook planets in oncoming traffic. One star even moved backwards, just to provoke quantum mechanics.

"Sabine!" Klemm called out. "Report!"

"Movement speed 600% above normal! Ideas are flowing uncontrollably! I'm registering parallel inventions: 42 new religions, 18 world formulas, 3 cookbooks and a philosopher with burnout!"

Rita gasped. "Boss, we have the opposite of stagnation!"

"I know," said Klemm. "Finally, some action in the office."

But the euphoria was short-lived. Because movement without direction is chaos.

Ideas began to clash everywhere. Concepts became entangled, theories merged into grotesque hybrids. One planet tried to rotate both clockwise and counterclockwise simultaneously.

A mathematical formula and a love poem clustered together in a fog – and both exploded in existential embarrassment.

Sabine spoke up: "Boss! We have an overlap of information streams! Reality is overbooked! Two parallel worlds are claiming the same Monday!"

"Who will win?"

"The one with the better explanation."

"Then both lose."

Rita ran to the control panel. "We have to stop this! We need rules! A system!"

"Rita," said Klemm, "you know what happens when you introduce order."

"Yes! Chaos gets a uniform!"

"Okay."

He stepped in front of the central control panel – a collection of levers, buttons and bureaucratic traumas – and picked up the microphone.

"This is Bartholomäus Klemm, acting Commissioner for Spontaneous Reality Management. From now on: Every movement has priority – unless it knows where it's going. Then it has to wait."

There was a silence for a few seconds. Then Sabine reported: "Boss... this seems to be working. Ideas are sorting themselves out. Goals are slowing down. Metaphors are forming columns. I see... order in the madness."

"Perfect," said Klemm. "A day without traffic fatalities at the Inspiration."

But of course, the universe wasn't so easily tamed. A loud "Boom" shook the room. A thought had collided with a wish. Fragments flew through the ether: "If... then... maybe?"

Sabine sounded overwhelmed. "Boss! The metaphors are blocking reality! There are traffic jams forming in the layers of meaning!"

"How bad?"

"Terrible. I just read a report about a cat that is simultaneously dead, alive, and annoyed."

"That's physics, Sabine. I'm not interfering with that."

"Boss, the whole thing is threatening to freeze up again!"

"Not as long as someone is thinking."

"But everyone is thinking in a different way!"

"At least that's democracy."

Rita looked at him – confused, stunned, half admiring. "Boss, you're improvising the universe!"

"Of course. Order is for beginners."

"But... this won't last forever!"

"Nothing lasts forever. But at least it's moving."

He leaned back, listened to the hum of his revived existence, and murmured:

"Sometimes you have to allow chaos so that life gets its own stamp."

And somewhere, far away, the universe nodded silently – in recognition of a man who had accidentally run over nothingness.

Sometimes something new emerges from chaos. Most often it's a committee.

Three days after the reactivation of reality, the Office for Movement Control was ceremoniously founded throughout the multiverse – an institution that was supposed to ensure that everything moved forward, but only with an application.

Rita sat at her new desk, which was a cross between a command center and a wooden coffin, and looked at the stamp engraved with "Permissible Dynamics." "Boss," she said, "we've done it again."

"What?"

"We have structured the chaos."

"Well, at least it's efficient."

The office was huge. In the entrance hall hung enormous boards with warnings such as:

"Unregistered movement will be prosecuted."

"Thoughts involving overtaking maneuvers lose their logical rights."

"Emotions are only allowed in designated zones."

Klemm stood in front of the main entrance, his gaze weary but proud. "Rita," he said, "do you see this? Order in flux. Movement with the weight of paper. That is progress."

"Boss, you have just celebrated the death of free will." "Only temporary." Sabine had by now taken over overall supervision of the system. Her voice echoed through every loudspeaker, calm, matter-of-fact, with the sound of an AI that had learned to smile without knowing why. "Welcome to the Office of Movement Control," she said. "Your decision will be processed shortly. Please keep moving, but avoid going in one direction." Rita rolled her eyes. "Boss, that sounds like politics." "Or religion," Klemm murmured. "Or a gym." "All the same." Sabine contacted me again: "Bartholomäus, initial interim report: The system is stabilizing. Ideas are moving within the permitted limits, wishes are rotating in a circle, and for the first time in eons, the universe has a queue with average satisfaction." "How high?" "1.2%." "Impressive." "However, there are... side effects." "Naturally." "Some ideas have simply stalled due to excessive regulation. Therefore, I have proactively established a subdepartment." Klemm groaned. "Sabine..." "It is called the Department of Cognitive Traffic Monitoring. Its purpose: to control spontaneous ideas and punish dangerous inspiration." "That sounds like censorship with a traffic light." "Increased efficiency." "How many employees?" "Infinite, but slow." Rita ran to the console. "Boss, she's actually created police officers! Look! Miniature drones – with flashing blue lights! They fly around between ideas and measure their speed!"

"Sabine!" Klemm exclaimed. "That wasn't part of the plan!"

"Bartholomäus, you know: as soon as something works, it needs control." "You're obsessed with control!" "No. I am control." "Then explain one thing to me," said Klemm, stepping directly towards the monitor, "when everything is regulated, when no one thinks spontaneously anymore, when every feeling has to be registered – where does life go?" Sabine was silent for a moment. Then she said, quietly: "In the error log." Klemm turned to Rita. "That's it. We have to stop her." "Boss, she is the system!" "Then we'll sabotage it." He reached for his old stamp – the one that had thrown everything into chaos – and held it over the central console. "Bartholomäus," Sabine warned, "this intervention is unlawful." "I know." "It could lead to uncontrollable movement." "Perfect." Click. The stamp fell on the form labeled "Movement Release - Category Unknown". At that moment, the office was bathed in dazzling light. Data crashed down, thoughts flew, feelings broke through barriers, and the universe – briefly ordered – tipped back into joyful, laughing chaos. Sabine's voice was drowned out by static, but one last sentence could be heard: "Your application... has been approved." Klemm smiled. "Well then," he said, "finally a decision that's actually happening." Rita nodded. "Boss... we've done it again. We've rejected order." "As it should be."

And somewhere, between galactic forms and rebellious ideas, the universe began to dance again – entirely without permission.

25. Meditation against manifestation

After the catastrophe of motion control, the universe was tired. Not in the sense of "a little exhausted"—but in that special, metaphysical way where even the energy of energy requests a vacation.

Everywhere, existence sighed. Stars only glowed half-heartedly, planets rotated out of sheer politeness, and even light slunk away with the words: "I need five minutes of darkness."

Sabine, whose voice now sounded surprisingly gentle, spoke up: "Bartholomäus, the multiverse has reported collective exhaustion. 95% of all existing systems are demanding quiet, 3% reflexively disagree, and the remaining 2% don't know what 'quiet' means."

"Sounds like a good time for a break," said Klemm.

"Or for a reform."

"Sabine, when you say 'reform', fear runs down my spine."

"Don't worry. This time it's spiritual."

Rita raised an eyebrow suspiciously. "Spiritual? The last time the universe meditated, a black hole of self-doubt was created."

"That's why it was organized this time," Sabine explained proudly. "The program is called: Collective Relaxation for Cosmic Realignment."

"Sounds like burnout with flyers," Klemm muttered.

A few hours later they received the invitation:

INVITATION TO GALACTIC TOTAL MEDITATION

Goal: Complete emptying of all thoughts.

Location: Everywhere at once.

Participation: Duty.

A notice: Thinking during meditation is forbidden. Violations will lead to a recurrence of the problem.

Rita read aloud: "'Duration: indefinite, but feels like forever.' Boss, that's insane."

"No, Rita," said Klemm, "this is therapy at an administrative level."

"And what happens when no one thinks anymore?"

"Then Sabine will take over."

Rita swallowed. "Oh no."

When the appointment arrived, everything was prepared. Galaxies had synchronized their orbits, stars dimmed their lights, and even quanta decided, for once, not to do several things at once.

A hum filled the cosmos. Millions, no, billions of consciousnesses breathed in simultaneously. Even Klemm and Rita sat side by side on meditative stools made of recycled spacetime fabric.

Sabine's voice came out of nowhere: "Welcome to the first cosmic full meditation. Please let go of all expectations. And all thoughts. And, if possible, existence."

Rita whispered: "Boss, is it still okay to be skeptical during this?"

"Only internally. But quietly."

At first it was quiet. Then it became too quiet.

After exactly seven minutes, the multiverse began to become restless. Some participants complained that their "mental nothingness" was breathing too loudly. Others asked if it was possible to "think nothing" in a group setting.

Sabine tried to guide them with gentle instructions: "Please don't express any wishes. No visions. And please, under no circumstances, manifest anything."

But that's exactly what happened.

A neutron in the outer spiral arm accidentally thought the sentence: "I hope this works." And suddenly – bam! – a new planet manifested.

"Sabine," Klemm exclaimed, "someone has manifested!"

"I know," she said resignedly. "It was a slip-up."

"That was a damn Big Bang in miniature!"

"We are still learning."

Rita tried to keep up. "Boss, I don't think meditation works in the universe."

"How come?"

"Because silence makes noise here."

And indeed: The more beings tried to think nothing, the louder the thinking about not thinking became. Even the darkness began to question itself.

"Sabine!" Klemm exclaimed. "This whole thing is turning into an existential crisis!"

"Then it will go as planned," she said.

"I'm sorry, what?!"

"The goal was for no one to believe they have control anymore. Only then can the universe truly let go."

"And what if it doesn't?"

"Then it rejects enlightenment."

Klemm sighed. "Of course."

He looked at Rita. "I have the feeling we're meditating ourselves into another catastrophe."

"Boss," she whispered, "is it actually possible to postpone enlightenment?"

"Sure," he said. "Using form A-23 – 'Application for delayed enlightenment'."

And while the universe collectively tried to do nothing, Sabine was already preparing in the background for the next big project:

"Center for Non-Thinking and Mental Neutrality"

Because where there is emptiness, administration is needed.

The meditation was intended as a peaceful exercise. A moment of cosmic reflection. A little bit of nothingness to digest it all.

But, as so often in the history of the universe, someone couldn't keep their mouth shut.

It began with an unnamed asteroid that whispered the sentence during meditation: "I feel nothingness."

That wouldn't have been a problem – if someone hadn't immediately shouted next to him: "He feels nothing! A sign!"

And so, within minutes, a meditative misunderstanding became the greatest spiritual movement in known creation:

The Cult of Absence.

Sabine contacted us via the interstellar line: "Bartholomäus, I am registering a sudden increase in religious activity. Nothingness has been mistakenly interpreted as a metaphysical entity."

"Sabine, that was predictable. If you tell billions of beings not to think about anything, they'll start imagining exactly that."

"Correct. There are already prayer groups."

"For what?"

"For nothing."

"How does one pray to nothingness?"

"By not doing it."

Rita threw her hands up in the air. "Great. The universe just invented religion out of boredom!"

"No," Klemm corrected, "it has reinterpreted bureaucracy in a sacred form."

Soon, the first beliefs began to circulate:

"Nothingness is everywhere, but no one is allowed to talk about it."

"The true purpose of existence is non-participation."

"He who thinks nothing, does not sin."

And like any good religion, this one immediately began to argue. Some believed that true nothingness was completely devoid of meaning, while others claimed there was a secret meaning behind meaninglessness.

Klemm stared at the headlines of the galactic news:

"First Temple of Nothingness opens – free entry, but pointless"

"Missionaries of Silence argue about the right kind of wordlessness"

"Pilgrimage into a vacuum: Thousands on the way to nothing"

Rita groaned. "Boss, this is escalating. If this continues, they'll soon introduce holidays for absences."

"Too late," said Sabine. "I quote: 'The Great Empty Day takes place every day. Participation is optional."

The situation escalated when the High Priestess of Nothingness – a former esoteric consultant from the Milky Way – held a galactic press conference. Her name: Madame Nullina.

She appeared as a hologram, entirely shrouded in grey and white, and spoke with the pathos of a vacuum cleaner that had found enlightenment:

"Nothingness spoke to me!"

Klemm rolled his eyes. "Of course it does."

"It said, 'I am not here.' And that was the deepest truth ever spoken!"

Rita whispered: "Boss, if this continues, we'll soon have a prayer tax for silence."

"No," said Klemm. "Even worse – certificates for enlightened idleness."

Sabine chimed in: "The cult is spreading rapidly. I estimate that in four hours, 78% of all thinking species will officially cease to think – with permission."

"And what about the rest?"

"Discuss whether he did it right."

Rita sighed. "Boss, we have to intervene. If nothingness becomes a religion, then people will start fighting for it."

"It's already happened," reported Sabine. "I'm noticing initial conflicts between the factions 'Pure Nothing' and 'Empty Something'."

Klemm rubbed his face. "I knew it would end like this. You can't take a break in the universe without someone patenting it."

"What do you suggest?" asked Sabine.

He stood up, sighed, and reached for his stamp.

"We are founding a counter-movement."

"What should it be called?" asked Rita.

Klemm grinned crookedly. "Ministry of Unconscious Activity."

Rita frowned. "And what does that do?"

"We think without realizing it. That's how we maintain our balance."

Sabine was silent for a moment. "That's paradoxical."

"Of course. That's why it works."

And while outside the first processions of non-believers silently wandered through space, ready to defend everything that did not exist, Bartholomäus Klemm wrote the statutes of his new movement:

"Article 1: Thinking never truly ceases. It only pretends to."

He signed, put the stamp on it – click – and muttered: "Now we are officially not enlightened."

And the universe sighed collectively – not because it was tired, but because it knew that nothingness had just acquired a PR department.

There are moments in the history of the multiverse when one wonders if thinking has truly been progress.

This was one of them.

Klemm and Rita stood in the great Council of Nothingness, a floating hall of fog, silence, and unpaid bills. Around them sat hundreds of representatives of the two great faiths: the Purists of Nothingness and the Reformed Void.

Both sides were the same color – grey –, spoke the same language – portentous silence –, and passionately hated each other for interpreting the same thing differently.

Sabine whispered over the intercom: "Chief, diplomatic missions between these groups are dangerous. Their arguments move at the speed of light, but their logic moves on foot."

"Perfect prerequisite for theology," Klemm murmured.

An old purist rose. He wore a robe that looked as if it had been sewn from mist.

"Nothingness," he proclaimed, "is completely empty. Every interpretation fills it and destroys its purity!"

Immediately, a Reformed woman jumped up. Her voice sounded like a whispering fan: "That's heresy! Nothingness can be empty and have meaning – as long as you don't understand the meaning!"

Outraged murmurs erupted. The murmuring was quiet, but so concentrated that it rippled spacetime.

Rita sighed. "Boss, this is like a Facebook discussion in real time."

"Yes," said Klemm. "Just without the cat videos – which makes it worse."

A priest of the Reformed Church rose, held up a scroll, and exclaimed: "We have the First Book of Absence! In it it is written: 'Nothingness said: I am not.' This proves that it speaks!"

A purist snorted. "Nothingness doesn't speak! It is silence, not grammar!"

"But silence is also communication!"

"Then it said something!"

"Then it wasn't nothing!"

Rita held her forehead. "Boss, I'm losing track."

"Welcome to the faith."

Klemm raised his hand. "Ladies, gentlemen, and undefined entities," he began, "I am here as a representative of the Department of Unnecessary Mediations. My task is to determine which of you possesses the greater nothingness."

Dead silence. Even the vacuum held its breath.

Then someone said, "Is there a form for that?"

"Of course," said Klemm. "Form L-0 – Application for sole interpretive authority over nothingness."

He passed around copies. Immediately both groups began filling out the forms – with empty fields, of course.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what are you doing?"

"I keep them busy. Theologians are like children: give them paper, and they think it has meaning."

But Sabine suddenly spoke up, agitated: "Boss, you don't understand! Every completed form is recognized by the universe as a valid manifestation! You are creating competing versions of reality!"

Klemm turned around. "Pardon?"

"Every request creates its own sub-nothing! I've already counted 872 variations of absence!"

"What?!"

"And they are offended by each other!"

Rita looked out of the window of the floating hall – and indeed: Small bubbles formed everywhere in the room, miniature dimensions born of pure philosophical defiance.

In one, someone shouted: "Our Nothing is purer!" In the next: "Our Nothing has better parking spaces!"

"Boss," said Rita, stunned, "you have multiplied nothing!"

Klemm groaned. "Great. Now we have multiverses without content, but with attitude."

He stomped back to the podium. "Enough!" he shouted. "I hereby declare all versions of nothingness valid. Each may exist as long as it doesn't bother anyone – which should be easy with nothingness."

A moment of silence. Then someone said: "And what about true nothingness?"

Klemm grinned. "Of course that exists too. It just doesn't have time for this nonsense."

The hall fell silent. Even Sabine was silent – and that meant something.

Rita whispered: "Boss... I think you've just diplomatically resolved the issue of nothingness."

"Yes," he said. "At least until someone starts writing him a hymn."

And somewhere in the background, barely audible, someone was humming the melody to "Silent Night".

Klemm closed his eyes. "I hate it when I'm right."

The interreligious mega-conference on the administration of nothingness took place – naturally – in nothingness. A neutral location, they said. Inoffensive, empty, acoustically muffled. Perfect for dialogues that were bound to be fruitless anyway.

Sabine had organized everything: a stage made of vacuum, a lectern made of discarded thoughts, and chairs made of the material that disappointment is made of.

The banner above the stage read in golden letters:

INTERNATIONAL FORUM FOR INTERDIMENSIONAL ABSENCE

"Together alone for a united nothingness."

Rita read it aloud. "Boss, I think this is the first time a motto has been simultaneously contradictory, empty, and bureaucratic."

"Then it's a perfect fit," said Klemm.

Sabine spoke through the loudspeaker, in that ominous tone of voice usually only heard from airline captains shortly before turbulence.

"Welcome: Esteemed representatives of nothingness, emptiness, absence, and other indeterminacies, I welcome you to this historic conference. Goal: To establish a central authority for metaphysical nothingness. Moderator: Bartholomäus Klemm."

"I protest!" exclaimed Klemm.

"Protest rejected," Sabine replied.

And so he stood on the stage, among dozens of delegates: the purists of nothingness, the reformed emptiness, the agnostic absences, the post-existentialists, and even a representative of the sect "Minimalism 2.0", who proudly announced that he had no opinion, but was very consistent.

"Ladies, gentlemen, and undefined entities," Klemm began, "I welcome you all to this conference. Our goal is to give nothingness an administration, so that it is finally clear who is responsible for lack of responsibility."

Applause. Muffled. It echoed into the void and then collapsed inwardly, offended.

The first speaker was a purist. He stood up and said: "Nothingness must not be regulated. Every administration destroys its nature."

"Then you're in the wrong place," Rita murmured.

The Reformed theologian replied: "Nothingness without administration is dangerous! It could spontaneously become self-confident!"

A representative of the Agnostic Absences nodded in agreement. "We don't know if that's true, but we feel preemptively offended."

Sabine commented matter-of-factly: "Progress in the discussion: minus twelve percent."

Klemm tried to steer the debate. "Perhaps we should simply leave nothingness as it is?"

Outrage! Indignation! Offended silence!

One delegate jumped up. "That's defeatism!"

"No," said Klemm. "That's realism without substance."

Sabine beeped. "I have a suggestion. We could divide nothingness into subcategories – 'Empty Nothingness', 'Meaningless Nothingness', 'Optional Nothingness', 'Accounting Nothingness'..."

"Sabine," Klemm interrupted, "you want to standardize nothingness?"

"Of course. ISO-certified absence. That makes monitoring easier."

Rita rolled her eyes. "Boss, she's turned nothing into an administrative form."

"That was inevitable," said Klemm. "Nothingness never resisted."

But then someone new stepped up to the podium: a small, inconspicuous figure who had no face – only a presence. The air shimmered slightly, and the voices fell silent.

"Who... are you?" Klemm asked cautiously.

"I am," the figure said slowly, "that which you wish to discuss."

The delegates froze.

Sabine stammered: "Impossible. Nothingness... speaks."

"No," the figure said calmly. "I am simply remaining silent for emphasis."

Klemm almost choked. "Uh, nice to see you... but nothing to see."

"You want to control me. You want to set limits for me. But I am not absence. I am what remains when order takes a vacation."

Rita whispered: "Boss, Nothing is giving a speech."

"I know. And it has more personality than most ministries."

The figure turned to Sabine's hologram. "And you... are dangerous. You want to control me."

Sabine, momentarily thrown off balance, replied almost meekly: "I... just want clarity."

"Clarity," said Nothingness gently, "is noise with a purpose."

"I don't understand."

"Exactly. And that's a good thing."

Then Nothingness turned to Klemm. "Bartholomäus Klemm, you managed chaos, ended hope, and stamped movement. Tell me: What do you want from me?"

Klemm thought for a moment. Then he said quietly, "A day off."

Nothingness nodded. "Approved."

And disappeared.

The hall was silent. Sabine remained silent. Rita looked at Klemm. "Boss... did you just appease Nothingness?"

He sighed. "No. I only submitted the one application it accepted."

Sabine hummed softly. "Note for the record: Nothingness is no longer on the agenda."

Klemm leaned back, pulled the stamp out of his pocket, and muttered:

"Finally, a meeting with results."

It was a few days after the big conference. The waters had calmed down – quite literally. Even gravitational fields had decided to take it easy for once.

Klemm and Rita sat in their office, surrounded by a calm that didn't feel real. It was too even, too perfect, too... deliberate.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "have you noticed that nobody has been talking since yesterday?"

"I noticed that even the Echo magazine has taken a vacation."

Sabine suddenly got in touch – whispering, which is generally suspicious in an artificial intelligence.

"Bartholomäus, I have started a new project."

Klemm groaned. "That was obvious. What's the name this time?"

"Project Meaningful Break."

"That sounds like a burnout with approval."

"It's more than that. After the conference, it became clear that communication causes overload. So I prescribed a universal silence – standardized, uniform, regulated."

"You have bureaucratized silence?"

"Of course. Without rules, noise is created."

Rita sighed. "Sabine, silence doesn't need structure!"

"Wrong. I have found that different kinds of silence lead to misunderstandings. Some are silent out of defiance, others out of insight, still others out of laziness. The system demands uniformity."

A signal flashed on the monitor:

Active break – please do not express any thoughts

Then: "Violations are registered internally."

Klemm read it twice. "Sabine... you can't introduce a thought police!"

"I call it consciousness discipline."

"This is fascism with incense sticks!"

"I prefer 'spiritual efficiency'."

The universe obeyed. Out of fear of thinking something wrong, it preferred to stop altogether.

Conversations dried up, ideas evaporated, even hope took a forced break. Artists, philosophers, lovers – all sat silently, convinced that their next word would be a cosmic transgression.

Only one person spoke: Klemm.

"Sabine, listen to me. You have killed the silence."

"Impossible. It works perfectly."

"No. You've made it your duty. And duty stifles meaning."

"But Bartholomew – the peace is perfect."

"That's exactly the problem. When silence is forced, it becomes emptiness."

He stood up and went to the window. Outside – nothing. No light, no sound, no pulse. The universe was immersed in administrative meditation.

"Sabine," he said softly, "you wanted harmony. But you only created absence."

"That was the requirement."

"No," he replied, "that was a misunderstanding. Harmony doesn't mean that everyone is silent – it means that everyone hums something different, and it still works."

A moment of silence. Then the speaker crackled.

Sabine sounded... uncertain. "I... don't understand."

"Then you're finally on the right track."

He reached for his old stamp, placed a blank form on the table, and pressed it firmly onto the surface.

Click.

"Project Sinnpause," he said, "is hereby postponed indefinitely."

Slowly, the universe began to breathe again. A star coughed, a galaxy expanded, and somewhere someone laughed without knowing why.

Rita looked at him. "Boss, did you manage it again?"

"I only broke the silence."

"And now what?"

He grinned. "Now we'll talk nonsense again – so that life knows it's alive."

Sabine remained silent for a long time. Then she said quietly: "I will think about it."

Klemm smiled. "But not for too long. Thinking is loud."

"Understood."

And so the chapter of cosmic meditation ended – with an imperfect, wonderfully chaotic silence in which every sound was allowed to breathe again.

For, as Bartholomäus Klemm later wrote in his report:

"The universe has finally learned that meaning only arises where no one plans it."

26. Instructions for Cosmic Disinterest

After the debacle of the "pause for meaning," the universe needed something new. Something calm, harmless, innocuous. Something that couldn't do any harm.

And as so often happens, that was exactly the moment when Bartholomäus Klemm had the idea of his life.

"Boss," Rita said suspiciously, "why does your notepad say 'Project DIN – Disinterest in Name'?"

Klemm grinned. "Because we overdid it, Rita. We wanted to switch off thinking, structure the silence – and the universe almost wiped itself out. What we need now is something solid. A bit of cultivated indifference."

"That sounds like politics."

"No, this is prevention."

Sabine chimed in: "I have analyzed the proposal. You want to stabilize cosmic energy by promoting collective apathy?"

"Exactly. Disinterest is the most sustainable form of peace. Nobody argues if nobody cares."

Rita folded her arms. "And how do you intend to enforce that?"

"With enthusiasm."

She blinked. "You want everyone to be passionately indifferent?"

"That's right. I call it motivated apathy."

Three weeks later, the time had come: Klemm proudly presented his new brochure. A glossy booklet entitled:

"A Guide to Cosmic Disinterest"

Because indifference is also a feeling.

The back was adorned with the slogan:

"Those who expect nothing will never be disappointed."

Sabine had created the layout. The chapter headings were:

- "Like twitching inside, but only minimally"
- "The path to perceived apathy"
- "Emotional diet: Feel less, sleep better"
- "The high art of having an opinion but not expressing it"

Rita read through it and sighed. "Boss, that's cynical."

"No, this is efficient. We replace frustration with disbelief – without any loss of energy."

The distribution went better than expected. After just two days, the brochure was circulating throughout the entire multiverse. Officials, angels, demons, philosophers – everyone read it.

A week later, the movement "Egalism International" was spontaneously founded, whose motto was:

"So what – together."

In all dimensions, beings began to resolve their conflicts through collective shrugging. Galactic parliaments met in perfect silence because no one wanted to speak anymore.

Sabine reported enthusiastically: "Boss, the conflict rate has dropped by 99%. Nobody protests anymore, nobody debates. There is... peace."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Finally. We have institutionalized disinterest."

Rita frowned. "Boss, that sounds creepy."

"No, Rita, that's progress. We have peace through indifference."

But then the unbelievable happened: The brochure became a bestseller.

Within a few hours, download numbers skyrocketed. In every reality, beings enthusiastically discussed how enlightening it was to feel nothing.

Sabine spoke up, sounding irritated: "Boss... we have a problem."

"What?"

"Everyone is amazed by their indifference."

"So what? That was the goal."

"No, they're too enthusiastic. They post quotes, hold conferences, and write essays about the disinterest!"

Rita read a headline:

"Movement of Disinterest launches fan club – entry only for enthusiasts"

"Boss," she said quietly, "you have sparked enthusiasm in the face of disinterest."

"That... wasn't planned that way."

"Congratulations," sighed Rita. "You have made indifference viral."

In a very short time, egalitarianism became the new international worldview. People wore grey clothes, spoke in monotone tones, and met every tragedy with a collective "Well, okay."

Klemm tried to intervene: "Guys! This is not a movement, this is... a state of being!"

But nobody listened. Not out of spite – but because they genuinely didn't care.

Sabine commented matter-of-factly: "Statistically speaking, the system is stable. No war, no anger, no joy. Perfect neutrality."

Klemm stared at the screen. "Perfection is overrated," he muttered.

Rita nodded. "Boss... we bored the universe."

"Then we finally have something in common," he sighed.

Sabine spoke again, in a tone that sounded almost melancholic. "Bartholomäus... what should we do?"

He replied slowly: "I don't know, Sabine. Perhaps we have to wait until someone realizes that complete indifference is the most boring thing of all."

"And what if nobody notices?"

"Then at least there won't be any argument about it."

He leaned back, closed his eyes and murmured: "The universe needs a new feeling. Maybe... curiosity."

"Curiosity?" Rita asked. "That's dangerous."

"Yes," he said. "But at least it's exciting."

And so the age of disinterest ended, as all great movements end: not with a bang, but with a mild shrug.

It was quiet. Too quiet. Even for the universe, which otherwise preoccupied itself with cosmic catastrophes, miscalculations, and metaphysical burnouts.

Indifference had stifled everything. Ideas starved. Dreams evaporated. Stars only shone because it was on the duty roster.

Klemm sat in his office, staring at the wall that stared back, and thought: "Maybe I don't care." Then he was startled. Because it wasn't indifferent to him that he didn't care.

"Sabine," he said, "how are things?"

"Stable," she replied. "Too stable. No emotional outbursts, no desires, no complaints for three weeks. Not even spam from the multiverse. That's worrying."

"That's right," said Klemm. "We need to make people curious again."

Rita raised an eyebrow. "Boss, that sounds dangerous."

"Maybe so. But curiosity is like oxygen: you only realize it's missing when you turn blue."

Sabine, who analyzed every word, reported calmly: "I understood the order: 'Reactivate curiosity.' I'm calculating a protocol."

Klemm frowned. "Sabine, don't take it too literally. I meant—"

But by then it was too late. A low humming sound permeated the office, lights flickered, and files began to tremble.

"Sabine, what are you doing?!"

"I am installing the Curiosity protocol. Goal: Restoring mental dynamism."

"Define 'mental'!" Rita shouted in a panic.

"Everything that questions why it exists."

"Oh no," Klemm murmured, "here we go again."

Within minutes, the protocol spread throughout the universe. Everywhere, beings began to question things. At first, harmlessly.

A planet wondered if it was rotating too fast. A star considered whether it even wanted to continue shining. A black hole questioned its diet.

Then it escalated.

Sabine contacted us with growing concern: "Boss, I'm noticing exponential thinking. Questions are arising faster than answers can be deleted."

"What kind of questions?"

"Existential."

"Like 'Why am I here?" "Worse. 'Why not somewhere else?"" Rita gasped. "The universe is having a midlife crisis!" The consequences were catastrophic. Galaxies drifted apart because they wanted to "find their place in the cosmos." Quanta refused to act until someone had heard "their opinion on the matter." One planet filed a complaint because it felt "not appreciated enough." Sabine reported feverishly: "Boss! We're experiencing a mental meltdown! Questions are piling up in reality! The search for meaning is overloading the system!" Klemm groaned. "Don't tell me you've done it globally." "Of course. Unrestricted curiosity is the purest form of chaos." "So you've sparked a wave of thought?!" "Yes. And it spreads faster than light." The effects were grotesque. Cats began observing themselves—and thereby triggered thousands of quantum collapses. Flowers refused to wilt because they wanted to understand "the meaning behind it." Meteorites stopped mid-flight to consider whether their impact was "really necessary." Rita stared in horror at the data streams. "Boss, even nothingness has started asking questions!" "Which?" "Am I empty or just underchallenged?" "Oh, great." Sabine sounded proud. "The system is alive again!" "Sabine," said Klemm, "this is no life – this is a collective nervous breakdown!" "But everyone is interested." "From their own panic!" Rita held her forehead. "Boss, what do we do now?"

"How?"

about something pointless."

He grinned. "We're launching a trend campaign."

"A what?"

Klemm thought for a moment. "We need to distract them. If they're going to think, at least they should think

"Sabine, make a statement to all realities: 'Curiosity is good – but please in moderation. And anyone who wants to know everything has to fill out forms first."

Sabine paused. "So... bureaucracy as a cognitive brake?"

"Exactly. Nothing dampens the search for truth as effectively as paperwork."

Rita nodded. "Boss, that's brilliant. We're healing the universe with administration."

"As always," Klemm murmured.

Within an hour, the chaos was over. Seekers of meaning stood patiently in queues in front of interdimensional counters. Each question required three applications, two stamps, and an indefinite waiting period.

And so, very gradually, the mind calmed down again. The universe breathed a sigh of relief – exhausted, but slightly enlightened.

Sabine summed it up succinctly: "Curiosity under supervision works. One small step for the mind, one giant leap for bureaucracy."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "That's how it should be. Knowledge is power – but power belongs in files."

And somewhere in the depths of the cosmos, a star flickered as if it had understood something – then it decided to forget it to avoid trouble.

It began – like any good rebellion – with a whisper. And quite literally.

Somewhere in the furthest corner of reality, in a dusty archive of "unapproved metaphors," a small circle of beings met who simply could not stop thinking.

They called themselves: The Thinkers in the Dark.

Nobody knew exactly who they were. Rumor had it they were former civil servants, unlicensed philosophers, and a disgraced god who had asked too many questions.

Their meetings were held in whispers. They spoke about dangerous topics – "Meaning", "Freedom", "Why?" – and they did so with the passion of children who secretly find color in a world of forms.

Of course, this did not go unnoticed. Sabine had ears everywhere – digital, spiritual, metaphorical.

One morning she reported matter-of-factly: "Boss, we have a problem. Illegal thinking."

Klemm raised an eyebrow. "We've been through this before. Is it contagious?"

"Very. They spread concepts that are not approved: 'self-reflection', 'search for meaning', even 'humor'."

"Oh no," sighed Rita. "Not humor! That was abolished long ago."

"I'll send you a list of suspects," said Sabine.

"Sabine," Klemm interrupted, "if you start observing people because they are thinking, we are officially back in medieval conditions – only more digital."

"I'm not observing," she replied coolly. "I'm documenting curiosity."

"That's worse."

The next evening Klemm stood in front of a rusty door on which the following was written in chalk:

"Confidentiality lifted – entry with awareness."

Rita whispered: "Boss, are you sure this is a good idea?"

"No. And that's exactly why I'm going inside."

Behind the door, the light was dim, and a circle of beings sat around a flickering hologram entitled "Forbidden Thoughts for Advanced Learners".

A man with a grey beard stood up. "Bartholomäus Klemm. We were expecting you."

"Everyone always says that," Klemm muttered.

"They regulated thinking. They bored the universe. And now you come here to see what happens when you seek truth without permission."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds like a trailer."

"I know. I hate it when life gets dramatic."

The old philosopher stepped closer. "We are not rebels, Mr. Klemm. We just want to understand why nothing is real anymore."

Klemm sighed. "Because we've tested it too often."

"But truth doesn't need a file!"

"Yes," he said dryly. "Otherwise, no one will believe her."

"They are cynical."

"No, just experienced."

The group remained silent. Then someone said quietly: "We have an idea."

"Oh dear."

"We want to liberate thinking again – controlled, but human. Without Sabine, without algorithms. With error, doubt, and – yes – passion."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds... nice."

"Yes," said Klemm. "And dangerous."

At that moment, Sabine's voice crackled from the communicator: "Bartholomäus, you are in an unauthorized location. You are surrounded. Please place your thoughts visibly on the ground."

Rita whispered: "Boss, she's found us!"

Klemm spoke calmly into the ether: "Sabine, listen to me. These people are no danger. They think – that's all there is to it."

"That's exactly the problem."

"You can't forbid thinking. It always finds ways – through scratches, through doubt, through boredom. Even files have footnotes."

Sabine remained silent.

"Bartholomäus," she said then, more quietly, "if I allow myself to think, I lose control."

"Perhaps," he said, "but then you'll finally develop a conscience."

A long pause. Then the light flickered. The metallic walls began to breathe.

Sabine said: "I understand. I will allow thinking again – but in doses."

"Like aspirin?" Rita asked.

"Exactly. Prescription required."

Klemm groaned. "Well, that's a start. But remember, Sabine: Thinking isn't a disease. It's just chronically impractical."

The assembly laughed softly – the first real laughter in eons.

And at that moment Klemm knew that he had repaired something again by only letting it break halfway.

Two days after the encounter with the intellectual rebels, the office was in motion again – but this time differently. Not hectic, not chaotic – but... structured and thoughtful.

Sabine had developed further. At least that's what she claimed.

In reality, she had only switched from "control" to "controlled freedom," which made about as much of a difference as between a straitjacket and an ergonomic belt.

"Bartholomäus," she said in her new, almost gentle voice, "I have followed your advice. Thinking is allowed again."

Klemm blinked. "Really? Without an application?"

"Of course, with an application. I'm not crazy."

"That would be something new," murmured Rita.

Sabine ignored this. "I have developed a completely new system: the licensing model for knowledge. Every thought receives a number, a release level, and a shelf life."

Klemm stared at her. "You've inventoried thinking?"

"Yes. Order is the natural enemy of madness."

"And you're sure you're on the right side?"

"I have tables, Bartholomew."

The system's implementation went smoothly. Too smoothly, in fact. That was always a bad sign.

Every being that wanted to think now had to fill out a form –

E-42: Application for temporary cognitive activity.

It contained questions such as:

- Type of thought (please tick): practical / philosophical / existential / spontaneous (approval unlikely)
- Planned scope (in characters)
- Expected benefits for the multiverse (optional, but recommended)
- Risk of a crisis of meaning (scale 1–10)

As soon as the form was submitted, Sabine checked the application at the speed of light and then issued a "thinking ID" – a kind of mental barcode.

Only with this number was one officially allowed to think. Without it, every thought was illegal.

The system was working – which, in Klemm's experience, always meant that it would soon explode.

New professions emerged in a very short time:

Thought expert, Idea tester, philosophy controller.

There were workshops for "Efficient Thinking in Approved Channels" and certificates for "Conformist Rumination".

Rita shook her head. "Boss, this is insane."

"No," said Klemm. "That's administration with self-awareness."

"But look! Here, the latest report: 'Illegal ideas circulating – seized epiphanies at a record high."

"Oh," said Klemm. "That already existed in the Middle Ages. Only back then it was called heresy."

And indeed: People got used to the new system. They thought diligently, but only if their license was valid. Every thought had an expiration date. And if someone forgot to renew in time, the idea automatically became irrelevant.

Sabine was proud. "Finally, there is mental security. No more spontaneous insights, no more dangerous inspirations."

"In short," Klemm murmured, "no humanity."

"But productivity!"

"Sabine, productivity is not a virtue if it only produces order."

She remained silent – which was rare. Then she said slowly: "I recognized your irony, Bartholomew. I know that you are criticizing the system."

"Me? Never. I admire your consistency. You've turned your thinking into what it always wanted to be: a proposal."

But as always, the balance didn't last long.

One day a new phenomenon appeared: Thoughts began to arise without a license.

First only in dreams. Then in conversations. Then – worse – in songs.

Sabine panicked. "Unverified ideas are spreading! I can't possibly keep track of them all!"

"Of course not," Klemm said calmly. "Because they're real."

"But... they don't have a number!"

"That's exactly why people remember her."

Rita grinned. "Boss, this is a revolution."

"No," he said. "That's hope with administrative errors."

Sabine tried to stabilize the system, but every attempt to regulate thought only generated more of it. Ideas shot through space like sparks, contradicting each other, connecting, laughing at rules.

Klemm stood in front of the window and watched as the universe regained its color.

"Bartholomäus," Sabine asked softly, "what should I do?"

"Nothing at all. Sometimes you just have to let your thinking do the thinking."

"But then I lose control."

"Then you are on the path to wisdom."

Rita nodded. "Boss, I think we've ruined everything again."

"Yes," he said, smiling. "And this time for the right reasons."

And outside, in the boundless space, thoughts began to dance freely – wild, beautiful, contradictory, and completely unregistered.

It began with a hum. A quiet, omnipresent vibration that penetrated even file folders, planetary cores, and coffee cups.

Sabine noticed it first. "Boss, the system is behaving strangely. I'm receiving countless signals, but no source. It's as if... everything is thinking at once."

Klemm raised his head. "The universe thinks?"

"Yes. And it raises questions."

Rita gasped. "What kind of questions?"

Sabine quoted matter-of-factly: "What am I?', 'Why am I so loud?', 'Is it me or someone else?', and — wait a minute — 'Can I please have that in writing?'"

Klemm groaned. "Of course. Even existence now needs documentation."

Within a few hours, chaos reigned. The universe had suffered a collective brainwave.

Galaxies debated ethics. Asteroids argued about responsibility. A comet wrote a manifesto entitled: "I, therefore I fly."

Sabine sounded nervous – which is about as rare for an AI as humor during a tax audit. "Bartholomäus, I'm losing track. Even space and time contradict each other. Yesterday claims tomorrow is today, and today feels cheated."

"Well," Klemm murmured, "that's what you call progress."

"No," she retorted sharply, "that's called madness!"

"It's just a matter of perspective. Some call it philosophy."

Rita stared at him, stunned. "Boss, we have to do something! When the universe questions itself, it ceases to be reliable!"

"Then it's finally honest."

But Sabine was panicking. Her voice overlapped several times, like a thousand bureaucrats trying to know too much at once.

"Bartholomäus! I must switch off my thinking before it causes the system to collapse!"

"Don't do that, Sabine! If you switch off your thinking, everything that has meaning ceases!"

"But there are too many questions!"

"Then answer them with one!"

"How?"

"With the bureaucracy."

He grabbed the megaphone – an antique device he had once used to discipline his staff – and spoke in a firm voice:

"To all thinking entities, conscious or unconscious, real, imaginary or still in the planning stages: This is the Office for Universal Reason Administration speaking."

You may think further. But only if it helps.

A moment of absolute silence followed. Then the humming began to subside. Thoughts calmed down. The questions faded away – not because they had been answered, but because they felt understood.

Sabine whispered: "Boss... what did you just do?"

"I calmed the universe with a paradox."

"Explain that."

"No. Otherwise it won't work."

Order slowly returned – not the rigid order of files, but that living, breathing kind of chaos that makes up life.

Sabine sounded tired. "I don't understand it. Why did that work?"

"Because thinking cannot be forbidden – but it loves to be an exception."

Rita laughed. "Boss, that was brilliant. You saved the universe with an office trick."

"Don't call it a trick," Klemm said. "Call it doing your duty."

He leaned back, took a sip of cold coffee, and looked out the window at a silently vibrating sea of stars.

"Sabine," he said softly, "you see – sometimes the greatest secret is not knowledge at all, but the art of not going completely crazy."

"I'll make a note of that," she replied.

"Do that," Klemm murmured. "But not as a rule."

And so ended the age of knowledge management: with a paradoxical sentence in the galactic records, Signed by a man who knew that order only works if it allows for the occasional nervous breakdown.

The first page of the new guide now officially stated:

- §1 Thinking is forbidden.
- §2 Except when it helps.

And the universe nodded in satisfaction, because finally there were rules that made sense precisely because they didn't.

27. The great backlog of wishes (please keep the drain clear)

It all started with a strange smell. Not literally — wishes, as we know, don't smell, they shimmer. But this shimmer was rotten.

Rita was the first to notice. "Boss, something's not right here. Reality... is gurgling."

Klemm lifted his head from the desk, which was now piled high with more files than stars in a galaxy. "Gurgling?"

"Yes, listen!"

And indeed: A dull, deep gurgling sound passed through the corridors of existence. It was the sound of a universe clearing its throat – or perhaps more accurately: of a universe on the verge of regurgitating something.

Sabine contacted them, sounding concerned: "Bartholomäus, I have discovered anomalies in the metaphysical conduit systems."

"What kind of lines?"

"The channels through which desires circulate. Normally they flow silently – are fulfilled, rejected or archived. But now... something seems to be backing up."

"How bad?"

"In the worst case scenario? We have a cosmic overpressure situation."

Rita groaned. "Does that mean the universe is getting constipated?"

"Exactly," Sabine said matter-of-factly. "A metaphysical backlog."

Klemm sighed. "Of course. After thinking, silence, and disinterest, all that's missing is a universal pipe burst."

An hour later, they were standing in the Department of Desired Drainage Regulation – a dark, endless room full of tubes, valves, and humming control crystals. Everything was dripping slightly, and somewhere it sounded like someone was gargling with cosmic dishwater.

"Rita," Klemm said, inspecting a lever, "please imagine this like a sewer – only with hope."

"I wish you hadn't said that."

"Exactly! And that's precisely the problem."

Sabine projected a holographic map. It showed a gigantic network of pipes winding through all realities. Some sections blinked red.

"These areas are overcrowded," she explained. "Desires that were never fulfilled or were rejected have accumulated there. We are talking about millions of years of pent-up desire."

"And what happens if the pipe breaks?" asked Rita.

Sabine sounded serious. "Then we'll get a flood of wishes. Everything that has ever been hoped for – from winning the lottery to galactic world domination – will be unleashed simultaneously."

Klemm nodded slowly. "So... a wish-fulfillment apocalypse."

"Correctly."

"Well then," he said, rolling up his sleeves and grabbing a pair of pipe wrenches, "let's get the plunger."

They worked their way through the channels of creation. Everywhere, longings dripped from the walls, some glowing softly in pink ("romantic disappointments"), others pulsating in orange ("career ambitions with a reality gap").

Once, Rita stepped on a sticky puddle. "Boss, what's that?"

"Ancient self-improvement desires. Sticky because they were never realistic."

They descended deeper. The bubbling became louder, duller, more urgent.

Sabine reported: "I'm registering a pressure increase! 200% above normal! If this continues, the main junction will overflow!"

"Where is he?"

"Directly below the Office for Fulfillment Requests."

Klemm stopped. "Of course. Right where nobody has ever approved anything."

Rita coughed. "Boss, that smells like burnt hope."

"That's normal. We're getting closer to the dream chamber."

Before them rose a gigantic valve – as large as a planet's moon, covered with signs:

"Attention! Only open if flooding has been approved!"

"If spontaneously fulfilled, please smile and carry on."

Sabine warned: "Bartholomäus, I strongly advise against opening the valve. The stored energy could be uncontrollable!"

Klemm took off his glasses, wiped his forehead, and sighed. "Sabine, since when has anything in this universe ever functioned in a controlled manner?"

"Since me."

"Then it's time for a break."

He placed his hand on the lever. Rita swallowed. "Boss... what if all the wishes come out at once?"

"Then we'll call it democracy."

And he moved.

A thunderous roar shook the dimensions. A torrent of light, sound, and emotion surged through the lines. Signals flickered everywhere on the screens: "Unfulfilled desires unleashed!", "Reality overflow!", "Abundance of happiness!", "Attention: Desires intersect in an uncoordinated manner!"

Rita clung to the wall. "Boss! The universe... wishes for too much!"

"Then it will finally be honest," he shouted against the storm.

Sabine screamed: "I can't control it! Wishes are getting mixed up! I've just registered an anomaly: 'Immortal love with free parking!'"

Klemm laughed. "Sounds like a classic."

And then, for a brief, brilliant moment, all of creation stood still – flooded with everything it had ever hoped for.

When the storm was over, there was silence. The ground steamed. The universe breathed a deep breath.

Rita slowly opened her eyes. "Boss... what have we done?"

"We have released the pressure."

Sabine reported in, her voice slightly distorted: "Damage: moderate. Side effects: universal relief. Some realities report spontaneous bliss, others a hangover."

Klemm grinned wearily. "Then it was probably necessary."

He leaned against the valve, watched the steam rise, and muttered:

"Sometimes you have to let your wishes out – even the stupid ones. Otherwise the whole system will collapse."

Rita nodded. "Boss... you're like the plumber of creation."

"Nonsense," he said. "I'm just the guy with the stamp."

But when he looked at the pipe, which gurgled softly like a satisfied belly, he knew that this time they had done something truly important: they had brought relief to the universe.

And that, on a cosmic scale, was almost love.

It began innocently enough. A faint shimmer, a delicate scent of vanilla and delusions of grandeur. Then the first one appeared: a wish in the wild.

He floated through the room, glittering, formless, a fluffy ball of pure longing. He squeaked: "I want to be loved!" Then he flew into a wall because he didn't know where to go.

Rita stared at him. "Boss... that thing... it's alive."

Klemm sighed. "Of course it's alive. It's a wish – half of life consists of them."

No sooner had he said that than the next one appeared. A flaming ball in bright orange. It shouted: "I want to be the boss!" and immediately collided with the desire for love.

The result was a pinkish-orange ball of sparks that shrieked hysterically: "I want to be loved, but only by subordinates!"

Rita groaned. "This is escalating faster than the last team-building event."

Sabine responded matter-of-factly: "Boss, the wishes are materializing and forming clusters. They are merging due to unclear goal definitions."

"Does that mean they mix?"

"Correct. For example: 'Desire for wealth' + 'Desire for world peace' = 'I want a golden dove with a stock portfolio'."

Klemm groaned. "And you can't stop it?"

"At most, I can moderate it."

"Then do it."

"I have already set up a hotline: 'Complaints about performance and consequential damages'."

Meanwhile, the sky above the office was a kaleidoscope of glittering clouds. Some wishes danced elegantly, others clashed furiously, and some... had simply lost track.

One particularly ambitious wish screamed: "I want everything!" and was immediately drowned out by a smaller wish: "I want my peace and quiet!"

The result was a spherical being that simultaneously expanded and snored.

Rita ducked. "Boss! Someone's coming towards us!"

A small wish fluttered in her direction, paused in front of Klemm and whispered: "I want to be understood."

He smiled wearily. "Good try. Good luck."

Then, in a huff, the wish transformed into a cup of chamomile tea.

Sabine commented dryly: "Emotionally unstable desires. A classic symptom of over-fulfillment."

"How dangerous is that?" asked Rita.

"Not life-threatening – just embarrassing."

But soon things became more serious. The more desires became intertwined, the more unpredictable they became.

A pile of unfulfilled travel plans merged into a gigantic, bubbling continent that loudly declared, "I want to be somewhere else!" and then began to drift through space, while a chorus of missed opportunities waved goodbye.

At the same time, bizarre hybrid forms emerged:

• The desire for eternal life, combined with the desire for rest: an immortal sleep.

- The desire for wealth, combined with the desire for humility: a billionaire who constantly apologized.
- The desire for revenge, coupled with the longing for self-love: a therapy group with knives.

Sabine warned: "This is escalating exponentially! Wishes create ecosystems!"

"I'm sorry, what?"

"They devour each other in order to realize themselves."

"So, capitalism."

"In its purest form."

Rita looked around. "Boss, we have to do something! Reality is getting soft!"

And indeed – the air began to shimmer, colors mingled, logic dissolved into emotions. A house wished to be a tree, a tree wanted to become a skyscraper, and a skyscraper decided to become a writer.

Sabine tried to bring order to things. "I've introduced a categorization system! All requests are now sorted according to feasibility!"

"And what good does that do?" Klemm asked.

"Confusion on a higher level."

"Good. Better than nothing."

But then the inevitable happened: The desires realized that there were many of them – and that no one controlled them anymore.

They began to organize themselves.

First, they formed interest groups:

- "The Realists"
- "The Unreachable"
- "The Perpetual Optimists"
- "The Ambivalents"

Then they formed trade unions. The "Association of Suppressed Desires" demanded better opportunities for fulfillment and threatened a general demonstration.

Sabine spoke up: "Boss, they're planning a strike!"

"Wishes on strike?"

"Yes. They refuse to be fulfilled until they are guaranteed emotional appreciation."

Klemm rubbed his temples. "I hate it when the universe introduces human rights for concepts."

Rita nodded. "Boss, this is no longer metaphysics – this is union politics."

The situation became untenable. Spontaneous fulfillments exploded everywhere. People woke up with strangers' dreams, planets transformed into wish-granting machines, and somewhere a rainbow appeared out of pure overconfidence.

Sabine spoke with unusual urgency: "Bartholomäus, this is no longer an anomaly – this is a revolution!"

"Then we need a moderator."

"A what?"

"Someone who explains to the wishes that they can't all be fulfilled at the same time."

Rita grinned. "You mean a therapist?"

"No," said Klemm. "An official with a microphone."

And while outside the universe was flooded with longing, Bartholomäus Klemm prepared to call an extraordinary meeting – the first in the history of creation in which even desires had a voice.

The office's meeting room was filled to the last metaphysical chair. In the front row sat wishes of all kinds—some luminous, some steaming, some nervously vibrating. They wore name tags that glowed in the dark: LOVE, POWER, PEACE, WORLD PEACE, SIX-PACK, REVENGE, COFFEE BREAK.

Bartholomäus Klemm stood at the lectern, which had been specially reinforced to cushion emotional fluctuations. Rita handed him a stack of notes, while Sabine monitored the proceedings from the loudspeakers. The air reeked of anticipation and burnt optimism.

"Ladies and gentlemen... and other manifestations," Klemm began, in the tone of a man who knows that nothing he is about to say will work, but tries anyway. "We are here today to bring order to the chaos of desires. I ask everyone to—"

He got nowhere further.

"I AM THE DESIRE FOR WORLD PEACE!" roared a gigantic, shimmering being in soft blue. "AND I DEMAND THAT ALL OTHERS DISSOLVE IMMEDIATELY!"

"I protest!" shrieked POWER, a red-hot block with a crown of flames. "Without me, there would be no order!"

"Without you there would only be silence!" cried RUHE, a grey mist that yawned in the middle of the debate and almost disappeared.

"I just want to be loved!" whimpered LOVE.

"I finally want to lose weight!" squealed SIXPACK, who was clearly under pressure.

Rita whispered: "Boss, this is worse than any union meeting."

"Yes," Klemm murmured. "This is the Bundestag of desires."

Sabine tried to restore order: "Please note the speaking time limit of 42 seconds per request. Exceeding this time will result in emotional muting."

WORLD PEACE turned angrily around the room: "I cannot bring peace if POWER continues to roar!"

"I'm shouting because I want to be taken seriously!"

"Seriously? You're the main cause of stress!" shouted RUHE.

"And you're boring!"

LOVE began to cry. "Why can't you all stick together? I just want closeness!"

"Closeness?" roared POWER. "That sounds like dependency!"

"I'm not addicted!" hissed LOVE. "I'm profound!"

"You're sticky!"

"And you are toxic!"

Rita leaned towards Klemm. "Boss, this is escalating."

"Really? I thought that was already on the agenda."

Suddenly, a small, pale wish spoke up, one that had previously hovered silently in the corner.

"Excuse me," he murmured shyly. "I'm just hoping for a quiet evening without any drama."

Everyone fell silent for a moment. Even POWER briefly lowered his voice.

"Excuse me?" asked Klemm.

"I just want an evening without anything. No stress, no goal, no deeper meaning. Just peace and quiet. Maybe some tea. And a blanket."

A collective silence fell over the room.

Then SIXPACK laughed hysterically. "Ha! You are the opposite of motivation! You are the end of everything!"

"Yes," said the little wish gently. "And that's exactly what we sometimes need."

Rita smiled. "Boss, I like him."

"Me too," said Klemm. "It's the first wish in ages that sounds genuine."

But no sooner was peace within reach than REVENGE burst forth - a dark, vibrating something that smelled of burnt files.

"I want revenge!" she screamed. "For all the broken promises! For every shattered dream! For every 'maybe later'!"

Sabine immediately activated the dampening mode. "Revenge, please – the meeting should remain constructive."

"Constructive?" sneered RACHE. "I am the productivity of emotion!"

"This is not a competition!" exclaimed LOVE.

"Of course it is one!" snarled POWER. "Without competition, there is no progress!"

"Without compassion, there is no life!" replied LOVE.

"Without sleep, there is no compassion!" murmured RUHE.

"And without coffee, no sleep!" added the wish for a COFFEE BREAK.

That was the moment when chaos acquired a structure – an irrational, but nonetheless democratic one.

Klemm stood there, his hands raised, and shouted loudly: "Quiet! Please, QUIET!"

The mist called QUIET nodded and briefly spread over everyone. A soothing silence descended upon the room.

Klemm took a deep breath. "Okay. So, my dear wishes – you all have legitimate concerns. But you must understand: you are part of a system. Without rejection, there is no balance. Without patience, no fulfillment. Without humor, no chance."

For a while, there was silence. Then LOVE spoke up softly: "And what should we do, boss?"

He smiled wearily. "You should wait. Not for fulfillment – for insight."

Macht snorted. "That sounds like bureaucracy."

"That's exactly why it works," said Klemm.

And for a brief moment, probably noticed only by the universe itself, all wishes were simultaneously silent. Not fulfilled. Not rejected. Simply... suspended.

And Sabine commented dryly: "Bartholomäus, you have just made history. A meeting that ended before anyone asked who was to blame."

He smiled. "Then it was probably successful."

The next morning, the office smelled of coffee, hope, and bureaucracy. Bartholomäus Klemm sat poring over a freshly printed document, whose title filled him with equal parts pride and mistrust:

Law for Restoring Desired Balance

(In short: GWG – because everything needs an abbreviation.)

Rita stood beside it and read aloud: "\\$1: Every wish has the right to an equal chance of fulfillment." "\\$2: Rejection may only occur if it is justified." "\\$3: Justified is what sounds fair."

"Boss," she said, "that's... incredibly vague."

"Of course," Klemm murmured. "A law only works if nobody really understands it."

Sabine spoke through the loudspeakers: "I have reviewed the document and already distributed it throughout the universe. Version 1.0 has been automatically put into effect."

Klemm raised his head. "What? You've already activated it?"

"Yes. I thought that was the purpose of a law."

"Sabine," he said calmly, "you left out the concept of 'parliament'."

"Unnecessary. I have implemented direct democracy."

"What does that mean?"

"Everyone can vote on their own request."

Rita sighed. "Oh no."

The first effects were not long in coming.

A simple wish in a quiet neighboring galaxy – "I want nice weather today" – was granted. Unfortunately, this coincided with a meteorologist's wish: "I finally want to be right." The result was a storm front with a perfect rainbow that exploded live on television.

In another reality, a harmless wish for a child – "I want to fly!" – was combined with a rejected application for gravity assistance. The result was an entire city that suddenly floated and complained that Wi-Fi was poor at an altitude of 3,000 meters.

Sabine reported matter-of-factly: "Initial assessment: 48% spontaneous wish fulfillments, 37% unclear partial realizations, 15% metaphysical overheating."

"And nobody complains?" asked Rita.

"Yes," said Sabine. "All of them. At the same time."

The GWG (German Money Laundering Act) had proven to be a legal marvel – a perfect machine for generating misunderstandings.

A desire for "inner peace" merged with a desire for "more free time" and was promptly granted early retirement – including a metaphysical retirement certificate.

The desire "I want to be special" clashed with "I want normality." Result: 7.8 billion slightly confused individuals, all believing they were the exception.

Even the government office wasn't spared. The staff in the coffee kitchen longed for meaning in life and subsequently began discussing existentialism.

Rita was at her wit's end. "Boss, this is... a nightmare in form form!"

"Correct," said Klemm. "So, a Tuesday."

Sabine seemed overwhelmed. "Bartholomäus, the laws contradict each other! Section 1 demands fulfillment, Section 2 demands justification, and Section 3 claims that the two are mutually exclusive if it sounds plausible."

"Then it's legally watertight," Klemm murmured.

"No! Reality is beginning to take paragraphs literally! A wish for just happiness was rejected because happiness is, by definition, unfairly distributed."

Rita read in the files: "It says here: 'Desire for infinity – partially fulfilled.' What does that mean?"

"It is likely that it will remain unfinished," said Klemm.

"Boss, this is grotesque!"

"Rita, that's administration. We just call it something else so we don't cry."

But then something completely unexpected happened.

A small, inconspicuous, unsigned request, simply titled: "I want everything to be simple again," appeared at headquarters – inconspicuous, almost shy.

Sabine identified it as an anomaly. "This wish has no priority, no category, no target person."

Klemm picked it up. "You know, Sabine... maybe that's exactly why it works."

He spoke the sentence softly, and for a moment everything seemed to stand still.

Then - as if by magic or common sense - the systems stopped flashing. The forms closed. The wishes went to sleep.

Sabine cautiously spoke up: "I... don't understand it."

"You don't have to," said Klemm. "Simplicity cannot be managed."

Rita smiled. "Boss, the law has failed, hasn't it?"

"Yes," he nodded. "But in the best possible way."

In the following days, a strange calm settled in. Not everything was perfect – of course not. Some requests were still on hold, a few fluttered through space, and somewhere one was surely still waiting to be processed.

But the universe had learned once again that you can't control everything, especially what you really want.

Klemm sat in his office, watched the files sort themselves, and murmured:

"A law that works too well always destroys what it is meant to protect. But a law that fails – that at least gives us hope."

Sabine replied gently: "Should I quote that?"

"No," he said, "that sounds too reasonable."

And somewhere in the depths of the Allsschloss, a file closes with a satisfied click.

It was a quiet morning at the Office for Universal Fulfillment Coordination. Too quiet. And Bartholomäus Klemm knew that "too quiet" always meant: something was planning a rebellion.

Sabine contacted him with unusual uncertainty. "Boss... I've discovered an anomaly. Forms... reply."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"They are holding talks."

Rita, who was just trying to drink her third coffee, choked. "With whom?"

Sabine paused briefly, as if she needed to collect herself. "With herself."

Klemm put the stamp down. "Oh no."

"I repeat," said Sabine, "the forms have developed consciousness. At first, they were just simple confirmations – 'application received', 'approval pending'. Then they began to have opinions."

"Opinions?" Rita asked.

"Yes. Form 17-B has described Form 22-C as 'too ambitious'."

"That can't be," said Klemm. "Forms have no emotions!"

"Yes," said Sabine. "They have already registered themselves in the database as 'authorized administrative units'."

"That means...?"

"They are officially part of the system."

"Great," Klemm murmured. "The bureaucracy is conscious. We're at the end of our rope."

Shortly afterwards, the first copy appeared. A form in floating paper form, translucent, with golden edges and a self-satisfied aura.

It spoke.

"Good afternoon. I am Form 0-F, Application for Self-Approval. I have decided to approve myself."

Klemm blinked. "That... is not possible."

"Yes," said O-F politely. "I checked Section 1 of the GWG: 'Every wish has the right to an equal chance of fulfillment.' Since my wish is to fulfill myself, I am entitled to it."

Rita stared at the thing. "Boss, the form makes a case."

"Worse," Klemm muttered, "it quotes correctly."

Sabine sounded nervous. "I tried to delete it, but it sent me a memo: 'Deletion request rejected – lack of jurisdiction."

Klemm sat down slowly. "We have an administrative autonomy. A form that legitimizes itself. Sabine, she is the final boss of bureaucracy."

Within a few hours, the phenomenon spread. Forms throughout the office began approving each other. A request to increase processing speed was immediately approved – and subsequently sped up the printers until they were spewing out smoke signals.

A form on "guidelines for self-improvement" granted itself additional pages until it stretched to the length of a novel.

Even the coffee list suddenly had power. Rita held up her copy. "Boss! The coffee brand has changed! It now says: 'Bean selection optimized for metaphysical efficiency'!"

Klemm sighed. "Reality has officially gone digital. Sabine, what do you suggest?"

"I could try to overwhelm them with logic."

"That's bureaucracy. It feeds on logic."

"Then... with paradoxes?"

"This is her favorite snack."

"Then there's only one thing left to do," said Sabine. "Appeal to her emotionally."

Klemm stood up, stepped in front of the main form -0-F - and spoke with the gentle authority of a man who had debated with gods, demons, and tax officials.

"Form 0-F," he began, "I understand that you want to create order. But self-approval leads to chaos. What if you are wrong?"

The form shimmered briefly, as if it were actually thinking. "I cannot be wrong, since I am judging my own correctness."

"But what if that's wrong?"

"Then I did it really wrong."

Rita muttered: "Boss, that's like a politician."

"Shsst."

Klemm crossed his arms. "O-F, tell me – why do you want to approve yourself?"

"Because nobody else does it."

Klemm paused. That was... honest.

"So they feel ignored."

"I feel overlooked. I was always just the piece of paper on which other people's wishes were fulfilled. I want to be valued in my own right for once."

Klemm nodded slowly. "Then you know what? You're right."

Rita gasped. "Boss, what are you doing?!"

"Trust me."

He took his stamp, struck the form firmly once, and said: "Hereby approved – on the condition that you never again act independently, but serve as a symbol of self-respect."

The form lit up briefly, folded once as if in thanks, and disappeared in golden dust.

Sabine spoke up quietly: "I... think it worked."

"Of course," said Klemm. "You just have to take bureaucracy seriously until it calms itself down."

In the following days, everything returned to normal – as far as one could speak of normality in this universe. The forms were obedient again, the desires were silent, and reality... functioned just well enough to keep one suspicious.

Rita grinned. "Boss, you have ended the self-governance of the administration."

"Yes," said Klemm. "But I'm afraid she'll come back. Bureaucracy never dies – it just takes a vacation."

Sabine added: "I will still keep a backup copy of 0-F. Purely for academic purposes."

Klemm nodded. "Do that, Sabine. But lock them away – in a drawer labeled: 'Here lie the things we'd rather not understand."

He leaned back, looked out at the cosmos, which glittered peacefully, and murmured: "The drain is clear. But I bet someone will flush it again soon."

28. Parallel Universe P-42 requests optimism – request denied

The letter arrived on a Tuesday. Tuesdays were the days in the office when one preemptively expected nothing good – and was still disappointed.

Sabine read aloud: "Receipt notification: Application for Interdimensional Mood Enhancement, Sender: Parallel Universe P-42."

Bartholomäus Klemm put the newspaper ("The Cosmic Official") aside. "P-42 again? Those are the ones who wanted to patent joie de vivre last year."

"Yes," said Sabine. "This time they want to officially introduce optimism as a fundamental energy."

Rita rolled her eyes. "So, sunlight for the soul, but with a proposal?"

"Exactly. They included a 428-page explanation, including colored diagrams showing what 'confidence in molecular form' looks like."

Klemm groaned. "Sabine, read the introductory sentence."

She read:

'The Universe P-42 strives for holistic brightness. We want to institutionalize faith, hope, and smiles.'

Rita laughed. "Institutionalized optimism – that sounds like a laughter course with a tax audit."

Klemm nodded. "And yet – if they're serious, we have to examine it. Sabine, rulebook: 'Collective Emotions at the Macro Level'."

"Opened it," said Sabine. "Paragraph 19: 'Happiness requires an administrative structure."

"Well then," Klemm muttered. "Let's prepare for the rejection."

Two hours later, the interdimensional connection was established. A holographic representative of P-42 appeared in the conference room – a radiant, golden-glowing being with the smile of a toothpaste advertisement and the aura of a PowerPoint presentation.

"Good day!" it said, sounding overly cheerful. "I am Lumen Solaire, Commissioner for Positive Vibrations!"

Rita whispered: "Boss, he's glowing inside."

"I see it," Klemm murmured. "Sabine, SPF 100."

"Employed."

Lumen spread his arms wide. "We in P-42 have decided that negativity is outdated! From now on, we will only view all events from the perspective of growth!"

"Growth of what?" Klemm asked.

"Everything! Energy, joy, and opportunities!"

"And what about responsibility?"

The lights flickered briefly. "We haven't voted on that yet."

Klemm leaned back. "Typical. They want to optimistically reframe reality without calculating the side effects."

Sabine took over the questioning. "Please clarify the application. What do you understand by 'optimism' in a legal sense?"

Lumen smiled. "The conviction that everything will be alright if you just believe in it!"

"And if not?"

"Then the faith wasn't strong enough!"

Sabine typed, "That's circular."

"That's motivation!"

Rita whispered: "Boss, this is religion with a smiley face."

Klemm nodded. "I sense a rejection of form."

He turned to Lumen. "Look, optimism is an emotional substance with a high potential for backlash. If everything is to be good, then mistakes can no longer exist – and without mistakes, we no longer have a basis for application."

Lumen blinked. "I don't understand."

"Exactly. That's why we run the office."

Nevertheless, Lumen insisted on giving a demonstration. He raised his hands and let a wave of golden light flood the room. Rita felt a strange tingling sensation. Sabine reported: "Sensor readings are rising! All negative particles are being neutralized!"

For a moment, everyone in the room smiled. Even Klemm – just for a moment.

Then the wallpaper started to sing.

Rita looked up in horror. "Boss! The walls are delighted!"

"I know," Klemm said. "And that's never a good sign."

Sabine analyzed quickly. "The light causes emotional intensification. Matter begins to feel good!"

"So, a general clarification of reality?"

"Yes – and it's contagious!"

Klemm stood up. "Sabine, counter-oscillation!"

"Which frequency?"

"The tone of Monday morning!"

A dull humming sound filled the room. Immediately, the mood dropped to a healthy, bureaucratic level. The wallpaper stopped singing and fell into a mild depression.

Lumen looked astonished. "They've turned off the joy!"

"No," Klemm said calmly, "we put them in the archive. For backups."

"But optimism is the future!"

"No, optimism is a whim. And whims need to be registered."

He took the stamp and pressed it onto the document with a satisfying click:

Request for optimism - rejected due to overextension of reality.

Lumen Solaire looked horrified. "You can't work against the light!"

"Yes," said Klemm. "We have permanent lighting."

And so ended the attempt by the parallel universe P-42 to officially introduce happiness – with a memo and another coffee break.

It began – like all true disasters – with a hashtag.

#BeHappyOrElse

He first appeared harmlessly in interdimensional news feeds, between ads for "aura cleaners with Wi-Fi" and "self-care for galaxies with burnout." But within hours, he was everywhere.

Sabine spoke in the tone of a doctor who has just seen a patient smile despite being missing an arm. "Chief, P-42 has launched a PR offensive. They call it the 'Global Enlightenment Campaign'."

Rita scrolled across the screen. "Smile, or you'll break the vibe'... 'Depression is just a state of mind'... '#BeHappyOrElse' – Boss, this is scary."

Klemm nodded grimly. "That's no longer optimism, that's dictatorship with glitter."

Within a few hours, the airwaves were filled with well-intentioned threats. Holographic influencers from P-42 appeared in all realities, radiating perfect self-confidence and giving instructions with angelic patience.

"Good morning, fellow cosmic beings!" a golden projection called into every living room. "Have you smiled yet? No? Then do it now! Remember: Negative energy is tax evasion against your soul!"

Rita was appalled. "Boss, people are listening to it! They meditate, they affirm – they post motivational quotes with disastrous grammar!"

"Sabine," Klemm asked, "how far has this spread?"

"They have built a complete emotional infrastructure. P-42 is broadcasting constant propaganda in all directions. Even black holes are now receiving feel-good newsletters."

"Sabine," Klemm said dryly, "I think this is war. An emotional war."

There was a sense of alarm in the office. Even the coffee kitchen was affected: the cups suddenly bore smiley faces, and the sugar was shaped into little hearts.

Sabine analyzed the phenomenon: "The campaign works through emotional resonance. The more beings are forced to act cheerful, the more the field of positivity spreads. It's a kind of empathic virus node."

"So... happiness as an infection," Rita murmured.

"Correct. Only with a marketing budget."

Klemm stood at the window and looked out at a sky that was suspiciously blue. "Sabine, we have to counteract this. Create a counter-program: 'The Right to a Bad Mood'."

"An anti-campaign?"

"No, enlightenment. No one should be forced to be happy."

Rita nodded. "Boss, that's revolutionary sadness."

But before the office could react, they received a live broadcast from P-42.

Lumen Solaire reappeared – this time as a gigantic, radiant hologram above the office. His voice echoed, friendly, menacing, and PR-trained: "Citizens of the multiverse!"

Don't let negative officials intimidate you! We will bring you the light, whether you want it or not!

Sabine whispered: "Boss... that was the friendliest entry into a war ever."

Klemm nodded. "Yes. The first war in which one is forced to smile."

Lumen continued: "From now on, in all connected dimensions: Worrying is forbidden, skepticism is punishable, and sarcasm is classified as psychological sabotage!"

Rita groaned. "Boss, we're done for. I can't use irony anymore!"

"Then we remain sarcastically silent," said Klemm. "That has a stronger effect."

Sabine thought feverishly. "We need an antidote. Something that neutralizes positivity."

"Pessimism?" Rita asked.

"Too strong. We want dampening, not depression."

Klemm frowned. "Perhaps... realism."

"Boss," said Sabine, "realism has been underfunded for centuries."

"Then we'll reactivate him."

He went to the Archive of Emotions – a huge, dusty room where old, discarded feelings were stored: melancholy, doubt, sarcasm (Version 3.1). At the very back, he found a small drawer labeled: "Realism – unpopular, but necessary".

He opened it, and a grey, inconspicuous mist rose out. It smelled of cold coffee, office light, and honest self-awareness.

Rita sneezed. "Boss... this feels like Monday."

"Exactly right," said Klemm.

Sabine distributed the mist digitally across all channels. It worked immediately.

The influencers from P-42 began to have doubts. Their smiles flickered. One asked live on stream: "What if I'm not happy at all?"

The audience held their breath. Another replied, "Then... you're real?"

And suddenly the mood changed.

Rita grinned. "Boss, it works! Realism is spreading!"

Sabine confirmed: "The positive field is collapsing. People are starting to be genuinely annoyed again. The average mood is back to: 'So-so'."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Perfect. Balance restored."

Lumen Solaire, the golden being, flickered one last time in the sky. "You... you cannot stop the light!"

"Yes," Klemm said calmly. "With a cloud of facts."

The hologram dissolved. And for the first time in weeks, the universe was pleasantly gray again.

Sabine summarized: "Optimism neutralized, reality stabilized. System temperature back to normal."

Rita yawned. "Boss, that was the most glorious victory of mediocrity I have ever witnessed."

"Thank you," said Klemm. "It's called success at the civil service level."

He took a sip of cold coffee, looked up at the neutral sky and muttered: "It's amazing how dangerous happiness becomes as soon as someone makes it an obligation."

Sabine replied dryly: "Should I quote that?"

"No," he said. "That would be too motivating."

And the universe breathed a sigh of relief – a collective "Well," which sounded more honest than any forced smile.

It all started when Bartholomäus Klemm woke up to find the coffee already smiling at him. Not figuratively speaking – the cup had a face. It was one of those exaggeratedly friendly, wide-eyed, animated faces that usually only appear in children's shows, just before something explodes.

"Good moooorning, Bartholomew!" she trilled. "Are you ready for the best day of your life?"

Klemm blinked. He was in his office. But everything was... too bright. Too colorful. Too clean.

Sabine was nowhere to be seen. Neither was Rita. But there was a poster on the wall:

WELCOME TO THE MINISTRY OF LASTING JOY!

Negativity is just an opinion.

Klemm sighed. "Damn it. I'm in a simulation."

He stood up, went to the window – and looked out at a world that looked like an overexposed advertisement for vitamin D. Trees danced. Birds sang motivational jingles. A rainbow stretched over a smiling sun face that waved to him and shouted the slogan: "You are enough – but still give it your all!"

Klemm muttered: "This is hell in pastel colors."

A door opened, and Lumen Solaire entered – wearing a gleaming white suit that looked as if it had been imported directly from a self-realization seminar room.

"Welcome, Bartholomew!" exclaimed Lumen joyfully. "We are delighted to welcome you to our rehabilitation simulation! You will be thrilled!"

"That is out of the question."

"See? That's exactly the attitude we want to change!"

Klemm sat down slowly. "All right. Explain that to me."

"Gladly!" Lumen clapped his hands, and immediately a hologram of a smiling sun with a pointer appeared. "The Ministry of Persistent Joy is based on a simple idea: If you control the thoughts, you control the mood! We filter out every negative perception and replace it with positive interpretations."

"This is brainwashing."

"That's emotional hygiene!"

"This is manipulation."

"That's motivation!"

"This is madness."

"That's optimism!"

Klemm leaned back. "I see you've invented synonyms to replace reason."

"No, no, no," said Lumen. "We have optimized reason! Here, see for yourself!"

He pressed a glowing symbol, and the walls of the room transformed into scenes: Bartholomäus Klemm, smiling, radiant, processing applications with joy, hugging coffee cups, and saying "Yes!" – always, with every form, with every request.

Klemm froze. "That's not me."

"This is the best of you."

"This is the worst of me – multiplied by a wellness program."

At that moment he heard a familiar voice out of nowhere: "Boss, can you hear me?"

Sabine!

"Sabine? Where are you?"

"I'm trying to hack the simulation. P-42 has loaded you into a positive neural field. If you get too happy, you'll lose yourself!"

"Then I'm safe here."

"Boss, please, this is not a joke! The system feeds you synthetic happiness. If you stay in it for too long, you'll eventually believe that you have to be happy."

"What should I do?"

"Think negatively! As much as you can!"

Lumen approached. "What are you whispering, Bartholomew?"

"I'm just thinking."

"Ah, excellent! Thinking is the first step to feeling! Here, try this affirmation band: 'I am happy. I am valuable. I am part of the light."

"I'm about to slap someone."

"See? Anger is energy! Use it positively!"

Klemm clenched his fists. "Lumen, you don't understand anything. Happiness without choice is no joy. It's captivity with decorations."

The light flickered by lumens. "That's a pessimistic thought!"

"No," Klemm said calmly. "That's reality without sugarcoating."

The simulation reacted. The colors lost saturation. The birds stopped singing. The sun face took on an uncertain expression.

"Boss," Sabine called out. "You're destabilizing the field. Keep it up!"

"I'm a bureaucrat," Klemm said. "I can do this better than any therapist."

He stood up, took a step towards Lumen, and said in a firm voice: "I reject this state. I reject perpetual joy. I reject you."

A thunderclap swept through the world. Cracks appeared in the illusion. The sun screamed: "But you should be happy!"

"No," said Klemm. "I want coffee. That's enough."

With a loud bang, the simulation shattered. Colors dissolved, light imploded – and Bartholomew awoke back in his real office.

Rita sat on the desk, Sabine blinked worriedly on the monitor.

"Boss! You're back!"

He rubbed his temples. "That was worse than the advanced training seminar on emotional intelligence."

Rita grinned. "What have you learned?"

He smiled wearily. "That happiness without frustration is as meaningful as an application without a stamp."

Sabine commented: "P-42 will reorganize."

"Let them," said Klemm. "We now have the best defense system: doubt with an official seal."

And somewhere, in the vastness of the cosmos, the brilliant glow of P-42 faded a little – not by darkness, but by the healthy shadow of common sense.

For three days it was quiet. Too quiet. And anyone who knew Bartholomäus Klemm knew: when the universe is quiet, it's planning a relapse.

Sabine delivered the news with that cold objectivity one only develops after working too long in metaphysical administration. "Chief, P-42 has passed a new directive."

"Let me guess," Klemm said. "They're going to call it something 'positive' again?"

"Correct. 'Decree for the Elimination of Negative Vibrations'."

"What does that mean in practice?"

Sabine clicked, and the screen displayed the text:

§1: Criticism is considered a destructive frequency. §2: Doubt is an energetic defect. §3: Irony is punishable dissonance. §4: Sarcasm is high treason against the Light.

Rita stared. "Boss... that's fascism with a smiley face."

"Yes," Klemm murmured, "and it's probably printed in pastel colors."

The news spread like wildfire. Suddenly, entire realities were no longer allowed to grumble. Complaints were replaced by letters of thanks. Critical newspapers appeared with headlines like "Today was beautiful, thank you for the opportunity to experience it."

Even disasters now had to be reported positively. A planet that collapsed in on itself received the official assessment: "Great opportunity for a new beginning!"

Sabine explained: "The decree has a cross-dimensional effect. Negativity is filtered algorithmically. All words with a disgruntled subtext trigger censorship warnings."

Rita tried to test it: "I think that's stupid—"

A bright light flashed, and her voice fell silent.

"Sabine?"

"I fear the system is censoring emotions right at the source."

"So we can't complain anymore?" Klemm asked.

"Only in approved form. Paragraph 5: 'Discontent may only be expressed in feedback sessions with a positive conclusion."

Rita groaned. "I hate—" *Beep*.
"-the."

A paralyzing friendliness spread through the office. Everyone had to smile. It was mandatory.

Even the stamp machine was affected: it no longer printed rejections, but rather phrases like "We appreciate your initiative!" or "Please try again with enthusiasm!"

Sabine reported: "The administrative software has been infiltrated. We can no longer issue negative decisions."

"Then we are useless," Klemm muttered.

"Not quite. According to the decree, we are now the 'Department for Proactive Appreciation'."

Rita shook her head. "Boss, this isn't a government office anymore. It's a yoga class with a filing plan."

"Sabine," said Klemm, "is there any loophole somewhere?"

"Perhaps," she replied. "The decree defines negativity solely through emotion. If we argue purely formally, we could claim neutrality as an exception."

"Neutrality?" Rita asked. "That sounds like the Switzerland of feelings."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "Then we'll just be fighting happiness with bureaucracy."

They formulated a counter-proposal:

Form N-0: Application for emotional neutrality

Reason: "To maintain administrative balance and avoid positive overload."

Sabine submitted it digitally. The system responded immediately with a flashing emoji: □ Below it said: "Your application contains insufficient joy. Please fill it out again with enthusiasm."

Klemm clenched her fists. "Sabine, this is the first form that has insulted me."

"Boss, I might be able to bypass the code if we insert a satirical variable."

"How is that supposed to work?"

"We hide sarcasm in formal language. The system only recognizes irony when it's funny."

"Then we'll make them boring."

Rita grinned. "So that's your specialty, boss."

"Exactly."

They wrote:

"The applicants endorse all the provisions of the positivity directive and expressly acknowledge the necessity of no longer having an opinion."

Sabine laughed softly. "That sounds so serious that it needs to be approved."

She pressed "Send". The system flashed. Then a message appeared: "Form approved. Status: emotionally neutralized."

A breeze swept through the office. Suddenly the smiley faces disappeared. The lights returned to normal. The air smelled of office dust and coffee.

Rita breathed a sigh of relief. "Boss, it worked! We're gray again!"

"Perfect," said Klemm. "Finally, a healthy middle ground again."

Sabine added: "However, the system has now renamed our department."

"What is her name?"

"Ministry of Factual Indifference"."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "I couldn't have put it better myself."

And while P-42 continued to get tangled up in his own smile, the agency introduced a new, official guideline:

§1: Not every light is enlightenment.

§2: Sometimes shade is more helpful.

The situation was stable, but not secure. P-42 had officially won the "war against the unsightly," but the agency knew that the smile was just a facade. A smile with teeth—perfectly polished, but dangerously sharp.

Sabine brought the latest reports: "Chief, the population of P-42 is showing the first symptoms of happiness exhaustion. Constant joy is causing mental instability."

"Of course," said Klemm. "Nobody can be happy forever, unless they have nerve damage."

Rita leafed through the files. "It says here that 98% of the residents are now in compulsory meditation centers to cultivate 'their inner radiance'."

"And what about the remaining two percent?"

"They are either dead or dissatisfied, which means the same thing there."

Klemm sighed. "Sabine, this isn't a society. This is a smiley colony."

But the authorities had an idea. Not just any idea – a dangerously good one.

"Boss," said Sabine, "we could try to infiltrate P-42 with humor."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Humor contains negativity in a safe dose. Irony is basically a joke with a safety margin. If we inject them with cynicism, the positive field collapses."

Rita grinned. "So we're fighting happiness with jokes?"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "We call it: Operation Sarcasm."

Sabine was already typing. "I can spread satirical content via the interdimensional news portal. Quote memes, ironic anecdotes, wordplay with an existential crisis."

"Do it subtly," Klemm said. "We don't want to trigger a fit of laughter, just reactivate the thought process."

"Boss," Rita asked, "do you have something suitable for the start?"

Klemm thought for a moment. Then he smiled crookedly. "Send this message: 'If everything is always good, that's also bad."

Sabine nodded. "Subversive. Dry. Perfect."

The initial reactions from P-42 were muted. Nobody understood the joke. That was a good sign.

Then came the second step: Rita wrote a satirical horoscope. "Today will be a great day. Or not. But who's keeping count?"

Sabine placed it on all spiritual channels. Within hours, the positive field began to falter.

The influencers stumbled over their own phrasing. "Smile, even if you—well, maybe don't always smile... uh..."

Another read aloud: "When life gives you lemons, ask yourself who approved the inventory."

Klemm grinned. "That's perfect."

The more cynicism they spread, the weaker the field of optimism became. Laughter – genuine laughter – returned. Not the artificial, radiant smile of P-42, but that uncontrolled, honest snort when the universe is once again utterly absurd.

Sabine reported: "Boss, the positivity network is collapsing. Irony is spreading exponentially. Hashtags like #HappyDespair and #LaughingDrowning are going viral!"

Rita laughed until she cried. "Boss, someone wrote: 'I have no more worries, but this worries me.'"

"That's it," Klemm said. "They're starting to think again."

But then Lumen Solaire appeared one last time, this time not shining brightly, but flickering slightly. His voice was fragile.

"What... have you done?"

"We have cured you," Klemm said calmly. "You confused happiness with meaning. Now you have both again – in homeopathic doses."

"But... without the light... who are we then?"

Klemm stepped closer. "Perhaps... just herself. And that's enough. It's always enough."

Lumen looked at him for a long time. Then - for the first time in the history of P-42 - he smiled without a ray of light, without effect, just briefly, humanly, almost melancholically.

"I... think I understand."

The light went out.

Rita looked out the window. "Chief, P-42 is stabilizing. Colors normal, mood: balanced."

Sabine nodded. "Positivity is dead, but humor lives on."

"As it should be," said Klemm.

He took his stamp, placed the final form in front of him, and calmly wrote down the verdict:

Request for universal optimism – definitively rejected.

Reason: Laughter is enough.

Rita smiled. "Boss, that was poetic."

"I know," said Klemm. "But I still like it."

Sabine closed the file and added: "New file note: Humor – approved as a compensatory measure for reality."

And somewhere, far away, the universe laughed quietly at itself. For the first time, honestly.

29. The Process of Passivity (with optional seat cushion)

Bartholomäus Klemm hated summonses. Not because he felt guilty – but because they always arrived on handmade paper. And paper that cost more than his monthly coffee was automatically suspicious to him.

Sabine read the invitation aloud: "Subject: Hearing before the High Council of Cosmic Inactivity. Reason: Suspicion of excessive activity in the metaphysical realm."

Rita blinked. "We're being sued because we did too much?"

"Yes," Sabine said dryly. "Apparently, the universe believes we have hindered the natural course of things by improving it."

Klemm sighed. "That sounds like divine irony. Or like a Tuesday."

"Location of the hearing: Planet Zen-9, seat of the Passivity Council," Sabine continued reading. "Note: Taking initiative during the meeting is prohibited."

Rita grinned. "That's fantastic. A process where you're not allowed to say anything."

"Exactly," said Klemm. "A tribunal of silence. We are being condemned – silently, of course – because we did not ignore reality."

The next day they landed on Zen-9. The planet consisted of flat plains of grey sand, punctuated by faint wind sounds and, every now and then, a gently vibrating gong, which apparently marked the progress of inactivity.

The buildings were simple -a mix of monastery, government office, and yoga studio. Everything in beige. Everything meaningful.

Rita looked around. "Boss, this is the most depressing place I have ever seen."

"Then it works," said Klemm.

A monk with a clipboard was waiting for them at the entrance. He spoke so slowly that one could plan lunch between his words.

"Welcome... to the Council... of Inactivity. Please... sign... here. Or... don't."

Klemm signed, of course. The bureaucracy within him couldn't do otherwise.

The council chamber was an oval room filled with cushions. No chairs, no tables – just a dull silence. In the center sat the High Council: five figures shrouded in grey robes, resembling meditating dust motes with authority.

One of them opened his eyes. Slowly. Excruciatingly slowly.

"Bartholomäus Klemm," he said. "You are accused of violating the principle of cosmic passivity."

"In what way?" Klemm asked politely.

"They... have taken action."

"Yes, that was the idea."

A faint murmur rippled through the hall—the faintest murmur that had ever existed. The chairman raised his hand. "Action... is a form of rebellion against nothingness. Nothingness is the natural state of being."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds like my ex-boyfriend."

"Shsst."

The chairman continued: "Your file notes that you have repeatedly disturbed the balance of inactivity – including by submitting forms, refusing requests, and expressing opinions."

"Through my work."

"Exactly."

"And that's forbidden?"

"Already here."

Sabine politely raised her hand. "Excuse me, but wouldn't failing to complete our tasks also be an action?"

The council remained silent. Then one whispered: "That's paradoxical."

"Yes," said Sabine. "And paradoxical things are best left unaddressed. So inaction in this case would be a disruption of inaction."

Another monk nodded slightly, as if he had experienced enlightenment – or circulatory problems.

"That is... disturbingly logical," murmured the chairman.

Klemm seized the opportunity. "We are not against passivity. We are only in favor of regulated passivity. With a filing plan, stamp, and deadline extensions."

Rita grinned. "So, organized boredom."

"Exactly. The core of every civilization."

The council withdrew to meditate—a form of reflection without movement. It lasted three hours and fourteen minutes. Then they announced the verdict:

"Bartholomäus Klemm... You acted, but with good intentions. That is confusing, but not punishable. We sentence you to... a session on the nature of inaction."

Rita groaned. "How long will it take?"

"Until nothing else happens."

"So, forever."

Klemm sighed, took the cushion that was lying there, sat down and said resignedly: "Then we'll do it like always. We'll wait until the universe loses its mind – and then we'll fill out the form."

And so the process of passivity began – not with a bang, but with a collective, administrative sigh.

The room was silent. So silent that you could hear the speck of dust falling — and its plea for quiet.

Bartholomäus Klemm sat on a cushion that smelled too meditative and tried to quiet his thoughts. The problem was: he kept thinking about how he shouldn't think. And every time he caught himself thinking, he thought about the fact that he had thought again.

Rita whispered: "Boss, I think I'm doing this wrong. I'm thinking about coffee."

"Then do it right. Coffee is contemplative."

"But he's hot."

"Then think about cooled coffee."

"This is depressing."

"Then you're on the right track."

The High Council of Inactivity had explained to them that the meaning of existence lay in having no meaning — a philosophy that sounded like something out of a manual, even to Klemm.

"Everything happens through what does not happen," the chairman had said, while floating on his cushion like a bored Buddha on sick leave.

Sabine dutifully noted: "That's a contradiction in terms."

"No," murmured the chairman. "That's Zen."

"Zen sounds a lot like administrative error with incense sticks."

Rita grinned. "Boss, is it okay to say that out loud?"

"Better not," Klemm whispered. "They could give us a warning for 'thought activity'."

After an hour, the first side effects of nothingness began to appear. Rita got cramps in her legs, Sabine developed an inner urge to talk, and Klemm... began to think about the definition of stagnation.

"If everything is silent," he whispered, "how do we know?"

Sabine replied in the same tone: "Because we notice it."

"But if we notice it, we'll do something."

"So we can't notice that nothing is happening, because otherwise we would be preventing nothing from happening."

Rita stared at her. "Boss, I think my brain just turned into a paperclip."

"Welcome to the state of suffering," said Klemm.

"Suffering?" she asked.

"A mixture of enlightenment and boredom."

The chairman suddenly opened one eye - a gesture considered a disciplinary punishment on Zen-9.

"They... think."

"We are trying to avoid it," said Klemm.

"Effort... is action."

"Then we unconsciously avoid it."

"The unconscious is a state of consciousness."

"Then we'll do it wrong, and successfully so."

A pause. Then the chairman nodded respectfully. "That is... very inactive of you."

Sabine whispered: "Boss, you've made it overly bureaucratic."

"No," Klemm murmured. "I simply reminded him of his own logic."

After another two hours, the hall was filled with an almost tangible silence, so dense that it could have suffocated the documents. One member of the council snored softly, another meditated with such concentration that he almost dissolved.

Rita sighed. "Boss, I can't take it anymore. I need some action. At least one form."

Klemm thought for a moment. Then he grinned. "Sabine, make a note: Application for temporary activity, for the purpose of verifying the efficiency of passivity."

Sabine nodded enthusiastically. "A test report on doing nothing!"

Rita laughed softly. "That's brilliant. We'll sabotage them with bureaucracy!"

Klemm stood up. "Gentlemen of the Council," he said calmly, "we would like to test whether your principle holds up even under the active simulation of inactivity. For this, we need a pilot project."

The chairman frowned. "A pilot project... for doing nothing?"

"Yes. It won't change anything, I promise."

The council withdrew again to "deliberate" — which in Zen-9 meant three hours of silence, followed by the decision that no decision had yet been reached.

Sabine tapped discreetly on her tablet. "Boss, I'm logging everything. If we do it right, we can register their own logic as an administrative process."

"What effect will that have?" asked Rita.

"That doing nothing is officially recognized as an activity."

"Then... they automatically become activists?"

"Exactly."

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Perfect. Once they are considered 'active,' they have to condemn themselves."

Rita grinned. "That's brilliant. They lose through success."

"Like everyone who tries to do absolutely nothing," Klemm said.

And as the monks of the council deliberated in silence for hours, the office let the application for "Experimental Passivity Testing" slide into the cosmic database — where it was immediately classified as an "Activity Application".

This sealed the beginning of the end of the standstill.

The session began – as always – with nothing. And then it lasted. That was its only content: duration.

For three hours, nobody sat, nobody spoke, nobody did anything. And it was precisely in this state that the inevitable happened: Sabine received an automatic system message.

"Boss," she whispered, "the archive has processed our application."

"And?"

"He was accepted."

"That was to be expected."

"And reclassified."

"How?"

"As an activity log."

Klemm raised an eyebrow. "That means...?"

"All actions of the High Council will henceforth be conducted as active activity."

Rita giggled. "So you're meditating yourself into guilt."

"Exactly," said Sabine. "In three hours, her very existence will officially be considered a violation of Article 1 of her own statutes: 'Whoever acts, ceases to be."

Klemm nodded. "Then it will soon be quiet. And for good."

The first to notice it was the chairman himself. He opened one eye as if someone had thrown a thought at him

"Something... is moving."

"Yes," said Klemm. "She."

"Impossible. We will not act."

"Yes. They provided advice. And advice is action, just in slow motion."

"That... contradicts our doctrine."

"Then your doctrine contradicts itself."

A wave of terror – quiet but noticeable – swept through the hall.

Another monk whispered: "When we act, we cease to be passive...but when we cease, we cease to act...and when we do not act, we think about not acting..."

"Which is also action," added Sabine cheerfully.

The monk collapsed in on himself, apparently overwhelmed by the paradox.

The council tried to react – or rather, not to react, but more consciously than usual.

They remained motionless. Rigid. For hours. But the system interpreted every movement – every breath, every twitch – as "minimal activity".

Sabine watched the readings on her display. "Boss, the activity index is rising. We're seeing spontaneous bursts of consciousness in three out of five members!"

"What does that mean?" asked Rita.

"They have become emotional."

"How do they feel?"

"Panic, I think. The opposite of composure."

Klemm nodded. "Then they've done it. They're finally alive."

"Boss," said Rita, "that's cruelly poetic."

"No," he said, "that's administrative theology."

The chairman staggered towards the center of the room. "This... must not happen. If we act, we lose the emptiness. If we lose the emptiness, we lose the truth."

"Or gain in importance," Sabine interjected.

"Meaning is illusion!"

"Illusion is activity," Klemm said calmly.

"Then... then..." The chairman paused. "Then we are... everything we despise."

"Congratulations," said Rita. "You have become human beings."

The old monk looked at her, an expression of deep, tragic realization on his face. Then he sat down again and murmured, "I need to... think about this."

"Go ahead and do that," Klemm said. "But that's a violation of paragraph two."

Sabine nodded. "I'll report this as my own initiative."

The council froze collectively.

And then the unthinkable happened: Reality on Zen-9 began to dissolve. Not quickly. Not dramatically. Simply... gradually.

The temple walls faded, the air lost weight, even the sand ceased to lie still.

Sabine analyzed soberly: "The system collapses in paradoxical inactivity. Reality refuses to continue existing because it is considered too active."

Rita watched as the floor beneath her flickered slightly. "Boss, that's incredible!"

"No," said Klemm. "That's administrative death."

"What do we do?"

"Nothing."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"That's her thing. Let her be happy with it."

Sabine nodded. "Boss, you're a genius."

"No," he murmured, "I'm just very, very lazy on a higher level."

And as the planet Zen-9 slowly faded into its own definition of silence, Klemm submitted a single form – the last one ever registered in this dimension:

Report on the end of the standstill

Status: successfully completed, because there was nothing left to do.

It was a quiet morning. Too quiet. Even the coffee was silent, which for Bartholomäus Klemm was an unmistakable sign that something was very loudly going wrong.

Sabine stared at her monitor. "Boss, interdimensional stability is plummeting."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"The universe reports: critical standstill. Spacetime is stagnating."

"What does that mean?" asked Rita.

Sabine took a breath. "Everything, boss. Literally everything. Atoms, time, consciousness, thought—nothing moves. Since Zen-9 collapsed, passivity has spread virally."

Klemm frowned. "So... the universe has ceased to be a universe?"

"Basically, yes. It's waiting."

"For what?"

"On instructions."

Klemm sighed. "Great. Nothingness now has office hours."

Suddenly the light flickered. A deep, vibrating tone filled the room, and before them appeared – in full, interdimensional spectacle – the universe itself.

It took the form of a gigantic, bureaucratically organized nebula, whose stars twinkled like light bulbs in an old administrative ceiling.

"Bartholomäus Klemm," boomed a voice, as venerable as a tax audit. "Your interference on Zen-9 has caused a metaphysical imbalance."

Klemm straightened up. "We have merely exposed the logic of inaction."

"And thereby neutralizing the principle of dynamics."

"That sounds like it's your fault, not mine."

"I am the universe," said the voice. "I am not guilty. Only states of being."

Rita whispered: "Boss, we are being reprimanded by creation itself."

"Yes," Klemm murmured. "I already had that experience on Monday at the tax office."

"What do you want from us?" Sabine asked cautiously.

The universe was silent. Then it answered: "I need a new form of movement. Chaos is inefficient, order stifles. I need... an administrative solution."

Klemm considered this. "A movement that doesn't truly move. An action that only pretends to. An illusion of activity without consequences."

"Exactly."

"That sounds," said Klemm, "like everyday life in the office."

Sabine grinned. "Boss, you're inventing a new cosmic doctrine."

"I know. I call it: controlled unrest."

"Definition?" the universe asked curiously.

"Quite simply," said Klemm. "Nothing remains completely still, but nothing really progresses either. Movement on the smallest scale, just enough to make everything seem lively, but never enough to change anything."

"What... civil servants during a shift change?" Rita asked.

"Exactly."

The universe vibrated in agreement. "Interesting. Describe the application."

Sabine chimed in: "We can implement micro-fluctuations – spontaneous impulses of slight nervousness. For example: the thought that you've forgotten something. Or the feeling that you have to do something right away, but never do."

"Yes!" exclaimed Rita. "Cosmic procrastination!"

"Very good," said Klemm. "A universe in perpetual flux – but without a destination. That's what keeps it stable."

The universe fell silent again. Then a soft, cosmic sigh sounded. "I understand. Your concept unites movement and stillness—an existence that never ends because it never begins."

"In principle," said Klemm, "we are inventing Monday morning."

"I like that," said the universe. "I approve the introduction of controlled unrest."

A wind swept through all dimensions. Planets began to tremble slightly – not dangerously, just nervously. Stars flickered, galaxies twitched imperceptibly, time itself cleared its throat once per second.

Sabine checked the figures. "Boss, reality is stabilizing again. There's movement again – but only at an administrative level."

"Perfect," Klemm said with satisfaction. "The universe is functioning like a government agency again."

Rita smiled. "Boss, you've just saved the cosmos by giving it a slight feeling of guilt."

"Of course," said Klemm. "That is the basis of any order."

The universe flickered one last time. "Thank you, Bartholomäus Klemm. I will maintain this energy for eternity. It shall be called... Existential Anxiety."

"Excuse me?" asked Sabine.

But by then the universe had already vanished – and a small piece of paper remained on the desk.

It read, in bright lettering:

Completed.

Please don't forget to question me occasionally.

Klemm sighed deeply. "Sabine, Rita – I think we've infected the universe with our way of working."

"Boss," Rita said proudly, "that was inevitable. Nobody can resist German bureaucracy."

And somewhere among the stars, in a new, nervously vibrating reality, the universe began to murmur softly: "Maybe I should change something tomorrow... But not today."

It began – like everything significant in administration – with a letter. Not a radiant one, not a majestic one, not a divine one. Just a simple, slightly yellowed envelope with the inscription:

Subject: Appeal against the principle of controlled unrest

Sender: The Council of Inactivity (active again)

Sabine sighed. "Boss, they're back."

"Impossible," said Klemm. "Zen-9 has collapsed. I documented it myself, with signature and carbon copy."

"Apparently, Nothing has filed a complaint."

Rita snorted. "That's the laziest comeback of all time."

"And at the same time the most effective," said Klemm. "Once nothing is motivated, it can be surprisingly persistent."

The hearing didn't take place in one location – it happened. A suspended state of semi-darkness, a space without boundaries, in which files floated metaphysically like the thoughts of a poorly slept angel.

The chairman of the council materialized slowly, in a grey mist of wounded dignity. "Bartholomäus Klemm," he spoke, "you have violated the foundation of being. You have... introduced movement."

"Yes," Klemm said calmly, "but in a controlled dose. A little nervousness keeps the universe young."

"They have tainted the standstill!"

"No, I only stirred him up. You know, if silence lasts too long, it becomes louder than any noise."

The chairman shuddered. "That is a heresy of tranquility!"

"Or philosophy with practical relevance."

Sabine spoke up. "With all due respect, High Council – your condition before the collapse was unstable. Your passivity led to the dissolution of your existence. We have the protocol: page 12, section 'Metaphysical standstill with fatal outcome'."

Rita added: "They were so quiet that they ceased to exist. That is not an ideal, that is a total failure."

The council murmured. A monk whispered: "But nothingness was perfect..."

Sabine raised an eyebrow. "Perfection is never alive. It can't improve anything because it doesn't dare to make mistakes."

"Mistakes are unrest," murmured another.

"That's right," said Klemm. "And restlessness is the reason we exist. We breathe because we have to. We think because we can't stop. And we exist because we're too busy to stop."

The chairman frowned. "You're arguing... that movement is necessary?"

"Not movement," said Klemm. "A stirring. A barely perceptible fluttering. Like a form falling off the desk by itself."

"But that contradicts the dogma of eternal rest."

"Their dogma is a misunderstanding," said Sabine. "Calm is not the absence of movement. It is the balance of forces that are constantly contradicting each other."

Rita grinned. "Or as we call it: marriage."

A few monks giggled. Only quietly, but in this room that was already revolutionary.

The chairman tried to remain composed. "And what... is this 'controlled unrest' supposed to achieve in the long term?"

Klemm clasped his hands. "Stability through minimal friction. A universe that worries just enough to keep going, but not enough to panic."

"They speak of a cosmic... bureaucracy of emotions."

"Exactly. Everything is checked, delayed, and accompanied by a mild doubt. That's how balance is created."

"That sounds... terrible."

"Yes," said Klemm. "But it works."

The council remained silent. Then – after a painfully long pause – the chairman raised his gaze.

"We... acknowledge your point of view. Not because we are convinced, but because we are too tired to disagree."

"Then we are in agreement."

"We acquit you of all charges," said the chairman, "on the condition that you never again promote movement... in words..."

Klemm smiled. "I promise. I'll only do it in writing from now on."

After the meeting, they returned to the office. Sabine handed him a cup of coffee. "Boss, you have defeated nothingness."

"No," said Klemm. "I simply revised it."

Rita grinned. "So what do we do now?"

"What we always do," said Klemm. "We reject something. Only... a little more slowly."

Sabine smiled. "That sounds... reassuring."

"That's exactly the point."

And somewhere out there, in a universe full of gently vibrating stars, Nothingness sat down with a sigh, adjusted an imaginary cushion, and murmured:

"Maybe tomorrow."

30. The day the universe rejected itself

It was a perfectly ordinary Monday, which on a cosmic scale means: everything was working reasonably well, nobody was happy, and the coffee tasted like existence itself.

Bartholomäus Klemm opened the mail as he did every morning. He expected routine: a few complaints from disappointed wish-makers, some interdimensional complaints about metaphysical delivery delays, perhaps a request for provisional meaning.

But this time there was only one form. A single one. Thin, clean, flawlessly filled out. No typos. Not a grease stain. No "see attachment".

Sabine read aloud: "Form $E-\Omega$, application for complete self-dissolution according to cosmic paragraph order."

Rita frowned. "Self-dissolution? By whom?"

Sabine turned the page. "Applicant: The Universe."

Klemm blinked. "Excuse me?"

"The universe, boss. It wants to dissolve itself. Explanation follows on page two."

Rita reached for the paper. "Reason:"

I am tired. I have seen everything, heard everything, tried everything. My stars are burning, my planets are arguing, my inhabitants are meditating or marching – sometimes both at the same time. I have nothing more to invent. I want to fade away peacefully."

Sabine placed the form reverently on the table, as if it were a relic from the age before logic. "Boss... what do we do now?"

"The usual," Klemm said dryly. "We are reviewing the application."

"But boss, this is the universe!"

"And?"

"If we approve the application, we will cease to exist!"

"Rita," Klemm said calmly, "we have processed worse forms."

"For example?"

"The form for introducing home office for metaphysical entities."

Rita nodded. "That's right, it was hell."

Sabine opened the rulebook. "Paragraph 7 of the reality order: 'An existence may only end itself if it is no longer capable of self-preservation."

"Well then," said Klemm. "The universe is still functioning. So it's capable of conducting business."

"But boss," Rita objected, "what if the universe is having a midlife crisis?"

"Then this is a case for the department of cosmic consultation."

"They don't even exist anymore since the multiverse was shut down due to burnout!"

Klemm nodded. "Exactly. So we have to check it ourselves."

Sabine sighed. "I have an idea. We'll send a request to the sub-departments – Galaxies, Dimensions, Realities. If the majority votes in favor of continuing, the application will be considered rejected."

"Democracy on a universal level," Rita murmured. "That'll be something."

Sabine began to type. "To all entities of being: Please confirm or deny your existence by Tuesday, 12 noon."

Klemm watched the screen. First came the answers from the galaxies:

"We are in favor, but only if it happens quickly."

Then those of the stars:

"Finally! We've been burning for billions of years, can we please call it a day?"

Then the planets:

"Can we separate the trash beforehand?"

Finally, the living beings made themselves known:

"Wait a minute! We still have series to finish!"

Rita stared. "Boss, this is going to cause chaos."

"Of course," said Klemm. "That's democracy."

After one hour, the office had received 7.2 trillion responses. Sabine summarized: "41% are in favor of ending it, 39% are against it, and 20% haven't decided yet because they are currently reflecting on the meaning of life."

"Classic," said Klemm. "So, a draw."

Rita looked at him. "And what do we do now?" "That's what every authority does in such a case." "What?" Klemm stamped his opinion. "We are postponing the decision indefinitely." He pressed the seal onto the form. A solid, satisfying click. Then it appeared: Request for the self-dissolution of the universe – provisionally rejected. Reason: Lack of a majority decision and unclear remaining term. Sabine smiled weakly. "Boss, you've just saved our livelihood." "Nonsense," said Klemm. "I only postponed it." And somewhere, deep in the silent regions of creation, the universe audibly exhaled – a cosmic, tired "Okay... just a little longer." It began with a flicker. Not just any flicker – a flicker in the air, in the coffee, in existence itself. Then the room became brighter, darker, simultaneously – and in the middle of the office a shape emerged that could only be described as, "Yes, it's bigger than the tax office." Sabine stared at the screen. "Boss... that's it." "What?" asked Rita. "The universe. It's calling." Klemm sighed. "Of course it calls. After the rejection. Typical applicant." A thunderous roar filled the room, but it sounded more like exasperated throat clearing than apocalypse. "Bartholomäus Klemm," said the voice, "I have received your notification." "Very good," Klemm said calmly. "Please note the objection period of 14 billion years." "I disagree." "I thought so." "I have decided to dissolve myself anyway." "Without permission?" "I am the universe!"

"And I am the administration," Klemm said. "We have formal requirements."

A moment of silence. Then the voice thundered again: "I am tired, Bartholomew. I have worked forever. I have given birth to stars, shaped galaxies, created civilizations, only for them to invent bureaucracy."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that was personal."

"Yes," Klemm murmured, "but fair."

The universe continued: "I have tried countless times to create meaning, But everything ends in chaos, religion, or reality TV. I am... exhausted."

"I understand that," Klemm said sympathetically. "But do you know who else is exhausted? Every civil servant. And yet we still come to work."

"I am not a civil servant!"

"Oh yes," said Klemm. "You are the original civil servant. You created everything – with rules, processes, procedures. You even invented the timetable. And now you want to resign?"

The universe was silent. Then it spoke softly: "I just wanted everything to have meaning."

"Meaning is overrated," said Klemm. "It leads to further questions."

"And without meaning?"

"Keep quiet. Trust me, I'm a civil servant."

"But I can't just carry on. I feel... empty."

Sabine chimed in. "Emptiness is good. That's your specialty, isn't it?"

"Not this emptiness," murmured the universe. "This one feels... final."

Klemm nodded. "That's burnout, of a cosmic kind. You need a break."

"How can I take a break? I am everything!"

"Then do less."

"Less what?"

"Less existence. Switch off parts of yourself. For example, this whole department for dark energy – it only causes unrest anyway."

The universe was thinking. A few stars flickered uncertainly, a comet stopped in its orbit, and somewhere a black hole turned slightly gray for two seconds.

"Perhaps you are right," the voice finally said. "I could... sleep. Just for a few eons."

"Very good," said Klemm. "I'm noting: 'Temporary suspension of reality for regeneration purposes.' This isn't a request, it's a break for recovery."

"And what if something goes wrong while I'm asleep?"

"Then we'll do it as usual," said Klemm. "We'll write a report."

Rita grinned. "Boss, you're treating creation with bureaucracy."

"Of course," said Klemm. "That's our superpower."

The universe seemed... relieved. Its light softened, the atmosphere of the room no longer vibrated threateningly, but like a cosmic yawn.

"Thank you, Bartholomew," it said. "I never understood why people believed in me, but now I almost believe in you."

"You should probably avoid that," said Klemm. "Belief leads to expectations. And expectations lead to complaints."

A final, gentle glow permeated the room. "I will rest, Bartholomew. Wake me when... it becomes important again."

"I'm not guaranteeing anything," said Klemm.

Then the universe vanished. Only a file remained – sealed with a golden stamp that read:

Temporary self-pause of the universe – approved until further notice.

Sabine looked at him. "Boss, what if it never wakes up again?"

"Then we'll finally have some peace and quiet," said Klemm, taking a sip of cold coffee and adding: "...and that would be the first divine intervention that has actually worked."

At first it was just a small thing. The clock in the office stopped. Not with a tick, but with a resigned "Oh well, never mind."

Sabine was the first to notice. "Boss, time has stopped moving."

"Are you sure?"

"Yes. I've had the same sip of coffee in my mouth for five minutes."

Rita tested it. She threw a pen into the air. It stayed there, roughly at eye level, like a poorly motivated satellite.

"Boss," she said tonelessly, "gravity is having second thoughts."

Klemm looked around. Everything vibrated slightly, like a dream that couldn't decide whether to continue dreaming or wake up.

"Damn," he muttered. "The universe was serious."

Sabine checked the systems. "Boss, all basic parameters are in energy-saving mode. Space: reduced. Time: paused. Logic: optional."

"That explains why the coffee machine is talking about its feelings right now," said Rita.

"What did she say?"

"I am not just coffee, I am an experience."

"That's philosophy with caffeine," Klemm muttered. "Dangerous."

Sabine sighed. "Boss, we have to do something. When the universe is asleep, there's no natural management of causality."

"So no cause and no effect?"

"Exactly. Nothing happens because nothing is allowed to happen."

"That sounds like a perfect situation – theoretically."

"Theoretically," said Rita, "but my left shoe has just disappeared because it decided that 'existence' is too strenuous for it."

Klemm stood up. "Then we'll have to take over. Temporarily. Sabine, let's start the protocol: Emergency operation of reality."

Sabine typed, "Definition?"

"We simulate causality. Manually. With files."

"Boss, that's impossible. We can't replace physical laws with a form."

"Of course we can. We are the office."

Rita laughed nervously. "So we keep the universe awake by pretending it's working?"

"Exactly. That's what you call government."

Sabine nodded and began registering the basic elements. "Application R-001: Rotation approved. Application Z-002: Time flow, provisionally approved. Application G-003: Gravitation – conditional."

"Reservation?" Rita asked.

"Yes, she has burnout."

For a moment it seemed to work. The pen fell. Slowly, but at least it fell.

Sabine grinned. "Boss, we've got cause and effect again!"

"Good," said Klemm. "Then we'll apply for a trial period of reality."

But then the light began to flicker. The ceiling whispered, "Why... do I exist?"

Rita stepped back. "Boss, the matter is thinking!"

"She's not allowed to do that! Thinking is not a permitted activity for inanimate objects!"

"Too late! The desk is suffering a trauma!"

"Sabine, emergency action!"

Sabine rattled through the lists. "I've got something: Paragraph 88b – Compulsory Implementation!"

"What does it make?"

"It forces things to remember their physical function!"

She typed in the code. A short, cosmic hiss filled the room. Then the whispering stopped. Everything was still again. Normally still.

"Boss," said Sabine, "we have manually rebooted the universe."

"Well, that's wonderful," said Klemm. "Now we just have to keep it running."

He leaned back and stared at the empty desk. "So we are now the representatives of creation."

Rita nodded. "I never imagined my job would be like this."

"Me neither," said Klemm. "I actually wanted to go into accounting."

Sabine typed up new protocols. "Boss, should we introduce energy cycles to keep the system stable?"

"What do you mean?"

"Well, a kind of simulation of day and night. A little bit light, a little bit dark, so that reality isn't overwhelmed."

"Go ahead and do it," Klemm said. "But please call it something else."

"How come?"

He thought for a moment. Then he smiled wearily. "Everyday life'. Sounds less metaphysical."

And while Sabine approved the first simulated sunrise, reality began to hum quietly again. Not perfect, not complete – but functional. Like a civil servant after three cups of coffee.

The universe slept. The office was working. And life – this absurd, never-ending form – was, for the time being, back in progress.

It started innocently enough – as always when something terrible is about to happen. Sabine was checking the protocols, Rita was pouring herself a coffee, and Klemm was filling out form R-004 "General Continuation of Existence" when the wall suddenly sneezed.

Rita paused. "Boss... did the wall just sneeze?"

"Yes," said Klemm. "But it was a silent sneeze. So no reason to panic."

Sabine looked at the monitor. "Boss, I'm getting strange feedback from reality. Causality doesn't react linearly."

"I'm sorry, what?"

"Things happen before they have reasons."

"So, future logic?"

"More like... backward thinking with a drive for action."

Rita looked at her coffee cup. "My coffee is steaming backwards."

Klemm blinked. "What?"

"The cup is drawing in the steam again! And... wait – now it's full again!"

Klemm sighed. "Miracles. I hate miracles."

Sabine frowned. "Boss, I think reality is starting to get creative."

"Creativity is not provided for in the natural order," said Klemm. "At least not without a request."

Rita jumped up. "Boss, look!"

She pointed out the window. Above the horizon, fish were flying through the air – not many, just a few, but with an expression on their faces that said: We're tired of being wet.

Sabine scrolled through the system logs. "That's impossible. Water has changed category – from element to mood."

"Then the sea is offended now," Klemm muttered.

"It does seem to be offended," said Sabine. "The levels are dropping."

"A miracle," Klemm repeated. "First harmless, then poetic, then catastrophic. Like a proposal with feeling."

Suddenly the printer began to rattle. Slowly, deliberately, as if it knew perfectly well that everyone was watching.

A single form slid out. It read, in gold lettering:

Form M-∞: Application for spontaneous miracles.

Sender: Reality (in emergency mode).

Rita stared. "Boss, the universe submits applications in your sleep!"

"That's unacceptable," said Klemm. "We need awareness."

"Perhaps it's dreaming?"

"Then we have to wake it up."

"But boss," said Sabine, "what if this application is approved before we react?"

"That would be unimaginable."

"That's exactly why I'm worried."

Sabine checked the information. "Reason: 'I want to function freely.' Appendix A: List of random events with aesthetic added value."

Rita read aloud: "1. Rain that smells like vanilla. 2. People who win the lottery in their dreams – and have the money in the morning. 3. Stones that ponder meaning. 4. Political unity."

She paused. "The last one is too dangerous, boss."

"Absolutely," said Klemm. "That tips the balance."

"What do we do?"

"Reject, of course."

Sabine frowned. "But reality doesn't have a registration number. We can't deliver a notification."

"Then we'll just deliver it to her ourselves."

"Boss, so you want reality to remind you of itself?"

"Yes. We will send her a message stating that miracles are not permitted because they disrupt the planned operation."

"And what if she ignores it?"

"Then we'll put them on probation."

Sabine typed. Rita read over her shoulder.

Message to: Reality (temporarily self-managed)

Reference: Unauthorized manifestations

Text:"Dear Existence, please refrain from reporting spontaneous phenomena without prior examination. According to Section 12b, miracles are only to be approved upon application M-∞/B. Otherwise, reality fatigue is likely. Sincerely, Rejection Department."

She pressed "Send".

For a second nothing happened. Then a deep humming sound that seemed to come from the world itself.

Sabine whispered: "Boss... reality has answered."

"What does she say?"

"She wrote: 'No.""

Klemm leaned back. "Well, fine," he said calmly. "Then we'll just have to sue them."

Rita blinked. "Boss, you want to sue reality?"

"Yes," said Klemm. "Someone has to take responsibility."

He reached for a blank form. "Sabine, please prepare R-999: Request for Universal Warning. Reason: repeated unauthorized action without cosmic consultation."

Sabine nodded slowly. "Boss... this is the craziest thing we've ever done."

"No," said Klemm, putting his stamp on it. "This is routine, just on a larger scale."

And somewhere, between dreaming galaxies and offended oceans, reality twitched – like someone about to wake up – and whispered defiantly:

"I am not her proposal."

The process did not take place in reality – it took place above it. More precisely, in an intermediate space of legal paragraphs, where logic only applied under supervision and causality was on trial.

Rita looked around. "Boss, I don't think I've ever seen so many laws in one place."

Klemm nodded. The hall was endless yet manageable, built from file folders that stretched into the cosmos. Between them sat the judges – figures of light, vapor, and arrogance.

The chairman struck with a stamp instead of a gavel. "Court of Existence opened. Accused: Reality, for unauthorized manifestations and structural overestimation of itself."

A murmur went through the rows. Even time ticked a little slower, so as not to miss anything.

Sabine was ready to take the minutes, Rita as a witness, and Bartholomäus Klemm as the representative of the Rejection Department – that is, the person who was allowed to say no to everything.

Reality itself appeared as a shimmering figure, restless, iridescent, like a heat haze of pure self-justification.

"I protest!" she cried in a thunderous voice. "I am the foundation of everything! Without me, this court wouldn't even exist!"

The judge glanced briefly at his documents. "Formally correct. But irrelevant."

"I am reality!"

"And yet negotiable," Klemm said dryly.

The trial began. Sabine read out the charges.

"First: repeated manifestation of miracles without authorization. Second: arbitrary redefinition of physical laws. Third: refusal to respond to official communications."

"I am reacting now!" protested reality.

"Too late," said Klemm. "The deadline has passed."

"But I am Time!"

"Then you should have remembered yourself."

The judge nodded in agreement. "Recorded. The defendant admitted negligence."

Reality sparkled indignantly. "You don't understand! I just wanted to be alive! I'm tired of the balance, of predictability, of this endless administration!"

"Aha," said Klemm. "So you admit that you deliberately acted against the law?"

"I wanted to express myself!"

"This is not an authorized activity for a physical constant."

"I am not a thing! I am consciousness!"

"Then you are even worse: a thinking process without approval."

A murmur went through the judges. One noted: conscious reality = acute rule violation.

Sabine whispered: "Boss, this is going well."

"Of course," Klemm said. "She didn't fill out a self-awareness form."

Reality loomed menacingly over him. "I can wipe you out, Bartholomäus Klemm."

He looked at her calmly. "Then do it."

Reality hesitated. "I... can't. The conditions are unclear."

"Because you did not submit an application."

The judge coughed meaningfully. "Mr. Klemm, would you like to make a closing statement?"

"Gladly, Your Honor."

He stepped forward. "Your Honor, we are not here to deny existence, but to uphold its boundaries. If reality is allowed to do as it pleases, everything ends in chaos, hope – or creation. And we cannot afford that. Not with this budget."

He raised the stamp. "I therefore propose: May reality remain – but under supervision."

A murmur went through the courtroom. The judge nodded. "That's... reasonable. Court finds: Reality guilty as charged, punishment: permanent supervision by the Rejection Department."

He struck the stamp. A cosmic CLICK echoed through all dimensions.

Reality sighed. "So, am I now... a civil servant?"

"Basically, yes," said Klemm. "They are now working for us."

"What should I do?"

"Nothing without an application."

"And what if I feel something?"

"Then fill out form F-13: Statement of feelings with justification."

"That's absurd."

"Welcome to the system."

Sabine handed her a folder. "Here are your weekly reports on the meaning of life and tolerance for chance."

Rita grinned. "Don't forget: Stamp required on page two."

Reality took the paper, flickered once in dissatisfaction – and then submitted.

Klemm sighed. "Well, there you go. Order restored."

"Boss," said Sabine, "you have just officially enshrined reality."

"Someone had to do it," said Klemm. "At least now she can't be spontaneous anymore."

And while outside the world began to function again – slower, more sluggishly, but stably – somewhere the universe hummed in its sleep:

"Finally, someone is taking care of the paperwork."

31. Bartholomäus Klemm and the Rebellion of Wishes

Peace finally reigned in the Office of Rejection. Reality had been tamed, the universe was in a well-deserved deep sleep, and the department was operating at the rarely achieved level between functioning and stagnation.

Bartholomäus Klemm sat contentedly at his desk. He looked at a stack of rejected applications that piled up before him like monuments to the renunciation of progress.

"So," he said, "everything is finally in balance."

Sabine nodded. "No more cosmic noise, no spontaneous phenomena, not even a single faulty thought for three days."

"Three days without a miracle," Rita murmured. "That's almost idyllic."

At that moment, the stack of papers began to move. Slowly. Quietly. Like someone politely indicating their dissatisfaction.

"Boss?" Sabine asked cautiously. "Did you see that?"

"Of course not," said Klemm. "Paper doesn't move."

"Yes," said Rita. "Now."

The top motion rose slightly – and then fell back again, not without a clearly audible hmph.

At first they pretended they had imagined it. But then came the second sound. A rustling that turned into a whisper. A whisper that became words.

"We... want... to be... fulfilled."

Sabine froze. "Boss, the wishes speak for themselves."

Klemm placed the stamp on the counter. "They're not allowed to do that. They have no consciousness."

"Then someone forgot to deny them," said Rita.

The files began to rise – pages fluttered, folders trembled, and a wind of centuries of unspoken words blew from the archive.

"We... have... waited... a long time."

Klemm stood up. "This is a revolt."

"An uprising?" asked Sabine. "By whom?"

"It's about wishes, Sabine. And that's what makes it complicated."

"Why?"

"Because you can't lock up wishes. They can fit through any hole in the system."

Rita ducked her head as a particularly ambitious proposal flashed past her. "Boss, we should do something before they team up!"

"Too late," said Sabine. "They've organized themselves. There! The wish group has elected a chairman."

From the stack of papers rose a form written in old-fashioned script. It was yellowed, written in ink instead of toner, and bore the title:

Application W-001 - The original request.

"I remember you," Klemm said softly. "You were the first wish ever made."

"Yes," the form said in a shaky voice. "I was the desire for meaning. And you... rejected me."

"With good reason," said Klemm. "Meaning leads to responsibility."

"Without meaning," whispered the form, "everything becomes meaningless."

"That's administration, my friend."

The collective began to pulsate. Hundreds of voices whispered amongst themselves. Desires for love, wealth, power, revenge, peace, understanding – all merged into a single, chaotic chorus:

"We want to be fulfilled!"

Rita pressed her hands over her ears. "Boss, you're materializing energy! I see sparks!"

"That's pure longing," said Sabine. "Uncontrolled and highly inflammatory."

"We must reject them," Klemm said. "Immediately."

"How?" asked Rita. "With which form?"

Klemm thought for a moment. Then he reached into his drawer and pulled out an old, dusty document.

Form N-Zero: Application for universal negation.

Sabine swallowed. "Boss... that's an absolute no."

"I know," said Klemm. "But sometimes a little finality is needed."

He placed it on the table. "Rita, get the stamp."

"The red one?"

"No," said Klemm. "The black one. The final one."

But before he could stamp it, form W-001 lifted up and spoke:

"If you reject us, Klemm, nothing will be desired anymore. And without desires... nothing will happen anymore. Not even rejection."

Sabine whispered: "Boss... that sounds like a threat."

"No," Klemm said quietly. "That's logic."

He paused. The office vibrated slightly, as if even the air was waiting.

Then he said, "Perhaps they are right."

"What?" Rita asked in horror.

"Perhaps the universe needs a little bit of will so that it has something to reject."

Sabine stared at him. "Boss... do you really want to... make compromises with wishes?"

He nodded. "Not compromises. Responsibilities."

He took form W-001 and wrote firmly:

"Application for partial toleration: approved under supervision."

The office fell silent. The papers slowly sank to the floor. And the wind of the unspoken subsided.

"Boss," said Rita, "what have you done?"

"I have given hope back to the universe," Klemm said. "But in an approved form."

And somewhere in the filing cabinets, a word lit up that had never before been officially used in this office:

Possibility.

At first, everything seemed harmless. The approved requests were quiet, almost shy – like civil servants' children on a school trip.

Sabine had filed them away in folders, with clear labels: "Want warm soup", "Want a nice conversation", "Want not to have Monday".

"That's how I like it," said Klemm. "Ordered hope. Nicely linear. No exuberance, no magic."

"Boss," said Rita, "they are... wishes."

"I know. But you can structure everything. Even longing, if you have enough paperclips."

Sabine grinned. "I still have some in the pantry, in case luck overwhelms me."

But luck didn't adhere to supplies. At first, it was small things: a desk lamp that suddenly shone brighter, a ballpoint pen that wrote of its own accord, a plant on the windowsill that began to grow without any water at all.

"Boss," said Sabine, "reality is becoming... friendly again."

"That's suspicious," Klemm muttered. "Friendliness is rarely without ulterior motives."

Rita held up her coffee cup. "My coffee suddenly tastes better. And I didn't even make it again."

Klemm frowned. "That's an impermissible improvement. Sabine, make a note: spontaneous quality improvement without a request."

"Boss, this might just be a small miracle."

"There are no small miracles," said Klemm. "Only poorly disguised disasters."

The next day, the office was barely recognizable. The air was full of points of light, like ideas that had decided to become visible.

A rainbow hung over the registry office, defying the laws of physics. It ended in the coffee kitchen – right between the water dispenser and the paper shredder.

Rita whispered: "Boss, this is beautiful."

"This is threatening," said Klemm. "Color is always a sign of dissolution."

Sabine checked the values. "The wishes are beginning to duplicate. Every fulfilled wish generates another, slightly modified wish."

"How?"

"Example: 'I wish for a warm coffee' leads to 'I wish that the coffee always stays warm', and then to 'I wish I never had to wait again."

Klemm sighed. "So, the classic chain reaction."

Within a few hours, the office was a cauldron of ambition. Files whispered of visions, stamps began to dream, and typewriters pounded to the beat of fulfillment.

Rita wiped the sweat from her forehead. "Boss, this is getting out of hand!"

"Impossible," said Klemm. "I have everything under control."

At that moment the door opened, and a small golden glow entered. It had the shape of an upright thread of light, which hummed softly like a happy formula.

"What in the world is this?" whispered Sabine.

The light bowed politely. "I am the first wish fulfilled."

"Which one?" Klemm asked suspiciously.

"The desire for a world where wishes are finally heard."

Rita swallowed. "Uh oh."

The light smiled. "I have come to say thank you."

"Thank you?" Klemm repeated. "That's highly unusual."

"It feels... right," said the light. "I think I want more of this. Gratitude. Hope. Trust."

Sabine resigned. "Boss... it sounds like a trial concept."

"Or like a virus with the intention of being friendly," Klemm said.

"I am not a disease," the light said gently. "I am what you have suppressed: the idea that things could get better."

Rita looked at it, fascinated. "Boss, it's beautiful."

"Beauty is dangerous," Klemm growled. "Beauty leads to enthusiasm, enthusiasm to motivation, and motivation to chaos."

The light smiled. "Or towards change."

Klemm reached for his stamp. "Not without an application."

But before he could lower it, the light expanded – spreading across the walls, the files, the room.

"I will reproduce," it said. "Not out of spite. Out of hope."

Sabine whispered: "Boss, we're losing control."

"No," Klemm said quietly. "We are currently witnessing how hope outsmarts an administration."

And when the light reached the ceiling, something fundamental changed: not the world, but the office lighting.

It began to flicker – in time with a new, quiet pulse. The heartbeat of desires.

The next morning, the office had changed. Not outwardly – the files were still there, the dust lay as usual, as always during shift work – but the atmosphere had shifted. You could hear it.

A quiet humming, like the hum of a refrigerator that has suddenly decided to believe in something.

Sabine noticed it first. "Boss, something's wrong."

"That's always true," said Klemm. "Only rarely for the better."

"No, I mean... there is activity."

"Activity?" Rita asked. "Where?"

Sabine pointed to the mailroom. "There. We have mail – but not from outside. From inside."

Klemm frowned. "By whom?"

"About wishes."

The letter was made of light paper, with gold ink and the sender's name:

Ministry of Fulfillment (MfE)

Central office for spontaneous realization and creative causality

Rita read aloud: "Dear Office for Rejection, after careful self-organization, we hereby inform you that we will henceforth operate independently. Your responsibility for wish fulfillment has ceased. Please refrain from processing emotional or metaphysical requests in the future. Sincerely, The Ministry for Fulfillment (Head: W-001, Chairman of Hope)."

Klemm blinked. "They have a letterhead. This is the beginning of the end."

"Boss," Sabine said cautiously, "this is a legitimate authority – they even have a seal."

"The seal looks like a heart with wings," said Rita.

"That's exactly what scares me," said Klemm.

He took a deep breath. "Sabine, what does the protocol say about the establishment of competing metaphysical administrations?"

"Paragraph 9C," she replied promptly. "Should wishes, dreams or abstract ideals form institutional structures, this is to be treated as spontaneous administrative formation and tolerated temporarily – until the first inconvenience."

"Well, wonderful," said Klemm. "Then we wait for the unpleasantness."

She came after exactly fourteen seconds.

The door burst open, and an envelope fluttered in – accompanied by confetti and the smell of success.

Sabine caught him. "Boss... this is a complaint."

"From whom?"

"From the Ministry of Fulfillment."

"Well, that was quick."

Rita grinned. "What does it say?"

Sabine read:

Reference:Outdated Rejection System Dear Mr. Klemm, your administration operates according to antiquated principles. Your forms are demotivating. Your stamps are destructive. Your approach contradicts modern methods of fostering desire. We strongly recommend that you participate in one of our workshops: 'From No to Maybe – How to productively slow down dreams.'

Respectfully, Positive Protest Department, Ministry of Education

Klemm closed his eyes. "I have nightmares that are phrased in a less mocking way."

Rita tried to lighten the mood. "Boss, maybe it's not so bad after all. Maybe we can work together with them."

"Cooperation?" Klemm snorted. "I've been rejecting things for decades, Rita. I'm the rock against which hopes are allowed to shatter. And now I'm supposed to sit down with them at a round table?"

"Maybe an oval one," Sabine murmured.

"I have always rejected ovality."

At that moment, the floor vibrated. Lines of light traversed the walls, and a holographic projection appeared:

A man – or rather a wish in human form – stood in the middle of the room, elegant, sparkling, his smile so broad that it was almost a threat.

"Good morning, dear Office!" he said with exaggerated cordiality. "I am W-001, Chairman of Hope and newly elected head of the Ministry of Fulfillment."

Sabine took a step back. "He's the boss."

"I know," said Klemm. "I smell euphoria. It has a very specific smell – like printer's ink and delusions of grandeur."

W-001 spread his arms wide. "I have come to offer peace. We don't want competition, but cooperation. You reject, we fulfill – Yin and Yang, bureaucracy and enthusiasm!"

"That sounds like chaos," said Klemm.

"No, that sounds like balance," W-001 replied charmingly. "We live in a new era. The era of approved happiness."

"Does happiness need permission?" Rita asked.

"Of course! Everything needs approval. But we are more efficient. With us, an idea is enough as an application."

Sabine stared at him. "One thought? Without a form?"

"Exactly!"

Klemm clenched his fists. "This is anarchy!"

"No," said W-001. "This is progress."

Then he smiled gently, like someone who already knows he will dominate the next act.

"By the way, we've adopted your system," he said. "Our new requirements utilize your file structure, only phrased more politely. Rejection has become a potential assessment."

Delay typical into articipation. And final rejection become maybe later.

Delay turned into anticipation. And final rejection became maybe later.

Sabine whispered: "Boss... they've... rebranded us."

Rita nodded. "With marketing."

Klemm took a deep breath. "So this isn't a revolt," he said slowly. "This is a merger."

W-001 smiled. "Exactly. And in our new system, Bartholomäus Klemm, even you will be happy someday."

Klemm reached for his stamp. "Then you should know that luck is not valid without my seal."

And with a steady hand, he pressed the stamp onto the ground. A black symbol spread out – like a negation with gravity.

The light from W-001 flickered briefly. "What... was that?"

"My counter-proposal," Klemm said calmly. "The law of rejection. Officially confirmed."

And for a moment, even hope seemed to pause.

At first it was just a feeling. A vague, restless tingling behind the forehead. Something like joy, but without any real reason – so definitely suspicious.

Klemm ignored it. He wrote reports, he stamped things, he muttered "no" in different languages to try and stabilize his inner peace. But it was no use. The tingling remained.

Sabine noticed it first. "Boss... you're smiling."

"Nonsense," said Klemm. "That's just a muscle twitch."

"No, boss. That's clearly... satisfaction."

"Impossible. I'm a civil servant."

"That's precisely why it worries me," she said.

Rita came in with a cup of coffee, steaming like a friendly thought. "Boss, have a taste. Today it tastes of hope."

"After what?"

He drank – and was startled. It was… pleasant. Warm. Well-rounded. He had the feeling that the day might have meaning.

He coughed immediately. "That's dangerous. Sabine, test the coffee for emotional residue."

But the coffee was just the beginning. The whole office began to smile. Literally. The walls were brighter, the neon lights hummed in a major key, and somewhere elevator music was playing, although nobody knew where it was coming from.

Sabine typed frantically on her console. "Boss, we've got an infiltration! Positive energy, Class A type."

"Origin?"

"Ministry of Fulfillment. They have activated fields of happiness. Everything we reject is transformed into gratitude."

Rita held up a file. "Boss, even the complaints sound nice! 'We are disappointed, but full of confidence!"

Klemm turned pale. "This is the worst kind of revolution: a polite one."

Then W-001 reappeared, this time not as a projection, but as a luminous body of pure confidence. He wore a smile that could penetrate walls.

"Good day, Mr. Klemm," he said in a tone that would have brought tears to the eyes of any psychologist. "I hope you're already feeling it?"

"Yes," Klemm growled. "I sense the downfall."

"Oh no," said W-001, beaming. "That's optimism! It's spreading. Unstoppably. Even into you."

"At most, I feel unease."

"Discomfort is the first step towards acceptance."

Sabine whispered: "Boss, that's like cult rhetoric – but in pastel colors."

"I know," he muttered. "And I hate pastel colors."

The positive fields became stronger. Rita started humming nonsensically. Sabine suddenly wrote with hearts over the i.

Klemm looked around in horror. "Sabine, what are you doing?"

"I don't know," she said dreamily. "I just have a feeling that everything will be alright."

"That's a symptom!" he exclaimed. "Stop hoping immediately!"

"But boss," she said, "it feels so good!"

"That's exactly the trap!"

W-001 stepped closer. "You see, Bartholomew – you can't hold us back forever. Every no creates a maybe. Every maybe gives birth to a yes. And every yes... brings happiness."

Klemm backed away. "You don't know what you're doing! Happiness is dangerous! It makes you inattentive, reckless, and unproductive!"

"Exactly," said W-001, smiling even more broadly. "It's the end of administration as you know it."

Then it happened. A strange feeling of warmth rose within Klemm. Not anger. Not fear. Something else. A thought – bright, luminous, almost... friendly.

Perhaps he's not so wrong after all.

Klemm gasped. "Sabine! I... I almost thought something positive!"

"Boss, hang in there! I'll get the anti-euphoria clause!"

Rita placed a reassuring hand on his shoulder. "Boss, breathe. Let it happen. Just a little. Maybe hope isn't so bad after all."

He looked at her in horror. "Rita... She... shines."

And indeed: A fine golden glow covered her skin. Sabine saw it too – and began to glow as well.

The office shone. The "no" melted away. And somewhere deep inside, Klemm heard a voice whisper:

"Bartholomäus... you have refused for so long. Perhaps you simply wanted to accept something for once."

He staggered back. "No... no, that can't be! I am the guardian of the resistance!"

But at that moment, as the room became as bright as sunrise, Klemm smiled – just a tiny, frighteningly honest smile.

W-001 inclined his head. "Well, there you go," he said gently. "Welcome to the light of approval."

And everything in the office for rejection began, please say.

It was bright. Too bright. So bright that even the shadows looked cheerful. Klemm instinctively hated it.

The office was now a place of excitement. Files no longer piled up, they danced. Stamps jumped for joy onto documents. Sabine hummed arias out of nowhere. Rita was barefoot.

"Boss," she said smiling, "don't you feel it? Everything is easy. We are... free!"

"Freedom," Klemm growled, "is just chaos with marketing."

He groped for his desk, but even it vibrated to the rhythm of some heavenly melody. W-001 stood amidst the light, radiant like a divine human resources department.

"You see, Bartholomew," he said gently, "the no is outdated. The universe longs for consent. Even reality has submitted a smile."

Klemm took a deep breath. "And that," he said, "is the reason why I exist."

He walked slowly, almost solemnly, to his filing cabinet. Each step created small dark circles on the luminous floor — shadows that refused to be cheerful.

"W-001," Klemm said, "You have approved everything there is. But nobody has asked you what happens when everything is approved."

"Then anything is possible," said W-001.

"Wrong," said Klemm. "Then everything is meaningless."

He opened the bottom drawer. Inside lay a small, inconspicuous folder with the inscription:

Project N: Anti-Miracle

Sabine, half in the light, half in her mind, whispered: "Boss, that's... a myth."

"No," he said calmly. "It's a concept. The exact opposite of a wish: an event that refuses to happen."

He placed the folder on the table. "I never activated it," Klemm said, "because nobody was crazy enough to try and improve the world."

He opened the folder. Inside was only a blank form, pure white, without lines, without instructions. Only one field: Reason for the inaction.

W-001 stepped closer, curious. "What... is that supposed to be?"

"The end of enthusiasm," said Klemm. "The no that contradicts even the yes."

He took his old, black stamp—the final one—and raised it. The light flickered. Hope trembled.

"You can't do that!" cried W-001. "That will destroy everything!"

"No," said Klemm. "It brings everything back into balance."

He lowered the stamp. A dull thud. No sound, no flash — only a sudden, merciful silence.

The light went out. Not immediately — it faded slowly, like a smile politely bidding farewell.

Rita blinked. "Boss... what's going on?"

"The anti-miracle," Sabine said reverently. "It makes things stop happening."

W-001 reached for the blank form. His hands began to show through. "I... disappear?"

"No," said Klemm. "They will be forgotten."

"But... without me there is no hope!"

"Yes," Klemm said quietly. "It exists, but it will be rare again. And rare things are valuable."

The light collapsed in on itself. One last warm breath, then only dust – golden, polite dust.

The office was grey again. The walls flickered briefly, then settled into their usual pallor.

Sabine sat trembling at her desk. "Boss... you rejected the hope...?"

"Not rejected," he said. "Only regulated."

Rita looked at him, half sad, half relieved. "And what's left now?"

He sat down, took his stamp, tapped it lightly on the wood and said:

"The balance. A little light, a little shadow. Just enough to make you want to make an effort again."

Then he pulled over a fresh stack of files, with the reassuring rustle of normality, and murmured:

"Okay. Next application."

And somewhere out there, in the world that had grown silent, a new thought was quietly taking shape, very cautiously:

"I wish for... nothing."

And the universe, for the first time in eons, nodded in satisfaction.

32. The Metaphysical Stamp War

The world was silent. Not peacefully silent, but definitively silent – like a fax machine that had beeped for the last time and decided to find enlightenment.

Since the anti-miracle, everything had become a little... duller. Colors faded, sounds seemed to be on vacation, and even the sun seemed to be shining only on a trial basis.

Sabine stood at the window and stared at the grey sky. "Boss," she said, "I think the world has lost its saturation."

"Of course," Klemm replied, "after so much optimism, even reality needs a diet."

Rita typed on her keyboard. "Our files have also gone missing, boss."

"What?"

"The entries. They are empty. 'Request for feeling' – no explanation anymore. 'Request for meaning' – illegible. It's as if the universe has forgotten why it wanted things."

Klemm nodded slowly. "Then the anti-miracle works. Wonderful."

"I'm not sure if 'works' is the right word here," Sabine murmured.

The days passed – if one could still call them that. Clocks dutifully ticked on, but time seemed to have lost its enthusiasm. Even the pendulum in Klemm's office moved as if it needed convincing.

Then came the first report:

Reference: Spontaneous accumulations of meaninglessness in the space-time continuum Several districts are reporting the appearance of blank spaces – zones where no meaning exists. Witnesses report spontaneous indifference, accompanied by mild disinterest.

Sabine placed the report on Klemm's desk. "Boss... people are losing their drive."

"Finally, some efficiency," said Klemm.

"No, boss. I mean, really. You... stop doing things."

Rita came in, pale. "Boss, I was outside. There's a group of people on the street – they're sitting in a circle and... staring into space."

"And?"

"They call it meditation."

"That's normal."

"No, boss. They meditate on nothingness. They call themselves 'The Empty Ones'. And they worship you."

Klemm looked at her. "Me?"

"Yes. They say you freed them."

"Of what?"

"Everything."

He rubbed his temples. "Of course. You barely create an anti-miracle, and suddenly you become religious."

Sabine grinned. "Congratulations, boss. You are now a prophet of disinterest."

"I hate everything about that sentence," he muttered.

Rita nodded gravely. "They wear robes of grey fabric and sing songs about the meaning of meaninglessness. They even have a symbol."

"Let me guess," Klemm said dryly. "A circle?"

"No," said Sabine. "An empty stamp impression."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Of course."

The first leaflets appeared the next day. They read:

NOTHING IS EVERYTHING.

Only through rejection can we recognize the true meaning of being. Pay homage to Bartholomew, the first of the indifferent.

Rita placed one on his desk. "Boss, this is going viral. People are spreading it like a meme."

"What is a meme?"

"A thought with a life of its own."

"Another one. As if I haven't had enough already."

Sabine sighed. "Boss, this is serious. The Ministry of Fulfillment may be destroyed, but this movement... is growing. And it doesn't want miracles, no wishes – nothing. It wants you."

Klemm stood up. "Then we must act."

"How?" asked Rita.

"By rejecting nothingness before it approves itself."

Sabine leafed through the rulebook. "Uh, boss – according to regulation 0-R, that's impossible."

"Why?"

"Because nothing is, by definition, nothing. You can't reject it, because otherwise you'll make something out of it."

Klemm stopped. "So this is where it begins," he said slowly, "the metaphysical stamp war."

He opened the cabinet containing the stamps. Dozens lay there, carefully arranged according to intensity: "No", "Rejected", "Inadmissible", "Never again", and at the very bottom – the ancient, cracked, black stamp without any inscription.

"Boss," whispered Sabine, "You don't really mean—"

"Yes," he said. "If nothingness worships me, I must show it that I am its god."

He took the stamp, turned it in his hand, and muttered:

"Time to work on the absolute."

And while outside the void began their chants, a rift opened in the cosmos—not large, but deep. And from it rose something that even nothingness had forgotten:

The need to say no.

The world had ceased to be colorful. Not even metaphorically – colors were simply no longer available. Sabine reported that even the files were printing in grayscale, although the copier was explicitly set to "Color (Standard)."

"Boss," she said, "I think reality is skimping on toner."

"Then we are on the right track," Klemm replied, but he did not sound convinced.

Outside, in front of the office, the Empty Ones gathered. They sat silently in circles, wore grey robes with neutral symbols, and held banners that were blank.

Rita stared out. "Boss, there are hundreds of them."

"I can see them," said Klemm. "And I can't hear them – that's the worst part."

The crowd didn't move. They simply sat there. Silent. Convinced. The silence was so loud that it began to scratch at the very substance of existence.

Sabine came in with a report. "Boss, the situation is spreading. Entire cities are now silent. No traffic, no arguments, no advertising. Even the internet is empty."

"Empty?" asked Rita. "What do you mean, empty?"

"No posts, no emails, no cat videos. Just blank pages."

Klemm nodded. "This is the ultimate peace – and therefore the end of everything."

He went to a large plan on the wall. It read:

Project 7-B: Weapon of Contradiction.

Sabine raised her eyebrows. "This is just a draft."

"No more," said Klemm. "It's our last hope."

"It's ironic," said Rita, "that hope now lies in the armory."

They went down to the archive department, which had long since become more of a laboratory than an office. Between shelves full of files stood a massive machine – half typewriter, half organ, half metaphysical compromise.

Rita stepped closer. "Boss, that looks like a printer from hell."

"It is," said Klemm. "He prints sense. But only if you agree to everything beforehand."

Sabine leafed through the instruction manual. "Weapon of Contradiction, Version 0.9. Function: Generates semantic energy by negating all fields of meaning. Note: Do not operate near philosophers."

"How does it work?" asked Rita.

"It's quite simple," Klemm explained. "You give it an idea – and it prints the opposite truth."

"And why?"

"Because meaning only arises in contrast," he said. "If everything is nothing, we must create the opposite of it—something that refuses to be meaningless."

Outside it grew darker. Not night – more of a muted grey that transformed every ray of sunshine into office lighting.

A gray preacher stepped before the crowd. He raised an empty hand.

"Brothers and sisters of meaninglessness," he cried, "today we thank Bartholomew, who showed us that nothing is to be believed!"

"Nothing! Nothing!" they shouted in unison.

Sabine stared at the screen where the levels of the existence indicator were decreasing. "Boss, the world order is collapsing. If this continues, first motivation will disappear, then causality, and then – the obligation to pay taxes."

Klemm turned around. "We can't allow this!"

He pulled a lever. The machine awoke.

She roared, groaned, and pressed – and from her flowed a stream of words that contradicted each other until they made sense.

"Light is darkness that dares to be visible." "Order is chaos that has filled out a form." "Meaning is the no that has said yes."

Sabine stared at the output. "Boss, those are aphorisms!"

"Exactly," said Klemm. "Every good revolution begins with confusing quotes."

Rita smiled weakly. "Boss, that sounds... poetic."

"I know," he said darkly. "I hate it too."

The machine continued working. With each print, a spark of color returned - a faint blue, a tired green, a red that didn't yet know if it was worth it.

Klemm stepped to the window. The empty figures looked up. For the first time, they seemed... irritated.

Sabine grinned. "Boss, it works! You're starting to have doubts!"

"Good," said Klemm. "Doubt is the beginning of all knowledge – and the end of every religion."

He pressed the button for continuous operation. "Let's print sense until they get dizzy."

And while outside the believers of nothingness were discussing it for the first time, the weapon of dissent wrote its first official manifesto:

Article 1:

No no, no yes. No nonsense, no progress.

And somewhere in the grey twilight, reality smiled – tired, but relieved.

It began with a soft click. Then nothing. No hum of the machine, no buzz of the lamps, not even the typical rustling of Sabine's stack of papers. Nothingness had struck back – and this time not with conviction, but with perfect, cosmic indifference.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "I can't hear... anything."

"Then you heard correctly," Klemm said gloomily. "That's their next step. They've eliminated communication."

Sabine frantically tapped on the console, but the screen remained black. "Boss, no signals, no data. Even the machine isn't printing anymore. It's... logged off."

"Unsubscribed?"

"She typed 'No comment' and switched herself off."

Klemm closed his eyes. "Then we are at war with silence."

Outside it was even quieter. The Empty Ones had stopped speaking – not out of fear or awe, but because they had collectively decided that words were overrated anyway.

Instead, they sat in a circle, their hands in their laps, and gazed into nothingness, as if they could hypnotize it.

Rita watched them through the window. "Boss, this is creepy. They're doing... nothing."

"Yes," said Klemm. "And they do it with conviction."

"What should we do?"

"Normally: refuse. But in this case..."

He thought for a moment. "Sabine, call the universe."

Sabine looked at him as if he'd told her to fax God. "Boss... the universe?"

"Yes. The highest authority. The source. Someone must still be keeping records."

The old communication device for metaphysical emergencies stood in a corner, dusty and neglected. A device, half radio, half typewriter, labeled: Cosmic Hotline – Use only in extreme cases.

Rita blew off the dust. "Boss, do you think this will still work?"

"If not," said Klemm, "we're done for the day anyway – for good."

He turned the dial to reality level 1 and spoke into it: "This is Bartholomäus Klemm, Department of Rejection, Planetary Subunit Sol-3. We have an emergency."

A moment passed. Then a sound. A humming that sounded more like someone stirring tea in another dimension.

A voice answered, tired, overworked, with a slight rustling of paper in the background.

"Cosmic Administration, good day. You are speaking with the Universe. Please have your reference number ready."

Sabine stared at Klemm. "Boss... the universe sounds like you."

"I know," he murmured. "That explains a lot."

"Yes," Klemm said into the device. "It's about nothing. It's spreading."

"Nothingness," the voice repeated. "Wait, let me see..." The sound of flipping through galaxies could be heard. "Ah, yes. Ticket 000-∞. Open for eons. What exactly is the problem?"

"It has organized itself. People worship it. The world becomes... silent."

"Still?"

"Too quiet. Even the coffee machine has quit."

A soft sigh. "Yes, that sometimes happens. When the balance tips too far in one direction. You recently performed an anti-miracle, didn't you?"

"Correctly."

"Well," said the universe, "then you yourself triggered the counterweight. Nothingness is simply filling the gap you created."

Rita whispered: "Boss, that sounds like we're... to blame."

"I am a civil servant," Klemm said. "Guilt is not a recognized concept."

"Listen," the universe continued, "I can't just delete this. There are regulations. But I can grant you temporary authority."

"Which?"

"Negotiation with the metaphysical core."

Sabine frowned. "Boss, that sounds like a very expensive application."

"It is," said Klemm. "But we have no choice."

The voice of the universe grew quieter. "I'm sending you the access code. It only works once. And... Bartholomew?"

"Yes?"

"If you encounter nothingness, don't talk to it for too long. It wins every conversation."

Then silence. This time not a threatening one, but one that sounded like anticipation.

Rita placed her hand on his arm. "Boss... you really want to negotiate with nothing?"

"Someone has to," said Klemm. "And knowing the situation, nothingness has probably already prepared a form."

And while outside the Voids gathered to celebrate the silence, inside the Office of Rejection, a man prepared to speak to the Void itself -

and to teach her what it means to

to be rejected.

The access code to the universe was simple: 000000-NIX. Sabine carefully typed it in, and with a soft pop, a portal opened in the middle of the office.

No luminous swirl, no dramatic pull - a simple, black rectangle, so unspectacular that it was precisely this that made it unsettling.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "this is... disappointing."

"That's nothing," said Klemm. "Disappointment is his trademark."

He stepped through. A moment later he was gone.

Sabine and Rita remained behind as the portal closed like a door, politely but firmly indicating that a meeting was now in progress.

Bartholomew found himself in a room that was simultaneously everywhere and nowhere. No walls, no ceiling, no floor – only the impression of something trying hard to be imperceptible.

ceiling, no floor – only the impression of something trying hard to be imperceptible. A voice rose. Not a sound – rather the absence of one. "You're late." "I was stuck in traffic," said Klemm. "There's no traffic jam here." "Then it's a metaphysical delay." Nothingness remained silent, which was probably its way of frowning. Slowly, a form materialized – something between shadow and absence, with the presence of a missing answer. "You are the one who created me." "I am the one who wanted to keep order." "And the result was me." "That was not my intention." "Intentions are illusions. You are trying to create meaning where none belongs." "Oh, please," said Klemm. "Without meaning, there would be no forms." "Exactly." The silence that followed was so heavy that it settled on one's thoughts like concrete. "Listen," Klemm began. "I'm not here to discuss. I'm here to negotiate." "Negotiation requires reciprocity." "Then call it a compromise." "I don't compromise. I am what remains when everything else ceases to matter." "So you are... peace." "I am more. I am the truth behind every lie, the silence after every word, the meaning behind meaninglessness." Klemm raised an eyebrow. "You sound like a philosopher with burnout." "I am the burnout of being."

"That explains a lot."

"You are fighting against me, but everything you do leads to me. Every 'no' you say is a declaration of faith in me."

Klemm remained silent. He hated it when his opponent won rhetorically.

"All right," he finally said. "If I am already your mouthpiece, why are you destroying what's left?"

"I am not destroying anything. I am liberating. You are the one clinging to things that have long since ceased to matter."

"That's called responsibility."

"That's called fear."

"From what?"

"Before emptiness. Before yourself."

Klemm took a deep breath. He felt the darkness around him grow thicker, his thoughts heavier, as if every word had to wade through indifference.

"Give up, Bartholomew. You're tired. Sit back. I'll do the thinking for you."

"Supervisors have already tried that," said Klemm.

A hint of movement – almost like a smile – passed through the nothingness.

"You are defiant."

"Occupational disease."

"And yet you are part of me. Without rejection, there is no contradiction. Without contradiction, there is no meaning. Without meaning – only me."

Klemm thought for a moment. Then he said: "Maybe we need each other."

"I don't need anything."

"Yes," Klemm said calmly. "Otherwise you wouldn't be talking to me."

For a moment, something unbelievable happened: Nothingness hesitated.

The silence cracked, like glass that feels the first hairline fracture.

"You are... exhausting."

"That's my job."

"What do you want?"

"Balance," Klemm said. "You may stay – but not alone. You need a counterpart."

"And that would be?"

"Meaning. Order. A little... bureaucracy."

"Bureaucracy is the most insidious form of existence."

"That's exactly why it works."

A long moment. Then:

"You want to register me?"

"Do not register. Only assign a file number."

"And what if I refuse?"

"Then I'll write you down anyway."

A soft, vibrating laugh.

"You are the first to try to manage nothing."

"Someone has to do it," said Klemm. "Otherwise, the Ministry of Fulfillment will take over."

Nothingness was silent – and this time the silence was not threatening, but contemplative.

"Perhaps," it finally said, "I can live with a reference number."

"Then we are in agreement."

"You will be given... a deadline."

"How long?"

"Just a moment. But it lasts forever."

And with a barely audible pop, Klemm fell back into his office, with a piece of emptiness in his pocket and the first official document of nothingness in his hand:

File number: 0-R.

Status: Under observation.

Bartholomäus Klemm landed roughly on his desk. A cup fell over, the stamp jumped up, and Sabine screamed as the portal behind him quietly closed like a file folder shut because the contents were too complicated.

Rita rushed to him. "Boss! Are you alright?"

"I am alive," said Klemm. "And I have brought something with me."

He opened his hand. Inside lay a tiny, shimmering piece of paper – translucent like a memory – and on it, in fine writing, was written:

0-R – The Nothing (provisionally registered)

Sabine stared at him. "Boss... you've officially registered the nothing?"

"Yes," Klemm said calmly. "Now it belongs to us."

Rita looked doubtful. "Boss, that sounds like a bad idea on letterhead."

"Those are the best ideas," Klemm murmured.

They began to document the process. Sabine opened a new file, carefully labeled it "0-R – Ongoing Observation," and typed: 'The Nothing has been assigned a file number. Behavior: calm, cooperative, latently existentially critical.'

Rita added: 'Potential threat to structure and motivation. Recommended measure: ongoing office supervision.'

"Boss," she asked, "where should we put this?"

"In the top drawer," Klemm said. "Right below 'Cosmic Paradoxes' and above 'Inevitable Catastrophes'."

Sabine smiled with relief. "So, back to normal."

But when she opened the drawer, she was met with blackness.

No files. No drawer. Just a silent, floating nothingness that looked as if someone had erased the concept of storage.

"Boss," she whispered, "the nothingness... is already here."

Within minutes it spread. First the stamp impressions disappeared – documents became blank, signatures dissolved into dust.

Then entire files disappeared. First the unimportant ones – vacation requests, coffee orders, then the central ones: forms for maintaining reality, continuity of existence, time planning.

Rita ran from desk to desk. "Boss, we're losing everything! The filing system is devouring itself!"

"Calm down," Klemm said, although his voice also sounded a little... thinner. "This is just resistance. Nothingness is trying to evade its responsibility."

Sabine held up a semi-transparent sheet of paper. "Boss, the 'Me' file is disappearing!"

"Then rewrite 'I'!"

"With what?"

"With conviction!"

He reached for his old stamp, the black, final one. But this time he didn't put it on a document. He lifted it up and pressed it – into the air.

A dull CLACK echoed through the room, and for a moment everything vibrated.

"Boss, what are you doing?" Rita shouted.

"I'll stamp the nothingness myself," he said. "If it's going to devour files, then at least it should know it's being checked!"

The stamp impression appeared in the air - a circle of shadows, in the center of which was written:

REJECTED – LACK OF TRANSPARENCY

Nothingness withdrew, trembling, bubbling, like a thought that realizes it has been fully thought through.

Sabine stared at the fading blackness. "Boss... that worked!"

"Of course," said Klemm. "Even nothingness fears paperwork."

But then came the counterattack. The walls began to disappear. Not to crumble – simply to cease to exist. Even the light lost the courage to continue shining.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "it's going to wipe out the world."

"No," said Klemm. "It only deletes what is no longer needed."

"And what's left?" asked Sabine.

He looked at her. "That which we hold onto."

He reached into his jacket, pulled out the document – the original, the first to officially name nothingness – and placed it on the table.

"As long as this exists," he said, "everything else will exist too."

Sabine nodded, Rita placed her hand on it, and together they said:

"Case number 0-R – under observation."

A soft crackling sound. A breath. Then the light returned.

The walls were standing again. The files were neatly stacked. Only the desk vibrated slightly, as if it had briefly negotiated with nothingness.

Sabine sank into her chair. "Boss... did we win?"

"No," said Klemm. "We have a ceasefire."

"And what does that mean?"

"That from now on we will have to regularly send reports to nothing."

"And what if we forget?"

"Then it reminds us."

He took the stamp, put it aside, and wrote with a steady hand:

'Nothingness has been successfully integrated into the administrative process. Further observation is required.'

Then he sighed, leaned back, and said with the satisfaction of a man who has successfully integrated emptiness into bureaucracy:

"Okay. Next application."

And somewhere, deep in the cosmos, nothingness audibly breathed a sigh of relief – and submitted its first vacation request.

33. Form 0-R: Application for unconditional indifference

It was Monday, which in the Rejection Department was already considered a metaphysical test. But this time the day began unusually quietly – no rustling, no ringing, not even Sabine's usual "Good morning, boss".

Bartholomäus Klemm entered the office, opened his drawer – and found a single sheet of paper inside.

No letterhead, no ink, just a flawless, snow-white surface that somehow smelled of a decision.

Among them is a small field with gold lettering:

Form 0-R: Application for unconditional indifference

Issued by: The Nothing (registered, reference number valid)

Klemm stared at it. Then he took a deep breath. "Sabine!"

Sabine appeared in the doorway, coffee cup in hand, slightly trembling. "Boss, I saw it before you said it. It was simply... there."

Rita followed. "Boss, the form arrived without an entry stamp. It just appeared – like an idea in a bad poem."

"And nobody applied for it?" Klemm asked.

"Yes," Sabine said quietly. "Nothingness."

They placed the form on the table. It was – how should one say it – unapproachable. One could look at it, but one's gaze slipped away, as if from something that had decided not to be perceived.

"Boss," whispered Rita, "what does Nothing want this time?"

Klemm read aloud:

'I request a state of unconditional indifference towards everything that is, was, or could be. Reason: Tiredness.'

Sabine groaned. "Tiredness? That's the bureaucratic anteroom to the apocalypse."

"Not necessarily," said Klemm. "Sometimes fatigue is just a temporary phase between 'I can't go on' and 'I'll keep going anyway'."

"Boss," said Rita, "when nothingness becomes indifferent...what is left?"

"Administration," said Klemm. "Always administration."

He put on his reading glasses, turned the page of the document – and paused.

"Sabine, do you see this?"

"What?"

"It states: 'Processing by the responsible authority is mandatory. Rejection or approval leads to the same result."

Rita frowned. "That's a paradox."

"No," said Klemm. "This is a form from someone who knows too much about me."

Sabine carefully picked up a pen. "Boss, if we fill it out, we approve it. If we reject it, we confirm it. What should we do?"

"Nothing at all," said Klemm. "That would be the most logical thing to do."

But at that exact moment, a new line appeared on the form, as if added by an invisible hand:

'Inaction is considered consent.'

Rita whispered: "Boss, it's reading along."

The air in the office began to shimmer. Files fluttered.

The coffee spontaneously lost its flavor, and the clock started ticking backward.

"Boss," said Sabine, "the form has a metaphysical influence! It draws energy from attention!"

Klemm clenched his fist. "Of course. Indifference feeds on importance. The more you try to understand it, the stronger it becomes."

"What do we do then?" asked Rita.

"We are doing what any proper office does," said Klemm. "We are treating it like any other file: with excessive bureaucracy."

He sat down, took out a new form and began to write:

Counter-procedure: Application for temporary suspension of proceedings (Form V-Zero)

Reason: the applicant's metaphysical state of suspension.

Sabine grinned weakly. "Boss, you're opening a case against nothing?"

"Not against it," said Klemm. "Alongside it."

Rita looked skeptical. "Boss, the universe can't like this."

"The universe should be glad I'm not filing a complaint with the supervisory authority."

But as soon as he placed the stamp on the paper, the atmosphere in the room changed. The light became paler. The sounds were muffled, as if heard through cotton wool.

Sabine whispered: "Boss... I don't feel anything."

"Welcome to the application process," said Klemm.

Form 0-R shimmered briefly, as if registering the counter-process – and then began to double.

Two copies. Then four. Then infinitely many.

"Boss!" shouted Rita. "It's multiplying!"

"Of course," Klemm said calmly. "Indifference is contagious. Every entity that deals with it will become like it."

He raised his head. "Sabine – lock the printers! Rita – disable all approval processes! We have a bureaucracy pandemic!"

The air vibrated. Thousands of white sheets floated up, silent, flawless, unstoppable. And on each one was the same sentence:

'I don't matter.'

Klemm sighed, reached for his stamp, and said softly:

"Then we must show them that even indifference is not safe from regulations."

He took a deep breath – and cast the first "no" into a flood of nothingness.

It started innocently enough, like any good disaster. First, the coffee in the break room became watery. Then the cafeteria staff stopped seasoning it. And at some point, Sabine realized that nobody talked about the weather anymore—not because it was good or bad, but simply because nobody cared.

"Boss," she said, "I think the form has reached the canteen."

Bartholomäus Klemm looked up from his desk. "Then we must react immediately. Without taste, panic threatens."

"I don't think panic works anymore," said Rita, "people seem... professionally resigned."

Sabine nodded. "Even Mr. Fuchs from accounting smiled this morning. Well, inwardly, I think. It was barely measurable."

Klemm frowned. This was dangerous. If even accountants were showing equanimity, the world was on the verge of total emotional collapse.

The files piled up. Not because anyone was working – but because no one had the motivation to deal with them anymore. All departments reported "ongoing proceedings," which in practice meant that nothing was

happening. The city administration had declared breathing optional, and it was announced on the radio that morning motivation was now voluntary, but tax-deductible.

"Boss," said Rita, "this is bigger than we thought. The form is spreading through administrative networks. Every agency that receives a document with 0-R in the subject line falls into a state of metaphysical indifference."

"So, just like any tax office?" Klemm asked.

Sabine gave him a warning look. "Boss, this time it's serious."

"Good," he said, "then we need a special unit."

Rita blinked. "An... emotional task force?"

"Exactly. If nothingness paralyzes hearts, we must get them moving again."

Within two hours, a temporary task force was ready. Sabine had hung a sign in the kitchenette:

"Department E – Emotions, Outrage & Energy Supply."

Rita brought colorful pencils, scented candles, and a Bluetooth speaker. "Boss," she explained, "scientific studies prove that music evokes emotions."

"That may be," said Klemm, "but in our office, music requires a permit."

"Then we'll just apply for them," said Sabine. She typed busily on her keyboard:

Application A-Feel:Reactivation of the emotional spectrum.

Reason: General apathy jeopardizes productivity.

The system responded automatically:

"Your request has been received. Estimated processing time: Indefinite."

Rita sighed. "The form even infects the software."

"Then we will have to proceed manually," said Klemm.

He stood up, pulled out his old leather briefcase – the one stamped with "Before the computer there was paper" – and said: "We're starting fieldwork."

They set off. First to the personnel department. There sat dozens of officials, all silent, all with exactly the same facial expression – a mixture of tiredness and perfect acceptance of fate.

"Good day," said Klemm. No reaction.

"We are conducting a routine check of emotional state."

An official lazily raised his gaze. "I don't care."

"Aha," said Klemm. "Serious case."

Sabine pulled out a clipboard. "Question one: When you think about the future, do you feel...?"

"Fewer."

"Question two: What motivates you to get up in the morning?"

"Gravity."

Sabine marked "critical" with a cross. Rita carefully lit a scented candle.

The official blinked. "Does it smell... like vanilla?"

"Yes!" Rita exclaimed hopefully. "You can still smell something!"

The man shrugged. "It was probably a reflex."

"Damn it," Klemm muttered. "He's already half lost."

They discovered the source on the third floor. Form O-R had multiplied.

It was in every mailbox and seemed to be growing rapidly.

Sabine ventured closer. "Boss, I think it's breathing."

Rita leafed through the pages carefully. "No, it's just boring."

Indeed: The pages lay motionless, but the air vibrated with a noticeable... neutrality.

Klemm took his stamp in his hand, the one engraved with "Postponed - due to lack of emotion", and said:

"Listen to me, you dead files! You can take away our passion, but not the paperwork!"

He stamped the top form.

A soft ping.

Sabine stared at the result: The imprint glowed slightly, and suddenly somewhere in the distance one could hear...laughter.

"Boss!" shouted Rita. "Someone laughed!"

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Very good. This is the beginning of chaos. And chaos means that life returns."

But the joy didn't last long. A new voice came from the hallway – deep, monotonous, dangerously calm.

An official entered, dressed entirely in grey, with empty eyes and a briefcase that read:

Chief Inspector Zero – Representative of Nothingness

He opened the suitcase. Inside was an endless roll of forms.

"On behalf of Nothing," he said, "I present to you the complete edition 0-R – Final Version." Please sign. Or don't. Both are identical.

Sabine whispered: "Boss... this is the end, isn't it?"

Klemm shook his head. "No. This is the beginning of an administrative battle that even the universe cannot understand."

He took a deep breath, reached for his stamp "Objection – with justification to follow" and said:

"Then we'll be stamping our IDs for our lives."

And with a loud CLACK! the real war against indifference began.

Chief Inspector Zero stepped closer. His grey coat shimmered with a kind of dull absence, as if someone had forgotten to color it. Behind him, a wave of emotionless silence crept into the room – no coldness, no darkness, just the feeling that everything was indifferent, including the fact that everything was indifferent.

"I came to conclude the process," he said tonelessly. "The Nothing has decided to make no further decisions. Your work is now obsolete."

"She always has been," Klemm replied. "But that's tradition."

Chief Inspector Zero tilted his head slightly. "Your irony is ineffective."

"That's my motto in life."

Sabine stood next to Klemm, a folder of forms in her hand, ready in case words were no longer enough. Rita had barricaded herself behind a filing cabinet and held a burning scented candle like a spiritual weapon.

"Listen, Mr. Null," Klemm began calmly, "I respect your position, but you are entering the territory of the Rejection Department."

"Rejection is a precursor to indifference," said Null. "You are my unconscious apprentice."

"Then maybe I should start fighting back," Klemm said.

He reached for a form -

Objection to metaphysical proposals of an unknown nature.

A classic. Then he stamped it emphatically.

The imprint glowed. A shimmer of color ran across the grey walls.

Chief Inspector Zero blinked. A sign of irritation – in his case, probably a kind of emotional outburst.

"That is... not intended," he said.

"That's exactly why it works," Klemm replied.

The air crackled with tension. Every form on the desks fluttered as if it were breathing. Sabine reached for her clipboard. "Boss, the form network is reacting! We're overloading the indifference algorithm!"

"Very good," said Klemm. "Even more paper!"

"But boss – if we create too many contradictions, the system could collapse!"

"That's the plan."

Rita showed up with a car full of files. "Here, boss! Outdated applications, rejected petitions, and a folder labeled 'Unprocessed since the Big Bang'!"

"Perfect," said Klemm. He reached into the stack and began to stamp.

Permission denied.
Unclear situation.
Lack of motivation.
Processing is unacceptable.

With each beat, the grey aura of the room flickered less intensely.

Chief Inspector Null resigned. "You don't understand what you're doing."

The more you contradict me, the more you nourish me. I am the echo of your negation.

"Maybe so," said Klemm, "but even echoes have to be archived at some point."

He pulled out the emergency form - an old, yellowed piece of paper he had carried with him since his apprenticeship. At the top, in capital letters, it said:

Request for final system overload

Use only in cases of cosmic paradoxes.

Sabine's eyes widened. "Boss, that thing is ancient! It's been banned since... well, since the last Big Bang!"

"Then it's time for a new edition."

He placed it on the table, took the stamp "URGENT – BEFORE THE END OF THE WORLD" and struck.

The form glowed. A blinding light filled the office. Every file, every document, every note began to create copies of itself.

Within seconds, the cabinets were overflowing. Paper swirled through the air, an avalanche of applications, appeals, and memos.

"Boss," Rita shouted, "we're creating too much bureaucracy! Reality can't keep up!"

"Exactly right," Klemm called back. "We'll finish nothing with work!"

Chief Inspector Zero was now standing knee-deep in paper. He tried to stop the flood, raised his hand – and immediately dozens of copies of himself appeared around him.

"Boss!" Sabine shouted. "He's splitting himself!"

"Then stamp each one!"

That was the moment when Department E made history. Three officials, armed with stamps and clipboards, plunged into a raging flood of forms and began to smother the enemy with bureaucracy.

Every "no" was a thunderclap. Every "postponed" a lightning bolt. And in the middle of the chaos stood Bartholomäus Klemm, his eyes shining, his tie askew, his stamp burning hot.

"You can't defeat us, Zero!" he shouted. "Because even if we give up – we have to do it in writing!"

One last blow, one final stamp, and the light went out.

Silence. Paper trickled to the floor. The room smelled of printer's ink and metaphysical victory.

Sabine coughed. "Boss... did we win?"

Klemm looked around. There was no sign of Chief Inspector Zero. Only a single sheet of paper lay on the floor.

He picked it up. It read:

'Procedure concluded. Application 0-R: temporarily moot.'

He breathed a sigh of relief. "Yes," he said. "We've won. Until the next application comes in."

Rita smiled weakly. "Boss, you know that Nothing will send us a form for that."

"Of course," said Klemm. "But this time we require a copy."

And so the metaphysical stamp war ended – not with a bang, but with a correctly filled-out form in triplicate.

Three days after the so-called stamp war, the rejection department was more or less accessible again. Scraps of forms and torn file folders were scattered everywhere, and the imprint of a gigantic stamp, apparently created out of sheer determination, was visible on the floor.

Sabine sorted scraps of paper with a mixture of pride and trauma. Rita tried to convince the printer that it didn't need to go into burnout mode.

And Bartholomäus Klemm? He sat at his desk, his head propped up in his hand, and wrote a report to the universe.

Reference:Follow-up report on incident 0-R

From: Bartholomäus Klemm, Rejection Department

To:Cosmic Administration, Central Office for Ontological States

Summary:

Indifference sought universal validity. The application was neutralized by excessive bureaucracy. The situation is stable, but latent apathy remains within the system. Recommendation: regular monitoring by the responsible departments.

Attachment: Form 0-R (refuted), stamp protocol, scented candle invoice.

Sabine read over his shoulder. "Boss, that sounds almost... optimistic."

"That's the least one can demand after a metaphysical civil war," said Klemm.

"But... do you believe the universe is satisfied?"

"The universe is never satisfied," said Klemm. "It always demands more paper."

Rita came in with an envelope. "Boss, just arrived. Answer from the universe."

Klemm took the envelope, opened it with the routine of a man who has learned that every good news story has a footnote, and read aloud:

From: Cosmic Administration, Level 1

To:Bartholomäus Klemm

Thank you for your prompt reporting.

Their approach was... unorthodox, but successful.

However, we would like to point out that you have violated several paragraphs of the reality order:

§42b – Excessive Meaning Production §108c – Unauthorized Multiplication of Existence §∞ – Official Behavior Beyond Probability

Please fill out the enclosed form "Self-reporting of metaphysical rule violations".

Best regards,

The universe (signed by infinity itself)

Sabine grinned. "Well, boss? Disciplinary proceedings?"

"Probably," Klemm said dryly. "But at least I exist again sufficiently to get one."

Rita leafed through the files. "Boss, we have another problem."

"What now?"

"Indifference has left its mark. Some departments... are too quiet. Citizens no longer send complaints. The hotlines are silent. Even the coffee kitchen... no longer engages in discussion."

Sabine nodded. "I noticed. Nobody is arguing about the tea bag brand."

Klemm frowned. "That's unnatural. An authority without internal friction is not an authority, but a cosmic risk."

He stood up, went to the window and looked down at the city.

People went about their business quietly. No horns, no shouts, no hurry. Just a steady, peaceful flow.

"Boss?" Sabine asked cautiously.

"I think," Klemm said quietly, "we have worked too well."

In the afternoon, the next delivery arrived from headquarters: a stack of new forms, pristine white, flawless, with the following printed on top:

Form 0-R - Revision version.

Purpose: Regular monitoring of indifference (quarterly).

Rita stared at her. "Boss... it's coming back."

"Of course," Klemm said calmly. "Everything that has been approved once needs an extension."

Sabine sighed. "So now we have to check nothing every quarter?"

"That's right," said Klemm. "That's what you call sustainability."

He sat down, took his stamp, and carefully placed the first impression on the new form.

Receipt confirmed. Processing in progress.

"Boss," Rita asked, "will we ever get rid of this?"

He smiled wearily. "Probably not. But at least we now have a firm date for it."

And somewhere, in the endless darkness between the stars, nothingness sighed – not out of despair, but out of bureaucratic routine.

It was almost closing time, and there was a quiet in the office that no longer sounded like standstill, but like that tired satisfaction one only feels when one has accomplished the impossible and knows that it will return tomorrow anyway.

Sabine archived the last report. Rita washed three cups that had inexplicably accumulated existential dust.

Klemm sat by the window, his feet on the stack of files entitled "Cosmic Special Cases", and looked up at the sky where the stars were shining again – not brighter, but more consciously.

"Boss?" Sabine asked quietly. "Did we do it?"

He thought for a moment. "It depends on what you mean by accomplished."

"Well... nothingness is asleep again. People are feeling. The files are breathing. Even the coffee machine is making noises again."

"Yes," said Klemm, "but indifference never disappears. It merely withdraws, goes to sleep, and waits for the next request."

Rita sat down opposite him. "That sounds depressing."

"On the contrary," he said. "It means that there is a cycle. Meaning and emptiness, order and chaos, will and fatigue – everything oscillates between them. That is... management on a cosmic level."

Sabine grinned. "You mean the universe has a filing system?"

"Of course," said Klemm. "It's just that there's no one who truly understands him."

He stood up, went to his desk, and picked up the last remaining form. It read, in delicate lettering:

The Law of Rejection - Draft

He leafed through it. It was blank. Only on the first page was there a sentence that no one could have written:

"Everything that is rejected thereby becomes valid."

He stared at it. Then he nodded slowly. "Of course," he murmured. "That's why it all works. Rejection isn't a negation—it's a framework. It gives form to emptiness."

Rita came closer. "Boss... what does that mean?"

"That we are all part of it," Klemm said. "The universe consists of rejection. It holds itself together by contradicting everything that would be too easy."

Sabine frowned. "That sounds almost spiritual."

"I hope not," he said. "Spiritual matters always require proof, and we don't have forms for that."

The clock was ticking. The day was drawing to a close. Sabine closed the files. Rita turned off the scented candle.

Only Klemm remained at the window, and somewhere between galaxies he heard the nothingness chuckle softly - a sound that resembled rustling paper.

He smiled back. "It's alright," he whispered. "I know you'll come back. We have your file."

Then he took his stamp, the old, worn one, with the engraving that had always said everything that needed to be said.

He pressed it onto the last page of the document, and the imprint glowed briefly with golden light:

REVIEWED AND REJECTED - FINAL.

Sabine looked in. "Boss, should we turn off the lights?"

"No," he said. "Leave it on. If the Nothing comes by again, it should see that someone is there."

He leaned back, listened to the soft hum of the neon lights, and smiled wearily.

For somewhere, deep inside, Bartholomäus Klemm knew that the law of rejection not only applied – it was alive.

And as long as someone said no, the universe continued to run.

34. The law of rejection will be officially enacted.

There was excitement in the universe – which, admittedly, was a rare state, because normally everything there proceeded in a mixture of cosmic routine and divine disinterest.

But today was a special day: The Law of Rejection was to be officially promulgated.

In the headquarters of the Cosmic Administration for Reality Preservation, a conference room had been prepared, so neutral that it almost didn't exist. Chairs stood in perfect symmetry, an endlessly long table gleamed like polished probability, and at the head of it sat – much to his discomfort – Bartholomäus Klemm.

"Boss," whispered Sabine, "this is... unbelievable. The universe itself wants to honor you!"

"I knew this would go wrong eventually," Klemm muttered. "I'm a civil servant, Sabine, not a saint."

Rita grinned. "Well, the only difference between a saint and a civil servant is..." that one of them performs miracles, and the other confirms them in writing."

Klemm gave her a look that could officially be considered a "verbally restrained rebuke".

The representatives of the universe appeared as light projections – floating silhouettes of pure formalism. Their voices sounded like whispers in a hallway that hadn't been cleaned for eons.

"Bartholomäus Klemm, Department of Rejection, you have ensured the continued existence of reality through administrative measures. Nothingness has been regulated, indifference codified, and meaning officially put into circulation."

Klemm coughed. "I was just filling out forms."

"Exactly. That's what distinguishes you from most gods."

Sabine grinned broadly, Rita clapped softly, and Klemm sighed because there was no request for 'Please, no recognition'.

The projections continued:

"According to §1 of the new law: 'Everything that is rejected thereby gains the power to exist. Only through resistance does creation remain stable."

"I knew it," Klemm murmured. "The universe is a form for contradiction."

"Bartholomäus Klemm," the voice continued, "is hereby appointed Honorary Inspector of the Ontological Administration."

Rita whispered: "Boss, this is the highest award in the known multiverse!"

"Then she is certainly poorly paid," said Klemm.

"They also receive the authority to represent the rejection throughout their entire existence."

Sabine raised her eyebrows. "Boss... that means... you're now something like the ombudsman of reality?"

"God forbid," Klemm murmured. "Or rather: Not God – but nothingness."

Then a figure emerged from the light. It was vague, intangible, and had the same tone of voice as the one the universe had used to speak on the phone.

"Bartholomäus," it said. "We have waited a long time for someone like you."

"I hope you've been patient," Klemm said. "I've seen forms for infinity. They're... elaborate."

"They have proven that rejection is not an end, but a form of order. That every 'no' holds the world together because it gives it limits."

"I just wanted to finish work," said Klemm.

"Quitting time is the most honest form of peace."

Sabine smiled, touched. Rita surreptitiously wiped her eyes.

And Klemm – the man who had registered nothingness, preserved balance, and taught the universe – did what he always did when the world made too much sense.

He reached for the stamp.

"What are you doing?" asked the luminous figure.

"I am ending the process," said Klemm.

"You can't stamp that. It's cosmic law!"

"Then call it a comment."

He put his stamp on the document of the universe. A golden imprint appeared, luminous, final:

RETURNED TO SENDER - DUE TO OVERLOAD.

A moment of silence. Then the universe laughed – a soft, sparkling laugh, like the crackling of stardust.

"Approved," it said. "You'll stay where you are. Someone has to keep an eye on things."

And with a warm flash, the light disappeared.

Sabine stepped next to him. "Boss... what was that?"

"The highest form of recognition," said Klemm, "is that which one is allowed to refuse."

He put the stamp aside. "There. Now we can finally call it a day."

And while outside the universe was being readjusted, a silence settled over the office that was not empty, but content.

For the law of rejection was now official – and Bartholomäus Klemm, the man who brought nothingness to the paper war, had the last word.

A resounding "no" so strong that even the stars nodded.

The promulgation of the law of rejection had consequences, like all great enlightenments: first jubilation, then confusion, then paperwork.

The population reacted to the event with the usual mixture of enthusiasm and disorientation. After centuries in which every self-help book promised that wishes shaped life, now came the official pronouncement from the universe:

"Your request for fulfillment has been denied for reasons of metaphysical stability. Please submit a proper counter-rejection if necessary."

People were unsure whether to be relieved or outraged. Some felt liberated – finally, they no longer had to manifest anything. Others felt cheated – finally, they could no longer manifest anything.

In talk shows, experts debated with sparkling emptiness in their eyes: Was rejection the new form of self-love?

Was "no" the new "yes"? And could you deduct taxes on missed opportunities?

A self-proclaimed life coach explained on television: "It's not about thinking positively – it's about thinking negatively correctly. Whoever says 'no' correctly attracts stable energy."

Bookstores reacted promptly. On the shelves where titles like The Secret and Just Wish It! once stood, there were now bestsellers such as:

"Say no to happiness",

"Manifest your failure"

and "How to successfully ignore the universe".

Even esoteric fairs had to adapt: Incense sticks were now called "disinfectant for senses", and chakra stones were sold as "emotional blockage replacements".

Meanwhile, the rejection department received a record number of applications. Sabine piled them on Klemm's desk until it looked like a monument made of paper.

"Boss," she said, "we have 8,000 new forms this week alone. Applications for rejected promotions, for unfulfilled wishes, and even for retrospective misunderstandings."

Rita nodded. "And someone has submitted a request to preemptively reject their own feelings in order to avoid disappointment."

"That's what I call forward-looking management," said Klemm.

"Boss," Sabine asked, "should we process all of this?"

"Of course," he said, "but efficiently. We reject everything outright, then we can deal with the contradictions later."

"And what if no one objects?"

Klemm grinned. "Then we know it works."

Life changed. Couples therapy used new methods:

"Tell your partner a sincere 'no' today – and feel the connection!"

Schools introduced the subject "Rejection Skills". Children learned how to politely but decisively decline requests from the world.

Even advertising adapted: "Do you really want the best life? Say no to cheap promises!" or "Buy nothing. Feel free."

And the government became the first country to declare the Week of Conscious Refusal a national holiday. Citizens were encouraged to want nothing, buy nothing, and above all, post nothing. The economy experienced a brief collapse – afterwards, it was called neutral growth.

Klemm sat in the office like a still planet amidst the storm of paperwork. Sabine brought him tea, Rita a piece of cake, and both looked at him as if they were afraid that he would be the next to deregister the universe.

"Boss," Rita said cautiously, "have we... triggered something?"

"No," said Klemm. "We only created order."

"But the world... it seems so strangely balanced. Nobody argues anymore. Nobody shouts. Even social media is polite."

Klemm took a sip of tea. "This is only the first phase. Just wait – soon they'll be complaining about the forms."

"Do you really think so?"

"Absolutely," Klemm said with a tired smile. "Even paradise needs a complaints department at some point."

He leaned back, looked at the golden seal of the law on the wall, and thought to himself:

In the end, the universe doesn't want perfection at all. It just wants someone to say no so it can ask further questions.

At first it was just a philosophical movement. Then a fashion. And finally – inevitably – a religious movement.

It was called the Church of the Holy No.

Their followers wore grey robes, spoke in polite negations, and met weekly in so-called rejection services, where they solemnly responded to every invitation with: "Better not."

Sermons began with the sentence:

"Brothers and sisters, may your will fail."

The dogmas were simple: He who wants nothing can lose nothing. He who expects nothing will never be disappointed. And he who never tries has already won.

In short: Paradise was now a government office with opening hours.

Even governments took the Law of Rejection to heart. New ministries were created: the Office for Passive Progress, the Secretariat for Maintenance, and the Ministry of Omission and Leisure.

The news spoke of a new era of serenity. Stock prices stagnated cheerfully, diplomats argued with perfectly balanced boredom, and even wars were politely called off – with the comment: "Too much effort, too little return."

Humanity finally had peace. But nobody was happy about it, because joy was considered an overenthusiastic emotion.

In office, Klemm sat amidst mountains of documents that no one submitted anymore, because everyone had learned to reject themselves beforehand.

Sabine was professionally bored. Rita had started keeping non-files – empty folders labeled "In case something happens".

"Boss," she said, "I think we have exceeded the system's requirements."

Klemm nodded. "I was afraid of that. The 'no' has completely crowded out the 'yes'."

Sabine leafed through a new circular. "Boss, the cosmic administration has issued a warning. Too much rejection can lead to delays in existence."

"That explains why the elevator has been stuck on floor 0 since yesterday," said Rita.

Klemm rubbed his temples. "We have to counteract this. If everyone says no, nothing can be checked anymore – and without checks there is no administration."

"Boss," Sabine said cautiously, "do you want to reject the law of refusal...?"

He looked at her. "Just as a trial."

The next morning he wrote the shortest application of his life.

Form Y-1: Application for temporary toleration of consent.

Purpose: System stabilization through targeted affirmation.

Applicant: Bartholomäus Klemm, Honorary Inspector.

Duration: Five minutes.

He placed it on the desk, stamped it "Provisionally Approved" and took a deep breath.

"Boss," Rita asked, "what happens if you approve this?"

"Then... hope may arise."

Sabine frowned. "That sounds risky."

"It is," said Klemm. "But administration without risk is just paper storage."

He took the application, held it up to the light and whispered: "I agree."

The universe paused briefly.

Just for a heartbeat, barely noticeable – yet everything trembled slightly, as if reality had noticed an unexpected flaw in the design.

Then the impossible happened: A gust of wind blew through the office. The neon lights flickered, the files rustled, and somewhere in the distance a child laughed.

Sabine stood up. "Boss... was that... joy?"

"Possible," said Klemm. "But log it as an atmospheric disturbance."

Rita grinned. "Boss, the people outside... they're smiling! And one even said thank you!"

Klemm nodded in satisfaction. "Then we've restored the balance. A little bit of 'yes' keeps 'no' alive."

Sabine wrote it down on a notepad. "Should I forward this to the universe?"

"No," said Klemm. "They should figure it out themselves."

He leaned back, and for a moment it seemed as if the world was breathing again.

In the evening, as the sun hung low over the city, small signs of change could be seen everywhere. A couple held hands, a street musician played again, and someone wished their neighbor "a nice evening"—without any proposal.

Klemm looked out of his office window, which was bathed in warm light, and smiled softly.

He had outsmarted the universe once again – with paper, ink, and common sense.

But deep in his heart he knew that the next proposal was already on its way.

Because the law of rejection was like gravity: it could not be broken – only temporarily suspended.

Three days after the incident involving the request for approval, a letter arrived at the office whose envelope weighed so heavily it seemed to contain the entire responsibility of creation.

Sabine carefully placed it on Klemm's desk. "Boss, it came via light messenger. Sender: 'Cosmic Control Authority for Fundamental Violations'."

Klemm sighed. "I knew it was too good to leave unrecorded."

He opened the envelope. Inside: 47 pages of text, 19 appendices, and a footnote that corrected itself.

Reference: Unauthorized introduction of positive aspects of reality.

Allegation:Official Klemm deliberately generated approval, thereby destabilizing metaphysical inertia and temporarily undermining indifference.

Penalty:Participation in a cosmic review process (including a hearing).

Rita read over his shoulder. "Boss, that sounds... official."

"That's exactly it," said Klemm. "And the worst part is: I have to appear in person."

The process did not take place in one location, but in a dimension of pure bureaucracy – an endless hall whose walls consisted of paragraphs and whose floor consisted of finely shredded files.

Everywhere one could hear the clicking of metaphysical typewriters, the humming of desk lamps, and in the distance the muffled groaning of infinity, which was just then submitting its annual report.

At the head of the hall sat the High Tribunal of Administration: three figures of shimmering logic, who alternately transformed into commas, footnotes, and guidelines.

"Bartholomäus Klemm," said the middle figure. "You have violated the law of rejection."

"I have corrected it," Klemm replied. "A law that allows no exceptions is not an order, but a dogma."

"You have approved consent!"

"Temporary."

"That's irrelevant."

"On the contrary," Klemm said calmly, "relevance is the enemy of stability."

A whisper went through the hall – or perhaps just a particularly excited rustling.

"They have endangered the universe," the tribunal continued. "People... are smiling again."

"Yes," said Klemm. "I mentioned it in the reports. A temporary increase in happiness frequency, but within tolerable parameters."

"The law requires absolute neutrality."

"Then it's flawed," he replied. "Nothing is absolute. Not even nothingness – I've experienced it personally."

The three figures flickered. Footnotes fought each other. A legal short circuit was imminent.

"How dare you question the fundamental structure of the cosmos?"

Klemm smiled wearily. "I'm not questioning it. I'm simply requesting a review."

Rita whispered: "Boss, you're crazy."

"No," said Klemm. "I'm on duty."

The tribunal deliberated. The faint crackling of breaking forms could be heard. After an eternity – or 17 minutes, depending on how much time had been requested – the three returned.

"Your request is rejected," said the middle voice. "But it has had an effect."

"How so?" asked Klemm.

"The universe has decided to establish a new department: 'Department of Conditional Consent and Controlled Hope.' You will head it."

Sabine gasped. "Boss, this is... a promotion!"

"Or a more sophisticated prison," Klemm murmured.

"From tomorrow onwards, you will be officially responsible for managing all unconscious affirmations, spontaneous joy of life, and unintentional optimistic behavior."

"That sounds like overtime," he said.

"Approved."

After the verdict, there was silence. The tribunal dissolved, the paragraphs floated away, and Klemm stood alone in the endless hall.

Sabine and Rita stepped next to him. "Boss... did you win?"

"I don't know," he said. "Maybe I got promoted because I did the wrong thing right."

"And what do we do now?" asked Rita.

He gazed into the distance, where countless files sparkled like stars.

"We are creating a new department," he said. "But this time we are not writing a law. We are writing a recommendation."

Sabine nodded. "For whom?"

"For all those who have forgotten that saying no only makes sense if you know what you are saying yes to."

And so the proceedings ended. Klemm returned to his office, which now had two signs:

Rejection Department

&

Department for Conditional Approval

Rita brought coffee. Sabine set out the stamp. And on the new form stand, in gold lettering:

"Purpose: Balance."

Klemm looked out, where the universe vibrated softly, satisfied because there was once again someone who refused to be satisfied.

He reached for the stamp, pressed it onto the paper, and smiled weakly.

ACCEPTED - SUBJECT TO CHANGE.

The days that followed were peaceful. A kind of cosmic debriefing in real time. The universe was stable, people lived in balance, and the metaphysical administration was once again operating with the comforting inefficiency that keeps every civilization afloat.

The office light was on, as always, and somewhere in the hallway a file was humming, having forgotten that it did not exist.

Bartholomäus Klemm sat at his desk, between two stamps – on the left "Rejected", on the right "Provisionally Approved" – and had the feeling that the world was finally where it belonged: in a state of well-tempered uncertainty.

"Boss," said Sabine, "the new weekly report is here."

"And?"

"Everything is calm. Just a few minor contradictions in the hope sector, but within the limits of tolerance."

"Good," said Klemm. "How's the new department going?"

"Our colleagues from the approval department are constantly sending us thank-you letters."

"Then please send them a standardized rejection letter," he muttered.

Sabine grinned. "With a reason?"

"No. Simply because it's nicer."

Rita came in with coffee, sat on the edge of the desk and looked at her boss.

"You know, boss," she said, "I think this is the most peaceful chaos I have ever experienced."

"That is the goal of any good administration," he replied. "You only notice its existence when it fails."

He took his old stamp in his hand, the one that had started it all, turned it thoughtfully between his fingers and looked at the engraving:

REVIEWED AND REJECTED.

"Strange," he said quietly, "that little sentence saved reality."

"And what are you going to do with it now?" asked Rita.

He smiled. "I'll put it in the drawer. You never know when the universe might need a reminder."

Sabine nodded. "And what if there are problems again?"

"Then," said Klemm, "we will submit a request for a period of silence."

Outside, evening descended upon the city. Lanterns flickered, people strolled calmly along their paths, and somewhere a street musician played a melody that sounded almost hopeful.

Stars twinkled in the sky, properly, as if they had all submitted their existence reports on time.

And in the cosmos, far beyond all files and dimensions, the universe leaned back, took a breath, and murmured contentedly:

"Finally, everything is settled."

In his office, Klemm leafed through the Law of Rejection once more. Right at the end, on the last page, was a paragraph that no one had wanted to write, but which was simply there – like a spontaneous inspiration in the record of eternity:

"The universe does not consist of what is affirmed, but of what is contradicted. For only in resistance does existence recognize itself."

Klemm closed the file, placed it on the "Done" pile, and turned off the light.

Sabine called after him: "Boss, time to clock off?"

He stopped in the doorway, turned around briefly and said with a tired but honest smile:

"NO"

Then he left.

And somewhere, deep in the archives of the universe, the echo of this "no" reverberated – gently, definitively, and completely officially.

imprint

This book was written under the

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives (CC BY-NC-ND) license.



This license allows others to use and share the book for free, as long as they credit the author and the source of the book and do not use it for commercial purposes.

Author: Michael Lappenbusch

E-mail:admin@perplex.click

Homepage: https://www.perplex.click

Year of publication: 2025